REPRODUCTION AND THE INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

EDITED BY: Yang Yu, John Even Schjenken and Hsun Ming Chang PUBLISHED IN: Frontiers in Endocrinology and Frontiers in Physiology







Frontiers eBook Copyright Statement

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this eBook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this eBook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this eBook, and the eBook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this eBook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or eBook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-88974-559-3 DOI 10.3389/978-2-88974-559-3

About Frontiers

Frontiers is more than just an open-access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

Frontiers Journal Series

The Frontiers Journal Series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of open-access, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the Frontiers Journal Series operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

Dedication to Quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews.

Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the Frontiers Journals Series: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area! Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers Editorial Office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

REPRODUCTION AND THE INFLAMMATORY RESPONSE

Topic Editors: Yang Yu, Peking University Third Hospital, China John Even Schjenken, The University of Newcastle, Australia Hsun Ming Chang, University of British Columbia, Canada

Citation: Yu, Y., Schjenken, J. E., Chang, H. M., eds. (2022). Reproduction and the Inflammatory Response. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-88974-559-3

Table of Contents

Editorial: Reproduction and the Inflammatory Response Yang Yu, Hsun-Ming Chang and John Even Schjenken
 Comparative Evaluation of Biomarkers of Inflammation Among Indian

Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) Consuming Vegetarian vs. Non-vegetarian Diet

Mohd Ashraf Ganie, Tajali Sahar, Aafia Rashid, Ishfaq A. Wani, Sobia Nisar, Thozhukat Sathyapalan, Sreenivas Vishnubhatla, Lakshmy Ramakrishnan, Tabasum Parvez and Ishaq Geer

19 Mast Cells in Peritoneal Fluid From Women With Endometriosis and Their Possible Role in Modulating Sperm Function

Violetta Borelli, Monica Martinelli, Stefania Luppi, Francesca Vita, Federico Romano, Francesco Fanfani, Elisa Trevisan, Fulvio Celsi, Giuliano Zabucchi, Fabrizio Zanconati, Cristina Bottin and Giuseppe Ricci

31 Peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK Cell Populations in the Early Follicular Phase Are Associated With Successful Clinical Outcomes of Intravenous Immunoglobulin Treatment in Women With Repeated Implantation Failure

Yao-Kai Ho, Hsiu-Hui Chen, Chun-Chia Huang, Chun-I Lee, Pin-Yao Lin, Maw-Sheng Lee and Tsung-Hsien Lee

- **41** *Endometriosis-Associated Macrophages: Origin, Phenotype, and Function* Chloe Hogg, Andrew W. Horne and Erin Greaves
- 56 The Inflammasome in Reproductive Biology: A Promising Target for Novel Therapies

Juan Pablo de Rivero Vaccari

61 Regulation of Inflammation Pathways and Inflammasome by Sex Steroid Hormones in Endometriosis

Elizabeth García-Gómez, Edgar Ricardo Vázquez-Martínez, Christian Reyes-Mayoral, Oliver Paul Cruz-Orozco, Ignacio Camacho-Arroyo and Marco Cerbón

- 78 Role of the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Preeclampsia Koumei Shirasuna, Tadayoshi Karasawa and Masafumi Takahashi
- **91** The Association Between Previous TORCH Infections and Pregnancy and Neonatal Outcomes in IVF/ICSI-ET: A Retrospective Cohort Study Yifeng Liu, Yiqing Wu, Feixia Wang, Siwen Wang, Wei Zhao, Lifen Chen, Shijiong Tu, Yuli Qian, Yun Liao, Yun Huang, Runjv Zhang, Gufeng Xu and Dan Zhang
- 100 Effect and Relationship of Seasons on the High Risk of Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome After Oocyte Retrieval in Patients With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Yurong Cao, Hao Shi, Yue Ma, Linna Ma and Jun Zhai

108 Endocrine Disruptor Compounds—A Cause of Impaired Immune Tolerance Driving Inflammatory Disorders of Pregnancy? John E. Schjenken, Ella S. Green, Tenuis S. Overduin, Chui Yan Mah, Darryl L. Russell and Sarah A. Robertson





Editorial: Reproduction and the Inflammatory Response

Yang Yu^{1,2,3†}, Hsun-Ming Chang^{4†} and John Even Schjenken^{5,6*}

¹ Department of Gynecology and Obstetrics, Key Laboratory for Major Obstetric Diseases of Guangdong Province, Key Laboratory of Reproduction and Genetics of Guangdong Higher Education Institutes, The Third Affiliated Hospital of Guangzhou Medical University, Guangzhou, China, ² Beijing Key Laboratory of Reproductive Endocrinology and Assisted Reproductive Technology and Key Laboratory of Assisted Reproduction, Ministry of Education, Center of Reproductive Medicine, Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Peking University Third Hospital, Beijing, China, ³ Clinical Stem Cell Research Center, Peking University Third Hospital, Beijing, China, ⁴ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, British Columbia Children's Hospital Research Institute, University of British Columbia, Vancouver, BC, Canada, ⁵ Priority Research Centre for Reproductive Science, School of Environmental and Life Sciences, Discipline of Biological Sciences, The University of Newcastle, Callaghan, NSW, Australia, ⁶ Infertility and Reproduction Research Program, Hunter Medical Research Institute, New Lambton Heights, NSW, Australia

Keywords: endocrine disrupting compound (EDC), endometriosis, infection, inflammation, inflammasome, polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), preeclampsia, repeat implantation failure

Editorial on the Research Topic

Reproduction and the Inflammatory Response

OPEN ACCESS

Edited and reviewed by:

Claus Yding Andersen, University of Copenhagen, Denmark

*Correspondence:

John Even Schjenken john.schjenken@newcastle.edu.au [†]These authors have contributed

Specialty section:

equally to this work

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 15 December 2021 Accepted: 24 December 2021 Published: 31 January 2022

Citation:

Yu Y, Chang H-M and Schjenken JE (2022) Editorial: Reproduction and the Inflammatory Response. Front. Endocrinol. 12:835854. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.835854 Reproduction is a fundamental feature of all known life entailing a remarkably complex and tightly regulated series of events that are essential in supporting species' long-term survival. While the development of knowledge of reproductive processes across species is of utmost importance, this Research Topic primarily focuses on those factors that influence the pathophysiology of reproductive complications or gynecological conditions in humans.

Unlike many other species, human reproduction is surprisingly inefficient. Infertility for example is a global public health issue rising in prevalence that affects upwards of 15% of reproductive-aged couples, or a total of 186 million individuals worldwide (1, 2). Even amongst those couples able to initiate pregnancy, challenges are still faced. Embryo loss between fertilization and birth is estimated between 40-60% (3), while pregnancy complications, including preeclampsia (PE, 2-8% of pregnancies) and preterm birth (10.6% of births), are the leading cause of death amongst women of reproductive years (4, 5). Gynecological conditions, such as endometriosis (10%) (6), polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS, 5-20%) are common (7), in addition to sexually transmitted infections (Chlamydia, 2016 = 127 million estimated infections) (8) and parental lifestyle factors not only influence fertility but also lead to adverse birth outcomes and lay the foundations for offspring susceptibility to disease (9). While numerous contributing factors influence our susceptibility to these reproductive challenges, one area that is intimately involved in all areas of reproductive function and contributes to reproductive pathologies is inflammation and dysregulation of the immune system (10).

The immune system plays an integral role in both the physiology and pathophysiology of reproduction (10, 11). Across both males and females, there is a close functional relationship between the male and female reproductive tracts and the immune system, which is tightly regulated to meet the physiologically challenging demands of successful reproduction (12). In females, events including ovulation, menstruation, implantation, and parturition are all associated with the induction of inflammatory mediators, while in males, the development and function of testes

4

and epididymis are influenced by their immune microenvironment (12, 13). Correct programming of the maternal immune environment supports implantation and subsequent pregnancy success (14). Thus, altered immune function during, or even prior to gestation can have a significant impact on not only our reproductive health, but also on the long-term health of offspring.

The reasons behind the decline in fertility and increased prevalence in subfertility are complex, but there is extensive evidence that lifestyle and environmental factors are major contributors (15). Endocrine Disrupting Compounds (EDCs) for example, influence reproductive function through their potential to mimic or block the actions of endogenous hormones (9). In this Research Topic, Schjenken et al., highlight the capacity of EDCs to also affect immune system development and function, and propose that in addition to disruptions in hormone signaling that regulate reproductive physiology, that alterations to the immune environment caused by EDC exposure during gestation may disrupt the establishment of maternal immune tolerance that is required to support robust placentation and fetal development (Schjenken et al.). Additionally, infection during pregnancy is also linked with adverse pregnancy outcomes. TORCH infections, which classically comprise toxoplasmosis, Treponema pallidum, rubella, cytomegalovirus, herpesvirus, hepatitis viruses, human immunodeficiency virus, and other infections, such as varicella, parvovirus B19, and enteroviruses are major contributors to prenatal and post-natal morbidity and mortality (16). However, most studies only focus on infections that occurs during pregnancy. In this Research Topic, Liu et al., explored the impact of previous TORCH infections on maternal and neonatal outcomes in an assisted reproduction setting and show that prior infections were not associated with adverse pregnancy or neonatal outcomes, thus highlighting that infections that occur during pregnancy should be the major focus of future study.

Alterations to the maternal immune environment are also implicated as a central predisposing factor in many of the common pregnancy complications, such as repeat implantation failure (RIF) and PE (17-19). Both conditions are commonly characterized by dysregulated activation of both innate and adaptive arms of the immune system (17, 19). In this Research Topic, Ho et al. explored how the proportion of peripheral natural killer cells influenced ART outcomes following intravenous immunoglobulin treatment while di Rivero Vaccari and Shirasuna et al. discussed recent reports that link pregnancy complications such as PE with altered inflammasome activation. In both complications, the authors show the potential benefit of developing a greater understanding of immune cell function in developing diagnostics or therapeutics to treat these pregnancy complications. In the case of RIF, intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) treatment is beneficial only in some patients, and Ho et al. demonstrated the prognostic capacity of assessment of peripheral populations of natural killer cells prior to conception. They showed that peripheral CD56+CD16+ NK cells with a population of $\leq 10.6\%$ in RIF patients were likely to

benefit from IVIG therapy with better implantation and pregnancy rate outcomes. In the case of PE, both di Rivero Vaccari and Shirasuna et al. highlighted the potential contribution of altered inflammasome activation to the pathophysiology of PE. Additionally, these reports highlight the therapeutic potential of inflammasome targeted treatments to treat reproductive associated problems, where inflammation and dysregulation of the maternal immune system is a contributing factor (di Rivero Vaccari, Shirasuna et al.)

Inflammation is also influential in the pathophysiology of common gynecological conditions such as endometriosis and PCOS. These conditions are characterized by chronic inflammation and alterations to immune cell phenotype and function. Endometriosis is characterized by the presence of endometrial cells outside of the uterine cavity that leads to symptoms including painful periods, chronic pelvic pain, and infertility (6, 20). A combination of factors, including dysregulation of the immune response and alterations in sex hormone signaling are thought to contribute to an inability to clear ectopic endometrium from the pelvic cavity (6, Garcia-Gómez et al., Hogg et al.). In this Research Topic, Garcia-Gómez et al., Hogg et al., and Borelli et al. all explored different aspects of the role of inflammation in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. Garcia-Gómez et al. highlighted the intimate association between hormones and inflammation in endometriosis. They showed that alterations to the cellular response to steroid hormones lead to dysregulation of the inflammasome pathway, with these changes contributing to disease progression through the prevention of cell death and promotion of adhesion, invasion, and cell proliferation (Borelli et al.). Hogg et al. provided an up-to-date review on the central role that macrophages play in the pathogenesis of endometriosis, focusing on their origins, phenotype, and function. They highlighted that modification of macrophage phenotype and function under disease-modifying conditions promote the growth, development, vascularization, and innervation of lesions in addition to the generation of pain symptoms (Hogg et al.). Finally, Borelli et al. explored the levels of mast cells in peritoneal fluid of women with endometriosis and examined whether dysregulation in the mast cell population may influence sperm function. They showed that mast cells and their main mediator tryptase are more represented in the peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis. Finally, using an in vitro model of mast cell-sperm interaction, the authors were unable to show a direct effect on sperm motility. However, incubation of the mast cell line, LAD2 with sperm and peritoneal fluid from patients with endometriosis did lead to a significant increase in the mastcell degranulation response, which may influence sperm function (Borelli et al.).

PCOS is the most common endocrine disease and is a complex and heterogeneous disease characterized by a combination of signs and symptoms of 3 phenotypic characteristics: hyperandrogenism, ovulatory dysfunction, and polycystic ovarian morphology (7, 21). This condition is associated with various cardiometabolic risk factors, chronic inflammation, and an increased risk of infertility (22, 23). In this Research Topic, two manuscripts explored the association of PCOS with inflammation. In the first study, Ganie et al. explored biomarkers of inflammation in an Indian population of PCOS patients and compared dietary status to their inflammatory load. It is estimated that in India, 22.5% of reproductive-aged women have PCOS (24), and in this study, Ganie et al. demonstrated that in an Indian population, PCOS caused increases in serum pro-inflammatory cytokines (Tumor Necrosis Factor-alpha and Interleukin-6) and decreases in antiinflammatory molecules (Interleukin-10 and Adiponectin) compared to healthy controls (23). In the other study, Cao et al. performed a retrospective study that explored the seasonal susceptibility of PCOS patients undergoing IVF treatments to ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS), a severe complication of controlled ovarian hyperstimulation that is more common in patients with PCOS (25). Their data was used to generate a predictive model that showed that the incidence of patients with PCOS that were at high risk for OHSS was significantly higher during the winter and summer months in Henan province in China (Cao et al.).

Taken together, the papers that form this Research Topic present an overview of research surrounding the roles of inflammation in reproduction. In view of recent advances that define the pivotal role of inflammation in the normal physiology

REFERENCES

- Skakkebaek NE, Jorgensen N, Main KM, Rajpert–De Meyts E, Leffers H, Andersson AM, et al. Is Human Fecundity Declining? *Int J Androl* (2006) 29 (1):2–11. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2605.2005.00573.x
- Inhorn MC, Patrizio P. Infertility Around the Globe: New Thinking on Gender, Reproductive Technologies and Global Movements in the 21st Century. *Hum Reprod Update* (2015) 21(4):411–26. doi: 10.1093/humupd/ dmv016
- 3. Jarvis GE. Early Embryo Mortality in Natural Human Reproduction: What the Data Say. *F1000Res* (2016) 5:2765. doi: 10.12688/f1000research.8937.1
- Duley L. The Global Impact of Pre–Eclampsia and Eclampsia. Semin Perinatol (2009) 33(3):130–7. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- De Costa A, Moller AB, Blencowe H, Johansson EW, Hussain–Alkhateeb L, Ohuma EO, et al. Study Protocol for WHO and UNICEF Estimates of Global, Regional, and National Preterm Birth Rates for 2010 to 2019. *PloS One* (2021) 16(10):e0258751. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0258751
- Panir K, Schjenken JE, Robertson SA, Hull ML. Non-Coding RNAs in Endometriosis: A Narrative Review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2018) 24(4):497– 515. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmy014
- Azziz R, Carmina E, Chen Z, Dunaif A, Laven JS, Legro RS, et al. Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Nat Rev Dis Primers (2016) 2:16057. doi: 10.1038/ nrdp.2016.57
- Rowley J, Vander Hoorn S, Korenromp E, Low N, Unemo M, Abu-Raddad LJ, et al. Chlamydia, Gonorrhoea, Trichomoniasis and Syphilis: Global Prevalence and Incidence Estimates, 2016. *Bull World Health Organ* (2019) 97(8):548–62P. doi: 10.2471/BLT.18.228486
- Gore AC, Chappell VA, Fenton SE, Flaws JA, Nadal A, Prins GS, et al. EDC-2: The Endocrine Society's Second Scientific Statement on Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. *Endocr Rev* (2015) 36(6):E1–E150. doi: 10.1210/ er.2015-1010
- Seamark RF, Hadjisavas M, Robertson SA. Influence of the Immune System on Reproductive Function. *Anim Reprod Sci* (1992) 28(1):171–8. doi: 10.1016/ 0378-4320(92)90103-K
- Hedger M. The Immunophysiology of Male Reproduction. In: Plant T. M., Zeleznik A. J., editors. *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction*. Volume 1. London, United Kingdom: Academic Press (2015). p. 805–92. doi: 10.1016/ B978-0-12-397175-3.00019-3

of reproduction and pathophysiology, there is a pressing need to determine how dysregulation of inflammation and immune responses contributes to pathologies that surround reproduction. Ultimately, improved mechanistic understanding of the immune contributions to reproductive success will identify novel targets for diagnostic and therapeutic intervention strategies aimed at alleviating the rising burden of infertility and subfertility.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

YY, HC, and JS all contributed to compilation, drafting and writing of this editorial. HC and YY are considered equal first authors. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We would like to acknowledge all of the authors that contributed to this Research Topic and the editorial team at Frontiers in Endocrinology for the assistance they have provided.

- Nguyen PV, Kafka JK, Ferreira VH, Roth K, Kaushic C. Innate and Adaptive Immune Responses in Male and Female Reproductive Tracts in Homeostasis and Following HIV Infection. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2014) 11(5):410–27. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2014.41
- Hedger MP. Immunophysiology and Pathology of Inflammation in the Testis and Epididymis. J Androl (2011) 32(6):625–40. doi: 10.2164/ jandrol.111.012989
- Schjenken JE, Robertson SA. The Female Response to Seminal Fluid. *Physiol Rev* (2020) 100(3):1077–117. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00013.2018
- Sharma R, Biedenharn KR, Fedor JM, Agarwal A. Lifestyle Factors and Reproductive Health: Taking Control of Your Fertility. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2013) 11:66. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-11-66
- Neu N, Duchon J, Zachariah P. TORCH Infections. Clin Perinatol (2015) 42 (1):77–103, viii. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2014.11.001
- Saito S, Shiozaki A, Nakashima A, Sakai M, Sasaki Y. The Role of the Immune System in Preeclampsia. *Mol Aspects Med* (2007) 28(2):192–209. doi: 10.1016/ j.mam.2007.02.006
- Robertson SA, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM. Regulatory T Cells in Embryo Implantation and the Immune Response to Pregnancy. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4224–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI122182
- Ledee N, Petitbarat M, Chevrier L, Vitoux D, Vezmar K, Rahmati M, et al. The Uterine Immune Profile May Help Women With Repeated Unexplained Embryo Implantation Failure After *In Vitro* Fertilization. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2016) 75(3):388–401. doi: 10.1111/aji.12483
- Giudice LC. Clinical Practice. Endometriosis. N Engl J Med (2010) 362 (25):2389–98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1000274
- Teede HJ, Misso ML, Costello MF, Dokras A, Laven J, Moran L, et al. Recommendations From the International Evidence–Based Guideline for the Assessment and Management of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Hum Reprod* (2018) 33(9):1602–18. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey256
- Daan NM, Koster MP, de Wilde MA, Dalmeijer GW, Evelein AM, Fauser BC, et al. Biomarker Profiles in Women With PCOS and PCOS Offspring, A Pilot Study. *PloS One* (2016) 11(11):e0165033. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0165033
- Joham AE, Teede HJ, Ranasinha S, Zoungas S, Boyle J. Prevalence of Infertility and Use of Fertility Treatment in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome: Data From a Large Community–Based Cohort Study. J Women's Health (2015) 24(4):299–307. doi: 10.1089/jwh.2014.5000

- 24. Joshi B, Mukherjee S, Patil A, Purandare A, Chauhan S, Vaidya R. A Cross-Sectional Study of Polycystic Ovarian Syndrome Among Adolescent and Young Girls in Mumbai, India. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab* (2014) 18(3):317– 24. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.131162
- Heijnen EM, Eijkemans MJ, Hughes EG, Laven JS, Macklon NS, Fauser BC. A Meta–Analysis of Outcomes of Conventional IVF in Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2006) 12(1):13–21. doi: 10.1093/ humupd/dmi036

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Publisher's Note: All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Yu, Chang and Schjenken. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Comparative Evaluation of Biomarkers of Inflammation Among Indian Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) Consuming Vegetarian vs. Non-vegetarian Diet

Mohd Ashraf Ganie^{1*}, Tajali Sahar¹, Aafia Rashid¹, Ishfaq A. Wani¹, Sobia Nisar², Thozhukat Sathyapalan³, Sreenivas Vishnubhatla⁴, Lakshmy Ramakrishnan⁵, Tabasum Parvez⁶ and Ishaq Geer⁷

¹ Department of Endocrinology, Sheri-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Srinagar, India, ² Department of Medicine, Government Medical College, Srinagar, India, ³ Department of Academic Endocrinology Diabetes and Metabolism, Hull York Medical School, University of Hull, Kingston upon Hull, United Kingdom, ⁴ Departments of Biostatistics, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India, ⁵ Departments of Cardiac Biochemistry, All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi, India, ⁶ Department of Obstetrics and Gynaecology, Sheri Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Srinagar, India, ⁷ Department of Pharmaceutical Sciences, University of Kashmir, Srinagar, India

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hsun Ming Chang, University of British Columbia, Canada

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Conforti, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Giulia Rastrelli, University of Florence, Italy

> *Correspondence: Mohd Ashraf Ganie ashraf.endo@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 24 June 2019 Accepted: 26 September 2019 Published: 08 November 2019

Citation:

Ganie MA, Sahar T, Rashid A, Wani IA, Nisar S, Sathyapalan T, Vishnubhatla S, Ramakrishnan L, Parvez T and Geer I (2019) Comparative Evaluation of Biomarkers of Inflammation Among Indian Women With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome (PCOS) Consuming Vegetarian vs. Non-vegetarian Diet. Front. Endocrinol. 10:699. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00699 **Background:** Sub-inflammation and insulin resistance characterize women with PCOS. Data on dietary modulation of inflammation among PCOS women is scant, particularly from Indian subcontinent. The present study aimed to assess the effect of plant based vs. animal origin diets on serum markers of inflammation (primary outcome measure).

Methods: This observational case-control study compared age and BMI matched PCOS and apparently healthy women from two populations following different dietary practices. The vegetarian women from New-Delhi (n = 82 PCOS and n = 179 healthy) and non-vegetarian women from Srinagar (n = 62 PCOS and n = 141 healthy) formed the groups. Using a uniform methodology, detailed clinical, biochemical, hormonal, and inflammatory marker assessment was undertaken.

Results: The mean age of the overall cohort was 26.23 ± 4.59 years with a mean BMI of 24.39 ± 3.72 kg/m². Overall pro-inflammatory markers (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , hs-CRP and serum resistin) were significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) and anti-inflammatory markers (IL-10 and adiponectin) were lower among women with PCOS than healthy subjects. On comparing vegetarian women with non-vegetarians, higher daily calorie intake (1895.46 \pm 258.19 vs. 1860.13 \pm 323.96 Kcal) with a higher protein and fat and lower carbohydrate intake was recorded in the latter, although the percent energy derived from carbohydrates was higher among vegetarians. Clinical and biochemical parameters were comparable among the groups except mFG score, total serum testosterone and serum lipid levels which were higher among non-vegetarian women as compared to their vegetarian counterparts from both categories (PCOS and healthy). Interestingly, vegetarian women with PCOS and healthy women had higher serum pro-inflammatory and lower anti-inflammatory markers compared to their non-vegetarian counterparts.

8

Conclusion: Women with PCOS consuming Indian vegetarian diet have higher pro-inflammatory and lower anti-inflammatory marker levels than their age and BMI matched healthy non-vegetarian counterparts. This interesting observation can be attributed to the dietary composition, among other factors and needs confirmation from well-designed randomized studies on a larger cohort.

Clinical Trial Registration: The study was registered with CTRI database under registration number CTRI/2013/09/003996.

Keywords: PCOS, inflammation, insulin resistance, testosterone, hs-CRP, adiponectin

INTRODUCTION

Polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS), is a multifaceted disorder associated with a host of co-morbidities, including obesity, metabolic syndrome (MS), insulin resistance (IR), abnormal glucose tolerance (AGT), non-alcoholic fatty liver disease (NAFLD), psychiatric disturbances, elevated cardiovascular disease (CVD), and cancer risk etc. (1-6), in addition to several reproductive and cosmetic dysfunctions. The condition is known to affect 5-10% women of reproductive age in the West but is commoner in India with preliminary reports suggesting a prevalence as high as 22.5% (7, 8). Exact etiology being uncertain, the condition is characterized by two dominant pathogenic mechanisms namely hyperandrogenism and IR, both of which may lead to distinct clinical phenotypes and ovarian morphological patterns on ultrasound in women with PCOS (9). Chronic inflammation, a common accompaniment of these metabolic conditions, is characterized by elevation in proinflammatory cytokines, chemokines and markers of oxidative stress which in turn is linked to IR (10-13). Published data suggests higher levels of inflammatory markers or their gene polymorphisms among women with PCOS (14-16). Boulman et al. demonstrated elevated hs-CRP levels among insulin resistant women with PCOS similar to that observed by Mazibrada et al. (14, 17) while a few reports documented TNF- α and IL-6 gene polymorphisms among PCOS women in relation to hyperandrogenic phenotypic traits (15, 16). Although the reason of this sub-inflammation is unclear, higher BMI particularly visceral adiposity has been implicated (10, 18).

Dietary patterns have been reported to independently influence inflammatory and endothelial markers among healthy individuals (19, 20). Mediterranean diet, primarily based on sufficient intake of green vegetables, fruits, whole grains, sea food, and low red meat consumption (21) has been reported to have a beneficial effect upon development of type 2 diabetes mellitus (T2DM), inflammatory markers (such as IL-6, hs-CRP, and adiponectin), endothelial function and coagulation (20, 22– 25). Similarly, vegetarian diets have been shown to lower lipid parameters (26) and hs-CRP (27). On the contrary, higher carbohydrate intake rather than high fat intake was associated with high total mortality in a recent large multinational epidemiological cohort (28). South Asians, particularly Indians have been demonstrated to have a higher prevalence of T2DM (29), CVD (30), PCOS (8) and sub-inflammation. These higher risks are partly attributed to dietary patterns, typically consisting of high percentage of carbohydrates and saturated fats from vegetables, rice, chapatis, or breads etc. (31). Whether the composition of Indian diet actually has a link to the epidemic of these disorders remains to be seen. In view of the paucity of data evaluating impact of Indian diet patterns on inflammatory markers among women with PCOS, we undertook this study assessing effect of plant based vs. animal origin diets on serum markers of inflammation as a primary outcome measure and clinical and metabolic parameters as secondary outcome measures.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This cross sectional study recruited subjects from December 2014 to January 2018, from two cities located in North India- New Delhi and Srinagar. The women consuming plant based diets (vegetarian) form New Delhi and those consuming animal derived diets (non-vegetarian) from Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir were eligible for the study. The study was conducted in accordance with the guidelines enshrined under the Helsinki 1975 declaration and was approved by the Ethics Committees of the respective study institutions. An informed written consent was taken from all the subjects before their enrolment.

Subjects

All consecutive women (18–40 years) attending outpatient clinics of endocrinology and gynecology of All India Institute of Medical Sciences (AIIMS), New Delhi and Sheri-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences (SKIMS), Srinagar, Jammu and Kashmir for complaints of unwanted hair growth, irregular menstrual cycles and other symptoms of PCOS were informed about the study. Women who fulfilled Rotterdam 2003 criteria for the diagnosis of PCOS and volunteered to be part of the study were required to sign an informed consent. In order to remove the confounding of age and body weight on inflammatory markers and other metabolic parameters, the women were recruited in blocks of age (18–20, 21–25, 26–30, 31–35, 36–40 years) and BMI categories($<20, 20–25, >25 \text{ kg/m}^2$). Study tools, methods of data capture, SOPs, investigator training, lab evaluation etc. followed a uniform protocol at both the centers.

Clinical Assessment

All women were interviewed for details of their menstrual cyclicity (age of menarche, duration and number of cycles per year), features of hyperandrogenism (duration and extent of unwanted hair growth, acne vulgaris, and androgenic alopecia), weight gain, infertility, history of drug intake etc. as per the the pre-designed uniform questionnaire (Supplementary Table 2) at both the participating centers. Oligomenorrhea was defined as a cycle interval of >35 days or <8 cycles per year and amenorrhea as cessation of cycles for more than 6 months. A detailed diet review using a food frequency questionnaire (FFQ) and 72 h dietary recall undertaken by qualified and trained dieticians to quantify various dietary components using specially designed diet software (Diet Cal, Profound Tech solutions, New Delhi) at both centers. For purposes of the study, women who consumed meat/chicken/fish/egg at least 5 days a week at least for last 1 year were considered as non-vegetarian and those who strictly adhered to plant based diets were taken as vegetarians. Women refusing consent, consuming medications such as glucocorticoids, insulin sensitizers, anti-epileptics, NSAIDs etc. known to affect glucose tolerance, insulin sensitivity, inflammatory markers, pregnant women, or women with history suggestive of controlled or uncontrolled hyperprolactinemia or androgen-secreting tumors, Cushing's syndrome, thyroid dysfunction, non-classical congenital hyperplasia, diabetes or AGT, at the time of enrolment were excluded from the study. Other exclusions included any prior history (at least 2 weeks) of infection, trauma, surgery or significant stress such as exams, bereavement, psychiatric comorbidity etc. known to generate an inflammatory response.

Body weight, height, waist circumference were measured using standard calibrated instruments (SECA 213, Hamburg Germany) followed by a detailed systemic examination including measurement of blood pressure (Omron HEM7120). A mean of three readings was taken as the final value for these parameters. Quantitation of hirsutism using modified Ferriman-Gallwey (mFG) score (8 or above out of a total of 36 from nine body areas taken as significant), grading of acanthosis nigricans, acne vulgaris, and androgenic alopecia was done by a single observer at each center. The inter-observer variation between the FG scores among the trained observers at two centers was <4%.

Laboratory Evaluation

After an overnight (10-12h) fast all the participants were subjected to blood sampling arranged in the follicular phase (2nd to 7th day) of a spontaneous or medroxyprogesterone induced menstrual cycle. The samples were immediately separated in a cold centrifuge and aliquoted for biochemistry, hormones, and inflammatory markers. Biochemical parameters were assayed on the spot while the aliquots for hormones and inflammatory markers were stored at $-80^{\circ}C$ until the assay. The PCO morphology was assessed with trans-abdominal ultrasonography performed in the follicular phase by a single sonologist at each center using 7.5 mHz probe (AlokaSSD-500, Tokyo, Japan) to quantitate ovarian volume, count ovarian follicle number, and assess thecal hyper echogenicity with a common SOP.

Controls

Apparently healthy, age, and BMI matched women were recruited from community clusters as part of health awarenesscum-screening outreach programmes conducted by the respective institutes. These women underwent similar clinical and laboratory evaluation as in cases.

Assays

Biochemical parameters (plasma glucose, lipids, uric acid, calcium, phosphorus, liver and kidney function) were estimated using standard commercially available kits as per manufacturer's instructions on fully automated biochemical analysers (Hitachi 920, Japan). Samples for hormonal parameters (serum total T4, TSH, LH, FSH, PRL, cortisol,17OHP, total testosterone and insulin) from both the centers, were assayed using Electrochemiluminescence immunoassay (ECLIA) using Cobas e411(Roche Diagnostics Limited, USA). The inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation were <7%. Serum inflammatory marker (TNF-α, IL-1β, IL-6, IL-10, hs-CRP, resistin, and adiponectin) levels were assayed by ELISA, using commercially available kits and according to supplier's protocol (Diaclone, France and Calbiotech, CA, USA). The inter- and intra-assay coefficients of variation were as per the manufacture prescriptions. Both hormonal and inflammatory markers were assayed at departmental laboratory of AIIMS New Delhi.

Sample Size Calculation

Sample size was calculated using G*Power software (version 3.1.9.2). Considering type one error (α) as 0.05, power of study as 90% and effect size 0.3 with reference from a recent study comparing the inflammatory profile of vegetarians and omnivores (32), a minimum of 50 subjects were required per group. Therefore, to account for non-response and incompleteness of data, we planned to recruit a minimum number of 62 cases in each group and 124 controls in each group with case to control ratio of 2:1.

Statistical Analysis

The Statistical Package for Social Sciences-22 software was used for statistical analysis (SPSS Inc., Chicago, IL, USA). Data has been depicted as mean \pm standard deviation and was log transformed, wherever necessary. For assessment of normality, Kolmogorov Smirnov test was employed. One way ANOVA was used for comparing more than two groups and Mann-Witney *U*test were used for comparing two groups. Parameters with $p \leq$ 0.05 were considered as statistically significant.

RESULTS

A total of 200 women, qualifying Rotterdam 2003 for the diagnosis of PCOS, were screened (n = 100 at each center) out of which 62 non-vegetarian (from Srinagar) and 82 vegetarian (from Delhi) consented and had complete data for analysis. Another 400 apparently healthy age and BMI matched women (n = 200 at each center) were screened and invited to participate as controls out of which a total of 320 women (179

vegetarian women from Delhi and 141 non-vegetarian women from Srinagar) consented and had complete data available for analysis (**Figure 1**). Group-wise comparisons of their clinical, biochemical, hormonal and inflammatory marker profiles are shown in **Tables 1–3**.

Comparison Between Women With PCOS and Healthy Controls

The overall respective mean age of PCOS subjects (n = 144) and controls (n = 320) was 26.06 \pm 4.12 vs. 26.55 \pm 5.05 years while as their mean BMI was 24.81 \pm 3.53 vs. 23.97 \pm 3.90 kg/m². The mean number of menstrual cycles per year $(8.10 \pm 2.83 \text{ vs. } 11.86 \pm 2.88)$ was significantly lower while as mFG scores (11.57 \pm 4.36 vs. 5.88 \pm 1.77), serum LH (7.58 \pm 3.57 vs. 6.42 \pm 2.37 IU/ml) and serum total testosterone (0.52 \pm 0.27 vs. 0.27 \pm 0.13 ng/ml) levels were significantly higher among women with PCOS as compared to healthy women from both the centers. Plasma 25OHD levels were marginally lower $(11.45 \pm 8.19 \text{ vs.} 15.78 \pm 8.02 \text{ ng/ml})$ among women with PCOS (Supplementary Table 1). Fasting plasma insulin (12.57 \pm 7.27 vs. 8.59 \pm 6.26 mIU/ml), HOMA-IR (2.67 \pm 1.58 vs. 1.73 \pm 1.15) were higher while as FGIR (9.05 \pm 4.76 vs. 15.21 \pm 10.57) and QUICKI (0.35 \pm 0.06 vs. 0.37 \pm 0.04) were significantly lower among PCOS women than healthy controls. Pro-inflammatory markers (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , hs-CRP, and serum resistin) were significantly higher ($p \le 0.05$) and anti-inflammatory markers (IL-10 and adiponectin) significantly lower among women with PCOS than their healthy counterparts (Supplementary Table 1). Other parameters like waist circumference, blood pressure, uric acid and serum phosphorous did not differ significantly among the groups.

Comparison Between Vegetarian and Non-vegetarian Women With PCOS

Age (25.68 \pm 3.81 vs. 26.13 \pm 4.43 years) and BMI (24.94 \pm 3.61 vs. 24.68 \pm 3.45 kg/m²) matched vegetarian and nonvegetarian PCOS women were comparable with regard to most of the clinical (mean number of menstrual cycles per year, mFG score, BP), biochemical (mean plasma glucose, HOMA-IR, urea, uric acid, SGOT) and hormonal (serum LH, FSH, PRL) parameters. Biochemical parameters such as serum creatinine, serum triglycerides and LDL cholesterol levels were higher ($p \leq$ 0.05) among the non-vegetarian PCOS women as compared to their vegetarian counterparts. Interestingly, hirsutism scores and serum total testosterone levels were higher among PCOS women from Srinagar (Tables 1-3). Another interesting observation was that the pro-inflammatory markers (serum hs-CRP, TNF- α , IL-6, and IL-1 β) were elevated and anti-inflammatory (serum adiponectin and IL-10) were lower among vegetarian women with PCOS as compared to non-vegetarian women with PCOS, although statistically significant difference was found only in cases of serum hs-CRP, resistin and adiponectin levels (Table 3). A comparison of macronutrient intake between two PCOS groups showed a higher self-reported daily calorie intake among non-vegetarian women (1895.51 \pm 308.28 vs. 1862.78 \pm 262.33 Kcal, $p \le 0.05$) with higher daily fat (49.07 \pm 12.35 g vs. 43.11 \pm 14.72 g) and protein intake (55.16 \pm 12.34 g vs. 50.63 \pm 11.48 g) and a lower carbohydrate intake (301.86 \pm 58.45 vs. 318.24 \pm 53.94 g) than their vegetarian counterparts ($p \le 0.05$).

Comparison Between Healthy Vegetarian and Non-vegetarian Women

Most of the clinical, biochemical, and hormonal parameters were comparable among the subgroups (vegetarian vs. nonvegetarian) of healthy women. Few exceptions were mFG score, serum creatinine, TG, LDL cholesterol levels and total testosterone levels, which were higher among healthy nonvegetarian women from Srinagar, similar to the trend found in women with PCOS subgroups. Healthy vegetarian women from Delhi had higher mean fasting plasma glucose and insulin levels. Similar to the observations in PCOS subgroups, pro-inflammatory markers were higher and anti-inflammatory markers were lower among the healthy vegetarian women from Delhi. However, again this attained statistical significance only in cases of serum hs-CRP, IL-6, and adiponectin. A comparison of macronutrient intake between two healthy groups showed a higher self-reported daily calorie intake among non-vegetarian women (1895.40 \pm 208.11 vs. 1857.47 \pm 385.59 Kcal, $p \le 0.05$) with higher daily fat (46.10 \pm 9.46 vs. 42.05 \pm 16.93 g) and protein intake (54.19 \pm 11.03 vs. 52.02 \pm 16.62 g) and a lower carbohydrate intake (304.93 \pm 44.16 vs. 313.83 \pm 72.87 g; $p \leq$ 0.05) than their vegetarian counterparts.

On comparing the per cent energy consumption from macronutrients, vegetarian women consumed lower energy from proteins (11.01 \pm 2.22% vs. 11.48 \pm 2.34%) and fats (20.36 \pm 6.34 vs. 22.54 \pm 5.05%) ($p \leq 0.05$) and higher energy from carbohydrates (66.04 \pm 7.82% vs. 63.13 \pm 7.32%) ($p \leq 0.05$) as compared to non-vegetarian women in our cohort.

Figure 2 shows overall trends of serum inflammatory marker profiles among healthy and PCOS women from both vegetarian and non-vegetarian subgroups. Overall the pro-inflammatory markers (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , hs-CRP, and serum resistin) were highest among vegetarian women with PCOS followed by age and BMI matched non-vegetarian women with PCOS which was in turn were higher than healthy vegetarian women. The lowest levels of pro-inflammatory markers were observed in the healthy non-vegetarian women. A similar but reverse trend was observed in anti-inflammatory markers (IL-10 and adiponectin) among these subgroups.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we aimed to compare the inflammatory biomarker profiles of Indian women with PCOS following vegetarian and non-vegetarian dietary patterns from two different centers in North India. The key results revealed higher pro-inflammatory markers (TNF- α , IL-6, IL-1 β , resistin and hs-CRP) among women with PCOS from both the centers as compared to age and BMI matched healthy controls from the respective populations. On comparing inflammatory markers among the PCOS subgroups pursuing different dietary patterns, vegetarian women had higher levels of serum pro-inflammatory



 $(TNF-\alpha, IL-6, hs-CRP, resistin and IL-1\beta)$ and lower levels of antiinflammatory markers (serum IL-10 and adiponectin) reaching statistical significance in case of serum hs-CRP, resistin and adiponectin. A similar trend was observed when healthy control groups from two populations were compared. However, the study results can furnish limited inferences owing to some limitations such as lack of data on micronutrients including vitamin B12, omega-3 fatty acids, quantitation of visceral fat mass and weighing of lifestyle differences such as pollution (pollution index of Delhi vs. Srinagar: 91.74 vs. 35.01),

Parameters	Vegetarian g	oup	Non-vegetarian group					
	Women with PCOS (<i>n</i> = 82) Mean ± SD	Healthy women (n = 179) Mean ± SD	Women with PCOS (n = 62) Mean \pm SD	Healthy women (<i>n</i> = 141) Mean ± SD	p-value (a =)	p-value (b =)	p-value (c =)	p-value (d =)
Age (years)	25.68 ± 3.81	26.53 ± 5.99	26.13 ± 4.43	26.57 ± 4.11	0.06	0.59	0.53	0.55
No. of menstrual cycles/year	8.02 ± 2.38	11.72 ± 0.65^{a}	8.13 ± 3.40	11.99 ± 0.15^{d}	< 0.01	0.705	0.14	< 0.01
Ferriman–Gallwey score (mFG)	11.32 ± 4.52	$5.51\pm2.77^{\text{a}}$	11.82 ± 4.23	$6.25\pm0.76^{c,d}$	< 0.01	0.43	0.03	< 0.01
BMI (Kg/m ²)	24.94 ± 3.61	23.96 ± 4.17	24.68 ± 3.45	23.97 ± 3.63	0.12	0.467	0.10	0.07
Waist circumference (cm)	83.39 ± 11.49	82.29 ± 12.53	83.42 ± 8.81	83.62 ± 10.94	0.20	0.98	0.09	0.91
Systolic blood pressure (mmHg)	115.49 ± 13.19	115.58 ± 14.51	116.77 ± 8.64	113.43 ± 10.01	0.96	0.53	0.14	0.08
Diastolic blood pressure (mmHg)	77.38 ± 10.08	77.38 ± 10.48	78.15 ± 6.79	76.33 ± 8.78	0.99	0.63	0.34	0.21
Serum total T4 (µg/dl)	8.78 ± 2.23	8.41 ± 1.98	8.27 ± 1.59	8.12 ± 2.12	0.18	0.15	0.22	0.63
Serum TSH (µIU/ml)	3.25 ± 1.81	3.22 ± 1.69	3.45 ± 1.68	3.35 ± 1.39	0.88	0.46	0.48	0.70
Serum prolactin (ng/ml)	16.47 ± 5.38	16.06 ± 4.97	16.17 ± 5.92	15.15 ± 4.25	0.54	0.72	0.11	0.18
Serum LH (IU/ml)	7.75 ± 3.58	6.26 ± 2.36^{a}	7.42 ± 3.56	$6.59\pm2.39^{\rm d}$	< 0.01	0.48	0.31	0.06
Serum FSH (IU/ml)	6.08 ± 2.02	$6.99\pm2.43^{\rm a}$	6.30 ± 2.13	$7.16 \pm 1.94^{\rm d}$	< 0.01	0.51	0.48	< 0.01
Serum total testosterone (ng/ml)	0.48 ± 0.29	0.22 ± 0.18^{a}	$0.56\pm0.25^{\rm b}$	$0.31\pm0.08^{c,d}$	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.01	< 0.01
Serum 250HD (ng/ml)	11.66 ± 9.81	$15.83\pm8.80^{\rm a}$	11.24 ± 6.58	$15.74\pm7.23^{\rm d}$	0.03	0.72	0.63	< 0.01
Protein (g/day)	50.63 ± 11.48	52.02 ± 16.62	$55.16 \pm 12.34^{ m b}$	$54.19 \pm 11.03^{\circ}$	0.87	0.05	0.05	0.23
%Energy from proteins	10.97 ± 2.04	11.06 ± 2.91	11.47 ± 2.41	11.49 ± 2.26				
Fat (g/day)	43.11 ± 14.72	42.05 ± 16.93	$49.07 \pm 12.35^{\rm b}$	$46.10\pm9.46^{\circ}$	0.09	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.15
%Energy from fat	20.81 ± 6.03	19.91 ± 6.65	$23.11 \pm 5.66^{\rm b}$	$21.97 \pm 4.37^{\circ}$				
Carbohydrate (g/day)	318.24 ± 53.94	313.83 ± 72.87	301.86 ± 58.45^{b}	$304.93 \pm 44.16^{\circ}$	0.07	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.54
%Energy from carbohydrates	65.13 ± 7.78	66.94 ± 7.84	62.02 ± 9.12^{b}	$64.24\pm5.54^{\rm c}$				
Energy (Kcal/day)	1862.78 ± 262.33	1857.47 ± 385.59^{a}	$1895.51 \pm 308.28^{ m b}$	$1895.40 \pm 208.11^{\circ}$	0.04	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.68

TABLE 1 | Showing comparison of clinical and hormonal parameters among PCOS vs. healthy women from Delhi and Srinagar.

 $a^{p} < 0.05$ vegetarian PCOS vs. healthy vegetarian women, $b^{p} < 0.05$ vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian PCOS, $c^{p} < 0.05$ healthy vegetarian women vs. healthy non-vegetarian, $d^{p} < 0.05$ non-vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian healthy women. For assessment of normality, Kolmogorov Smirnov test was employed.

Values are presented as mean ± standard deviation. P-values were calculated using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons [post hoc test (Least Significance Difference (LSD))].

stress levels etc. among the two populations. Although, it would have been advantageous to enroll both vegetarian and nonvegetarian women from each center, it was not feasible to enroll pure vegetarian women from the Srinagar centre, since the population is habitually non-vegetarian. Nevertheless, this is the first study reporting impact of diet on inflammatory markers among women with PCOS with a reasonable sample size and age and BMI matched control groups.

Low grade chronic inflammation also referred to as inflammaging is incriminated in the aetiopathogenesis of many chronic illnesses, notably metabolic syndrome (10, 13), obesity (10), T2DM (33), CAD (34), neurodegenerative diseases (35), reproductive dysfunctions including PCOS (13, 14, 17, 36). There is paucity of data on diet-induced inflammation among Asians in general and Indian women with PCOS in particular. Therefore, we undertook this study to evaluate the impact of vegetarian vs. non-vegetarian diet on cytokines among North Indian women with PCOS.

As expected PCOS women (from both centers) had less number of menstrual cycles per year, had more severe hirsutism, elevated serum total testosterone, fasting plasma glucose, and insulin levels as compared to healthy controls, which is in accordance with previously published literature (3, 5, 18). Serum 25OHD levels were lower, while serum alkaline phosphatase was higher among women with PCOS. This could be attributed to their increased body fat content especially the visceral adiposity as reported earlier (37, 38).

We observed that most of the clinical, biochemical, and hormonal parameters were comparable between PCOS women from both centers (vegetarian vs. non-vegetarian) except serum LDL cholesterol, triglycerides and creatinine which were higher among non-vegetarians. This can be attributed to TABLE 2 | Showing comparison of biochemical parameters among healthy women and women with PCOS from Delhi and Srinagar.

Parameters	Vegetaria	n group	Non-vegeta	Non-vegetarian group				
	Women with PCOS (n = 82) Mean ± SD	Healthy women (n = 179) Mean ± SD	Women with PCOS (n = 62) Mean \pm SD	Healthy women (n = 141) Mean ± SD	p-value (a =)	<i>p</i> -value (b =)	p-value (c =)	p-value (d =)
Blood glucose- fasting (mg/dl)	87.71 ± 10.53	86.55 ± 10.34	86.57 ± 10.70	$83.37 \pm 9.13^{c,d}$	0.91	0.51	< 0.01	0.03
Fasting plasma insulin-(mIU/mI)	13.07 ± 8.62	$9.45\pm8.99^{\text{a}}$	12.06 ± 5.91	$7.73\pm3.52^{c,d}$	< 0.01	0.41	0.03	< 0.01
HOMA-IR	2.77 ± 1.93	$1.72 \pm 1.23^{\text{a}}$	2.57 ± 1.24	1.74 ± 1.27^{d}	< 0.01	0.41	0.93	< 0.01
QUICKI	0.36 ± 0.09	$0.37\pm0.03^{\text{a}}$	$0.34\pm0.03^{\rm b}$	$0.37\pm0.04^{\rm d}$	0.03	0.01	0.52	< 0.01
FGIR	9.12 ± 4.71	14.56 ± 9.21^{a}	8.98 ± 4.82	15.87 ± 11.93^{d}	0.02	0.94	0.22	< 0.01
Serum urea (mg/dl)	22.12 ± 5.62	23.55 ± 6.84	23.72 ± 4.57	23.77 ± 5.12	0.16	0.14	0.51	0.78
Serum creatinine (mg/dl)	0.65 ± 0.12	0.65 ± 0.17	$0.72\pm0.17^{\rm b}$	$0.78\pm0.21^{\rm c}$	0.85	0.03	< 0.01	0.23
Serum total calcium (mg/dl)	9.02 ± 0.73	8.43 ± 1.16	$9.24\pm0.63^{\rm b}$	$8.93\pm0.75^{\rm d}$	0.41	0.13	0.26	< 0.01
Serum phosphate (mg/dl)	3.59 ± 0.92	3.84 ± 1.27	4.02 ± 0.89	4.05 ± 0.95	0.26	0.41	0.16	0.58
Serum uric acid (mg/dl)	4.3 ± 1.03	4.13 ± 0.96	4.53 ± 0.82	4.18 ± 0.98	0.07	0.19	0.18	0.06
Serum bilirubin (mg/dl)	0.73 ± 0.23	0.72 ± 0.44	0.79 ± 0.34	0.76 ± 0.34	0.31	0.13	0.41	0.53
Serum SGOT (IU/L)	24.78 ± 8.61	23.72 ± 11.33^{a}	23.72 ± 7.21	$22.9\pm8.59^{\rm d}$	0.02	0.07	0.11	0.05
Serum alkaline phosphatase (IU/L)	107.04 ± 32.16	101.31 ± 33.72^{a}	105.71 ± 28.52	$94.84 \pm 24.3^{c,d}$	0.03	0.11	< 0.01	< 0.01
Serum total protein (g/dl)	7.34 ± 0.39	$7.62\pm0.59^{\rm a}$	$8.18\pm0.54b$	$7.98 \pm 1.04^{c,d}$	< 0.01	0.01	0.05	< 0.01
Serum albumin (g/dl)	4.45 ± 0.43	4.39 ± 0.60	4.55 ± 0.27	4.66 ± 0.51	0.08	0.20	0.12	0.19
Serum total cholesterol (mg/dl)	163.95 ± 32.69	156.08 ± 33.43	168.84 ± 36.62	$165.56 \pm 34.39^{\rm d}$	0.08	0.31	0.14	0.02
Serum HDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	46.90 ± 15.59	46.65 ± 12.22	46.62 ± 16.28	48.89 ± 17.75	0.90	0.91	0.18	0.33
Serum LDL cholesterol (mg/dl)	94.4 ± 31.08	85.27 ± 25.48^a	104.32 ± 24.14^{b}	$92.48 \pm 25.27^{c,d}$	0.04	0.03	0.02	< 0.01
Serum Triglyceride (mg/dl)	105.18 ± 43.81	101.95 ± 37.15^{a}	126.80 ± 39.04^{b}	121.63 ± 49.67°	0.05	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.07

Values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. *p*-values were calculated using one-way ANOVA followed by multiple comparisons [post hoc test (Least Significance Difference (LSD))]. ^a*p* < 0.05 vegetarian PCOS vs. healthy vegetarian women, ^b*p* < 0.05 vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian PCOS, ^c*p* < 0.05 healthy vegetarian women vs. healthy non-vegetarian, ^d*p* < 0.05 non-vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian women vs. healthy women.

TABLE 3 | Showing comparison of serum biomarkers of inflammation among women with PCOS and healthy controls from Delhi and Srinagar.

Parameter	Vegetarian group		Non-veget					
	Women with PCOS $(n = 82)$ Mean \pm SD	Healthy women $(n = 179)$ Mean \pm SD	Women with PCOS $(n = 62)$ Mean \pm SD	Healthy women $(n = 141)$ Mean \pm SD	p-value (a =)	<i>p</i> -value (b =)	<i>p</i> -value (c =)	p-value (d =)
Serum TNF-α (pg/ml)	45.13 ± 35.74	24.18 ± 20.18^{a}	35.47 ± 23.68	22.98 ± 16.42^{d}	0.03	0.91	0.21	< 0.01
Serum IL-6 (pg/ml)	22.95 ± 14.40	$8.44\pm5.64^{\text{a}}$	19.86 ± 7.85	$4.39\pm3.94^{\rm c,d}$	< 0.01	0.91	< 0.01	< 0.01
Serum IL-1β (pg/ml)	11.85 ± 7.43	$8.55\pm5.9^{\rm a}$	9.79 ± 5.12	$7.52\pm4.35^{\rm d}$	< 0.01	0.43	0.37	0.02
Serum hs-CRP (ng/ml)	3.83 ± 1.68	$2.19\pm1.48^{\rm a}$	$2.38\pm0.88^{\rm b}$	$1.68 \pm 1.52^{\rm c,d}$	< 0.01	0.01	< 0.01	< 0.01
Serum resistin (ng/ml)	10.84 ± 4.54	$6.18\pm3.69^{\rm a}$	$6.27\pm2.28^{\rm b}$	5.48 ± 3.10	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.16	0.03
Serum adiponectin (ng/ml)	3.15 ± 2.01	$6.75\pm4.45^{\rm a}$	$6.33\pm2.81^{\rm b}$	$7.20\pm5.38^{c,d}$	< 0.01	< 0.01	0.05	0.02
Serum IL-10(pg/ml)	6.47 ± 1.93	$9.46\pm3.60^{\text{a}}$	6.71 ± 3.16	$10.53\pm7.47^{\rm d}$	< 0.01	0.68	0.24	< 0.01

Values are presented as mean \pm standard deviation. P-values were calculated using Mann-Whitney U test.

 $^{a}p < 0.05$ vegetarian PCOS vs. healthy vegetarian women, $^{b}p < 0.05$ vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian PCOS, $^{c}p < 0.05$ healthy vegetarian women vs. healthy non-vegetarian, $^{d}p < 0.05$ non-vegetarian PCOS vs. non-vegetarian healthy women. For assessment of normality, Kolmogorov Smirnov test was employed.



higher daily fat and protein intake among the non-vegetarian subgroups and the observation is supported by previous studies suggesting that plant based diets have beneficial effects on serum lipid levels (26, 39). The intriguing finding of higher mFG scores and serum total testosterone among healthy as well as women with PCOS from Srinagar as compared to their age and BMI-matched women from Delhi is not readily explainable. However, this finding is consistent with our previously published data (40) and can be attributed to ethnic differences among the two populations. This finding of higher androgen levels among women from Srinagar centre may be one of the reasons of better inflammatory marker profile although the earlier data analyzing the impact of androgens on inflammation is contradictory and needs further evaluation (41).

The observation of a higher pro-inflammatory state among women with PCOS compared to healthy controls is similar to earlier studies showing higher hs-CRP levels among women with PCOS than healthy controls (14, 17). Although, a systematic review and meta-analysis by Escobar-Morreale et al. (42) negated any difference in the levels of serum IL-6 and TNF- α between women with PCOS and controls, this meta-analysis had some limitations. They included 10 studies enrolling small number of PCOS subjects (n = 523) and controls (n = 330) with heterogeneous backgrounds from different ethnicities while as we had relatively homogenous population with fair number of subjects in the present study.

Interestingly, among the PCOS subgroups, vegetarian women had significantly higher levels of serum hs-CRP and serum resistin and lower levels of anti-inflammatory adiponectin. Although, there is no data evaluating the impact of different diets among women with PCOS globally, these findings seem to be in contradiction to most previous studies showing lower inflammatory marker levels among non-PCOS subjects following plant-based diets (19, 32, 42). Nettleton et al. in a multiethnic study showed that vegetarian diet comprising of whole grains, fruits and green leafy vegetables was inversely related to serum hs-CRP and IL-6 concentrations (19). Randomized studies have shown that a traditional Mediterranean diet is highly beneficial in lowering inflammation (43–45). In a recent meta-analysis of 136,846 participants, Koloverou et al. observed

that strict adherence to Mediterranean diet reduces the risk of developing type 2 DM by 23% (25). Although, a minority of reports among non-PCOS subjects support our observations (46, 47), to the best of our knowledge this is the first study evaluating the impact of diet on inflammatory markers in PCOS and healthy women. There is also suggestion that strict adherence to vegetarian diets without necessary supplementation adversely affects female fertility outcomes in women (48, 49). This higher inflammaging among women (both healthy and PCOS) pursuing vegetarian diet in the present study is unlikely to be due to higher fat mass or higher age as our women were age and BMI matched. This could be attributed to differences in dietary composition (micronutrient or macronutrient) or the methods of preparation of Indian vegetarian diet as opposed to Mediterranean diet. Unlike Mediterranean diet, Indian vegetarian diet is generally rich in carbohydrates and low in omega-3 fatty acids (50) which could also be an explanation for a higher pro-inflammatory marker elevation. A recent cohort study conducted across eighteen countries with participants from different ethnicities by Dehghan et al. found that a higher total fat intake was associated with lower risk of total mortality, cardiovascular diseases and stroke (28). In line with this study, we observed that the vegetarian subjects, despite having lower overall daily calorie intake, recorded a higher per cent energy intake from carbohydrates and lower intake from fats as compared to non-vegetarian subjects and may partly explain the proinflammatory state in them. Our results are also supported by recent evidence correlating vegetarian diet with poor health status among Asian Indians in which vegetarianism was found to be associated with higher incidence of metabolic syndrome and obesity (51).

A surge in prevalence of metabolic syndrome, obesity, T2DM, CAD etc. among Asian Indians, despite having lower BMIs has been reported (8, 30, 52) in recent past. The exact etiology being unknown, diet has been incriminated as one of the prime factors in the rising prevalence of these conditions. There is paucity of data on diet-induced inflammation among Asians in general and Indian women with PCOS in particular. Our data is in contravention to earlier studies and traditional advice given to patients, although the implications of this study are not immediately utilizable in clinical practice and may be only generalizable after well-designed, larger long term studies are conducted to reproduce the findings.

REFERENCES

- Legro RS, Arslanian SA, Ehrmann DA, Hoeger KM, Murad MH, Pasquali R, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of polycystic ovary syndrome: an endocrine society clinical practice guideline. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 98:4565–92. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-2350
- Neven A, Laven J, Teede H, Boyle J. A summary on polycystic ovary syndrome: diagnostic criteria, prevalence, clinical manifestations, and management according to the latest international guidelines. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2018) 36:5–12. doi: 10.1055/s-0038-1668085

In conclusion, this study reports higher inflammatory markers among women with PCOS as compared to healthy controls and the Indian vegetarian diet has adverse impact on this profile.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institutional ethics committee-All India Institute of Medical Sciences, New Delhi and Institutional ethical committee-Sher-i-Kashmir Institute of Medical Sciences, Srinagar. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

MG, LR, SV, and TP designed the research. MG, TSah, and SN analyzed the data and wrote the manuscript. AR and IW conducted the research. TSat and IG also contributed in writing the paper. All authors approved the final content of the paper.

FUNDING

This study was supported by research grant from Department of Biotechnology, Ministry of Science and Technology, Govt. of India wide no. BT/PR6251/FNS/20/581/2012.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Dr. Vishnu Vasudevan, Senior Resident, Department of Endocrinology, SKIMS for their valuable inputs and critical review of the manuscript.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fendo. 2019.00699/full#supplementary-material

- 3. Lim SS, Kakoly NS, Tan JWJ, Fitzgerald G, Bahri Khomami M, Joham AE, et al. Metabolic syndrome in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Obes Rev.* (2018) 20:339–52. doi: 10.1111/obr.12762
- Wu J, Yao X-Y, Shi R-X, Liu S-F, Wang X-Y. A potential link between polycystic ovary syndrome and non-alcoholic fatty liver disease: an update meta-analysis. *Reprod Health*. (2018) 15:77. doi: 10.1186/s12978-018-0519-2
- 5. Ganie MA, Dhingra A, Nisar S, Sreenivas V, Shah ZA, Rashid A, et al. Oral glucose tolerance test significantly impacts the prevalence of abnormal glucose tolerance among Indian women with polycystic ovary syndrome: lessons from

a large database of two tertiary care centers on the Indian subcontinent. *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105:194–201.e3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.09.005

- Ding D-C, Chen W, Wang J-H, Lin S-Z. Association between polycystic ovarian syndrome and endometrial, ovarian, and breast cancer. *Medicine* (*Baltimore*). (2018) 97:e12608. doi: 10.1097/MD.000000000012608
- Asunción M, Calvo RM, San Millán JL, Sancho J, Avila S, Escobar-Morreale HF. A prospective study of the prevalence of the polycystic ovary syndrome in unselected caucasian women from spain ¹. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:2434–8. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.7.2434
- Joshi B, Mukherjee S, Patil A, Purandare A, Chauhan S, Vaidya R. A cross-sectional study of polycystic ovarian syndrome among adolescent and young girls in Mumbai, India. *Indian J Endocrinol Metab.* (2014) 18:317. doi: 10.4103/2230-8210.131162
- Alviggi C. The Distribution of stroma and antral Follicles Differs between insulin- resistance and hyperandrogenism- related Polycystic Ovarian syndrome. (2017) 8:117. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2017.00117
- Monteiro R, Azevedo I. Chronic inflammation in obesity and the metabolic syndrome. *Mediators Inflamm*. (2010) 2010:289645. doi: 10.1155/2010/289645
- Piché M-È, Lemieux S, Weisnagel SJ, Corneau L, Nadeau A, Bergeron J. Relation of high-sensitivity C-reactive protein, interleukin-6, tumor necrosis factor-Alpha, and fibrinogen to abdominal adipose tissue, blood pressure, and cholesterol and triglyceride levels in healthy postmenopausal women. *Am J Cardiol.* (2005) 96:92–7. doi: 10.1016/j.amjcard.2005.02.051
- Daan NMP, Koster MPH, De Wilde MA, Dalmeijer GW, Evelein AMV, Fauser BCJM, et al. Biomarker profiles in women with PCOS and PCOS Offspring; a pilot study. *PLoS ONE.* (2016) 11:e0165033. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0165033
- Maiorino MI, Bellastella G, Giugliano D, Esposito K. From inflammation to sexual dysfunctions: a journey through diabetes, obesity, and metabolic syndrome. J Endocrinol Invest. (2018) 41:1249–58. doi: 10.1007/s40618-018-0872-6
- Boulman N, Levy Y, Leiba R, Shachar S, Linn R, Zinder O, et al. Increased C-reactive protein levels in the polycystic ovary syndrome: a marker of cardiovascular disease. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:2160–5. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031096
- Escobar-Morreale HF, Calvo RM, Sancho J, San Millán JL. TNF-α and hyperandrogenism: a clinical, biochemical, and molecular genetic study. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2001) 86:3761–7. doi: 10.1210/jcem.86.8.7770
- 16. Villuendas G, San Millán JL, Sancho J, Escobar-Morreale HF. The −597 G→ A and −174 G→ C Polymorphisms in the Promoter of the IL-6 Gene are associated with hyperandrogenism. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2002) 87:1134–41. doi: 10.1210/jcem.87.3.8309
- MaŽibrada I, Djukić T, Perović S, Plješa-Ercegovac M, Plavšić L, Bojanin D, et al. The association of hs-CRP and fibrinogen with anthropometric and lipid parameters in non-obese adolescent girls with polycystic ovary syndrome. J Pediatr Endocrinol Metab. (2018) 1213–20. doi: 10.1515/jpem-2017-0511
- Lindholm A, Blomquist C, Bixo M, Dahlbom I, Hansson T, Sundström Poromaa I, et al. No difference in markers of adipose tissue inflammation between overweight women with polycystic ovary syndrome and weight-matched controls. *Hum Reprod.* (2011) 26:1478–85. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der096
- Nettleton JA, Steffen LM, Mayer-Davis EJ, Jenny NS, Jiang R, Herrington DM, et al. Dietary patterns are associated with biochemical markers of inflammation and endothelial activation in the Multi-Ethnic Study of Atherosclerosis (MESA). *Am J Clin Nutr.* (2006) 83:1369–79. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/83.6.1369
- Galland L. Diet and inflammation. Nutr Clin Pract. (2010) 25:634–40. doi: 10.1177/0884533610385703
- Willett WC, Sacks F, Trichopoulou A, Drescher G, Ferro-Luzzi A, Helsing E, et al. Mediterranean diet pyramid: a cultural model for healthy eating. *Am J Clin Nutr.* (1995) 61:1402S–6. doi: 10.1093/ajcn/61.6.1402S
- Sureda A, Bibiloni M, Julibert A, Bouzas C, Argelich E, Llompart I, et al. Adherence to the mediterranean diet and inflammatory markers. *Nutrients*. (2018) 10:62. doi: 10.3390/nu10010062
- Schwingshackl L, Hoffmann G. Mediterranean dietary pattern, inflammation and endothelial function: a systematic review and meta-analysis of intervention trials. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2014) 24:929–39. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2014.03.003

- Shen J, Wilmot KA, Ghasemzadeh N, Molloy DL, Burkman G, Mekonnen G, et al. Mediterranean dietary patterns and cardiovascular health. *Annu Rev Nutr.* (2015) 35:425–49. doi: 10.1146/annurev-nutr-011215-025104
- Koloverou E, Esposito K, Giugliano D, Panagiotakos D. The effect of Mediterranean diet on the development of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a metaanalysis of 10 prospective studies and 136,846 participants. *Metabolism*. (2014) 63:903–11. doi: 10.1016/j.metabol.2014.04.010
- Yokoyama Y, Levin SM, Barnard ND. Association between plant-based diets and plasma lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Nutr Rev.* (2017) 75:683–98. doi: 10.1093/nutrit/nux030
- Sutliffe JT, Wilson LD, de Heer HD, Foster RL, Carnot MJ. C-reactive protein response to a vegan lifestyle intervention. *Complement Ther Med.* (2015) 23:32–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ctim.2014.11.001
- Dehghan M, Mente A, Zhang X, Swaminathan S, Li W, Mohan V, et al. Associations of fats and carbohydrate intake with cardiovascular disease and mortality in 18 countries from five continents (PURE): a prospective cohort study. *Lancet*. (2017) 390:2050–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)32252-3
- Ogurtsova K, da Rocha Fernandes JD, Huang Y, Linnenkamp U, Guariguata L, Cho NH, et al. IDF Diabetes Atlas: Global estimates for the prevalence of diabetes for 2015 and 2040. *Diabetes Res Clin Pract.* (2017) 128:40–50. doi: 10.1016/j.diabres.2017.03.024
- 30. Gupta M, Khandelwal A, Krishnan AV, Lichtman JH, Mehta LS, Patel HN, et al. On behalf of the American Heart Association Council on Epidemiol-ogy and Prevention; Cardiovascular Disease and Stroke in Women and Special Popula-tions Committee of the Council on Clinical Cardiology; Council on Cardiovascular and Stroke Nursing; Council. *Circulation.* (2018) 138:e1–34.
- Misra A, Khurana L, Isharwal S, Bhardwaj S. South Asian diets and insulin resistance. Br J Nutr. (2008) 101:465–73. doi: 10.1017/S0007114508073649
- 32. Franco-de-Moraes AC, de Almeida-Pititto B, da Rocha Fernandes G, Gomes EP, da Costa Pereira A, Ferreira SRG. Worse inflammatory profile in omnivores than in vegetarians associates with the gut microbiota composition. *Diabetol Metab Syndr.* (2017) 9:62. doi: 10.1186/s13098-017-0261-x
- Donath MY, Shoelson SE. Type 2 diabetes as an inflammatory disease. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:98–107. doi: 10.1038/nri2925
- 34. Ridker PM, Hennekens CH, Buring JE, Rifai N. C-reactive protein and other markers of inflammation in the prediction of cardiovascular disease in women. N Engl J Med. (2002) 342:836–43. doi: 10.1056/NEJM200003233421202
- McGEER PL, McGeer EG. Inflammation and the degenerative diseases of aging. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2004) 1035:104–16. doi: 10.1196/annals.1332.007
- 36. Shorakae S, Teede H, de Courten B, Lambert G, Boyle J, Moran L. The emerging role of chronic low-grade inflammation in the pathophysiology of Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2015) 33:257–69. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1556568
- Zakharova I, Klimov L, Kuryaninova V, Nikitina I, Malyavskaya S, Dolbnya S, et al. Vitamin D insufficiency in overweight and obese children and adolescents. *Front Endocrinol.* (2019) 10:103. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00103
- Pramono A, Jocken JWE, Essers YPG, Goossens GH, Blaak EE. Vitamin D and tissue-specific insulin sensitivity in humans with overweight/obesity. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2019) 104:49–56. doi: 10.1210/jc.2018-00995
- Wang F, Zheng J, Yang B, Jiang J, Fu Y, et al. Effects of vegetarian diets on blood lipids: a systematic review and meta-analysis of randomized controlled trials. *J Am Heart Assoc.* (2015) 4:e002408. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.115.002408
- Ganie MA, Marwaha RK, Dhingra A, Nisar S, Mani K, Masoodi S, et al. Observation of phenotypic variation among Indian women with polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) from Delhi and Srinagar. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2016) 32:566–70. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2016.1141879
- González F. Nutrient-induced inflammation in Polycystic Ovary Syndrome : role in the development of metabolic aberration and ovarian dysfunction. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2015) 1:276–86. doi: 10.1055/s-0035-1554918
- Escobar-Morreale HF, Luque-Ramírez M, González F. Circulating inflammatory markers in polycystic ovary syndrome: a systematic review and metaanalysis. *Fertil Steril.* (2011) 95:1048–58.e1–2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.11.036
- Whalen KA, McCullough ML, Flanders WD, Hartman TJ, Judd S, Bostick RM. Paleolithic and mediterranean diet pattern scores are inversely associated with biomarkers of inflammation and oxidative balance in adults. J Nutr. (2016) 146:1217–26. doi: 10.3945/jn.115.224048

- 44. Bonaccio M, Pounis G, Cerletti C, Donati MB, Iacoviello L, de Gaetano G, et al. Mediterranean diet, dietary polyphenols and low grade inflammation: results from the MOLI-SANI study. *Br J Clin Pharmacol.* (2017) 83:107–13. doi: 10.1111/bcp.12924
- 45. Casas R, Sacanella E, Estruch R. The immune protective effect of the mediterranean diet against chronic low-grade inflammatory diseases. *Endocr Metab Immune Disord Drug Targets*. (2014) 14:245–54. doi: 10.2174/1871530314666140922153350
- 46. Šebeková K, Boor P, Valachovičová M, BlaŽiček P, Parrák V, Babinská K, et al. Association of metabolic syndrome risk factors with selected markers of oxidative status and microinflammation in healthy omnivores and vegetarians. *Mol Nutr Food Res.* (2006) 50:858–68. doi: 10.1002/mnfr.200500170
- Lee Y-J, Wang M-Y, Lin M-C, Lin P-T. Associations between Vitamin B-12 status and oxidative stress and inflammation in diabetic vegetarians and omnivores. *Nutrients*. (2016) 8:118. doi: 10.3390/nu8030118
- Koebnick C, Hoffmann I, Dagnelie PC, Heins UA, Wickramasinghe SN, Ratnayaka ID, et al. Long-term ovo-lacto vegetarian diet impairs Vitamin B-12 status in pregnant women. J Nutr. (2004) 134:3319–26. doi: 10.1093/jn/134.12.3319
- Pistollato F, Sumalla Cano S, Elio I, Masias Vergara M, Giampieri F, Battino M. Plant-based and plant-rich diet patterns during gestation: beneficial effects and possible shortcomings. *Adv Nutr.* (2015) 6:581–91. doi: 10.3945/an.115.009126

- Trichopoulou A, Martínez-González MA, Tong TY, Forouhi NG, Khandelwal S, Prabhakaran D, et al. Definitions and potential health benefits of the Mediterranean diet: views from experts around the world. *BMC Med.* (2014) 12:112. doi: 10.1186/1741-7015-12-112
- Misra R, Balagopal P, Raj S, Patel TG. Vegetarian diet and cardiometabolic risk among asian indians in the United States. J Diabetes Res. (2018) 2018:1–13. doi: 10.1155/2018/1675369
- Das A, Ambale-Venkatesh B, Lima JAC, Freedman JE, Spahillari A, Das R, et al. Cardiometabolic disease in South Asians: a global health concern in an expanding population. *Nutr Metab Cardiovasc Dis.* (2017) 27:32–40. doi: 10.1016/j.numecd.2016.08.001

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2019 Ganie, Sahar, Rashid, Wani, Nisar, Sathyapalan, Vishnubhatla, Ramakrishnan, Parvez and Geer. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Mast Cells in Peritoneal Fluid From Women With Endometriosis and Their Possible Role in Modulating Sperm Function

Violetta Borelli^{1*}, Monica Martinelli², Stefania Luppi², Francesca Vita¹, Federico Romano², Francesco Fanfani³, Elisa Trevisan¹, Fulvio Celsi¹, Giuliano Zabucchi¹, Fabrizio Zanconati⁴, Cristina Bottin⁴ and Giuseppe Ricci^{2,4*}

¹ Department of Life Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy, ² Institute for Maternal and Child Health IRCCS "Burlo Garofolo", Trieste, Italy, ³ UOC di Ginecologia Oncologica, Dipartimento Scienze della Salute della Donna e del Bambino, Fondazione Policlinico Universitario A. Gemelli IRCCS, Rome, Italy, ⁴ Department of Medicine, Surgery and Health Sciences, University of Trieste, Trieste, Italy

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Even Schjenken, The University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Albert Salas-Huetos, The University of Utah, United States Elisa Maseroli, University of Florence, Italy

*Correspondence:

Violetta Borelli borelliv@units.it Giuseppe Ricci giuseppe.ricci@burlo.trieste.it

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Physiology

Received: 13 September 2019 Accepted: 05 December 2019 Published: 09 January 2020

Citation:

Borelli V, Martinelli M, Luppi S, Vita F, Romano F, Fanfani F, Trevisan E, Celsi F, Zabucchi G, Zanconati F, Bottin C and Ricci G (2020) Mast Cells in Peritoneal Fluid From Women With Endometriosis and Their Possible Role in Modulating Sperm Function. Front. Physiol. 10:1543. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2019.01543 Endometriosis is a local pelvic inflammatory process, frequently associated with infertility, with altered function of immune-related cells in the peritoneal environment. Mast cells are known to be key players of the immune system and have been recently involved in endometriosis and in infertility, with their mediators directly suppressing sperm motility. In this study, we evaluated the mast cell population and their mediators in the peritoneal fluid of infertile patients with endometriosis and their impact on human sperm motility. Peritoneal fluids, collected by laparoscopy from 11 infertile patients with endometriosis and 9 fertile controls were evaluated for the presence of mast cells, tryptase levels and their effect on sperm motility. Furthermore, an in vitro model of mast cells-sperm interaction in peritoneal fluid was set up, using LAD2 cell line as a mast cell model, and analyzed from a functional as well as a morphological point of view. Mast cell peritoneal fluid population and its main mediator, tryptase, is more represented in endometriosis confirming an involvement of these cells in this disease. Anyway it appears unlikely that tryptase enriched peritoneal fluid, which fails to inhibit sperm motility, could contribute to endometriosis associated infertility. Despite of this, sperm interaction with the mast cell surface (LAD2) induced a significantly mast cell-degranulation response in the peritoneal fluid from endometriosis which could directly modulate sperm function other than motility. This evidence lead us to suppose that there is, between these elements, an interrelationship which deserves further studies.

Keywords: endometriosis, infertility, mast cells, tryptase, sperm

INTRODUCTION

Endometriosis (EMS) is characterized by the presence and growth of endometrial tissue outside the uterus. It is a common disease among women of reproductive age. Population-based studies estimate a prevalence ranging between 1.8 and 3.3% in women aged 15–50 years (Morassutto et al., 2016). Endometriosis is frequently associated with infertility, even if affected women have

19

an ovulatory activity or a mechanical patency of the fallopian tubes (Gupta et al., 2008; Máté et al., 2018).

The current consensus is that endometriosis is a local pelvic inflammatory process with altered function of immunerelated cells in the peritoneal environment. There are recent studies which support this theory, suggesting that the peritoneal fluid of women with endometriosis contains an increased number of activated macrophages that secrete various local products, including growth factors, cytokines and possibly oxidation products (Capobianco and Rovere-Querini, 2013), implicating these factors in the development and progression of endometriosis and endometriosis-associated infertility. Although the contribution of specific immune cell subsets and their mediators to the onset and the course of the inflammatory process in endometrial lesions is still poorly understood, some evidence suggests that mast cells (MC) are crucially involved. Mast cells are known to be key players of the immune system, especially during allergic reactions. However, increasing evidence supports the involvement of MC also in the inflammatory process of EMS. High numbers of degranulated MC have been found in endometriotic lesions (Konno et al., 2003; Kempuraj et al., 2004; Sugamata et al., 2005; Anaf et al., 2006; Kirchhoff et al., 2012; Paula et al., 2015). Of note, this was not the case at unaffected sites of the peritoneum or eutopic endometrial tissue from EMS patients or healthy controls. Additionally, it has been shown that stem cell factor (SCF), the major growth differentiation and chemoattractant factor for MC, is found in higher concentrations in the peritoneal fluid (PF) of EMS patients (Osuga et al., 2000). Despite the possible MC role in the onset and/or the course of the pelvic inflammatory process of endometriosis, neither the amount of MC nor the level of their mediators has been evaluated in EMS-peritoneal fluid to the best of our knowledge.

Endometriosis has been also associated with infertility even in its early stages (Zondervan et al., 2018) before adhesion or anatomic distortion take place. The exact mechanism of endometriosis-associated infertility is not fully understood, although many possible causes have been suggested, among them the potential negative effects of cytokine-rich peritoneal fluid (flushing the tubal and endometrial environment) on sperm function (impairment of acrosome reaction and impairment of sperm motility) (Gupta et al., 2008; Broi et al., 2019). Since in humans there are no selective barriers separating the Fallopian tubes and the peritoneal cavity, PF can be present in the fertilization milieu (Harper, 1988). Although changes in PF volume, cell concentration, hormones, growth factors, cytokines and possibly free oxygen radicals production have been well characterized in endometriosis (Oral et al., 1996; Bedaiwy and Falcone, 2003; Bedaiwy et al., 2007; Nishida et al., 2011; Rižner, 2015), data about the effect of this fluid on sperm function are still controversial (Broi et al., 2019). Most of these studies suggest that substances found in the peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis could contribute to infertility through impairment of both sperm function and motion kinetics (Drudy et al., 1994; Zullo et al., 1994; Aeby et al., 1996; Oral et al., 1996; Liu et al., 2000; Luo et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2008; Mansour et al., 2009). However, other studies reported no adverse effect of PF in patients with endometriosis on sperm motility parameters, suggesting that peritoneal fluid in these patients cannot contribute to infertility (Chen et al., 1997; Sharma et al., 1999). Interestingly human recombinant tryptase, the main MC product in all human MC, including those found in the female genital tract (Yamanaka et al., 2000; Sivridis et al., 2001), has been shown to reduce human sperm motility *in vitro* (Weidinger et al., 2003), thus being a good candidate factor for influencing sperm fertilizing ability.

In this study, we evaluated for the first time the amount of MC and their main mediator (tryptase) in the peritoneal fluid of infertile patients with endometriosis and their impact on human sperm motility. Furthermore we evaluated mast cellsperm interaction in an *in vitro* model by using a human mast cell line (LAD2).

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patients for PF Collection

Twenty women undergoing either diagnostic or operative laparoscopy at the Institute for Maternal and Child Health, IRCCS Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy were enrolled in a casecontrol study. The study was reviewed and approved by the Ethical Committee of the Institute for Maternal and Child Health IRCCS Burlo Garofolo, Trieste, Italy (Prot. 1197/2015). Informed consent for participation in the study was obtained from all women.

The study group (EMS group) consisted in total of 11 infertile women, diagnosed with moderate/severe endometriosis (stage III-IV, n = 9) and minimal/mild endometriosis (stage I-II, n = 2) according to the revised criteria of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine ASRM (Canis et al., 1997). They had normal ovulation and no other identifiable female causes of infertility.

The control group (C group) consisted of a total of 9 fertile women, without endometriosis, subjected to laparoscopy to remove leiomyoma. Medical history and white blood cell count (WBC) were recorded for all the patients.

PF Collection and Cytological Evaluation

Laparoscopy was performed, and all obtainable peritoneal fluid in the pouch of Douglas was aspirated (by a suction unit through a Teflon catheter) immediately after entering the abdominal cavity and collected in sterile plastic tubes. Blood-free samples were immediately transported to the laboratory where total cell numbers were counted (Coulter, Miami, FL, United States) and differential cell counts carried out using an optical microscope on Diff-Quik System (Medion Diagnostics, Gmbh, Düdingen, CH) and Toluidine Blue stained cytospin specimens (Cytospin 2, Shandon Inc., Pittsburgh, PA, United States) on by cytospin preparations after staining with Diff-Quick (Medion Diagnostics, Dudingen, Switzerland). Subsequently, 1 mL of PF was centrifuged (10 min, 600 g), filtered through a 0.22-µL membrane (Millipore, Bedford, MA, United States) and stored at -80° C until used (<12 months). The remaining volume of PF (at least 5 mL) was processed for cell blocks preparation by using 10% alcohol-formalin as a fixative agent as described by Shivakumarswamy et al. (2012). After paraffin embedding 3 μ m thickness serial sections were prepared from this cell block and stained immunohistochemically for tryptase (see below).

One of the main advantages of the cell block technique is to obtain multiple sections for conventional stains and immunohistochemistry (Shivakumarswamy et al., 2012). Diagnostic sensitivity may be improved when cytology and cell block preparation are used in tandem.

Immunocytochemical Staining for Tryptase

Immunohistochemistry was performed on formalin-fixed, paraffin-embedded cell block sections 3 μ m thin using Ultravision Quanto Large Volume Detection System HRP Polymer (Bio Optica, Milan, Italy) pre-treated with Dewax and HIER Buffer H, pH 8. The sections were incubated for 30 min, at RT Temperature with anti Mast Cell Tryptase monoclonal antibody (15-MOB347 – Bio Optica Milan, Italy) diluted 1:600 in Thermo Scientific Antibody Diluent OP Quanto (Cat. # TA-125-ADQ). The primary antibody was omitted in negative controls (**Figure 2**).

Finally, the sections were incubated for 10 min with 3,3' Diaminobenzidine chromogen (DAB – Dako Milan, Italy) and Mayer Hematoxylin to nuclear counterstain. Slides were scanned by D-Sight Microscope and Scanner (A. Menarini Diagnostic S.r.l. – Firenze, Italy), then analyzed by VISIA Imaging S.r.l. software.

Protein Content

The PF protein content was quantitated with the Bradford method (Bradford, 1976) using bovine-serum-albumin (BSA) as standard and expressed in mg/mL.

Tryptase Concentration and Enzymatic Activity

Tryptase, a tetrameric serine proteinase, is the major component of mast cell granules, and comprises up to 20% of the total protein of mast cells derived from lung, colon and skin tissue (Schwartz and Bradford, 1986; He and Xie, 2004). A colorimetric assay was used to determine the enzymatic activity of tryptase in the PF samples both from patients and controls (and LAD2 supernatants, see below) as previously described (Borelli et al., 2018). The assay is based on spectrophotometric detection of the chromophore p-nitroaniline (pNA) (Sigma-Aldrich, United States) after cleavage from the labeled substrate tosyl-gly-pro-lys-pNA. The free pNA was quantified using a microtiter plate reader at 405 nm (Biotek Instruments Inc). Samples were assayed in triplicate, and tryptase activity was expressed in (arbitrary unit of absorbance/mL) AU/mL.

Tryptase (Enzyme-Linked Immunosorbent Assay (ELISA) (USCN, Life Sciences Inc) immunoassay kit was used to determine the concentration of tryptase in PF samples and pools both from patients and controls. The assays were performed according to the manufacturer's instructions and the results referred to a calibration curve expressed in ng/mL. Samples were assayed in triplicate.

β-Hexosaminidase Enzyme Activity

 β -hexosaminidase (β -hexo), another typical marker of mast cell granules, was assayed spectrophotometrically by the hydrolysis of 4-nitrophenyl N-acetyl- β -D-glucosaminide (Sigma-Aldrich, United States) as previously described (Gri et al., 2008; Medic et al., 2008). Samples were assayed in triplicate and β -hexo activity was expressed in (arbitrary unit of absorbance/mL) AU/mL.

Semen Samples: Isolation of Motile Sperms

Fresh semen was collected (at the Assisted Reproduction Unit of the Institute for Maternal and Child Health IRCCS Burlo Garofolo and University of Trieste) from healthy subjects (n = 19, mean age + SD: 39.6 ± 7.3 years) who had given informed consent and had no history of diseases related to infertility. After complete liquefaction, the ejaculates were analyzed according to the standard semen parameters of the World Health Organization (WHO laboratory manual for the examination and processing of human semen, fifth edition. World Health Organization [WHO], 2010). Motility was determined by manual counting of at least 200 sperms observed under $400 \times$ phase contrast optics.

A leukocyte count was carried out by using standard peroxidase test, as described in the WHO laboratory manual. All subjects were asymptomatic for genitourinary infections. Only ejaculates with $<1 \times 10^6$ white blood cells/mL, total motility (World Health Organization [WHO], 2010: >40%) and progressive motility (World Health Organization [WHO], 2010: >32%) were used for the experiments.

For isolation of motile sperms, samples were processed using the swim-up technique to eliminate dead spermatozoa and other cells, including bacteria and leukocytes (Ricci et al., 2009). This methodology is based on the active movement of spermatozoa from the prewashed cell pellet into an overlaying medium. Ejaculates were washed (centrifuged at 500 g for 10 min) and resuspended in Human Tubular Fluid medium (HTFM, Irvine Scientific, United States), containing 0.05% BSA. The supernatant was discarded, the pellet was suspended in pre-warmed 0,5 mL of HTFM. The pellet was gently over-layered with HTFM in the tube, inclined at 45° and kept at 37°C for 45–60 min. A sterile Pasteur pipette was used to remove the supernatant containing > 95% actively motile sperms whose concentration ranged from 20 to 30×10^6 /mL.

Effect of Peritoneal Fluid on Human Sperm Viability and Motility

Motility-enriched sperm samples (N = 19) were incubated in HTFM containing 0.05% BSA (as negative control) or peritoneal fluid in the ratio 1:4 (125 μ L sperm samples and 500 μ L PF). For the seek of simplicity we preferred to evaluate many fold peritoneal fluid pools than the single PF, accordingly, a pool of peritoneal fluids was prepared from either groups by mixing equal volumes of fluid samples taken from patients with endometriosis.

Sperm viability [Eosin-Nigrosin staining technique (Björndahl et al., 2003)], total and progressive motility variables were evaluated at 0, 3 (Weidinger et al., 2003) and 24 h (Mansour et al., 2009) by manual counting of sperm observed under phase contrast microscopy.

After 3 h no significant difference in viability was observed in comparison with starting conditions (after swim up, T0), while after 24 h viability was significantly decreased with respect to T0, in the presence of HTFM, of peritoneal fluid from both women with endometriosis and control patients (p < 0.05), but no difference was observed when comparing viability of spermatozoa incubated for 3 h or 24 h in either PF-C or PF-EMS, to that of sperm incubated for the same period in HTF medium alone (**Figure 3**).

LAD2 Human Mast Cell Line

The human MC line LAD2 was kindly provided by Prof. Carlo Pucillo (Department of Medicine Medical Area, University of Udine, Udine, Italy). The cell line was established from bone marrow aspirates of a patient with MC sarcoma leukemia and is closely related to hMC (Kirshenbaum et al., 2003). This cell line has been widely used as a suitable model for analyzing mast cell functions particularly degranulation and cytokine secretion (Gage et al., 2009; Chan et al., 2014; Ramis et al., 2015) suggesting that they are endowed with a well-defined secretory apparatus and can be used to investigate the mechanism of activation of their secretory pathways. Furthermore LAD2 have increased expression of tryptase, which represent the mast cell mediator of interest in our study, with respect to other human mast cell line HMC-1 (Kanerva et al., 2009; Guhl et al., 2010; Rådinger et al., 2010).

LAD2 cells were grown in serum-free medium StemPro-34 (Gibco, Grand Island, NY) supplemented with 2 mM L-glutamine (Gibco), 1% penicillin-streptomycin (Gibco), and 100 ng/mL human stem cell factor (PeproTech Inc., Rocky Hill, NJ, United States) in a humidified atmosphere of 5% CO2 in air at 37°C. LAD2 were periodically tested for c-Kit expression on the cell surface by flow cytometry (FACScan, Becton Dickinson, San Diego, CA, United States). LAD2 cells were suspended at $1-2 \times 10^6$ /mL in Tyrode's buffer containing 0.02% BSA (TyB).

In vitro Experimental Model of MC-Sperm Interaction in the Peritoneal Environment

LAD2 cells were incubated (30 min at 37°C) with or without highly motile sperms (1:3–5 ratio of cells to sperms), in Tyrode's buffer containing 0.02% BSA (TyB) or in the presence of 10% pool PF-EMS or PF-C, then spun down at 250 × g for 7 min. With the aim of evaluating if sperm represents a secretory stimulus for MC, supernatants (SN) and pellets obtained after centrifugation were evaluated for tryptase and β -hexo activity (degranulation assay, see below).

Degranulation Assay

Tryptase and β -hexo activity (degranulation assay) were evaluated in the supernatant (SN) and pellets using as enzyme

substrates, tosyl-gly-pro-lys-p-nitroanilide (0.25 mM final concentration) for tryptase (see above) and 4-nitrophenyl N-acetyl-β-D-glucosaminide (0.5 mM final concentration) for β -hexo [as previously described (Gri et al., 2008; Medic et al., 2008)]. The enzymatic activity was measured in an ELISA reader (Bio-tek instruments INC) at 450 nm. The extent of degranulation was calculated as the percentage of free pNA (for tryptase) or 4-p-nitrophenol (for β -hexo) absorbance in the supernatants taking the sum of the activities found in the supernatants and in cell pellets solubilized in hexadecyl trimethyl ammonium bromide (CTAB) (Sigma-Aldrich, United States) 0.05%, as 100%. Of note, we choose mainly β -hexo activity as a marker of LAD2 degranulation since tryptase activity in PF was too high and covered up the secretory response of LAD2. 4-p-nitrophenol absorbance values were adjusted subtracting the β-hexo activity of sperms, PF-EMS and PF-C alone. A positive control was obtained by cell stimulation with compound 48/80 (10 µg/mL final concentration), a well-known cationic mast cell stimulating agent, for 30-60 min.

SEM Analysis of MC-Sperm Interaction

At the end of the incubation carried out for the degranulation assay, two hundred microliters of the cell suspension (see paragraph In vitro experimental model of MC-sperm interaction in the peritoneal environment) were diluted with PBS (Dulbecco's modified phosphate buffered saline (PBS) (Sigma-Aldrich, United States) and placed on a poly-L-lysine-coated glass coverslip (18 mm diameter) (Menzler Glasser). The immobilized cells were allowed to adhere to the coverslip over a 30-min incubation period on ice. The supernatant was decanted, and adherent cells were fixed in 2% glutaraldehyde PBS pH 7.4 at room temperature for 30 min. Fixation was followed by rinsing in PBS and then dehydration through graded ethanols. Samples were transferred to a critical point dryer (Bal-Tec; EM Technology and Application, Furstentum, Liechtenstein) in 100% ethanol and dried through CO2. Coverslips were mounted on aluminum sample stubs and gold coated by sputtering (Edwards S150A apparatus, Edwards High Vacuum, Crawley, West Sussex, United Kingdom).

Cells were observed under both low (X 2,000–4,000) and high (X 35,000–40,000) magnification and representative areas were photographed. SEM micrographs are acquired by a Leica Stereoscan 430i scanning electron microscope (Leica Cambridge Ltd., Cambridge, United Kingdom). In each specimen prepared from two different experiments more than 100 SEM fields, including more than 600 LAD2s, were scored for the presence of adherent sperms. The site of sperm-LAD2 interaction, head/midportion (HM) or tail, was also specified.

Statistical Analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using Graph Pad Prism (Graph Pad Software Inc., La Jolla, CA, United States). The data (levels of blood parameters, PF cellular, and soluble parameters, number of interacting LAD2 and number of LAD2-interacting sperms and the percentage of degranulation) are presented as mean \pm Standard Error (SE) or Standard Deviation (SD) (accordingly to the number of the sample

scored). The Kolmogorov–Smirnov test was applied to assess the normality of the studied data. Independent samples Student *t*-test (unpaired) was used to compare data between the two groups. Kruskal–Wallis test was used to evaluate differences in spermatozoa parameters and, when statistically significant differences were present, Dunn's *post hoc* was used to individuate group differences. In all instances, the level of significance for statistical analysis was set at 5% (p < 0.05). Power analysis was made using G*Power software (Faul et al., 2007).

Power analysis was performed to assess feasibility of the study: considering effect size = 1.15 and a = 0.05, power is equal to 0.79, indicating that highly probable to find statistical significant differences.

RESULTS

Blood Cell Counts and Peritoneal Fluid Characterization of the Cellular Components

Table 1 shows white blood counts performed before surgery. The analysis of blood counts showed no statistically significant difference in the number of total circulating leukocytes and different leukocyte subpopulations between the two groups, except that for basophilic granulocytes, whose relative percent (compared to total leukocytes) was significantly lower (p = 0.021) in the study group (mean \pm SD: 0.54 ± 0.23) as compared to the control group (mean \pm SD: 0.87 ± 0.35).

Table 2 shows the data related to the characteristics of peritoneal fluid of the study group and the control group: volume (mL); cell concentration (expressed in 10^6 cells/mL); total cells (10^6 cells) and percentages for different leukocyte populations



FIGURE 1 | Representative images of cytocentrifuged smears of PF (EMS) stained with Diff-Quick (a) and with Toluidin blue (TB) (b). Mast cells/basophils are indicated by the arrows. Original magnification $1,000 \times$. Scale bars = 10 μ m.

evaluated on cytocentrifuged samples of peritoneal fluid stained using the Diff-Quick (DQ) (**Figure 1a**). To evaluate specifically the population of MC the Toluidin Blue (TB) staining (**Figure 1b**) was also performed and the results expressed as % of TB positive cells (**Table 2**). There were no significant differences (p = 0.158) neither between the volumes of the PF (mL) in the study group (mean \pm SD: 10.1 5.7; n = 11) and control groups (mean \pm SD: 8.7 ± 3.5 ; n = 9), nor between the total cell count (expressed in 10^6 cells/mL) of the PF in the study group (1.6 ± 1.3 ; n = 11) and the control group (1.7 ± 1.3 ; n = 9). Furthermore, the PF counts (performed on Diff-Quick stained PF cytocentrifugates) show no statistically significant difference in the percentage of different subpopulations between the two groups with except of neutrophils. As expected (Wang et al., 2018) the percentage of the latter cells resulted significantly increased on the average.

Table 2 also shows the data related to the MC counts evaluated on PF cytocentrifugates stained using TB, which

TABLE 1 Demographic and clinical characteristics of patients in the study group: infertile women with endometriosis (EMS, N = 11) and control group: fertile women without EMS (C, N = 9).

		Blood (CBC, complete blood count)					
	Age (years)	Leukocytes (10 ⁶ /mL)	Neut %	Lymph %	Mono %	Eos %	Bas %
Control (C) group ($n = 9$)	38.4 ± 6.1	7.9 ± 2.3	58.1 ± 8.9	30.3 ± 6.3	4,8 ± 0.9	3.9 ± 2.5	0.87 ± 0.35
Study (EMS) group ($n = 11$)	32.3 ± 4.9	6.6 ± 0.9	54.0 ± 6.6	34.2 ± 5.9	6.5 ± 2.4	3.0 ± 1.3	0.54 ± 0.23
Statistical analysis	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	ns	p = 0.021

Neut, neutrophils; Lymph, lymphocytes; Mono, monocytes; Eos, eosinophils and Bas, basophils. Values are the mean \pm SD. Statistical analysis: Student t-test.

TABLE 2 | Cytological peritoneal fluid characterization in the study and control group.

			Diff Quick stain TB					
	Vol PF (mL)	10 ⁶ cells/mL	MΦ/mono %	Lymph %	Neut %	Eos %	Meso %	MC/baso
Control (C) Group $(n = 9)$	8.7 ± 3.5	1.7 ± 1.3	73.0 ± 10.4	16.0 ± 8.5	8.6 ± 4.5	1.1 ± 0.5	1.3 ± 0.8	0.5 ± 0.5
Study (EMS) Group ($n = 11$)	10.1 ± 5.7	1.6 ± 1.3	56.3 ± 13.4	14.1 ± 10.0	24.6 ± 7.0	2.5 ± 3.8	2.5 ± 5.6	2.8 ± 3.2
Statistical Analysis	ns	ns	ns	ns	p < 0.05	ns	ns	ns

Neut, neutrophils; Lymph, lymphocytes; $M\Phi/Mono$, macrophages/monocytes; Eos, eosinophils; Bas, basophils; MC, mast cells and Meso, mesothelial like cells; TB, toluidine blue; n, patient number. Values, reported as percentage of total cell counted (always more than 200), are the mean \pm SD. Statistical analysis: Student t-test.



control (primary antibody omitted) is shown. Original magnification 1,000×. Scale bars = 10 μ m.

makes recognizing MC more easy (EMS vs. C mean $\% \pm$ SD: 2.8 \pm 3.2 vs. 0.5 \pm 0.5 p = 0.616). MC population is reduced on the average in the control group, but these values were not significantly different.

To clarify the results obtained with the cytocentrifugates the remaining volume of PF was fixed in formalin (4%) and cell blocks were prepared. Serial sections $(3 \,\mu m)$ obtained from these cell-blocks were processed for immunohistochemical analysis for tryptase, a specific MC marker (Figures 2a,b), using LAD2 cells as a positive marker control (Figures 2c,d). The results, expressed as percentage of tryptase positive cells on total cells counted showed that: the study group is characterized by a percentage of tryptasepositive cells (MC) significantly (p = 0.044) higher (mean % \pm SD: 1.2 \pm 0.6; *n* = 11) compared to the control group (mean % \pm SD: 0.6 ± 0.3 ; n = 9). These findings agree with the trend revealed by the preliminary analysis of cytocentrifuged samples stained with TB reported in Table 2. Of note the density of tryptase-positive cells in the endometriotic lesions (Supplementary Figure S1 and Supplementary Table S2) is comparabe with those reported in the literature (Konno et al., 2003; Kempuraj et al., 2004; Sugamata et al., 2005; Anaf et al., 2006; Kirchhoff et al., 2012; Paula et al., 2015).

Peritoneal Fluid Characterization of Soluble Mediators

There were no significant differences (p = 0.572) between the protein concentration (as measured by the Bradford method) of the PF between cases (mean \pm SD: 1.19 \pm 0.04 mg/mL) and controls (mean \pm SD: 1.21 \pm 0.06 mg/mL) (**Table 3**).

The PF study group (EMS) is characterized by a statistically significant (p = 0.031) increased tryptase enzymatic activity (mean \pm SD: 4.2 \pm 1.2) compared to the control group



(mean \pm SD: 3.0 \pm 0.8) (**Table 3**). The concentration of tryptase expressed as ng/mL of PF is also shown in **Table 3**. Similarly to what was found for the enzymatic activity of the tryptase in the PF, the study group was characterized by a concentration of tryptase (mean \pm SD: 16.4 \pm 3.9) significantly higher (p = 0.023) than that of the control group (mean \pm SD: 12.3 \pm 2.3).

Results reported in **Table 3** show that there were no statistically significant differences between the peritoneal levels of β -hexosaminidase enzymatic activity in the two groups (p = 0.408). This result is not surprising, since this enzyme is not MC-specific as tryptase is.

TABLE 3 | Biochemical characterization of the peritoneal fluid in the study and control group.

	Control (C) Group (n = 9)	Study (EMS) Group (<i>n</i> = 11)	Statistical analysis
Protein concentration (mg/ml) Mean \pm SD	1.21 ± 0.04	1.19 ± 0.06	ns
β -hexosaminidase enzyme activity (AU/ml) <i>Mean</i> ± SD	5.9 ± 1.3	6.5 ± 1.3	ns
Tryptase enzyme activity (AU/ml) Mean \pm SD	3.0 ± 0.8	4.2 ± 1.2	p = 0.031
Tryptase concentration (ng/ml) Mean \pm SD	12.3 ± 2.3	16.4 ± 3.9	p = 0.023

Arbitrary units (AU) are expressed as: absorbance of 4-nitrophenol/ml for β -hexosaminidase; absorbance of p-nitroaniline/ml, for Tryptase. For more details see text. Statistical analysis: Student t-test, two tailed unpaired.



(HTFM), peritoneal fluid from women with endometriosis (PF-EMS) and from controls (PF-C). In (A) T0 vs. HTFM 3 h: p = 0.4617; T0 vs. PF-EMS 3 h: p = 0.0642; T0 vs. PF-C 3 h p = 0.0058; T0 vs. HFTM 24 h p < 0.0001; T0 vs. PF-EMS 24 h p < 0.0001; T0 vs. PF-C 24 h < 0.0001. In **(B)** T0 vs. HTFM 3 h: p = 0.0133; T0 vs. PF-EMS 3 h: p = 0.0042; T0 vs. PF-EMS 3 h: p = 0.0043; T0 vs. HTFM 3 h: p = 0.0027; T0 vs. HFTM 24 p < 0.0001; T0 vs. PF-EMS 24 h p < 0.0001; T0 vs. PF-C 24 h p < 0.0001. In both figures *p < 0.05; **p < 0.01; ***p < 0.001 and ****p < 0.0001.

Modulation of Human Sperm Function by Peritoneal Fluid

Motility-enriched sperm samples (n = 19) were incubated in HTFM containing 0.05% BSA or peritoneal fluid pools, respectively, obtained by mixing equal volumes of fluid samples taken from patients with endometriosis [PF-EMS (#11): final tryptase concentration = 14.7 ng/mL] and those collected from women endometriosis-free [PF-C (# 9): final tryptase concentration = 11.1 ng/mL].

Total and progressive sperm motility (**Figures 4A,B**) was significantly decreased in comparison with starting conditions (T0) both after 3 and 24 h incubation period in all condition tested (p < 0.05). Anyway, no significant differences were observed when comparing total and progressive motility of spermatozoa incubated for 3 or 24 h in either PF-C or PF-EMS, to that of sperm incubated for the same period in HTF medium alone.

SEM Analysis of LAD2-Sperm Interaction

The mast cell line LAD2 was incubated for 1 h at 37° C alone or with sperms (cells ratio: sperms = 1:3-5) in TyB alone or supplemented with either 10% of peritoneal fluid of study (PF-EMS) or control (PF-C) group. LAD2 cells-sperm interaction was evaluated by scanning electron microscopy (SEM) in samples prepared from two separate experiments. When incubated for 1 h LAD2 cells and sperms frequently show cell to cell adhesive interaction. This interaction is realized either through the sperm head/midportion (HM) or the sperm tail as previously described for macrophages (Blanco et al., 1992). **Figure 5** summarizes these types of interaction as monitored by SEM analysis. **Figure 5a** represents the LAD2-sperm interaction in the presence of PF-C. At least four tail-LAD2 interactions

are apparent with three LAD2, while only one head-LAD2 interaction can be seen (arrow). Conversely, in **Figure 5b**, which is representative of LAD2-sperm interaction in the presence of PF-EMS, two sperms in contact with one LAD2 are visible (arrowhead).

With the purpose of evaluating in detail the extent of LAD2sperm interaction we analyzed more than 100 SEM fields and scored the number of sperm-head/midportion (HM) and spermtail interaction with LAD2. Table 4 shows the result of this analysis. On average, the total sperm-interacting LAD2 (either by HM or by tail) in the presence of PF-EMS accounted for 2.3 cells/field while the interacting cells in the presence of PF-C were 1.3 (ns). The HM sperm-LAD2 interaction in PF-EMS were significantly higher, accounting for 1.2 interactions/field with respect to that observed in the presence of PF-C (0.7 interactions/field). The difference was statistically significant with p < 0.05. Conversely the tail sperm-LAD interaction was almost the same in either PF-EMS or PF-C and was not further considered. Figure 5c shows two intimate adhesions between sperm and LAD2 surface in the presence of PF-EM. In both cases, extracellular secretion/degranulation can be seen, as either massive extrusion (arrow in c) or single granule secretion (inset in c).

Since degranulation is a reliable marker of MC activation, we assayed cell culture supernatants for the presence of β -hexo (β -hexo), an enzyme located in MC granules.

LAD2 Degranulation Induced by Sperm Interaction

 β -hexo is used as a typical marker of mast cell degranulation *in vitro*. **Table 5** shows that the amounts of β -hexo secreted by LAD2 cells is significantly higher after the addition of motile



FIGURE 5 | LAD2-sperm interaction evaluated by SEM analysis. (a) represents the LAD2-sperm interaction in the presence of PF-C. At least four tail-LAD interactions are apparent with three LAD, while only one head-LAD interaction can be seen (arrow). (b) is representative of LAD2-sperm interaction in the presence of PF-EMS, two sperms in contact with one LAD2 are visible (arrow). (c) and inset shows two intimate HM interactions between sperm and LAD surface in the presence of PF-EMS. In both cases, extracellular secretion can be seen, as either massive extrusion [arrow in (c)] or single granule secretion [inset in (c)]. Magnification bars: in (a,b) = 3 μ m, in (c) = 1 μ m and in the inset of (c) = 3 μ m.

sperm to resting cells (mean % \pm SD: 6.3 \pm 0.7 n = 3 vs. 4.2 \pm 0.9 n = 5 p = 0.0119) (**Table 5**).

LAD2 can release also tryptase in the extracellular medium and, likewise to β -hexo, the amount of tryptase secreted by LAD2 cells is higher after the addition of motile sperms to resting cells (% tryptase release, mean of two experiments: 26.3 vs. 15.2, n = 2). Anyway we choose β -hexo activity as LAD2-degranulation marker in the following experiments, since tryptase activity in PF was too high and could mask and underestimate the secretory response of LAD2. LAD2 co-incubated (30 min) with human motile sperms in the presence of PF (10%) pool from controls or PF pool from EMS patients were evaluated for β -hexo release (Table 5). While the extent of secretion didn't change significantly in the presence of PF-C with respect to the presence of sperm only (mean $\% \pm$ SD: 7.0 \pm 2.0 n = 3and 6.3 \pm 0.7 n = 3 - p = 0.5954), it is significantly increased in the presence of PF-EMS (mean % \pm SD: 16.67 \pm 2.50 n = 3 vs. 6.30 \pm 0.66 n = 3 - p < 0.0001) and, interestingly, resulted comparable to the secretion induced by 48/80, a potent mast cell-secretagogue, reported for comparison as a positive control (Table 5). However, considering that the ratio between the percent of LAD2 degranulation (% degranulation) and the percent of LAD2 interacting with head-MD of sperms (% HM interacting LAD2) (Supplementary Table S1) is almost the same either in the presence of PF-EMS or PF-CTRL), it appears that the higher sperm-induced LAD2 degranulation in PF- is almost completely dependent on the HM event number.

DISCUSSION

Endometriosis (EMS) is a common disease among women of reproductive age and is frequently associated with infertility (Gupta et al., 2008). However, the pathogenesis of this disease is still unknown, so that in several cases the available treatments for symptoms are ineffective (Zito et al., 2014). Increasing evidence supports an involvement of MC either in the inflammatory process of EMS (Kirchhoff et al., 2012) and infertility (Meineke et al., 2000; Weidinger et al., 2003, 2005; Roaiah et al., 2007; Haidl et al., 2011; Menzies et al., 2011). MC are normal constituents of the human myometrium and endometrium and are present in the female genital tract (Sivridis et al., 2001; Hunt and Lynn, 2002). In particular, MC was demonstrated in the oviduct wall (Hunt and Lynn, 2002) and under the lining epithelium of human Fallopian tubes (Weidinger et al., 2003). Endometriotic lesions are characterized by high numbers of degranulated MC (Konno et al., 2003; Kempuraj et al., 2004; Sugamata et al., 2005; Anaf et al., 2006; Kirchhoff et al., 2012; Paula et al., 2015). Mast cells leave evidence, a "fingerprint," of their participation in acute clinical events, that is an elevation in levels of their secreted mediators/metabolites. Of these, tryptase is currently one of the diagnostic criteria for mast cell activation (Butterfield et al., 2018). While clearly showing MC in the female genital tract, it remains unclear whether or not tryptase from the tubal or uterine MC can reach the lumina of these organs. Up to now the concentration of tryptase in the uterus or Fallopian tubal fluid has not been

TABLE 4 | Quantitative and qualitative analysis of LAD2-sperm interaction.

	Field scored (n)	LAD2 scored (n)	LAD2/Field (<i>mean</i> ± SE)	InteractingLAD2/ field (mean \pm SE)	HM interactions/ field (mean \pm SE)	Tail interactions/ field (mean \pm SE)
PF-C	100	719	8.8 ± 0.50	1.3 ± 0.3	0.7 ± 0.2	1.2 ± 0.3
PF-EMS	120	646	7.3 ± 0.5	2.3 ± 0.3	1.2 ± 0.1	1.3 ± 0.2
Statistical analysis				ns	p < 0.05	ns

HM, head/midportion. Values are the mean ± SE, obtained from the evaluation of two different experiments. Statistical Analysis: Student t-test, two tails unpaired.

reported. The presence of tryptase in the female genital tract have been only supposed from its presence in the follicular fluid. In this study, we characterized the peritoneal environment associated with endometriosis and infertility (comparing it to control, fertile and endometriosis-free conditions), as regards the MC cellular component and its main product: tryptase.

Our data quantify, for the first time, the presence of an increased number of tryptase-positive cells/MC in the peritoneal fluid of infertile EMS affected women. We also found a significantly reduced number of blood basophils in EMS-group. These cells share with MC the hematopoietic precursor (Yu et al., 2018) and many other features (Marone et al., 2005) and may in principle be involved in EMS pathogenesis, as well. We could speculate a mobilization of basophils from the circulation to the peritoneal cavity. However, this contribution is difficult to evaluate since standard staining techniques are not able to distinguish MC from basophilic granulocytes. Anyway, since normal blood basophils express only trace amounts of tryptase (Li et al., 1998; Samorapoompichit et al., 2001), which has been the main tool and target of our research, and the main diagnostic criteria for identifying mast cell (Butterfield et al., 2018), their contribution was not further considered and should deserves a dedicated research. The increase of MC in the peritoneal environment we found does not prove by itself that MC are involved in the EMS pathogenesis, but is in agreement with the increment of tissue MC population in EMS condition described by other authors (Konno et al., 2003; Kempuraj et al., 2004; Sugamata et al., 2005; Anaf et al., 2006; Kirchhoff et al., 2012; Paula et al., 2015).

	Degranulation: % β-hexo release		
	(mean \pm SD)	n	Statistical analysis
Resting LAD2	4.2 ± 0.9	5	
LAD2+sperm	6.3 ± 0.7	3	[1] vs. [2]: <i>p</i> = 0,0119
LAD2+sperm in PF-C	7.0 ± 2.0	3	[2] vs. [3]: <i>ns</i> [4] vs. [3]: <i>p</i> = 0,0007
LAD2+sperm in PF-EMS	16.7 ± 2.5	3	[2] vs. [4]: p < 0.000
LAD2+48/80	17.4 ± 2.1	3	[1] vs. [5]: p < 0.0001

Percent of release of β -hexo. form LAD2 cells alone (Resting LAD2) and challenged (30 min) with sperm in the absence (in TyB) and the presence of pools of PF from EMS (PF-EMS) and control subjects (PF-C). The positive control was obtained by cell stimulation with compound 48/80. β -hexo, β -hexosaminidase. Values are expressed as percentage of enzymatical activity released, taken the total activity of LAD2- β hexo as 100%. For more details see text. Statistical analysis: Dunn's post hoc was used to individuate group difference.

Accordingly, the peritoneal fluid in infertile-EMS conditions was characterized by higher levels of enzymatically active tryptase, the main MC product. Higher EMS peritoneal fluid levels of tryptase could be ascribed not only to the increment of peritoneal MC population but also to that of tissue population. These cells are responsive to many different receptors and can be activated by various kind of stimuli (Redegeld et al., 2018). Now, the physical interaction with sperms should be added to the list. The released mediators could reach in the peritoneum a high level which in principle could affect sperm motility and fertility as previously suggested. Human recombinant tryptase has been shown to inhibit sperm motility in vitro (Weidinger et al., 2003, 2005) and accordingly tryptase has been supposed as a yet unrecognized factor capable of influencing sperm fertilizing ability. Anyway, up to now tryptase levels have been evaluated only in human seminal plasma of andrological patients $(4.18 \pm 1.95 \text{ ng/mL})$ and in human follicular fluid (ranging from 1.60 to 3.73 ng/mL), where they results far below the lower level capable of inhibit sperm motility in vitro (10 ng/mL). Accordingly, seminal fluid's levels of tryptase were not correlated to sperm motility (Weidinger et al., 2003).

Infertility is a condition associated with EMS and the effect of peritoneal fluid associated with the condition of endometriosis on sperm motility has been a long controversial topic: some experimental evidence support a decrease in sperm motility in this environment (Aeby et al., 1996; Oral et al., 1996; Liu et al., 2000; Luo et al., 2008; Xu et al., 2008), while other authors report no effect (Chen et al., 1997; Sharma et al., 1999; Munuce et al., 2003).

Interestingly, the concentration of enzimatically active tryptase that we found in the peritoneal fluid of both study (EMS: 16.4 \pm 3.9 ng/mL) and control group (C: 12.3 \pm 2.3 ng/mL) was higher than those reported in human seminal plasma of andrological patients and human follicular fluid, and higher than the minimum concentration capable of inhibiting in vitro sperm motility (Weidinger et al., 2003). In spite of this we didn't find any differences when analyzing sperm viability and motility (total and progressive) in the presence of tryptase enriched peritoneal fluid associated with endometriosis and infertility with respect to control, fertile and endometriosis-free conditions (nor to control medium alone), both in short and long term incubation. Our data are in agreement with previous reports showing the absence of any effect of EMS peritoneal fluid on sperm motility (Chen et al., 1997; Sharma et al., 1999; Munuce et al., 2003) and suggest that tryptase levels, able of inhibiting sperm motility in vitro, are ineffective in the peritoneal environment. Anyway we cannot exclude that tryptase (or other still unrecognized MC

mediators) could modulate other sperm function *in vivo*, eg. acrosome reaction (Arumugam, 1994; Munuce et al., 2003) or sperm-oocyte interaction (Aeby et al., 1996; Wong et al., 2001; Caille et al., 2012). While the present report was focused on sperm motility in the presence of EMS-PF, the possible effects of tryptase on sperm functions, will be the subject of future research.

Furthermore, Cincik and Sezen previously reported that the presence of MC in semen, by itself negatively affects sperm motility (Cincik and Sezen, 2003). Accordingly, since the number of tryptase-positive cells/MC increases in the peritoneal fluid of infertile EMS affected women we decided to investigate the possible interaction between these cells and sperm in the peritoneal environment. We co-incubated mast cells (cell line LAD2) and sperms in a pool of PF (10% v/v) obtained from infertile women with EMS or from fertile endometriosis-free controls. Sperm was shown to interact more with LAD2 in the presence of PF-EMS. Furthermore LAD2sperm interaction was shown to induce a secretory response from LAD2 cells (by morphological and secretory evaluations), which was significantly higher in EMS conditions. We suggest that this secretory response could contribute to increase the level of tryptase present in PF-EMS.

CONCLUSION

In conclusion, on the basis of our findings it appears unlikely that tryptase enriched peritoneal fluid could affect sperm motility.

Anyway the present study presents some reasons for caution, as follows:

- The sample size was limited. A broader study concerning different stages of endometriosis would increase the value of our results.
- Human resident peritoneal mast cells are not readily purified. To overcome this limitation in studying in human beings the MC-sperm interaction, we used the most differentiated human mast cells line available, endowed with a high content of tryptase.
- The sperm parameters analyzed were limited to viability and motility, so we cannot exclude that tryptase (or other still unrecognized MC mediators) could modulate other sperm functions *in vivo*, contributing to the infertility associated with endometriosis.

The novelty reported in this paper is that the presence of a tryptase rich PF can stimulate the sperm-mast cell interaction and induce degranulation from these cells. However, even if tryptase-positive cells are present in a higher percentage in the PF-EMS, they remain quantitatively underrepresented, and therefore their strong interaction with the sperm in the EMS conditions couldn't be enough to affect sperm function. We think that this strong physical and functional mast cell-sperm interaction could be more effective in the male genital tract where MC mediated negative effects on sperm functions has been reported but not clarified so far and require further investigation (Agarwal et al., 1987; Hashimoto et al., 1988; Nagai et al., 1992; Hussein et al., 2005; El-Karaksy et al., 2007; Haidl et al., 2011;

Menzies et al., 2011; Windschüttl et al., 2014) One potential benefit to assisted reproductive clinics could derive from targeting mast cells - sperm interaction to treat male infertility due to testicular pathologies associated with inflammation and germ cell loss, as recently suggested (Mayerhofer et al., 2018).

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets generated for this study are available on request to the corresponding author.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Comitato Indipendente di Bioetica (CIB)-Burlo Garofolo. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

VB developed the idea for the manuscript, formulated the study design, and performed the peritoneal fluid analyses, interpretation of the data, and manuscript drafting. FR, FF, and GR performed the surgical procedures. FC contributed to the statistical analyses. GR conducted the clinical evaluations and contributed to the statistical analyses, data interpretation, and manuscript drafting. MM and SL recruited patients and performed the sperm analysis. FZ and CB performed the immunocytochemical/immunohistochemical staining and data interpretation. FV performed the scanning electron microscopy analysis. ET performed the evaluation with LAD2 cell line. GZ participated in a critical revision and manuscript drafting. All authors have approved the final version of the manuscript.

FUNDING

This research was funded by the Italian Ministry of Health (RC 09/2015 – Institute for Maternal and Child Health IRCCS Burlo Garofolo).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Maria D'Aniello, Giulia Signor, and Debora Babich for the technical assistance in peritoneal fluid collection and analysis. We also thank Dr. Barbara Frossi for her technical assistance in cell cultures and Martina Bradaschia for her assistance in revising the English language.

SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fphys.2019. 01543/full#supplementary-material

REFERENCES

- Aeby, T. C., Huang, T., and Nakayama, R. T. (1996). The effect of peritoneal fluid from patients with endometriosis on human sperm function in vitro. Am. J. Obstet. Gynecol. 174, 1779–1783. doi: 10.1016/s0002-9378(96)70210-7
- Agarwal, S., Choudhury, M., and Banerjee, A. (1987). Mast cells and idiopathic male infertility. *Int. J. Fertil.* 32, 283–286.
- Anaf, V., Chapron, C., El Nakadi, I., De Moor, V., Simonart, T., and Noël, J.-C. (2006). Pain, mast cells, and nerves in peritoneal, ovarian, and deep infiltrating endometriosis. *Fertil. Steril.* 86, 1336–1343. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006. 03.057
- Arumugam, K. (1994). Endometriosis and infertility: raised iron concentration in the peritoneal fluid and its effect on the acrosome reaction. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 9, 1153–1157. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a138649
- Bedaiwy, M. A., El-Nashar, S. A., Sharma, R. K., and Falcone, T. (2007). Effect of ovarian involvement on peritoneal fluid cytokine concentrations in endometriosis patients. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* 14, 620–625. doi: 10.1016/ s1472-6483(10)61055-3
- Bedaiwy, M. A., and Falcone, T. (2003). Peritoneal fluid environment in endometriosis. Clinicopathological implications. *Minerva Ginecol.* 55, 333–345.
- Björndahl, L., Söderlund, I., and Kvist, U. (2003). Evaluation of the one-step eosinnigrosin staining technique for human sperm vitality assessment. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 18, 813–816. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deg199
- Blanco, A. M., Palaoro, L., Ahedo, M. I., Palamas, M., and Zanchetti, F. (1992). Phagocytosis of ejaculated spermatozoa. Acta Cytol. 36, 251–258.
- Borelli, V., Trevisan, E., Francesca, V., and Zabucchi, G. (2018). The secretory response of rat peritoneal mast cells on exposure to mineral fibers. *Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health* 15:E104. doi: 10.3390/ijerph15010104
- Bradford, M. M. (1976). A rapid and sensitive method for the quantitation of microgram quantities of protein utilizing the principle of protein-dye binding. *Anal. Biochem.* 72, 248–254. doi: 10.1006/abio.1976.9999
- Broi, M. G. D., Ferriani, R. A., and Navarro, P. A. (2019). Ethiopathogenic mechanisms of endometriosis-related infertility. *JBRA Assist. Reprod.* 23, 273– 280. doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20190029
- Butterfield, J. H., Ravi, A., and Pongdee, T. (2018). Mast cell mediators of significance in clinical practice in mastocytosis. *Immunol. Allergy Clin. North Am.* 38, 397–410. doi: 10.1016/j.iac.2018.04.011
- Caille, A. M., Berta, C. L., Cuasnicú, P. S., and Munuce, M. J. (2012). Peritoneal fluid modifies the response of human spermatozoa to follicular fluid. *Reprod. Biomed. Online* 24, 466–473. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2011.12.010
- Canis, M., Donnez, J. G., Guzick, D. S., Halme, J. K., Rock, J. A., Schenken, R. S., et al. (1997). Revised american society for reproductive medicine classification of endometriosis: 1996. *Fertil. Steril.* 67, 817–821. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(97) 81391-x
- Capobianco, A., and Rovere-Querini, P. (2013). Endometriosis, a disease of the macrophage. *Front. Immunol.* 4:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00009
- Chan, B. C. L., Lee, H. Y., Siu, W. S., Yip, K. H., Ko, C. H., Lau, C. B. S., et al. (2014). Suppression of mast cell activity contributes to the osteoprotective effect of an herbal formula containing Herba Epimedii, Fructus Ligustri Lucidi and Fructus Psoraleae. J. Pharm. Pharmacol. 66, 437–444. doi: 10.1111/jphp.12166
- Chen, C. D., Wu, M. Y., Chao, K. H., Chen, H. F., Chen, S. U., Ho, H. N., et al. (1997). Effect of peritoneal fluid on sperm motility parameters in women with endometriosis. *Arch. Androl.* 38, 49–55. doi: 10.3109/01485019708988531
- Cincik, M., and Sezen, S. C. (2003). The mast cells in semen: their effects on sperm motility. *Arch. Androl.* 49, 307–311. doi: 10.1080/01485013090204995
- Drudy, L., Lewis, S. E., Barry-Kinsella, C., Harrison, R. F., and Thompson, W. (1994). The influence of peritoneal fluid from patients with minimal stage or treated endometriosis on sperm motility parameters using computerassisted semen analysis. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 9, 2418–2423. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.humrep.a138461
- El-Karaksy, A., Mostafa, T., Shaeer, O. K., Bahgat, D. R., and Samir, N. (2007). Seminal mast cells in infertile asthenozoospermic males. *Andrologia* 39, 244–247. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.2007.00795.x
- Faul, F., Erdfelder, E., Lang, A.-G., and Buchner, A. (2007). G*Power 3: a flexible statistical power analysis program for the social, behavioral, and biomedical sciences. *Behav. Res. Methods* 39, 175–191. doi: 10.3758/bf03193146
- Gage, M. C., Keen, J. N., Buxton, A. T., Bedi, M. K., and Findlay, J. B. C. (2009). Proteomic analysis of IgE-mediated secretion by LAD2 mast cells. *J. Proteom. Res.* 8, 4116–4125. doi: 10.1021/pr900108w

- Gri, G., Piconese, S., Frossi, B., Manfroi, V., Merluzzi, S., Tripodo, C., et al. (2008). CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells suppress mast cell degranulation and allergic responses through OX40-OX40L interaction. *Immunity* 29, 771–781. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2008.08.018
- Guhl, S., Babina, M., Neou, A., Zuberbier, T., and Artuc, M. (2010). Mast cell lines HMC-1 and LAD2 in comparison with mature human skin mast cellsdrastically reduced levels of tryptase and chymase in mast cell lines. *Exp Dermatol.* 19, 845–847. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0625.2010.01103.x
- Gupta, S., Goldberg, J. M., Aziz, N., Goldberg, E., Krajcir, N., and Agarwal, A. (2008). Pathogenic mechanisms in endometriosis-associated infertility. *Fertil. Steril.* 90, 247–257. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.02.093
- Haidl, G., Duan, Y.-G., Chen, S.-J., Kohn, F.-M., Schuppe, H.-C., and Allam, J.-P. (2011). The role of mast cells in male infertility. *Expert Rev. Clin. Immunol.* 7, 627–634. doi: 10.1586/eci.11.57
- Harper, M. J. K. (1988). "Gamete and zygote transport," in *The Physiology of Reproduction*, eds E. Knobil, and J. Neill (New York, NY: Raven Press Ltd.), 123–187.
- Hashimoto, J., Nagai, T., Takaba, H., Yamamoto, M., and Miyake, K. (1988). Increased mast cells in the limiting membrane of seminiferous tubules in testes of patients with idiopathic infertility. Urol. Int. 43, 129–132. doi: 10.1159/ 000281324
- He, S.-H., and Xie, H. (2004). Modulation of tryptase secretion from human colon mast cells by histamine. World J. Gastroenterol. 10, 323–326. doi: 10.3748/wjg. v10.i3.323
- Hunt, J. L., and Lynn, A. A. A. (2002). Histologic features of surgically removed fallopian tubes. *Arch. Pathol. Lab. Med.* 126, 951–955. doi: 10.1043/0003-99852002
- Hussein, M. R., Abou-Deif, E. S., Bedaiwy, M. A., Said, T. M., Mustafa, M. G., Nada, E., et al. (2005). Phenotypic characterization of the immune and mast cell infiltrates in the human testis shows normal and abnormal spermatogenesis. *Fertil. Steril.* 83, 1447–1453. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.11.062
- Kanerva, K., Lappalainen, J., Mäkitie, L. T., Virolainen, S., Kovanen, P. T., and Andersson, L. C. (2009). Expression of antizyme inhibitor 2 in mast cells and role of polyamines as selective regulators of serotonin secretion. *PLoS One* 4:e6858. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0006858
- Kempuraj, D., Papadopoulou, N., Stanford, E. J., Christodoulou, S., Madhappan, B., Sant, G. R., et al. (2004). Increased numbers of activated mast cells in endometriosis lesions positive for corticotropin-releasing hormone and urocortin. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 52, 267–275. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2004. 00224.x
- Kirchhoff, D., Kaulfuss, S., Fuhrmann, U., Maurer, M., and Zollner, T. M. (2012). Mast cells in endometriosis: guilty or innocent bystanders? *Expert Opin. Ther. Targets* 16, 237–241. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2012.661415
- Kirshenbaum, A. S., Akin, C., Wu, Y., Rottem, M., Goff, J. P., Beaven, M. A., et al. (2003). Characterization of novel stem cell factor responsive human mast cell lines LAD 1 and 2 established from a patient with mast cell sarcoma/leukemia; activation following aggregation of FcepsilonRI or FcgammaRI. *Leuk. Res.* 27, 677–682. doi: 10.1016/s0145-2126(02)00343-0
- Konno, R., Yamada-Okabe, H., Fujiwara, H., Uchiide, I., Shibahara, H., Ohwada, M., et al. (2003). Role of immunoreactions and mast cells in pathogenesis of human endometriosis–morphologic study and gene expression analysis. *Hum. Cell* 16, 141–149. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-0774.2003.tb00146.x
- Li, L., Li, Y., Reddel, S. W., Cherrian, M., Friend, D. S., Stevens, R. L., et al. (1998). Identification of basophilic cells that express mast cell granule proteases in the peripheral blood of asthma, allergy, and drug-reactive patients. *J. Immunol. Baltim. Md.* 1950, 5079–5086.
- Liu, Y., Luo, L., and Zhao, H. (2000). Changes of cytokines levels in peritoneal fluids of patients with endometriosis and its effect on reproductive activity. *J. Tongji Med. Univ. Tong Ji Yi Ke Xue Xue Bao* 20, 163–165. doi: 10.1007/bf0288 7062
- Luo, L., Tan, S.-Q., and Xu, Y.-F. (2008). Impact of NO in peritoneal fluid on sperm motility in patients with endometriosis. *Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 39, 427–429.
- Mansour, G., Aziz, N., Sharma, R., Falcone, T., Goldberg, J., and Agarwal, A. (2009). The impact of peritoneal fluid from healthy women and from women with endometriosis on sperm DNA and its relationship to the sperm deformity index. *Fertil. Steril.* 92, 61–67. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.05.048
- Marone, G., Triggiani, M., and de Paulis, A. (2005). Mast cells and basophils: friends as well as foes in bronchial asthma? *Trends Immunol.* 26, 25–31. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.10.010

- Máté, G., Bernstein, L. R., and Török, A. L. (2018). Endometriosis is a cause of infertility. does reactive oxygen damage to gametes and embryos play a key role in the pathogenesis of infertility caused by endometriosis? *Front. Endocrinol.* 9:725. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2018.00725
- Mayerhofer, A., Walenta, L., Mayer, C., Eubler, K., and Welter, H. (2018). Human testicular peritubular cells, mast cells and testicular inflammation. *Andrologia* 50:e13055. doi: 10.1111/and.13055
- Medic, N., Vita, F., Abbate, R., Soranzo, M. R., Pacor, S., Fabbretti, E., et al. (2008). Mast cell activation by myelin through scavenger receptor. J. Neuroimmunol. 200, 27–40. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim.2008.05.019
- Meineke, V., Frungieri, M. B., Jessberger, B., Vogt, H., and Mayerhofer, A. (2000). Human testicular mast cells contain tryptase: increased mast cell number and altered distribution in the testes of infertile men. *Fertil. Steril.* 74, 239–244. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(00)00626-9
- Menzies, F. M., Shepherd, M. C., Nibbs, R. J., and Nelson, S. M. (2011). The role of mast cells and their mediators in reproduction, pregnancy and labour. *Hum. Reprod. Update* 17, 383–396. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmq053
- Morassutto, C., Monasta, L., Ricci, G., Barbone, F., and Ronfani, L. (2016). Incidence and estimated prevalence of endometriosis and Adenomyosis in Northeast Italy: a data linkage study. *PLoS One* 11:e0154227. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0154227
- Munuce, M. J., Marín-Briggiler, C. I., Caille, A. M., Berta, C. L., Cuasnicú, P. S., and Morisoli, L. (2003). Modulation of human sperm function by peritoneal fluid. *Fertil. Steril.* 80, 939–946. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(03)01114-2
- Nagai, T., Takaba, H., Miyake, K., Hirabayashi, Y., and Yamada, K. (1992). Testicular mast cell heterogeneity in idiopathic male infertility. *Fertil. Steril.* 57, 1331–1336. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(16)55096-1
- Nishida, M., Nasu, K., and Narahara, H. (2011). Role of chemokines in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Front. Biosci. Sch. Ed.* 3, 1196–1204. doi: 10. 2741/s220
- Oral, E., Arici, A., Olive, D. L., and Huszar, G. (1996). Peritoneal fluid from women with moderate or severe endometriosis inhibits sperm motility: the role of seminal fluid components. *Fertil. Steril.* 66, 787–792. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(16)58637-3
- Osuga, Y., Koga, K., Tsutsumi, O., Igarashi, T., Okagaki, R., Takai, Y., et al. (2000). Stem cell factor (SCF) concentrations in peritoneal fluid of women with or without endometriosis. *Am. J. Reprod. Immunol.* 44, 231–235. doi: 10.1111/j. 8755-8920.2000.440407.x
- Paula, R., Oliani, A. H., Vaz-Oliani, D. C., D'Ávila, S. C., Oliani, S. M., and Gil, C. D. (2015). The intricate role of mast cell proteases and the annexin A1-FPR1 system in abdominal wall endometriosis. *J. Mol. Histol.* 46, 33–43. doi: 10.1007/s10735-014-9595-y
- Rådinger, M., Jensen, B. M., Kuehn, H. S., Kirshenbaum, A., and Gilfillan, A. M. (2010). Generation, isolation, and maintenance of human mast cells and mast cell lines. *Curr. Protoc. Immunol.* Chapter 7:Unit7.37. doi: 10.1002/0471142735. im0737s90
- Ramis, I., Otal, R., Carreño, C., Domènech, A., Eichhorn, P., Orellana, A., et al. (2015). A novel inhaled Syk inhibitor blocks mast cell degranulation and early asthmatic response. *Pharmacol. Res.* 99, 116–124. doi: 10.1016/j.phrs.2015.05.011
- Redegeld, F. A., Yu, Y., Kumari, S., Charles, N., and Blank, U. (2018). Non-IgE mediated mast cell activation. *Immunol. Rev.* 282, 87–113. doi: 10.1111/imr. 12629
- Ricci, G., Perticarari, S., Boscolo, R., Montico, M., Guaschino, S., and Presani, G. (2009). Semen preparation methods and sperm apoptosis: swim-up versus gradient-density centrifugation technique. *Fertil. Steril.* 91, 632–638. doi: 10. 1016/j.fertnstert.2007.11.068
- Rižner, T. L. (2015). Diagnostic potential of peritoneal fluid biomarkers of endometriosis. Expert Rev. Mol. Diagn. 15, 557–580. doi: 10.1586/14737159. 2015.1015994
- Roaiah, M. M. F., Khatab, H., and Mostafa, T. (2007). Mast cells in testicular biopsies of azoospermic men. Andrologia 39, 185–189. doi: 10.1111/j.1439-0272.2007.00793.x
- Samorapoompichit, P., Kiener, H. P., Schernthaner, G. H., Jordan, J. H., Agis, H., Wimazal, F., et al. (2001). Detection of tryptase in cytoplasmic granules of basophils in patients with chronic myeloid leukemia and other myeloid neoplasms. *Blood* 98, 2580–2583. doi: 10.1182/blood.v98.8. 2580

- Schwartz, L. B., and Bradford, T. R. (1986). Regulation of tryptase from human lung mast cells by heparin. Stabilization of the active tetramer. J. Biol. Chem. 261, 7372–7379.
- Sharma, R. K., Wang, Y., Falcone, T., Goldberg, J., and Agarwal, A. (1999). Effect of peritoneal fluid from endometriosis patients on sperm motion characteristics and acrosome reaction. *Int. J. Fertil. Womens Med.* 44, 31–37.
- Shivakumarswamy, U., Arakeri, S. U., Karigowdar, M. H., and Yelikar, B. (2012). Diagnostic utility of the cell block method versus the conventional smear study in pleural fluid cytology. J. Cytol. 29, 11–15. doi: 10.4103/0970-9371.93210
- Sivridis, E., Giatromanolaki, A., Agnantis, N., and Anastasiadis, P. (2001). Mast cell distribution and density in the normal uterus-metachromatic staining using lectins. *Eur. J. Obstet. Gynecol. Reprod. Biol.* 98, 109–113. doi: 10.1016/s0301-2115(00)00564-569
- Sugamata, M., Ihara, T., and Uchiide, I. (2005). Increase of activated mast cells in human endometriosis. Am. J. Reprod. Immunol. 53, 120–125. doi: 10.1111/j. 1600-0897.2005.00254.x
- Wang, X.-M., Ma, Z.-Y., and Song, N. (2018). Inflammatory cytokines IL-6, IL-10, IL-13, TNF-α and peritoneal fluid flora were associated with infertility in patients with endometriosis. *Eur. Rev. Med. Pharmacol. Sci.* 22, 2513–2518. doi: 10.26355/eurrev-201805-14899
- Weidinger, S., Mayerhofer, A., Frungieri, M. B., Meineke, V., Ring, J., and Kohn, F. M. (2003). Mast cell-sperm interaction: evidence for tryptase and proteinaseactivated receptors in the regulation of sperm motility. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 18, 2519–2524. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deg476
- Weidinger, S., Mayerhofer, A., Kunz, L., Albrecht, M., Sbornik, M., Wunn, E., et al. (2005). Tryptase inhibits motility of human spermatozoa mainly by activation of the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 20, 456–461. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deh618
- Windschüttl, S., Nettersheim, D., Schlatt, S., Huber, A., Welter, H., Schwarzer, J. U., et al. (2014). Are testicular mast cells involved in the regulation of germ cells in man? *Andrology* 2, 615–622. doi: 10.1111/j.2047-2927.2014.00227.x
- Wong, G. W., Li, L., Madhusudhan, M. S., Krilis, S. A., Gurish, M. F., Rothenberg, M. E., et al. (2001). Tryptase 4, a new member of the chromosome 17 family of mouse serine proteases. J. Biol. Chem. 276, 20648–20658. doi: 10.1074/jbc. M010422200
- World Health Organization [WHO] (2010). WHO Laboratory Manual for the Examination and Processing of Human Semen, 5th Edn. Geneva: WHO Press.
- Xu, Y.-F., Tan, S.-Q., and Luo, L. (2008). Impact of progesterone in peritoneal fluid on sperm motility in infertile patients with endometriosis. *Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban* 39, 424–426.
- Yamanaka, K., Fujisawa, M., Tanaka, H., Okada, H., Arakawa, S., and Kamidono, S. (2000). Significance of human testicular mast cells and their subtypes in male infertility. *Hum. Reprod. Oxf. Engl.* 15, 1543–1547. doi: 10.1093/humrep/15.7. 1543
- Yu, T., He, Z., Yang, M., Song, J., Ma, C., Ma, S., et al. (2018). The development of methods for primary mast cells *in vitro* and *ex vivo*: an historical review. *Exp. Cell Res.* 369, 179–186. doi: 10.1016/j.yexcr.2018.05.030
- Zito, G., Luppi, S., Giolo, E., Martinelli, M., Venturin, I., Di Lorenzo, G., et al. (2014). Medical treatments for endometriosis-associated pelvic pain. *BioMed Res. Int.* 2014:191967. doi: 10.1155/2014/191967
- Zondervan, K. T., Becker, C. M., Koga, K., Missmer, S. A., Taylor, R. N., and Viganò, P. (2018). Endometriosis. *Nat. Rev. Dis. Primer* 4:9. doi: 10.1038/s41572-018-0008-5
- Zullo, F., Corea, D., Torano, P., Placco, C., Tropea, G., and Mastrantonio, P. (1994). Sperm-peritoneal fluid incubation test: influence of a GnRH agonist treatment. *Acta Eur. Fertil.* 25, 291–293.

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Borelli, Martinelli, Luppi, Vita, Romano, Fanfani, Trevisan, Celsi, Zabucchi, Zanconati, Bottin and Ricci. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK Cell Populations in the Early Follicular Phase Are Associated With Successful Clinical Outcomes of Intravenous Immunoglobulin Treatment in Women With Repeated Implantation Failure

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hsun Ming Chang, University of British Columbia, Canada

Reviewed by:

Vladimir Jurisic, University of Kragujevac, Serbia Qi Yu, Peking Union Medical College Hospital (CAMS), China

*Correspondence:

Maw-Sheng Lee msleephd@gmail.com Tsung-Hsien Lee jackth.lee@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 25 September 2019 Accepted: 27 December 2019 Published: 21 January 2020

Citation:

Ho Y-K, Chen H-H, Huang C-C, Lee C-I, Lin P-Y, Lee M-S and Lee T-H (2020) Peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK Cell Populations in the Early Follicular Phase Are Associated With Successful Clinical Outcomes of Intravenous Immunoglobulin Treatment in Women With Repeated Implantation Failure. Front. Endocrinol. 10:937. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00937 Yao-Kai Ho^{1,2}, Hsiu-Hui Chen³, Chun-Chia Huang³, Chun-I Lee^{1,2,3}, Pin-Yao Lin^{1,3}, Maw-Sheng Lee^{1,2,3*} and Tsung-Hsien Lee^{1,2,3*}

¹ Institute of Medicine, Chung Shan Medical University, Taichung, Taiwan, ² Department of Obstetrics and Gynecology, Chung Shan Medical University Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan, ³ Division of Infertility, Lee Women's Hospital, Taichung, Taiwan

The percentage of peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicular phase on days 2-3 of the menstrual cycle in repeated implantation failure (RIF) patients was used to evaluate the impact of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) on ART cycles. A total 283 patients with RIF consisting of at least 3 ART failures and at least 2 high quality embryo transfers were recruited. A logistic regression analysis for the peripheral immunological profile was completed to predict implantation success and compare the implantation and pregnancy rates between groups with <10.6 and >10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicular phase. The logistic regression and receiving operating curve analyses showed that patients with <10.6% of peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicular phase showed a lower pregnancy rate within the RIF group without IVIG. Patients with peripheral CD56+CD16+ NK cells <10.6% and without IVIG treatment showed significantly lower implantation and pregnancy rates (12.3 and 30.3%, respectively) when compared with the CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells > 10.6% group (24.9 and 48.0%, respectively, p < 0.05). Furthermore, the patients with CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells $\leq 10.6\%$ given IVIG starting before ET had significantly higher implantation, pregnancy, and live birth rates (27.5, 57.4, and 45.6%, respectively) when compared with the non-IVIG group (12.3, 30.3, and 22.7%, respectively, p < 0.05). Our results showed that a low percentage of peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells (≤10.6%) in the early follicular phase is a potential indicator of reduced pregnancy and implantation success rates in RIF patients, and IVIG treatment will likely benefit this patient subgroup.

Keywords: natural killer cells, intravenous immunoglobulin, repeated implantation failure, infertility, lymphocytes

INTRODUCTION

With advances in assisted reproduction techniques (ART), high quality embryos can be imbedded into the uterus for pregnancy. However, a substantial number of women suffer from the repeated implantation failure (RIF) of several embryos, regardless of quality (1). For many years, defective crosstalk between the embryo and endometrium in unexplained RIF patients was attributed to circulating peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMC) and immunological responses, with the exception of inherent genetic, anatomical, chromosomal, or endocrine abnormalities (2). Fujiwara et al. suggest that circulating blood cells positively contribute to maternal tissue remodeling (2).

Pregnancy evolves through different immunological stages with a pro-inflammatory or anti-inflammatory predominant profile, depending on the stage of gestation analyzed (3, 4). Increasing evidence indicates that immune cell or immunologic factors play an important role in the failure of both natural and ART-induced pregnancies (3–5). Monocyte/macrophage lineage cell markers increase in the decidua/myometrium during pregnancy and may control trophoblast cell invasion into the myometrium while preventing a rejection of the semi-allogenic conceptus to provide an important barrier against invading pathogens (5, 6).

For RIF patients, there are beneficial effects of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) purified from the pooled blood plasma of healthy donors (7, 8). The proposed mechanisms of action of IVIG are categorized into direct antibody effects (9) and immune-modulation (10). Furthermore, preconception immune testing from peripheral blood may be a critical tool for determining which patients will benefit from IVIG therapy (7). Measurements of peripheral blood immune cells by flow cytometry are easier and less invasive because this technique does not require obtaining an endometrial biopsy sample.

Jurisic et al. in 2007 reported that increase in the concentration of IgG immunoglobulins significantly correlated with increase of NK cell activity (11). NK cells constitute 5–10% of peripheral blood lymphocytes (PBL) and have a CD3⁻CD16⁺ CD56⁺ phenotype (12). NK cells play an important role in cancer (11, 12), viral infections and gynecology (13, 14), transplantation immunology (15), especially because they are cells of innate immunity. Furthermore, natural killer cells play an essential role in defense of the rise and spread of malignancy (11). The multiple myeloma patients with higher NK cell activity at presentation have better cumulative survival in comparison with those with low NK cell activity.

Previous studies indicated that the percentage of peripheral blood NK cells in the luteal phase were significantly increased in women with recurrent pregnancy losses or implantation failures (16, 17). However, a systematic review by Tang et al. reported that the prognostic value of measuring pNK or uNK cell parameters remains unclear (18), and more studies are needed to confirm or refute the role of NK cell assessments as a predictive test for screening in recurrent miscarriage (RM) or RIF patients. Therefore, the relevance between peripheral mononuclear profiles and RIF deserves further investigation. In the present study, peripheral blood monocytes (PBMC) samples were collected from RIF women in the early follicular phase instead of the luteal phase. We compared the PBMC profile in the early follicular phase with controlled ovarian stimulation and IVF outcomes after IVIG in RIF patients to identify candidates for IVIG treatment.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Patient Selection

The entire study population was comprised of 283 women with RIF who were referred to the Lee Women's Hospital and treated with in vitro fertilization (IVF) protocols between Jan. 2007 and Oct. 2011. This study consisted of Human Subject Research. The study protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of the Chung Shan Medical University Hospital (CSMUN No. CS:12033). All participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study; in addition, all participants signed standard IVF consent forms. The written consents of IVIG treatment were obtained from journal meeting records or patient treatment charts in the administration department at Lee's Women Hospital. The journal meetings or consultations in the IVF laboratory at Lee's Women Hospital were held every week, and all participants signed a consent form after the meeting. At least one signature of each participant was recorded during study. Written consent was not obtained from patients in these meetings who were not associated this study or participated in other unpublished studies. The ethics committees/IRBs approved this consent procedure, and the invasion of patient privacy was avoided in this study. All patients were recruited based upon a history of repeat implantation failure with unknown reasons. After delicate counseling, we provided IVIG treatment as an alternative strategy for the possible immune reasons. The choice of IVIG treatment was dependent on the couples. Patients who decided to receive IVIG therapy signed an IVIG consent form that explained the possible risks, the nature of the medication, and the lack of sufficient evidence-proof for treatment efficacy. Inclusion criteria of RIF patients in this study included patients who experienced >2 failures of IVF-embryo transfer therapy with at least two good embryos transferred each session. The following exclusion criteria were used for this study: (i) abnormal uterine anatomy evaluated by hysterosalpingography and /or hysteroscopy; (ii) abnormal blood karyotype in the female or male partner; (iii) positive titer for the lupus anticoagulant; (iv) endometriosis; (v) recurrent miscarriage; (vi) endometrium < 7 mm on the day of hCG injection; or (vii) $BMI \ge 30$.

IVF Protocol

All women underwent a program consisting of a long protocol for GnRH agonist administration (19). Participating women were administered leuprolide acetate (Lupron, Takeda Chemical Industries, Ltd., Osaka, Japan) starting at the midluteal phase to produce down-regulation. All patients subsequently received recombinant follicular stimulation hormone (rFSH; Gonal-F, Serono, Bari, Italy) for ovarian stimulation from cycle day 3 until the dominant follicle reached a diameter of >18 mm. Next, patients received an injection of 250 micrograms of human



chorionic gonadotropin (hCG; Ovidriell, Serono) 36 h prior to oocyte retrieval.

IVIG Treatment Protocol

The IVF and IVIG treatment protocols are shown in **Figure 1**. Patients received the first dose of IVIG (24 g TBSF human immunoglobulin; CSL Limited, Broadmeadous, Australia) on day 8 of the stimulating cycle. If a viable pregnancy was confirmed by serum hCG concentrations and ultrasound, IVIG was continued in the 4, 6, and 10th weeks of gestation age (a total dose of 96 g) according to the published protocol (20). Patients in the non-IVIG treatment group did not receive a placebo treatment during stimulation and pregnancy.

Embryo Culture

After retrieval, oocytes were cultured in Quinn's Advantage Fertilization Medium (Sage BioPharma, Inc., Trumbull, CT, USA) with a 10% serum protein substitute (SPS, Sage BioPharma, Inc) in a triple gas phase of 5% CO₂, 5% O₂, and 90% N₂. Following conventional insemination or ICSI, all embryos were furthered cultured in microdrops of cleavage medium (Sage BioPharma, Inc., Trumbull, CT, USA) with a 10% serum protein substitute. Fertilization was verified by the presence of two pronuclei 17-19h after insemination or injection. The embryo transfer was performed on day 3. Embryos with the most favorable cell number, fragmentation, and asymmetry scores were selected for transfer. Each patient's age, history, and number and morphology of available embryos were utilized to determine the number of embryos to transfer. Clinical pregnancies were diagnosed by the presence of a gestational sac on transvaginal ultrasound 5 weeks after oocyte retrieval.

Peripheral Blood Test and Flow Cytometry

The peripheral blood of RIF women was sampled simultaneously on days 2–3 of the menstrual cycle prior to ovarian hyperstimulation. All of the blood samples from RIF patients were tested for the presence of autoantibodies, such as lupus anticoagulant (LA), anti-cardiolipin antibodies and antinuclear antibodies (ANA). No patients had any type of infection during the last month before blood collection. In the same blood sample, the PBMC profile was determined using flow cytometry. Three-color flow cytometry (FACS Calibur, BD Biosciences) was used to evaluate different mononuclear cell subpopulations. The examination was completed using fresh blood prior to the IVF procedure. The differently labeled monoclonal antibodies were used in following combinations: CD3⁺, CD4⁺, CD8⁺, CD19⁺, CD-AT (activated T cell; CD3⁺/HLA-DR⁺) and NK (CD16⁺CD56⁺). All of the reagents were produced by Becton Dickinson (BD Biosciences, Franklin Lakes, NJ, USA). The results are presented as a percentage of total lymphocytes (**Figure 2**).

Statistical Analysis

Differences between the IVIG and non-IVIG (control) groups with regard to age, numbers of embryo transfer attempts, numbers of transferred embryos, and numbers of good quality embryos were analyzed by Student's *t*-test. A Chi-square test was used for comparisons of the clinical pregnancy rate, implantation rate and live birth rate between groups. A P < 0.05 was considered significant. All calculations were performed using SPSS 17.0 (StatSoft Inc., Tulsa, USA) and MedCalc Statistical Software version 12.7.7 (MedCalc Software bvba, Ostend, Belgium; 2013).

RESULTS

Table 1 shows the demographic data and treatment outcomes for the control and IVIG groups. There was a total of 283 completed treatment cycles comprised of 115 cycles in the IVIG group and 168 cycles in the control (non-IVIG) group. The mean of age, etiology of infertility, previous IVF times, and embryo transferred numbers between IVIG and non-IVIG groups were not significantly different. The implantation [(26.5%, 108/408) vs. (20.1%, 111/553)] and pregnancy [(59.1%, 68/115) vs. (41.1%, 69/168)] rates in the IVIG group were significantly higher when compared with the non-IVIG group. The live birth rate [(30.4%, 51/168) vs. (43.5%, 50/1,150; p = 0.079] in the IVIG group showed a non-significant trend toward an increase when compared with the non-IVIG group. The abortion rates, fetal body weight and gestational age of birth were not significantly different between the two groups.

No adverse effects related to the infusion occurred in the IVIG group. None of the patients discontinued IVIG therapy because of side effects, and the IVIG treatment did not produce significant toxicity in the mother or fetus.



FIGURE 2 The results were presented as a percentage of total lymphocytes. Cell sorting for assessment of the mononuclear cell profiles in peripheral blood from patients with repeated implantation failure (RIF). (A) (red color) Mononuclear cells were gated by fluorescence intensity of CD45 vs. side light scatter (SSL). The T cells (CD3⁺, C4) and B cells (CD19⁺, C1) were gated by fluorescence intensity of CD3 vs. CD19. The helper T cells (CD3⁺CD4⁺, A2) were analyzed for their expression of CD3 and CD4. The suppressor T cells (CD3⁺CD8⁺, B2) were gated by fluorescence intensity of CD3 vs. CD8. (B) (blue color) Activated T cells (CD3⁺ HA-DR⁺, A2) were analyzed by the expression of CD3 and HLA-DR. CD56+CD16+ NK cells (CD3⁻CD56⁺CD16⁺, B1) were gated by fluorescence intensity of CD3 versus CD16⁺CD56⁺.

TABLE 1 Demographic data of the control	I (Non-IVIG) and IVIG treatment groups.
---	---

	Control (<i>n</i> = 168)	IVIG (<i>n</i> = 115)	P *	
Age (years)	36.5 ± 4.4	35.4 ± 4.7	0.082	
BMI (Kg/m²)	21.4 ± 3.1	21.3 ± 2.7	0.254	
Infertility				
Male factor (%)	31.5 (53/168)	32.3 (44/115)	0.887	
Female factor (%)	39.3 (66/168)	31.3 (36/115)	0.169	
Combined factor (%)	8.9 (15/168)	10.4 (12/115)	0.673	
Unexplained (%)	20.2 (34/168)	20.0 (23/115)	0.967	
Previous IVF times	5.1 ± 2.4	5.4 ± 2.9	0.244	
Oocyte number	14.7 ± 9.5	15.3 ± 10.6	0.579	
MII number	11.8 ± 7.8	12.3 ± 8.5	0.606	
Fertilized embryo number	9.5 ± 6.6	9.9 ± 7.0	0.589	
High qualified embryo rate	72.1 ± 14.0	70.0 ± 12.6	0.201	
Transferred embryos	3.3 ± 0.8	3.5 ± 0.6	0.078	
Implantation rate (%)	20.1 (111/553)	26.5 (108/408)	0.019	
Pregnancy rate (%)	41.1 (69/168)	59.1 (68/115)	0.003	
Live birth rate (%)	30.4 (51/168)	43.5 (50/115)	0.079	
Abortion rate (%)	24.6 (17/69)	25.0 (17/68)	0.957	
Fetal body weight (g)	$2,\!710\pm622$	$2,\!489\pm619$	0.083	
Gestational age of delivery (weeks)	36.8 ± 2.8	36.2 ± 2.5	0.254	

*Comparison by Mann Whitney U test or X^2 test as the condition determined. The data are presented with mean± standard deviation (SD) or percentage (%).

TABLE 2 | Logistic regression analysis for the peripheral immunological profile to predict pregnancy (implantation success) by control group (Non-IVIG treatment, n = 168).

	Mono-variable					
	Regression coefficient (95% CI)	р				
CD3	0.976 (0.940–1.014)	0.208				
CD4	0.986 (0.947-1.026)	0.474				
CD8	0.997 (0.956-1.039)	0.874				
CDAT	1.078 (0.995–1.168)	0.065				
CD19	0.922 (0.859–0.990)	0.026				
NK	1.071 (1.021–1.124)	0.005				

The Percentage of Peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK Cell in the Early Follicle Phase May Predict the Art Outcome

A logistic regression analysis of the control group was completed to define the correlation between the peripheral mononuclear cell profile and pregnancy (at least one embryo implantation) outcome of IVF treatment. When a single variable in the peripheral monocyte profile was used in the analysis model, both CD19 and CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell percentages demonstrated a significant correlation with ART pregnancy outcome (**Table 2**).

A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve analysis revealed the cut-off value for pregnancy outcome was 10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells and 9.3% of CD19⁺ B cells (**Figures 3A,B**). This selected value of NK cells had a sensitivity of 71.0% (95% CI: 58.8–81.3) and a specificity of 46.5% (95% CI: 36.4–56.8). The selected values of B cells had a sensitivity of 40.6% (95% CI: 28.9–53.1) and a specificity of 80.8% (95% CI: 71.7–88.0).

None of the parameters in the peripheral mononuclear profile were found to be independent. Therefore, we compared each parameter of peripheral mononuclear cells based on the NK percentage. The patients with lower NK percentages ($\leq 10.6\%$) had higher levels of CD19 cells, CDAT cells, and CD4 cells (**Figure 4**). In contrast, the levels of cytotoxic CD8 cells were similar between low and high NK groups (**Figure 4**). To determine the independence of the parameters in the peripheral mononuclear profile, we used multivariable logistic regression model for further analysis. The results indicated that the CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell percentage was the sole factor relevant to the ART outcome. The adjusted odds ratio for CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell percentage to correlated with pregnancy outcome is 1.061 (95% CI: 1.011–1.115), P = 0.017.

A Percentage of ≤10.6% for Peripheral NK Cells in the Early Follicle Phase Is an Indicator for IVIG Treatment

All patients were divided into four subgroups according to the percentage of peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicular phase: (1) IVIG group with >10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells, (2) IVIG group with $\leq 10.6\%$ of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells, (3) non-IVIG group with >10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells, and (4) non-IVIG group with <10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells. In the non-IVIG groups, patients with ≤10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells showed significantly lower implantation and pregnancy rates (12.3 and 30.3%, respectively) than patients with >10.6% of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells (24.9 and 48.0%, respectively). The implantation, pregnancy and live birth rates in the IVIG group with a $\leq 10.6\%$ NK percentage (27.5, 57.4, and 45.6%, respectively) were significantly higher when compared with the non-IVIG group with a $\leq 10.6\%$ NK percentage (12.3, 30.3, and 22.7%, respectively). The benefit of IVIG treatment on implantation (25.0 vs. 24.9%) and pregnancy (61.7 vs. 48.0%) rates in the group with a >10.6% NK percentage was not significantly different from the non-IVIG group with a >10.6 NK percentage (Table 3). IVIG improved all outcome measures in those with NK < 10.6%.

After combining the patients and then subdividing into low NK and high NK groups, the patients in the high NK group showed a trend toward a higher implantation rate [20.4% (93/456) vs. 25.0% (126/505); P = 0.052] and abortion rate [20.3% (12/59) vs. 28.2% (22/78); P = 0.073] when compared with the low NK group.

DISCUSSION

In the present study, we found that a decreased percentage of peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicle phase was significantly associated with low pregnancy rates using a logistic regression analysis. Furthermore, we demonstrated that an IVIG infusion was beneficial for implantation rates, pregnancy rates, and live-birth rates in RIF patients with a CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell population \leq 0.6%. These data suggest that the peripheral blood


CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell levels in the early follicle phase can be used to select patients who will benefit from IVIG.

A recent meta-analysis reported that the use of IVIG was beneficial for ART cycles in women with abnormal or elevated natural killer (NK) cells in the luteal phase; however, the strength of this evidence is poor (21). In this study, we examined peripheral monocytes in the early follicle phase rather than the luteal phase in order to merge the blood tests for ovarian reserves and peripheral mononuclear profiles for patients' convenience. Furthermore, this enabled us to merge the IVIG and IVF stimulation protocols. In addition, an early blood collection extends the available time for the patient to decide to undergo the rather costly IVIG treatment. Therefore, clinicians should balance efficiency vs. cost when deciding to treat certain conditions with IVIG. Appropriate patient selection and criteria for peripheral NK cell populations are crucial factors that determine the success of IVIG treatment.

The NK cells in the follicle and luteal phases may play different roles in implantation. During menstrual cycle, the percentage of peripheral blood NK cells (22) and the total number of peripheral NK-lymphocytes (23) significantly increased from the early follicular to luteal phase. However, Souza et al. (23) reported that NK cytotoxicity in the luteal phase was significantly reduced when compared with the follicular phase (P < 0.0001) in healthy women (24). Indeed, in vitro NK lymphocytes can differentiate into cells with NK1 (Th1) or NK2 (Th2) phenotypes similar to those of helper T lymphocytes (25). A shift in NK-lymphocytes toward a "Th2-type"-like response is only present during pregnancy and not in the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle. Thus, the NK cell and lymphocyte response shifts away from a type 1 immune response during pregnancy (26). Bouman et al. reported that monocytes may not be activated and are more sensitive in the luteal phase, whereas these cells are suppressed and less sensitive in the follicular phase (27). It has been suggested that a follicular ovarian factor exists that is capable of suppressing the non-specific immune system during the follicular phase (28, 29). Once this factor disappears (in the luteal phase or during pregnancy), the non-specific immune system is no longer suppressed and appears to be "activated and more sensitive"; thus, the specific immune system shifts toward a Th2 response (23, 30).

We suggest that NK cells in the early follicle may be an immune suppressing factor. Therefore, a lower NK population may reflect an unbalanced immune system, which leads to a specific immune system shift in the luteal phase after hormone stimulation. Although NK cells in the luteal phase were not examined in our study, we predict that the NK cells in the luteal phase of RIF patients were elevated, which further impaired embryo implantation. The physiological meaning of this phenomenon may be the preparation of the maternal immune system for potential implantation of the semi-allogenic blastocyst. However, further investigation is needed to confirm the occurrence of this phenomenon.

The uterine NK (uNK) cells are dominant and increase in absolute numbers in the decidua and to remodel the uterine arteries during pregnancy (14, 31, 32). The uNK cells are increase in the invading trophoblast and probably contribute to implantation (14). The uNK cells have been also described that their number increasing in the proliferative phase and reaching the maximal level in the late secretory phase during the menstrual cycle. These uNK cell numeric variations have been correlated to hormone-induced decasualization (30). The origin of uNK cells are presently unknown, and it is still debated whether they arise from NK cell progenitors present in the uterus prior to pregnancy, or are recruited from peripheral NK cell recruitment (30, 33). Carlino et al. suggest that peripheral NK cell recruitment



FIGURE 4 [The distribution of peripheral mononuclear cell profiles between high and low percentage of CD56+CD16+ NK cells in intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) and non-IVIG groups. Different letters in the same subset figure indicate a significant difference, P < 0.01, using Mann-Whitney *U*-test.

to the uterus contributes to the accumulation of NK cells during early pregnancy and that progesterone plays a crucial role in this event (34).

The low NK population in the early follicle phase may reflect a lower recruitment of NK to the endometrium. The mechanisms controlling the accumulation of NK cells in the endometrium remain largely unknown. The propensity of NK cells to move into the decidua has been observed in all species investigated to date, suggesting a significant role for NK cells in normal pregnancy (35). Santillán et al. reported a positive correlation between blood and endometrial CD56⁺ NK cells (36), and Park et al. showed a correlation between the numbers of peripheral blood NK cells and endometrial NK cells from decidual tissue (37). Hanna et al. indicated that CD16⁻ NK cells are attracted from the peripheral blood to the decidua via CXCR4 and CXCL12 interactions; thus, the composition of the peripheral lymphocyte population is likely the key to a proper fetomaternal immune tolerance (38). In mouse models, decidual NK cells are recruited from peripheral sites rather than created from self-renewal processes in the uterine mucosa (39). Lee et al. reported that the increase of peripheral blood NK cells in the luteal phase may contribute to the recruitment of uterine NK cells from peripheral blood (22). Furthermore, Okitsu et al. used an autologous PBMC intrauterine administration to effectively improve embryo implantation in RIF patients (40). These data suggest that peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells are recruited into endometrium prior to embryo implantation. The results of our current study suggest that RIF women with low peripheral blood CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the early follicular phase may reflect an insufficiency of endometrial CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell recruitment and a defective microenvironment for embryo implantation.

However, previously published reports showed that a significantly elevated peripheral blood NK cell percentage in the luteal phase impaired female reproductive function (18, 41, 42). An appropriate NK population or recruitment in the luteal phase is very important. Our observations suggest that the percentage of peripheral NK cells in the early follicular phase also plays an important role in the regulation and recruitment of endometrial NK cells.

In our study, we found that the immune cell population in the early follicle phase between different menstrual cycles was similar. We collected samples from two separate no-stimulation cycles in a portion of RIF patients, and the peripheral mononuclear cell profiles (NK, CD19, or CD-AT) were not significantly different (data not shown). Therefore, the peripheral monocyte profile, especially the CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell population in the early follicle of RIF patients, may accurately reflect an immune unbalance associated with endometrial receptivity or fetomaternal immune tolerance. The chance of successful implantation in these patients could be strengthened by IVIG treatment.

In the present study, the reduced level of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells was accompanied by an elevated percentage of CD4, CD-AT, and CD19 cells. These data suggest that in addition to CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells, T cells or B cells may represent an imbalance of innate and adaptive immune system function. The total number of monocytes was significantly TABLE 3 | Comparison of pregnancy outcomes of IVIG treatment between low and high NK cell percentages.

(Reference range) Groups	Low NK percentage (≤10.6%)		High NK percentage (>10.6%)	
	Non-IVIG	IVIG	Non-IVIG	IVIG
Cycles	66	68	102	47
Age (years)	36.1 ± 3.7	34.8 ± 4.4	36.7 ± 4.8	36.3 ± 5.1
Oocyte number	13.7 ± 9.4	14.0 ± 8.6	15.3 ± 9.6	17.2 ± 12.8
MII number	10.6 ± 7.7	11.3 ± 7.2	12.5 ± 8.0	13.8 ± 10.0
Fertilized embryo number	8.6 ± 9.2	9.2 ± 6.0	10.0 ± 6.9	11.0 ± 8.1
High qualified embryo rate	73.3 ± 14.9	70.3 ± 12.6	71.3 ± 13.5	69.7 ± 12.7
Transferred embryos	3.2 ± 0.8	3.6 ± 0.7	3.3 ± 0.8	3.5 ± 0.8
mplantation rate (%)	12.3 (26/212) ^a	27.5 (67/244) ^c	24.9 (85/341)	25.0 (41/164)
Pregnancy rate (%)	30.3 (20/66) ^b	57.4 (39/68) ^d	48.0 (49/102)	61.7 (29/47)
Live birth rate (%)	22.7 (15/66)	45.6 (31/68) ^e	35.3 (36/102)	40.4 (19/47)
Abortion rate (%)	25.0 (5/20)	17.9 (7/39)	24.5 (12/49)	34.5 (10/29)
⁻ etal body weight (gm)	$2,939 \pm 611$	$2,480 \pm 678$	$2,625 \pm 613$	$2{,}504\pm527$
Gestational age of delivery (weeks)	37.6 ± 2.8	36.9 ± 2.7	36.5 ± 2.8	35.6 ± 2.0

The cutoff value of NK cell percentage (10.6 %) is selected by receiver operating characteristics curve analysis.

The data are presented with mean \pm standard deviation (SD) or percentage (%).

 $^{a}P = 0.0003$, $^{b}P = 0.023$ compared with Non-IVIG group combined with high NK percentage (>10.6%) by X² test.

 $^{c}P < 0.001$, $^{d}P = 0.002$, $^{e}P = 0.005$ compared with Non-IVIG group with low NK percentage ($\leq 10.6\%$) by X^{2} test.

lower in the follicular phase when compared with luteal phase (22, 43) and the changes may be connected to the immunobiology of implantation (22). Furthermore, the effect of different T regulatory cells (subsets of $CD4^+$ T cells) (44) or CD-AT cells (45) correlated with ART outcome and implantation failure.

The strength of this study is the recruitment of a population of RIF patients receiving IVIG treatment to confirm the logistic regression analysis results from non-IVIG group and the benefit of IVIG treatment. The effect of IVIG infusion is prominent in patients with a low percentage of CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells when compared with patients who have a high NK percentage. NK cells are immune cells that can be distinguished by CD56 and CD16 surface antigen expression. In this study, only the CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cells in the PBMC profile were detected because they represent the majority of all NK cells in the blood (46). NK cells are capable of binding to immune-complexed IgG via CD16-Fc gamma RIIIA molecules on the surface (47). NK cells produce cytokines that have pro-inflammatory and immunosuppressive effects [e.g., IFN-y, tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α), and interleukin (IL)-10] and growth factors, such as granulocyte macrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (48, 49). Stimulation of CD16 on NK cells results in the production of cytokines, such as IFN- γ , TNF- α , and GM-CSF (47). IVIG induces antibody-dependent cellular cytotoxicity (ADCC) of mature dendritic cells (DCs) by NK cells, which downsizes the antigen-presenting pool and inhibits T-cell priming. By influencing the interaction between DCs and NK cells, IVIG modulates the ability of the innate immune system to trigger T-cell activation. This represents a mechanism that can "cool down" the immune system during times of activation (50). Several recent observations have emphasized the effects of IVIG therapy on a variety of cells from the innate and adaptive aspects of the immune system, including $CD56^+CD16^+$ NK cells, and various subsets of T cells and B cells (51). The results of the present study are in agreement with previous reports that show an association between unexplained RIF and immune imbalance in peripheral blood mononuclear cell profiles and the ability of IVIG to act as an immune modulator to enhance embryo implantation.

The limitation of this study was the lack of PBMC profiles from a fertile control group to compare with RIF groups. Further studies are needed to determine the NK profile after IVIG treatment. To confirm the importance of peripheral NK cells and monocytes in implantation, we have designed future studies to assess the PBMC population and cytokine expression in the early follicular phase without stimulation and the luteal phase after IVIG treatment in RIF patients.

In conclusion, we are the first to report that the peripheral CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell population in the early follicular phase is associated with IVIG outcomes in RIF patients. For RIF patients with a CD56⁺CD16⁺ NK cell population \leq 10.6%, the implantation potential from IVF cycles is significantly lower than patients with NK cells >10.6%. In addition, IVIG treatment may be beneficial for these patients.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Institute of Review Board of the Chung Shan Medical University Hospital. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

Y-KH and H-HC were involved in conception and design of the study, performing experiments, acquisition of data, analysis and interpretation of data, and drafting of the article. T-HL and M-SL were involved in the analysis and interpretation of data, critical revision of the article, and final approval of the article. C-CH,

REFERENCES

- Laufer N, Simon A. Recurrent implantation failure: current update and clinical approach to an ongoing challenge. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 97:1019–20. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.03.033
- Fujiwara H. Do circulating blood cells contribute to maternal tissue remodeling and embryo-maternal cross-talk around the implantation period? *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2009) 15:335–43. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gap027
- Mor G. Inflammation and pregnancy: the role of toll-like receptors in trophoblast-immune interaction. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (2008) 1127:121–8. doi: 10.1196/annals.1434.006
- Dekel N, Gnainsky Y, Granot I, Mor G. Inflammation and implantation. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 63:17–21. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2009.00792.x
- Hanna J, Goldman-Wohl D, Hamani Y, Avraham I, Greenfield C, Natanson-Yaron S, et al. Decidual NK cells regulate key developmental processes at the human fetal-maternal interface. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:1065–74. doi: 10.1038/nm1452
- Rieger L, Honig A, Sutterlin M, Kapp M, Dietl J, Ruck P, et al. Antigenpresenting cells in human endometrium during the menstrual cycle compared to early pregnancy. J Soc Gynecol Investig. (2004) 11:488–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jsgi.2004.05.007
- Winger EE, Reed JL, Ashoush S, El-Toukhy T, Ahuja S, Taranissi M. Elevated preconception CD56+ 16+ and/or Th1:Th2 levels predict benefit from IVIG therapy in subfertile women undergoing IVF. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2011) 66:394–403. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2011.01018.x
- Heilmann L, Schorsch M, Hahn T. CD3-CD56+CD16+ natural killer cells and improvement of pregnancy outcome in IVF/ICSI failure after additional IVIG-treatment. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 63:263–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2009.00790.x
- Ballow M. The IgG molecule as a biological immune response modifier: mechanisms of action of intravenous immune serum globulin in autoimmune and inflammatory disorders. *J Allergy Clin Immunol.* (2011) 127:315–23; quiz 24–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.10.030
- Maddur MS, Vani J, Hegde P, Lacroix-Desmazes S, Kaveri SV, Bayry J. Inhibition of differentiation, amplification, and function of human TH17 cells by intravenous immunoglobulin. J Allergy Clin Immunol. (2011) 127:823– 30.e1–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jaci.2010.12.1102
- Jurisic V, Srdic T, Konjevic G, Markovic O, Colovic M. Clinical stage-depending decrease of NK cell activity in multiple myeloma patients. *Med Oncol.* (2007) 24:312–7. doi: 10.1007/s12032-00 7-0007-y
- 12. Konjevic G, Jurisic V, Spuzic I. Association of NK cell dysfunction with changes in LDH characteristics of peripheral blood lymphocytes. (PBL) in breast cancer patients. *Breast Cancer Res Treat.* (2001) 66:255–63. doi: 10.1023/A:1010602822483
- Barrios De Tomasi J, Opata MM, Mowa CN. Immunity in the cervix: interphase between immune and cervical epithelial cells. J Immunol Res. (2019) 2019:7693183. doi: 10.1155/2019/7693183
- Doisne JM, Balmas E, Boulenouar S, Gaynor LM, Kieckbusch J, Gardner L, et al. Composition, development, and function of uterine innate lymphoid cells. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:3937–45. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.15 00689

C-IL, and P-YL was involved in the analysis and interpretation of data.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

For this study, Chun-Yi Chen, M.D., from Lee's Women Hospital provided technical help. Kuo-Shu Huang, Ph.D., from the School of Foreign Languages at Chung Shan Medical University assisted with manuscript preparation. American Journal Experts edited this manuscript.

- Cooley S, Parham P, Miller JS. Strategies to activate NK cells to prevent relapse and induce remission following hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. *Blood.* (2018) 131:1053–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2017-08-752170
- Kwak JY, Beaman KD, Gilman-Sachs A, Ruiz JE, Schewitz D, Beer AE. Up-regulated expression of CD56+, CD56+/CD16+, and CD19+ cells in peripheral blood lymphocytes in pregnant women with recurrent pregnancy losses. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1995) 34:93–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1995.tb00924.x
- Beer AE, Kwak JY, Ruiz JE. Immunophenotypic profiles of peripheral blood lymphocytes in women with recurrent pregnancy losses and in infertile women with multiple failed *in vitro* fertilization cycles. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1996) 35:376–82. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1996.tb00497.x
- Tang AW, Alfirevic Z, Quenby S. Natural killer cells and pregnancy outcomes in women with recurrent miscarriage and infertility: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod.* (2011) 26:1971–80. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der164
- Lee TH, Liu CH, Huang CC, Wu YL, Shih YT, Ho HN, et al. Serum anti-Mullerian hormone and estradiol levels as predictors of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in assisted reproduction technology cycles. *Hum Reprod.* (2008) 23:160–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem254
- Jablonowska B, Selbing A, Palfi M, Ernerudh J, Kjellberg S, Lindton B. Prevention of recurrent spontaneous abortion by intravenous immunoglobulin: a double-blind placebo-controlled study. *Hum Reprod.* (1999) 14:838–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14.3.838
- Polanski LT, Barbosa MA, Martins WP, Baumgarten MN, Campbell B, Brosens J, et al. Interventions to improve reproductive outcomes in women with elevated natural killer cells undergoing assisted reproduction techniques: a systematic review of literature. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:65–75. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det414
- Lee S, Kim J, Jang B, Hur S, Jung U, Kil K, et al. Fluctuation of peripheral blood T, B, and NK cells during a menstrual cycle of normal healthy women. J Immunol. (2010) 185:756–62. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0904192
- Souza SS, Castro FA, Mendonca HC, Palma PV, Morais FR, Ferriani RA, et al. Influence of menstrual cycle on NK activity. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2001) 50:151–9. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(00)00091-7
- Bouman A, Moes H, Heineman MJ, de Leij LF, Faas MM. Cytokine production by natural killer lymphocytes in follicular and luteal phase of the ovarian cycle in humans. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2001) 45:130–4. doi: 10.1111/j.8755-8920.2001.450302.x
- Peritt D, Robertson S, Gri G, Showe L, Aste-Amezaga M, Trinchieri G. Differentiation of human NK cells into NK1 and NK2 subsets. J Immunol. (1998) 161:5821–4.
- 26. Veenstra van Nieuwenhoven AL, Bouman A, Moes H, Heineman MJ, de Leij LF, Santema J, et al. Cytokine production in natural killer cells and lymphocytes in pregnant women compared with women in the follicular phase of the ovarian cycle. *Fertil Steril.* (2002) 77:1032–7. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(02)02976-X
- 27. Bouman A, Moes H, Heineman MJ, de Leij LF, Faas MM. The immune response during the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle: increasing sensitivity of human monocytes to endotoxin. *Fertil Steril.* (2001) 76:555–9. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(01)01971-9
- 28. Faas MM, Bakker WW, Valkhof N, Schuiling GA. Effect of estradiol and progesterone on the low-dose endotoxin-induced glomerular inflammatory

response of the female rat. Am J Reprod Immunol. (1999) 41:224–31. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1999.tb00536.x

- Schuiling GA, Valkhof N, Faas MM. Suppression by developing ovarian follicles of the low-dose endotoxin-induced glomerular inflammatory reaction in the pregnant rat. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2000) 183:89–93. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(00)54162-3
- Croy BA, van den Heuvel MJ, Borzychowski AM, Tayade C. Uterine natural killer cells: a specialized differentiation regulated by ovarian hormones. *Immunological reviews*. (2006) 214:161–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-065X.2006.00447.x
- Moffett A, Colucci F. Uterine NK cells: active regulators at the maternal-fetal interface. J Clin Invest. (2014) 124:1872–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI68107
- Moffett A, Loke C. Implantation, embryo-maternal interactions, immunology and modulation of the uterine environment – a workshop report. *Placenta*. (2006) 27(Suppl A):S54–5. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2006.01.021
- Kitaya K, Yamaguchi T, Yasuo T, Okubo T, Honjo H. Post-ovulatory rise of endometrial CD16(-) natural killer cells: in situ proliferation of residual cells or selective recruitment from circulating peripheral blood? *J Reprod Immunol.* (2007) 76:45–53. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.03.010
- Carlino C, Stabile H, Morrone S, Bulla R, Soriani A, Agostinis C, et al. Recruitment of circulating NK cells through decidual tissues: a possible mechanism controlling NK cell accumulation in the uterus during early pregnancy. *Blood.* (2008) 111:3108–15. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-08-105965
- Faas M, Bouman A, Moesa H, Heineman MJ, de Leij L, Schuiling G. The immune response during the luteal phase of the ovarian cycle: a Th2-type response? *Fertil Steril.* (2000) 74:1008–13. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(00)01553-3
- 36. Santillan I, Lozano I, Illan J, Verdu V, Coca S, Bajo-Arenas JM, et al. Where and when should natural killer cells be tested in women with repeated implantation failure? *J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 108:142–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2014.12.009
- Park DW, Lee HJ, Park CW, Hong SR, Kwak-Kim J, Yang KM. Peripheral blood NK cells reflect changes in decidual NK cells in women with recurrent miscarriages. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 63:173–80. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2009.00777.x
- Hanna J, Wald O, Goldman-Wohl D, Prus D, Markel G, Gazit R, et al. CXCL12 expression by invasive trophoblasts induces the specific migration of CD16- human natural killer cells. *Blood.* (2003) 102:1569–77. doi: 10.1182/blood-2003-02-0517
- Chantakru S, Miller C, Roach LE, Kuziel WA, Maeda N, Wang WC, et al. Contributions from self-renewal and trafficking to the uterine NK cell population of early pregnancy. *J Immunol.* (2002) 168:22–8. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.168.1.22
- King K, Smith S, Chapman M, Sacks G. Detailed analysis of peripheral blood natural killer. (NK) cells in women with recurrent miscarriage. *Hum Reprod.* (2010) 25:52–8. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dep349
- Okitsu O, Kiyokawa M, Oda T, Miyake K, Sato Y, Fujiwara H. Intrauterine administration of autologous peripheral blood mononuclear cells increases clinical pregnancy rates in frozen/thawed embryo transfer cycles of patients with repeated implantation failure. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2011) 92:82–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2011.07.001

- Seshadri S, Sunkara SK. Natural killer cells in female infertility and recurrent miscarriage: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2014) 20:429–38. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmt056
- Northern AL, Rutter SM, Peterson CM. Cyclic changes in the concentrations of peripheral blood immune cells during the normal menstrual cycle. *Proc Soc Exp Biol Med.* (1994) 207:81–8. doi: 10.3181/00379727-207-43795
- Schlossberger V, Schober L, Rehnitz J, Schaier M, Zeier M, Meuer S, et al. The success of assisted reproduction technologies in relation to composition of the total regulatory T cell. (Treg) pool and different Treg subsets. *Hum Reprod.* (2013) 28:3062–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det316
- Coulam CB, Roussev RG. Increasing circulating T-cell activation markers are linked to subsequent implantation failure after transfer of *in vitro* fertilized embryos. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2003) 50:340–5. doi: 10.1034/j.1600-0897.2003.00090.x
- Cooper MA, Fehniger TA, Turner SC, Chen KS, Ghaheri BA, Ghayur T, et al. Human natural killer cells: a unique innate immunoregulatory role for the CD56(bright) subset. *Blood.* (2001) 97:3146–51. doi: 10.1182/blood.V97.10.3146
- Cassatella MA, Anegon I, Cuturi MC, Griskey P, Trinchieri G, Perussia B. Fc gamma R(CD16) interaction with ligand induces Ca2+ mobilization and phosphoinositide turnover in human natural killer cells. Role of Ca2+ in Fc gamma R(CD16)-induced transcription and expression of lymphokine genes. J Exp Med. (1989) 169:549–67. doi: 10.1084/jem. 169.2.549
- Vivier E, Raulet DH, Moretta A, Caligiuri MA, Zitvogel L, Lanier LL, et al. Innate or adaptive immunity? The example of natural killer cells. *Science*. (2011) 331:44–9. doi: 10.1126/science.1198687
- Carrega P, Ferlazzo G. Natural killer cell distribution and trafficking in human tissues. *Front Immunol.* (2012) 3:347. doi: 10.3389/fimmu. 2012.00347
- Tha-In T, Metselaar HJ, Tilanus HW, Groothuismink ZM, Kuipers EJ, de Man RA, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins suppress T-cell priming by modulating the bidirectional interaction between dendritic cells and natural killer cells. *Blood.* (2007) 110:3253–62. doi: 10.1182/blood-2007-0 3-077057
- Durandy A, Kaveri SV, Kuijpers TW, Basta M, Miescher S, Ravetch JV, et al. Intravenous immunoglobulins-understanding properties and mechanisms. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2009) 158(Suppl 1):2–13. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2249.2009.04022.x

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Ho, Chen, Huang, Lee, Lin, Lee and Lee. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Endometriosis-Associated Macrophages: Origin, Phenotype, and Function

Chloe Hogg¹, Andrew W. Horne¹ and Erin Greaves^{2*}

¹ Medical Research Council Centre for Reproductive Health, The University of Edinburgh, Edinburgh, United Kingdom, ² Division of Biomedical Sciences, Warwick Medical School, University of Warwick, Coventry, United Kingdom

Endometriosis is a complex, heterogeneous, chronic inflammatory condition impacting \sim 176 million women worldwide. It is associated with chronic pelvic pain, infertility, and fatigue, and has a substantial impact on health-related quality of life. Endometriosis is defined by the growth of endometrial-like tissue outside the uterus, typically on the lining of the pelvic cavity and ovaries (known as "lesions"). Macrophages are complex cells at the center of this enigmatic condition; they are critical for the growth, development, vascularization, and innervation of lesions as well as generation of pain symptoms. In health, tissue-resident macrophages are seeded during early embryonic life are vital for development and homeostasis of tissues. In the adult, under inflammatory challenge, monocytes are recruited from the blood and differentiate into macrophages in tissues where they fulfill functions, such as fighting infection and repairing wounds. The interplay between tissue-resident and recruited macrophages is now at the forefront of macrophage research due to their differential roles in inflammatory disorders. In some cancers, tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs) are comprised of tissue-resident macrophages and recruited inflammatory monocytes that differentiate into macrophages within the tumor. These macrophages of different origins play differential roles in disease progression. Herein, we review the complexities of macrophage dynamics in health and disease and explore the paradigm that under disease-modified conditions, macrophages that normally maintain homeostasis become modified such that they promote disease. We also interrogate the evidence to support the existence of multiple phenotypic populations and origins of macrophages in endometriosis and how this could be exploited for therapy.

Keywords: endometriosis, macrophage, monocyte, origin, phenotype

BACKGROUND

Endometriosis is defined by the presence of endometrial-like tissue outside the uterus ("lesions"), typically on the lining of the pelvic cavity (peritoneum) or on the ovaries. Endometriosis is a heterogeneous disease, and lesions can be categorized into three sub-types: superficial peritoneal, deep (infiltrating), and ovarian ("endometriomas"), where more than one sub-type can exist in the same patient and superficial peritoneal endometriosis is the most common form of disease (1, 2). It is associated with debilitating chronic pelvic pain, infertility, and fatigue. It is estimated to affect 6–10% of women of reproductive age (3), up to 50% of infertile women (4) and is prevalent in

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Yang Yu, Peking University Third Hospital, China

Reviewed by:

Felice Petraglia, University of Florence, Italy Robert N. Taylor, The University of Utah, United States

> *Correspondence: Erin Greaves Erin.Greaves@Warwick.ac.uk

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 25 October 2019 Accepted: 07 January 2020 Published: 23 January 2020

Citation:

Hogg C, Horne AW and Greaves E (2020) Endometriosis-Associated Macrophages: Origin, Phenotype, and Function. Front. Endocrinol. 11:7. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00007

41

71–97% of women with chronic pelvic pain (5). Endometriosisassociated symptoms can negatively impact mental, physical and social well-being and quality of life (6). Poor pregnancy outcomes are also associated with the disease, including preterm labor, pre-eclampsia, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, and intrauterine growth restriction (7). Endometriosis has a significant socioeconomic impact, costing the UK an estimated £8.5 billion pounds each year, with societal cost being mostly attributed to loss of productivity (8, 9). Diagnosis from onset of symptoms can take an average of 7–8 years. Generally, a diagnosis of endometriosis is achieved by laparoscopic evaluation of the pelvis, however imaging techniques such as transvaginal sonography and magnetic resonance imaging may be utilized to diagnose deep lesions and endometriomas (10–12).

Endometriosis lesions are characterized by the presence of ectopic endometrial-like tissue containing glands and stroma, however recent re-evaluation of disease definition suggests that fibrosis and smooth muscle cells are more consistent features of lesions (13). Endometriosis is classified as an estrogen-dependent chronic inflammatory condition: symptoms are modulated by ovarian hormones and lesions generate intense inflammation within the pelvic cavity. Lesions also become vascularized and are infiltrated by sensory nerve fibers (Figure 1). The ectopic endometrial cells and local inflammatory environment activate nerve fibers in lesions, establishing a dialogue with the central nervous system and generating pain in the condition. Lesions behave like the eutopic endometrium and exhibit cyclical bleeding into the pelvic cavity in response to ovarian hormones, and this acts to potentiate inflammation (14). Disease classification (rAFS/rASRM) is currently based on lesion size, location, extent of lesion infiltration into tissue and the presence of adhesions. Classification ranges from stage I ("minimal") to stage IV ("severe") (15).

Current treatments for endometriosis aim to alleviate endometriosis-associated pain and/or to treat infertility associated with the disease and include surgical and medical management (2, 3). Ovarian suppression limits activity and growth of lesions, leading to reduced pain symptoms. Common methods of ovarian suppression include oral contraceptives and gonadotrophin-releasing hormone (GnRH) agonists (16) with add-back HRT. Whilst ovarian suppression may alleviate pain symptoms, treatment is also contraceptive and therefore inappropriate for women aiming to conceive. Additionally, GnRH agonists are associated with side effects such as memory loss, insomnia, and hot flushes in a recent study of endometriosis patients with long term use (17). Treatments can also include non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs such as ibuprofen, however long-term pain management for women with endometriosis often encompasses a combination of treatments. As well as medical therapy, laparoscopic surgery to remove lesions can provide symptom relief in some patients, however up to 50% of women experience a relapse of symptoms within 2 years after surgery (11). Current treatment options lack significant clinically proven benefit and aim at alleviating symptoms, rather than treating disease (18). Consequently, there is a compelling clinical need for new non-hormonal treatments that have fewer side effects and effectively treat endometriosis



over a life course, without the need for repeated surgeries or suppression of fertility.

ETIOLOGY AND NATURAL HISTORY

It is widely accepted that endometriosis is a multifactorial disease and the pathophysiology of endometriosis can certainly be associated with a number of elements that clearly contribute to disease. Evidence suggests that endometriosis has a heritable component due to high familial incidence of the disease (19-22). A meta-analysis of eight genome-wide association studies (GWAS) elucidated six loci associated with endometriosis (23). Genes implicated in disease included those involved in the regulation of epithelial cells and hormone metabolism, specifically genes involved in regulating hormone responses in tissues (24, 25). These GWAS results are not surprising since the symptoms of endometriosis are modulated by ovarian sex steroids; early age at menarche is a risk factor for development of endometriosis, suggesting increased exposure to estrogen may incur increased risk of disease (26). Endometriosis lesions aberrantly express a number of steroidogenic enzymes including aromatase and 17β-hydroxysteriod dehydrogenase (17β-HSD), this results in increased synthesis and decreased metabolism of estrogen (27-29) such that local levels remain high. Estrogen signaling modulates a large number of down-stream disease processes within endometriosis lesions, which are reviewed in Yilmaz and Bulun (30), Liang et al. (31), and Rizner (32). Immune cell dysfunction is also intrinsically linked to the pathophysiology of endometriosis. Alterations in immune cell populations have been observed in the peritoneal fluid of women with endometriosis; specifically, women with endometriosis have more peritoneal macrophages (33), neutrophils and dendritic cells (34). Function is also perturbed: NK cells have reduced cytotoxicity (35, 36), and disease severity is positively correlated with NK cell killing capacity (37). Peritoneal macrophages also exhibit impaired phagocytosis (38). Macrophages are the most abundant immune cells present within endometriosis lesions and are evidently central to the pathophysiology of endometriosis. Whilst studies have highlighted clear functional roles for macrophages in the disorder, little is known regarding the origins and phenotypic heterogeneity of macrophages in endometriosis.

Our understanding of endometriosis etiology remains limited. It is being increasingly recognized that different sub-types of endometriosis may arise from different origins, however evidence for this is still limited (39, 40). A number of theories are discussed below and we speculate on how the origin and role of macrophages may differ in each scenario:

The most widely accepted theory was postulated in 1927 by John Sampson, who observed that during menstruation, endometrial tissue can reflux back up the fallopian tubes and into the pelvic cavity, a physiological process known as "retrograde menstruation." Although this process occurs in \sim 90% of women, only in some does refluxed endometrial tissue form endometriosis lesions (41) and the mechanisms underpinning the attachment of endometrial tissue and lesion development remain elusive. It could be predicted, and mouse studies have demonstrated that macrophages originating from the endometrium contribute to peritoneal endometriosis lesions (42). These endometrial macrophages could be pivotal in the establishment of lesions since it has previously been demonstrated that macrophages trafficking to the endometrium are most abundant during repair following endometrial breakdown and shedding with a presumed role in repairing the denuded functional layer of the endometrium (43). However, evidence supporting this hypothesis is still absent. Another theory based on the dissemination of cells from the uterus into the peritoneal cavity suggests that neonatal retrograde reflux of endometrial stem/progenitor cells could be responsible for development of lesions. Visible vaginal bleeding is observed in 3-5% of female neonates, whereas occult bleeding may occur at a frequency of between 25 and 60% (44). Bleeding in the immediate postnatal period is similar to menstrual bleeding as it occurs in response to hormone withdrawal from in utero progesterone exposure. This theory suggests that stem/progenitor cells could implant into the peritoneal wall where they may remain dormant until adolescence, when elevated estrogen levels may then promote the proliferation and growth of seeded endometrial cells. Whilst, this theory represents a plausible mechanism of lesion formation, current evidence is lacking and proof that endometrial stem/progenitor cells are present in the peritoneal tissue of pre-pubescent girls is absent. The coelomic metaplasia theory suggests that endometriosis lesions arise as the result of metaplastic differentiation of the coelomic epithelium into endometrial cells and is supported by evidence suggesting endometriosis lesions can be found in women without a uterus (45). The formation of endometriosis lesions at sites distant from the peritoneal cavity (46, 47), as well as identification in men on rare occasions (48) supports the theory. Upon development of lesions at the onset on adolescence (neonatal stem cell theory) or following metaplasia

it would be expected that monocytes are recruited to the site of the lesion and/or that peritoneal macrophages may traffic into the developing lesion and activate repair processes that facilitate establishment of new endometrial-like explants. Notably, stem cells and macrophages are known to have a reciprocal relationship whereby stem cells can contribute to macrophage activation and phenotype during regenerative processes and macrophages can dictate accumulation of progenitor/stem cell-like cells (49). In endometriosis, mesenchymal stem-like cells promote macrophages to adopt a pro-repair phenotype (50) but further studies regarding the relationship between stem cells and macrophages in endometriosis are currently limited. Müllerianosis (müllerian rests; normal endometrial, endosalpingeal, and endocervical tissue) predicts that developmentally displaced tissue are incorporated into normal organs during organogenesis (51). Occurrence of deep infiltrating endometriosis particularly lends itself to this theory, where endometrial tissue is found deep within the organ structure. Speculation may infer a role for tissue-resident macrophages in lesions resulting from developmentally displaced endometrial-like tissue. Upon activation of a "dormant" lesion laid down during organogenesis the tissue-resident macrophages may change phenotype and proliferate such that they promote inflammation, growth, and invasion of the lesion. Inflammation arising upon activation of a dormant lesion may also lead to the recruitment of monocytes that differentiate into macrophages such that endometriosis lesion-resident macrophages are constituted by tissue-resident and monocyte-derived macrophages similar to what occurs in tumors (52). Any differences existing in macrophage origin, phenotype and function across the different subtypes of endometriosis lesions remain unknown.

THE MACROPHAGE: A COMPLEX CELL AT THE CENTER OF AN ENIGMATIC CONDITION

Inflammation and immune cell dysfunction are central to the pathophysiology of endometriosis. Whilst, a number of leukocytes exhibit altered numbers and function in endometriosis, it is evident that macrophages play an unrivaled role in disease pathogenesis. We and others have demonstrated that macrophages are critical for licensing lesion growth, promoting vascularization and innervation as well as contributing to pain in the disorder (53-55). Lessons from diverse tissues also place macrophages at the center of disease states such as liver injury (56), multiple sclerosis (57), and cancer (52). Tissue context ultimately dictates the role that macrophages play in disease but a recurring theme indicates that the ontogeny of the macrophages in diseased tissues determines how they respond and contribute to pathogenesis. Below, we review the available literature on macrophage ontogeny, phenotype and function in health and then focus on their role during inflammation and disease states. Ultimately, we discuss the role that macrophages play in endometriosis in light of what can be learnt from other disease states.

Macrophages Have Different Origins and Diverse Phenotypes

Macrophage Ontogeny

Macrophages are mononuclear phagocytes that play critical roles in immunity (phagocytizing pathogens, apoptotic cells and debris, antigen presentation, and modulation of other leukocyte populations). They are present in all tissues of the body (58, 59) and play diverse tissue specific roles in maintaining homeostasis. Much of our knowledge regarding macrophage ontogeny is derived from studies conducted in mice. Macrophages are derived from three key populations; the yolk sac of the embryo, the fetal liver and postnatally, hematopoiesis in the bone marrow (Figure 2). The earliest macrophages arise from erythro-myeloid progenitors (EMPs) produced during primitive hematopoiesis in the extra-embryonic yolk sac at embryonic day (E) 7.5 and 8.25. After blood circulation is established, EMP derived macrophages seed fetal tissue. Excluding microglia, these macrophages are partially or fully replaced by monocytes originating from the fetal liver, which differentiate into macrophages in tissues. Fetal liver monocyte-derived macrophages can persist into adulthood and form the tissue resident macrophage population, undergoing selfrenewal, for example in the peritoneum, spleen, lung, skin, and liver. In other organs, tissue macrophages derived from fetal liver monocytes are gradually replaced by recruited monocytes from the bone marrow. This process occurs in tissues such as the gut and dermis (60-64).

In humans, peripheral blood monocytes form two main populations; $\rm CD14^{hi}$ $\rm CD16^{lo}$ and $\rm CD14^{lo}$ $\rm CD16^{hi},$ although



are seeded during fetal life from the fetal liver and yolk sack and undergo self-renewal. In adults, monocyte precursors extravasate from the bone marrow into the circulation, where they can then infiltrate into tissues and differentiate into macrophages. In tissues, macrophages modulate their phenotype dependent on local cytokines and growth factors to specific tissue or disease-associated phenotypes.

an intermediate population can be identified. The CD14^{hi} CD16^{lo} (classical) subset is the most abundant in the blood. Under inflammatory conditions, classical monocytes extravasate into tissues, differentiate into macrophages or dendritic cells (65) and fulfill functions such as clearance of apoptotic bodies, stimulating angiogenesis and restoring integrity of tissues (66). CD14^{lo} CD16^{hi} ("non-classical") monocytes also exhibit extravasation into tissues during inflammation, but they infiltrate tissues later in the inflammatory process and exhibit a bias toward differentiating into "wound-healing" macrophages (67). A key role of the non-classical monocyte population is to patrol the blood vessels along the endothelial cell layer, providing immunosurveillance of vasculature and the surrounding tissues (68). Classical monocytes also patrol tissues and play a homeostatic role in steady state conditions, without differentiating into macrophages (69). Classical and non-classical monocytes in humans are analogous to Ly6Chi classical and Ly6Clo non-classical monocytes in mice and exhibit significant homology at transcriptional analysis (70, 71). In mice, classical monocytes can be classified as Ly6Chi CX3CR110 CD4310CCR2hi, and non-classical monocytes as Ly6C^{lo} CX3CR1^{hi} CD43^{hi}CCR2^{lo}, with all monocyte populations being CD11b^{hi} F4/80^{int} (65).

Macrophage Phenotype

Macrophages respond to their local microenvironment and change both their transcriptome and phenotype in response to local signals (72). Historically, macrophages have been divided into either "M1" classically or "M2" alternatively activated cells. Classically activated macrophages are associated with inflammation, and express pro-inflammatory markers. Alternatively activated macrophages are associated with homeostasis, wound healing and immunomodulation (73). These extreme polarization states only really exist in vitro, where studies commonly use stimulation with granulocytemacrophage colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF) and the cytokine IFN- γ (Interferon γ) to generate M1 macrophages, and stimulation with macrophage colony-stimulating factor (M-CSF) and the cytokines interleukin-4 (IL-4) and interleukin-10 (IL-10) to generate M2 activated macrophages (74). Whilst, this classification system is a useful tool for investigating macrophages at extremes of activation, it is now appreciated that in vivo macrophages exhibit a broad spectrum of phenotypes that are tissue and disease specific, and the M1/M2 system cannot represent the diverse nature and complexities of macrophage phenotype (75, 76). Transcriptional analysis of mouse macrophage populations from different tissues demonstrates minimal overlap in mRNA expression, reflecting a divergence in gene expression patterns (77). This heterogeneity reflects the ability of macrophages to modulate their gene expression in response to local tissue signals, becoming specialized to their tissue niche, be that in a healthy or diseased state. In disease, macrophages may modulate their phenotype dependent on disease stage or severity, and the mechanisms behind this are crucial for understanding their exact role in pathogenesis. Thus, defining macrophage phenotypes in disease states, with the potential of modulating macrophage phenotype

or specifically targeting disease specific macrophages for clinical benefit is a key focus for research (72, 78–80).

Endometrial Macrophages

The endometrium is a unique and highly dynamic tissue that undergoes cyclic proliferation, differentiation, shedding (menstruation), and repair in response to ovarian-derived estrogen and progesterone during the menstrual cycle. In the normal cycling endometrium, an influx of macrophages occurs during the secretory and menstrual phases, along with a concomitant increase in macrophage-derived cytokines and proteases (81). Evidence from a mouse model of endometrial breakdown and repair identified an influx of classical monocytes which differentiated into macrophages in the endometrium during the repair phase of the menstrual cycle (43). Monocyte extravasation from blood vessels into the endometrium is regulated by CCL2 (82, 83) and CX3C chemokine receptor 1 (CX3CR1) (84). The influx of macrophages into the endometrium is in line with the numerous roles they are presumed to play in modulating endometrial differentiation, breakdown, and repair. During the proliferative phase, macrophages have been postulated to play a role in regeneration and proliferation of the functional layer of the endometrium and express activation and adhesion markers CD54, CD69, and CD71 (85). Macrophages are also implicated in regulating gland remodeling (86) and angiogenesis during the secretory phase via production of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (87). At menstruation macrophages play a role in initiation of endometrial shedding by secreting matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (88). Specifically, secretion of MMP-12, MMP-9, and MMP-14 are required for the breakdown of the functional layer of the endometrium during menstruation (89-91).

In response to estrogen, macrophages increase their proliferative capacity and undergo activation to adopt a phenotype which represents a more "wound healing-like" population (92). Thus, estrogen signaling can accelerate the wound healing process and this is in part regulated by increasing the production of macrophage-derived proteases, MMPs, fibroblast growth factor, VEGF and cytokines such as resistin like alpha (RELMa) (92-94). Endometrial macrophages do not express the progesterone receptor (95), however macrophage gene expression is significantly altered in response to progesterone (96) suggesting an indirect method of regulation. Interestingly, exposure to cortisol was demonstrated to increase expression of angiogenic genes such as CXCL2, CXCL8, and VEGFC in macrophages in vitro, suggesting that local cortisol levels could be important for regulating angiogenesis within the remodeling endometrium (97). Taken together this evidence indicates that macrophages are key players in augmenting dynamic remodeling and repair in the endometrium and this is regulated by exposure to local cytokines, growth factors and hormones that modulate their phenotype, function, and recruitment throughout the menstrual cycle. However, compared to other tissue macrophages, the phenotype and function of endometrial macrophages and the mechanisms governing their recruitment and activation are significantly less well-characterized.

Peritoneal Macrophages Mouse

Peritoneal cavity macrophages are one of the most studied macrophage populations in mice, largely due to their ease of isolation. Two subsets of peritoneal macrophages are recognized in mice based on differential expression of F4/80 and MHC II. The tissue resident, so called "large" (due to their larger size) peritoneal macrophages (LpM) are F4/80^{hi}, MHC II^{lo}, and the monocyte-derived "small" peritoneal macrophages (SpM) are F4/80^{lo} MHC II^{hi} (98). LpM are the most abundant macrophage population in the peritoneal cavity at steady state and form the tissue resident population, they are phagocytic and perform immunosurveillance and homeostatic roles in the peritoneal cavity (98) as well as mediating recruitment and maintenance of B1 B cells. They are also linked to regulation of intestinal immunity (99). LpM self-renew and the proliferative capacity of LpM is regulated by GATA-binding factor 6 (Gata6), a transcription factor uniquely expressed by LpM in the peritoneal cavity, which also regulates macrophage phenotype (100). In mice, the LpM population consists primarily of embryonicderived cells, however monocyte-derived macrophages do replace embryonic-derived LpM over time, a process that is highly sex and age dependent, and slower in females. Over time, Ly6C^{hi} monocytes enter the peritoneal cavity in a CCR2dependent manner and differentiate transiently into SpM, prior to transitioning into tissue resident LpM (101). Thus, the LpM constitute both embryonic and monocyte-derived cells and the two populations have been shown to be transcriptionally distinct from each other (101). SpM are implicated in the inflammatory response in the peritoneal cavity, however their role in the steady state peritoneal cavity remains unclear (102).

Human

In humans, macrophages constitute 50% of peritoneal cavity leukocytes (103). Tissue resident peritoneal macrophages have been defined by high expression of complement receptor of the immunoglobulin superfamily (CRIg) and low expression of CCR2. These cells are highly phagocytic and more numerous in steady state, also displaying similar transcriptional profiles to the mouse LpM population (104). Human monocyte-derived macrophages in the peritoneal cavity, analogous to F4/80^{lo} MHC II^{hi} SpM in the mouse, have been defined as CRIg^{lo}, CCR2^{hi}. This CRIg^{lo}, CCR2^{hi} population in humans has a reduced phagocytic capacity and is lower in number compared to CRIghi CCR2lo tissue macrophages, consistent with characteristics of SpM. It must be noted however that in humans, Gata6 was found to be more highly up-regulated in the pro-inflammatory CRIglo CCR2^{hi} population (104), highlighting that key differences between human and mouse peritoneal macrophages exist, and further research is critically required to clarify these differences.

Peritoneal Macrophage Dynamics During Inflammation

Under inflammatory conditions, LpM respond to stimuli in a phenomenon known as the macrophage disappearance reaction (MDR) (105): in mice the LpM compartment undergoes a dramatic reduction in numbers largely by migration to the

omentum, mediated by retinoic acid and Gata6 (106). The degree of loss in the LpM population is highly dependent on the dose of inflammatory stimuli and has been studied in a number of inflammatory models, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), zymosan or thioglycollate induced peritonitis (107-109). LpM that persist during inflammation have been hypothesized to play a regulatory role in the peritoneal cavity by secretion of IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine which has also been shown to regulate inflammatory SpM number (109). LpM also play a key role in clearance of apoptotic cells during inflammation (108), and exhibit high expression of T-cell immunoglobulin and mucin domain containing 4 (Tim4) which recognizes phosphatidyl-serine on apoptotic cell bodies (110). Upon resolution of inflammation, the depleted LpM population increases its proliferative capacity through a colony stimulating factor 1 receptor (Csf-1r) mediated mechanism to restore LpM number (107). Interestingly, LpM have been shown to infiltrate the liver by a non-vascular route in response to the damageassociated molecular pattern molecule (DAMP) ATP, where they play a key role in regeneration and tissue repair in the liver after sterile injury, modulating their phenotype in response to local tissue microenvironmental cues (111). This migration implies that LpM have the ability to execute wound repair and tissue regeneration in visceral organs. Furthermore, with a reduction of LpM numbers a concurrent increase in SpM and inflammatory Ly6Chi monocytes is observed in a number of mouse models of peritoneal inflammation (105). SpM exhibit a pro-inflammatory response when challenged with LPS in vitro, producing high levels of chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 5 (Ccl5), chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 3 (Ccl3), and tumor necrosis factor- α (Tnf- α), as opposed to LpM which produce G-CSF and GM-CSF under LPS stimuli (102). In an in vivo model of peritonitis, SpM also produce high amounts of proinflammatory cytokines including Tnf- α , interleukin-1 β (Il-1 β), and Ifn- γ (112), and are critical for clearance of infection in the peritoneal cavity after bacterial challenge in the mouse (113). The ability of SpM to respond to inflammatory stimuli by producing pro-inflammatory cytokines enables rapid response to immunological challenge in the peritoneal cavity. At resolution of inflammation, SpM have been shown to undergo apoptosis (108) but can also migrate to local draining lymph nodes (114). However, SpM have also been shown to persist in the cavity and can eventually differentiate into F4/80^{hi} MHC II^{lo} cells (115), suggesting that inflammation has the potential to alter the complement of peritoneal cavity macrophage populations, even after homeostasis has been restored. The multiple fates of SpM reflect the heterogeneity in this cell compartment, but the roles of SpM sub-populations in inflammation are still largely undefined. In summary, under steady-state/homeostatic conditions LpM exhibit an immune-surveillance and immuneregulatory role and act to remove apoptotic and senescent cells. The roles of SpM are less well-defined but the markers they express suggests roles in antigen presentation and T cell activation. Inflammatory challenge with thioglycolate, zymosan or LPS (lipopolysaccharide) causes loss of LpM and expansion of SpM via monocyte recruitment and differentiation. New SpM are pro-inflammatory, expressing high levels of Tnfa, Il-1β, and Ifn γ and are better able to engulf microbes compared to homeostatic SpM. Of note, type-2 inflammation characterized by elevated levels of IL-4 does not induce MDR and instead F4/80^{hi} LpM accumulate in the peritoneal cavity and exhibit a pro-repair phenotype (116). Thus, it seems that under different inflammatory challenge LpM are biased to exhibit a pro-repair phenotype whilst SpM adopt a pro-inflammatory phenotype. Mechanistic studies on peritoneal macrophages in humans are challenging and therefore knowledge of this physiological process in humans is minimal.

Macrophages Can Promote Disease

The unique and diverse roles that macrophages play in the maintenance of healthy tissues is mirrored by their pivotal roles in development, maintenance, and progression of a number of diseases (72). Peritoneal cavity macrophage perturbations and functional dysregulation are linked to a number of adverse clinical outcomes. For example, an increase in peritoneal macrophages was associated with negative outcomes in patients with peritonitis (109), and dysregulation of peritoneal macrophages has been linked to acute pancreatitis, where peritoneal macrophages produce increased levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines that exacerbate disease (115). Conversely, macrophages have been shown to be protective against the formation of adhesions, a common complication after abdominal surgery (117) and indicating that macrophage dysfunction could contribute to adhesion formation. Thus, macrophages are intrinsically linked to disease in the peritoneal cavity in humans.

Although endometriosis is a benign condition a number of parallels can be drawn between the condition and cancer (118). Macrophages are unambiguously at the center of the pathophysiology of both diseases. Macrophage infiltration in tumors is a predictor of poor clinical outcomes in malignancy (119, 120), attributed to the fact that macrophages promote initiation, progression, and metastasis in most cancers (75). In the last decade, a major focus has been to define the populations that constitute tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). In a mouse model of breast cancer, Ly6Chi inflammatory monocytes are recruited to metastatic sites via a CCR2/CCL2 mediated mechanism to form TAMs. Inhibition of CCL2/CCR2 signaling with an anti-CCL2 antibody inhibited monocyte recruitment thereby inhibiting metastasis and prolonging survival of the mice (121). Similarly, mouse models of Lewis lung carcinoma demonstrated that TAMs were derived from CCR2 driven recruitment of Ly6Chi monocytes and blockage of CCL2 decreased tumor growth (122, 123). Furthermore, tissue resident macrophages have also been implicated in cancer pathophysiology and can contribute to the TAM population. For example, in a mouse model of pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma, Zhu et al. demonstrated using a parabiosis model that TAMs were derived from both embryonically derived tissue resident macrophages as well as from circulating Ly6Chi monocytes. During tumor development embryonically derived macrophages expanded via in situ proliferation and had a pro-fibrotic role in tumors. Using a Csf-1r neutralizing antibody and clodronate liposome treatment to deplete tissue resident macrophages a reduction in tumor size and increased survival of mice was observed. Monocyte-derived macrophages however played a key role in antigen presentation. Use of CCR2 knockout mice or a CCR2 inhibitor to prevent recruitment of Ly6C^{hi} monocytes did not affect tumor growth (52). This study highlights the importance of defining the ontogeny of TAMs in order to decipher which populations are fundamentally required for tumor growth, with the aim of improving clinical outcomes.

Whilst TAMs may have multiple origins, it has been demonstrated that the tumor microenvironment can modulate macrophage phenotype to promote malignancy, indicating that origin does not wholly define function when macrophages are exposed to cytokines and growth factors locally in the tumor. A number of different macrophage populations within tumors have been described which play differential roles and have different phenotypes. For example, populations of invasive, perivascular, metastasis associated, angiogenic (Tie2⁺), and immunosuppressive macrophages which secrete high levels of IL-10 have been described (75). Detailed profiling of hepatocellular carcinoma biopsies demonstrated the presence of various macrophage sub-types in tumors that had both pro and antitumoral properties (124).

The Role of Macrophages in Endometriosis Macrophage Ontogeny in Endometriosis

Whilst, a role for macrophages in endometriosis pathophysiology is established (and discussed below), the ontogeny of endometriosis-associated macrophages is still poorly understood. Greaves et al. demonstrated in a syngeneic mouse model of endometriosis that lesion resident macrophages are derived from both the (donor) endometrium and (recipient) infiltrating macrophage populations (42) (**Figure 3**). These infiltrating macrophage populations are likely to constitute peritoneal or recruited monocyte-derived macrophages, however the exact origins of these populations is currently unknown. Although, peritoneal macrophages contribute to inflammation in endometriosis, it remains unknown whether they infiltrate endometriosis lesions and thus the role these cells play within the ectopic tissue is not known. Using bone marrow chimeras Sekiguchi et al. demonstrated that CD11b⁺ cells from the bone marrow infiltrate and accumulate in endometriosis lesions in a mouse model (125). These cells could represent a monocyte/macrophage population, although CD11b⁺ cells could also constitute neutrophils, eosinophils and or certain subsets of dendritic cells (126). Capobianco et al. demonstrated that bone marrow derived Tie2⁺ cells infiltrated endometriosis lesions in a mouse model, again demonstrating that bone marrow derived cells that ultimately express macrophage markers within lesions could be recruited from blood vessels (127).

Macrophage Phenotype and Function in Endometriosis

Endometrial macrophages exhibit differential properties in endometriosis. Reflecting on the theory of retrograde menstruation and studies in mice identifying endometrial macrophages in lesions, the presence of macrophages in refluxed endometrial tissue in women has the potential to augment disease development in the peritoneal cavity. A number of studies have demonstrated perturbations in macrophage populations in the eutopic endometrium of endometriosis patients. Women with endometriosis have more endometrial macrophages that express lower levels of the "wound-healing" marker CD163 compared to women without disease, however the exact mechanisms behind these alterations are unknown (128, 129). Analogous to this, increased levels of CCL2 can be observed in the endometrium of women with disease which corresponds



to disease severity, suggesting increased influx of monocytes in disease that can then differentiate into macrophages (130). Increased matrix metalloproteinase-9 (MMP-9) co-localized with CD68⁺ macrophages in the endometrium of women with endometriosis is indicative of an increase in the number of macrophages implicated in tissue remodeling. This may enhance the ability of ectopic endometrial tissue deposits to implant in the peritoneal cavity (131). Whilst evidence of macrophage perturbations in the eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis exists, the role of endometrial macrophages in endometriosis has not been defined as functional studies in this area are lacking.

Women with endometriosis evidently have an increased number of peritoneal macrophages that exhibit a dysfunctional phenotype. Peritoneal macrophages collected from women with endometriosis have reduced phagocytic capacity due to low levels and activity of matrix metalloproteinase 9, which is required for extracellular matrix degradation and is regulated by prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) (38). In a co-culture system, in the presence of endometrial stromal cells isolated from ectopic endometrial tissues, monocyte-derived macrophages secreted IL-10 and TGF-B, which in turn suppressed cytotoxicity and viability of NK cells (132), suggesting that macrophages are immunosuppressive in the presence of ectopic endometrial stromal cells and can act to suppress NK cells in the peritoneal cavity. Whilst, a few studies have investigated peritoneal macrophages in women with endometriosis the cells have been evaluated as a global population and there are no studies pertaining to the constitution and function of the individual CRIghi and CRIglo populations of these cells: the abundance and behavior of CRIghi population in women with endometriosis is not known, although inflammation and survival of refluxed endometrial tissue suggests that in endometriosis this tissue resident population could act to create a permissive and mitogenic environment for the formation of lesions. Analogous to this, a study by Beste et al. demonstrated enhanced expression of both pro- and anti-inflammatory cytokines by macrophages collected from the peritoneal fluid of women with endometriosis, this could reflect the mixed population of cells present (133). The increased number of peritoneal macrophages in women with endometriosis suggests that in the condition the "macrophage disappearance reaction" (MDR) does not occur. Indeed, it has been previously demonstrated that in type-2 inflammation characterized by high level of IL-4 the MDR does not happen and peritoneal macrophages accumulate as a result of in situ proliferation (116). IL-4 concentrations are elevated in the peritoneal fluid of women with endometriosis (134) suggesting that this could be a mechanism for macrophage accumulation. However, because the abundance of the different populations has not been characterized this hypothesis remains to be proven. Mouse models of endometriosis provide conflicting evidence of peritoneal macrophage dynamics: Yuan et al. demonstrated that in a model that injects syngeneic, estradiol primed, endometrial fragments into intact mice, those with endometriosis exhibited significantly lower numbers of LpM and more abundant SpM compared to control mice, consistent with the MDR. These perturbations in peritoneal macrophage populations were

evident from 0.25 to 42 days post tissue injection (135). However, in a model injecting "menses-like" endometrial tissue into ovariectomized recipients supplemented with estradiol valerate, loss of LpM was not observed, and mice with endometriosis had more abundant LpM compared to naïve and sham animals [although the increase was not statistically significant (54)]. The second study seems to more closely recapitulate macrophage dynamics in women with endometriosis, although evidence is very limited. The differences observed in these two studies could be a result of several differences in experimental design including the nature of the donor endometrium injected into the peritoneal cavity as well as manipulations performed on the recipient mice. Yuan et al. also demonstrated that in mice with endometriosis LpM exhibited a "pro-inflammatory" activation state and SpM were more "pro-repair" in nature (135). This interpretation was based on expression of NOS2 (inflammatory) and CD206 (repair) and is contradictory to others studies reporting the proinflammatory status of SpM and pro-repair status of LpM in response to different inflammatory stimuli.

Although, it has been demonstrated that monocytes are recruited to lesions from the bone marrow, little evidence exists to characterize their role and dynamics once they infiltrate ectopic tissue. Johan et al. examined infiltrating macrophage phenotype over time in endometriosis lesions in a heterologous mouse model and found that macrophage phenotype was progressively altered over time. Macrophages initially expressed pro-inflammatory markers iNOS and major histocompatibility complex II (MHC II), however at 7 and 14 days post lesion induction a higher proportion of macrophages expressed arginase 1 and CD204 (scavenger receptor A), which are more associated with a tissue remodeling phenotype (136). This study therefore demonstrates that macrophage phenotype in endometriosis lesions is dynamic and progressively changes as lesions develop in the peritoneal cavity. However, as with other studies, the limited number of markers assessed makes it difficult to truly re-capitulate the complex phenotype of macrophages in the tissue.

Endometriosis lesions from women are highly infiltrated by CD68+ macrophages that are present within the stroma of the tissue and can also be found in close proximity to glands (42, 53). Studies in women have strongly implied a role for macrophages in endometriosis, but the mechanistic studies performed in experimental models have significantly improved our understanding of the role of macrophages in the condition. Studies to date have largely focused on defining the role of macrophages in syngeneic mouse models using various cell depletion approaches. A commonly utilized depletion method uses liposomes encapsulating bisphosphonates. These liposomes are taken up by phagocytic cells, which degrade the liposomes, releasing bisphosphonate and causing subsequent cell death. This method therefore selectively depletes phagocytic cells and is non-toxic to non-phagocytic cells, and has been commonly used to deplete phagocytic macrophage populations (137). In a syngeneic mouse model of disease, Bacci et al. used clodronate liposomes and a monoclonal anti-F4/80 antibody to deplete/inhibit peritoneal macrophage function in mice with induced endometriosis and demonstrated that both treatments

caused a reduction in growth and blood vessel formation in lesions (53). Adoptive transfer of in vitro generated "proinflammatory" (stimulated with IFN-y), "anti-inflammatory" (stimulated with macrophage-colony-stimulating factor and IL-10), or "non-polarized" (stimulated with macrophage-colonystimulating factor) macrophages lead to differential effects on lesion development. "Non-polarized" macrophages had no effect on lesion number or weight, however adoptive transfer of pro-inflammatory macrophages reduced lesion weight. Conversely, adoptive transfer of anti-inflammatory macrophages caused an increase in lesion weight. The authors noted that lesion architecture was also disrupted in mice which had received adoptive transfer of pro-inflammatory macrophages (53). Together, this data suggests that anti-inflammatory/prorepair macrophages may be important for the growth and development of lesions and pro-inflammatory macrophages have an antagonistic effect, clearing ectopic endometrial tissue and disrupting lesion architecture. Whilst this data provides an important insight into the roles of macrophage phenotypes in endometriosis, the use of the M1/M2 paradigm is limited and the exact phenotype and phenotypic heterogeneity of macrophages in endometriosis and their role in disease is currently unknown. Capobianco et al. identified Tie-2 expressing macrophages that infiltrated mouse and human lesions. Depletion of Tie-2+ macrophages was achieved using a bone marrow chimera from mice expressing a suicide gene (herpes simplex virus type 1 thymidine kinase) expressed under control of the Tie2 promoter into wild-type mice. After treatment with ganciclovir (an antiviral drug), bone-marrow derived Tie2⁺ cells were selectively depleted and growth of endometriosis lesions was inhibited, with loss of neovascularization and glandular organization in the resultant lesions (127). Sekiguchi et al. demonstrated that VEGFR1 knockout mice had smaller and less vascularized lesions than WT in a mouse model where sections of uterus were sutured onto the peritoneal wall. Using bone marrow chimeras they demonstrated that VEGFR1⁺ cells in lesions were bone marrow derived CD11b⁺ macrophages (125). WT endometriosis mice were also treated with clophosome N which depleted phagocytic cells in the peritoneal cavity at the time of endometriosis induction, and demonstrated that growth and angiogenesis in lesions was reduced (125). A similar study using liposomal bisphosphonate to deplete phagocytic peritoneal populations also demonstrated reduced growth of endometriosis lesions in a rat model (138). Thus, it seems clear that in experimental models of endometriosis, depletion of peritoneal phagocytic macrophage populations inhibits growth and angiogenesis of induced lesions.

Endometriosis lesions exhibit cyclical bleeding in response to ovarian steroids in the same context as the eutopic endometrium, thus lesions can perceived as wounds undergoing recurrent tissue injury and repair (40). The process in lesions has been described to involve epithelial-mesenchymal transition, fibroblast-myofibroblast transdifferentiation, smooth muscle cell metaplasia and fibrosis (139). Macrophages are critical for successful repair and regeneration in tissues; they stimulate local fibroblasts to differentiate into myofibroblasts to facilitate wound contraction (140). During wound repair the proliferation and expansion of local stromal cells is also regulated by macrophages

and if the injury is severe, macrophages may activate additional stem cell and local progenitor cell populations that participate in repair (49). In line with these established roles in tissue injury and repair in vitro studies have aimed at assessing the interaction between endometrial stromal cells and macrophages in endometriosis. In a co-culture system, culture of endometrial stromal cells with autologous macrophages isolated from women with endometriosis increased the invasive and clonogenic ability of stromal cells (141). Co-culture with ectopic endometrial stromal cells was also shown to decrease the phagocytic capacity of macrophages and increased the survival and proliferation of stromal cells compared to eutopic endometrial stromal cells in a study by Mei et al. (142). A similar effect was also reported by Shao et al. (143). Reciprocal signaling therefore appears to be occurring between ectopic endometrial stromal cells and macrophages, which could contribute to their survival and the formation of endometriosis lesions in the peritoneal cavity, however the precise mechanisms are yet to be elucidated and the specific macrophage populations involved are unknown. Stromal cells derived from ovarian endometrioma were found to express markers of mesenchymal stromal cells (MSCs), formed colony forming units and exhibited multipotency suggesting characteristics of mesenchymal stem-like cells. The MSCs from endometriomas promoted differentiation of monocytes to spindle shaped pro-repair/immunosuppressive macrophages in vitro (50). The results suggest that MSC influence macrophages such that they exhibit an immunosuppressive phenotype and support lesion growth. The coordination of monocytes and macrophage activation states during inflammation and repair is tightly and temporally controlled. If disturbances occur at any point in the process this can lead to aberrant repair and the formation of pathological fibrosis (49). For example, persistent activation and sustained recruitment of pro-repair macrophages may contribute to pathological fibrosis (144). Since endometriosis lesions are undergoing consistent and repeated episodes of injury and repair and lesions exhibit fibrotic content, the events required for efficient, scarless repair may be disturbed. Depletion studies have demonstrated that macrophage depletion significantly reduces the fibrosis in lesions. Moreover, adoptive transfer of macrophages polarized in vitro to exhibit an M2a phenotype (activated with IL-4) increased the fibrotic content of lesions (139). Thus, it seems that unlike the physiological wound repair process, endometriosis lesions cannot enter the resolution phase of inflammation and repair and the local inflammatory environment causes persistent activation of prorepair macrophages that contribute to fibrosis.

A role for macrophages in neurogenesis in endometriosis lesions has been established in the literature, suggesting a role in the generation of endometriosis-associated pain. Indeed, nerve infiltration in lesions is positively correlated with higher reported pain scores in women (145). Cholinergic, adrenergic, sensory A δ and C nerve fibers have been identified in lesions (146, 147), and macrophages are densely populated in areas of high nerve density (55, 148). Greaves et al. reported that in response to estradiol, nerve fibers secreted CCL2 and CSF-1, which attracted macrophages, which in turn secreted neurotrophin 3 and brain-derived neurotrophin factor,

stimulating neurogenesis (55). Recently a role for macrophagederived insulin-like growth factor-1 (IGF-1) as a key signal for nerve outgrowth and sensitization in endometriosis has also been described (54): depletion of peritoneal macrophages by clodronate liposomes reversed abnormal pain behavior in mice with induced endometriosis and notably reduced the number of lesions in the peritoneal cavity, providing a direct link between macrophages and endometriosis-associated pain/lesion development. Macrophages treated with peritoneal fluid from women with endometriosis exhibit an up regulation of IGF-1 at the mRNA level, and mechanistically macrophage-derived IGF-1 increased the growth of embryonic rat dorsal root ganglion explants and this was reversed by an IGF-1 inhibitor. Similarly, IGF-1 inhibition by the IGF-1 receptor inhibitor linsitinib in a mouse model could reverse abnormal pain behaviors (54). Taken together, macrophages are evidently pivotal to facilitating neurogenesis and the generation endometriosis-associated pain symptoms, and this is at least in part mediated by IGF-1. The reciprocal signaling that occurs between macrophages and nerve fibers therefore appears critical in regulating neurogenesis in lesions and neuroinflammation is a key driver of endometriosis pathophysiology.

Studies mechanistically indicate that macrophages play key roles in growth, vascularization, and neurogenesis in lesions, as well as generating pain in the condition and these experiments have given insight into some of the factors expressed by macrophages. However, the phenotype of macrophages in endometriosis has not been fully characterized. Macrophages in endometriosis lesions have long been described as being wound healing and "M2-like," however few studies have taken into consideration the complexities of macrophage phenotype, where pro-inflammatory and wound-healing like markers often co-exist in response to complex signals from the local tissue microenvironment (76). In humans, lesion resident macrophages express the scavenger receptors CD163 and CD206, associated with hemoglobin scavenging and silent clearance of debris (53). Cominelli et al. also identified CD163⁺ CD206⁺ macrophages in superficial lesions from women, which also expressed high levels of matrix metalloproteinase-27, associated with tissue remodeling (149). Duan et al. characterized nitric oxide synthase (iNOS⁺) pro-inflammatory and CD163⁺ wound healing-like macrophages in mouse endometriosis lesions (139). In a rhesus macaque model of endometriosis, lesions were highly infiltrated by CD163⁺ macrophages (150). Whilst macrophages in endometriosis lesions possessing a "wound healing" like phenotype is synergistic with their role in growth and angiogenesis in lesions, a more comprehensive analysis of macrophage phenotype in endometriosis lesions is required. It is also unknown whether different phenotypes exist within endometriosis lesions, which could play differential roles in pathology, and identifying these populations is key for understanding which macrophage populations are driving pathology.

Identification of endometrial macrophages and bone-marrow monocyte-derived macrophages in endometriosis lesions demonstrates that endometriosis-associated macrophages have different origins, however differential roles for these populations have not yet been investigated. It is possible that the endometrial macrophages in lesions are monocyte-derived since a rapid influx of classical monocytes into the endometrium is observed during endometrial repair. Evidence of embryonically derived tissue resident macrophages in lesions is yet to be demonstrated. Previous studies have demonstrated that depletion of peritoneal macrophages has pronounced effects on lesion size and vascularization (53), depletion of this population translates to reduced number of macrophages in lesions and attenuates pain in mice (54). It remains unknown how endometrial and recruited monocytes contribute to lesion establishment and maintenance. Depletion of different macrophage populations prior to inducing endometriosis in mice and at different time-points during the life-course of the lesion will yield important insights into the role of these pivotal cells in the disorder. Whilst macrophages from 3 origins have been described the true heterogeneity of macrophage phenotype in lesions and in the peritoneal fluid, in endometriosis, is unknown. Application of single cell discovery techniques and digital molecular pathology could provide vital information on the complexities of endometriosis-associated macrophage phenotype, and coupled with in vivo functional studies identification of a disease-promoting population that exhibits unique markers that differ from healthy macrophages may be possible.

THE FUTURE: MACROPHAGE TARGETED THERAPIES

Macrophages offer an attractive therapeutic target due to their instrumental role in a number of pathologies (79). Inhibition of macrophage signaling or recruitment, as well as re-education of disease-associated macrophages to a "healthy" phenotype could be of clinical benefit to patients where macrophages are implicated in disease pathophysiology. Identification of disease promoting macrophage populations and a detailed understanding of their regulation, recruitment and phenotype is a fundamental step before the development of therapeutics which specifically target disease-associated macrophages is possible. Due to the pivotal role that macrophages play in many cancers, macrophage-targeted therapies have received much attention in the literature and a number of in vivo studies and clinical trials have demonstrated efficacy in using macrophage-mediated treatments to improve clinical outcomes (79). A subset of studies has targeted proliferation of TAMs in an effort to alleviate tumor burden and improve clinical outcomes. Strachan et al. demonstrated that targeting the Csf-1-receptor with a small molecule inhibitor attenuated the turnover rate of TAMs and decreased tumor growth in mouse models of breast and cervical cancer (151). A phase I trial demonstrated a significant reduction in macrophage number in solid tumors after anti-Csf-1r treatment (152), and Csf-1r inhibition showed an improvement in clinical outcomes including improvement of symptoms in patients with diffuse-type giant cell tumors (153). Inhibiting macrophage proliferation therefore appears to be of clinical benefit in cancer models and subsets of cancer patients. Future treatments should aim to specifically

Macrophages in Endometriosis

target disease-associated macrophage populations; Csf-1 is a key regulator of macrophage proliferation and survival in most tissues and neutralization or inhibition would affect healthy macrophage populations and as such is not an ideal therapy (154). The proliferative capacity of endometriosis lesion-resident macrophages is currently unknown, thus further research is required to determine whether this treatment strategy would be of benefit to women with endometriosis.

Another potential mechanism of therapeutic intervention could involve blocking recruitment of disease-promoting macrophage populations. The CCL2/CCR2 recruitment mechanism is implicated in a number of cancers and a CCR2 inhibitor to be administered alongside chemotherapy is currently in phase 1b trials (155). Inhibition of recruitment may be beneficial in blocking infiltration of macrophages into endometriosis lesions, however the mechanisms, which regulate recruitment into lesions, are currently poorly understood.

Whilst progression of research into macrophage-targeted therapies is promising, current therapies do not specifically target disease-promoting macrophages but have the potential to affect macrophage populations throughout the whole body. However, as our understanding of disease-modified macrophages improves, it is evident that establishing macrophage origins and phenotype heterogeneity in disease are crucial areas of

REFERENCES

- Mahmood TA, Templeton A. Prevalence and genesis of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1991) 6:544–9. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a137377
- Johnson NP, Hummelshoj L, Adamson GD, Keckstein J, Taylor HS, Abrao MS, et al. World Endometriosis Society consensus on the classification of endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2017) 32:315–24. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew293
- Giudice LC. Clinical practice. Endometriosis. N Engl J Med. (2010) 362:2389– 98. doi: 10.1056/NEJMcp1000274
- Meuleman C, Vandenabeele B, Fieuws S, Spiessens C, Timmerman D, D'Hooghe T. High prevalence of endometriosis in infertile women with normal ovulation and normospermic partners. *Fertil Steril.* (2009) 92:68–74. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.04.056
- Hansen KA, Chalpe A, Eyster KM. Management of endometriosisassociated pain. *Clin Obstet Gynecol.* (2010) 53:439–48. doi: 10.1097/GRF.0b013e3181dbda06
- Klein S, D'Hooghe T, Meuleman C, Dirksen C, Dunselman G, Simoens S. What is the societal burden of endometriosis-associated symptoms? a prospective Belgian study. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2014) 28:116–24. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2013.09.020
- Saraswat L, Ayansina DT, Cooper KG, Bhattacharya S, Miligkos D, Horne AW, et al. Pregnancy outcomes in women with endometriosis: a national record linkage study. *BJOG.* (2017) 124:444–52. doi: 10.1111/1471-0528.13920
- Simoens S, Dunselman G, Dirksen C, Hummelshoj L, Bokor A, Brandes I, et al. The burden of endometriosis: costs and quality of life of women with endometriosis and treated in referral centres. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:1292–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des073
- Nnoaham KE, Hummelshoj L, Webster P, d'Hooghe T, de Cicco Nardone F, de Cicco Nardone C, et al. Reprint of: impact of endometriosis on quality of life and work productivity: a multicenter study across ten countries. *Fertil Steril.* (2019) 112:e137–52. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2019.08.082
- Bazot M, Darai E. Diagnosis of deep endometriosis: clinical examination, ultrasonography, magnetic resonance imaging, and other techniques. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 108:886–94. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.10.026

research before specific, targeted treatments can be designed (72). Future work describing macrophage sub-populations, active recruitment mechanisms and macrophage phenotype in endometriosis is therefore critically required before macrophage-targeted treatments may be a possibility for women with endometriosis.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

CH performed literature search and wrote manuscript. AH provided feedback. EG conceptualized manuscript, provided feedback, and wrote manuscript.

FUNDING

EG was funded by a Medical Research Council (MRC) Career Development Award (MR/M009238/1). CH was supported by an MRC Ph.D. studentship as part of an MRC Center grant (MR/N022556/1).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Thanks to Ronnie Grant for graphic design. Some figures were generated using BioRender.com.

- Bedaiwy MA, Alfaraj S, Yong P, Casper R. New developments in the medical treatment of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 107:555–65. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.12.025
- 12. Agarwal SK, Foster WG, Groessl EJ. Rethinking endometriosis care: applying the chronic care model via a multidisciplinary program for the care of women with endometriosis. *Int J Womens Health.* (2019) 11:405–10. doi: 10.2147/IJWH.S207373
- Vigano P, Candiani M, Monno A, Giacomini E, Vercellini P, Somigliana E. Time to redefine endometriosis including its pro-fibrotic nature. *Hum Reprod.* (2018) 33:347–52. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dex354
- Laux-Biehlmann A, d'Hooghe T, Zollner TM. Menstruation pulls the trigger for inflammation and pain in endometriosis. *Trends Pharmacol Sci.* (2015) 36:270–6. doi: 10.1016/j.tips.2015.03.004
- Adamson GD. Endometriosis classification: an update. Curr Opin Obstet Gynecol. (2011) 23:213–20. doi: 10.1097/GCO.0b013e328 348a3ba
- Al Kadri H, Hassan S, Al-Fozan HM, Hajeer A. Hormone therapy for endometriosis and surgical menopause. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2009) CD005997. doi: 10.1002/14651858.CD005997.pub2
- Gallagher JS, Missmer SA, Hornstein MD, Laufer MR, Gordon CM, DiVasta AD. Long-term effects of gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists and add-back in adolescent endometriosis. *J Pediatr Adolesc Gynecol.* (2018) 31:376–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jpag.2018.03.004
- Dunselman GA, Vermeulen N, Becker C, Calhaz-Jorge C, D'Hooghe T, De Bie B, et al. ESHRE guideline: management of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:400–12. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det457
- Malinak LR, Buttram VC Jr, Elias S, Simpson JL. Heritage aspects of endometriosis. II. Clinical characteristics of familial endometriosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1980) 137:332–7. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(80) 90918-7
- Simpson JL, Elias S, Malinak LR, Buttram VC Jr. Heritable aspects of endometriosis. I. Genetic studies. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1980) 137:327–31. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(80)90917-5
- Treloar SA, O'Connor DT, O'Connor VM, Martin NG. Genetic influences on endometriosis in an Australian twin sample. sueT@qimr.edu.au. Fertil Steril. (1999) 71:701–10. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(98)00540-8

- Nouri K, Ott J, Krupitz B, Huber JC, Wenzl R. Family incidence of endometriosis in first-, second-, and third-degree relatives: case-control study. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2010) 8:85. doi: 10.1186/1477-7827-8-85
- Rahmioglu N, Nyholt DR, Morris AP, Missmer SA, Montgomery GW, Zondervan KT. Genetic variants underlying risk of endometriosis: insights from meta-analysis of eight genome-wide association and replication datasets. *Hum Reprod Update.* (2014) 20:702–16. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmu015
- Nyholt DR, Low SK, Anderson CA, Painter JN, Uno S, Morris AP, et al. Genome-wide association meta-analysis identifies new endometriosis risk loci. Nat Genet. (2012) 44:1355–9. doi: 10.1038/ng.2445
- Sapkota Y, Steinthorsdottir V, Morris AP, Fassbender A, Rahmioglu N, De Vivo I, et al. Meta-analysis identifies five novel loci associated with endometriosis highlighting key genes involved in hormone metabolism. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:15539. doi: 10.1038/ncomms15539
- Nnoaham KE, Webster P, Kumbang J, Kennedy SH, Zondervan KT. Is early age at menarche a risk factor for endometriosis? A systematic review and meta-analysis of case-control studies. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:702–12.e6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.05.035
- 27. Zeitoun K, Takayama K, Michael MD, Bulun SE. Stimulation of aromatase P450 promoter (II) activity in endometriosis and its inhibition in endometrium are regulated by competitive binding of steroidogenic factor-1 and chicken ovalbumin upstream promoter transcription factor to the same cis-acting element. *Mol Endocrinol.* (1999) 13:239–53. doi: 10.1210/mend.13.2.0229
- Zeitoun K, Takayama K, Sasano H, Suzuki T, Moghrabi N, Andersson S, et al. Deficient 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 expression in endometriosis: failure to metabolize 17beta-estradiol. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1998) 83:4474–80. doi: 10.1210/jcem.83.12.5301
- Osinski M, Wirstlein P, Wender-Ozegowska E, Mikolajczyk M, Jagodzinski PP, Szczepanska M. HSD3B2, HSD17B1, HSD17B2, ESR1, ESR2 and AR expression in infertile women with endometriosis. *Ginekol Pol.* (2018) 89:125–34. doi: 10.5603/GP.a2018.0022
- Yilmaz BD, Bulun SE. Endometriosis and nuclear receptors. Hum Reprod Update. (2019) 25:473–85. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz005
- Liang Y, Xie H, Wu J, Liu D, Yao S. Villainous role of estrogen in macrophagenerve interaction in endometriosis. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol.* (2018) 16:122. doi: 10.1186/s12958-018-0441-z
- Rizner TL. Estrogen metabolism and action in endometriosis. Mol Cell Endocrinol. (2009) 307:8–18. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2009.03.022
- Halme J, Becker S, Haskill S. Altered maturation and function of peritoneal macrophages: possible role in pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1987) 156:783–9. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(87)90333-4
- 34. Tariverdian N, Siedentopf F, Rucke M, Blois SM, Klapp BF, Kentenich H, et al. Intraperitoneal immune cell status in infertile women with and without endometriosis. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2009) 80:80–90. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2008.12.005
- Oosterlynck DJ, Cornillie FJ, Waer M, Vandeputte M, Koninckx PR. Women with endometriosis show a defect in natural killer activity resulting in a decreased cytotoxicity to autologous endometrium. *Fertil Steril.* (1991) 56:45–51. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)54414-8
- Jeung I, Cheon K, Kim MR. Decreased cytotoxicity of peripheral and peritoneal natural killer cell in endometriosis. *BioMed Res Int.* (2016) 2016;2916070. doi: 10.1155/2016/2916070
- Ho HN, Chao KH, Chen HF, Wu MY, Yang YS, Lee TY. Peritoneal natural killer cytotoxicity and CD25+ CD3+ lymphocyte subpopulation are decreased in women with stage III-IV endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1995) 10:2671–5. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a135765
- Wu MH, Shoji Y, Wu MC, Chuang PC, Lin CC, Huang MF, et al. Suppression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by prostaglandin E(2) in peritoneal macrophage is associated with severity of endometriosis. *Am J Pathol.* (2005) 167:1061–9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61195-9
- Burney RO, Giudice LC. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:511–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.06.029
- Gordts S, Koninckx P, Brosens I. Pathogenesis of deep endometriosis. *Fertil* Steril. (2017) 108:872–85.e1. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.08.036

- Sampson JA. Metastatic or embolic endometriosis, due to the menstrual dissemination of endometrial tissue into the venous circulation. *Am J Pathol.* (1927) 3:93–110.43.
- 42. Greaves E, Cousins FL, Murray A, Esnal-Zufiaurre A, Fassbender A, Horne AW, et al. A novel mouse model of endometriosis mimics human phenotype and reveals insights into the inflammatory contribution of shed endometrium. *Am J Pathol.* (2014) 184:1930–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2014.03.011
- Cousins FL, Kirkwood PM, Saunders PT, Gibson DA. Evidence for a dynamic role for mononuclear phagocytes during endometrial repair and remodelling. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:36748. doi: 10.1038/srep36748
- Brosens I, Benagiano G. Is neonatal uterine bleeding involved in the pathogenesis of endometriosis as a source of stem cells? *Fertil Steril.* (2013) 100:622–3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2013.04.046
- Troncon JK, Zani AC, Vieira AD, Poli-Neto OB, Nogueira AA, Rosa ESJC. Endometriosis in a patient with mayer-rokitansky-kuster-hauser syndrome. *Case Rep Obstetr Gynecol.* (2014) 2014:376231. doi: 10.1155/2014/376231
- Jablonski C, Alifano M, Regnard JF, Gompel A. Pneumoperitoneum associated with catamenial pneumothorax in women with thoracic endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2009) 91:930.e19–22. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2008.09.071
- Rousset-Jablonski C, Alifano M, Plu-Bureau G, Camilleri-Broet S, Rousset P, Regnard JF, et al. Catamenial pneumothorax and endometriosis-related pneumothorax: clinical features and risk factors. *Hum Reprod.* (2011) 26:2322–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/der189
- Martin JD Jr, Hauck AE. Endometriosis in the male. Am Surg. (1985) 51:426– 30.
- Wynn TA, Vannella KM. Macrophages in tissue repair, regeneration, and fibrosis. *Immunity*. (2016) 44:450–62. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2016.02.015
- Abomaray F, Gidlof S, Gotherstrom C. Mesenchymal stromal cells are more immunosuppressive *in vitro* if they are derived from endometriotic lesions than from eutopic endometrium. *Stem Cells Int*. (2017) 2017:3215962. doi: 10.1155/2017/3215962
- Batt RE, Yeh J. Mullerianosis: four developmental (embryonic) mullerian diseases. *Reprod Sci.* (2013) 20:1030–7. doi: 10.1177/1933719112472736
- Zhu Y, Herndon JM, Sojka DK, Kim KW, Knolhoff BL, Zuo C, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages in pancreatic ductal adenocarcinoma originate from embryonic hematopoiesis and promote tumor progression. *Immunity*. (2017) 47:597. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2017.08.018
- Bacci M, Capobianco A, Monno A, Cottone L, Di Puppo F, Camisa B, et al. Macrophages are alternatively activated in patients with endometriosis and required for growth and vascularization of lesions in a mouse model of disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2009) 175:547–56. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2009.081011
- Forster R, Sarginson A, Velichkova A, Hogg C, Dorning A, Horne AW, et al. Macrophage-derived insulin-like growth factor-1 is a key neurotrophic and nerve-sensitizing factor in pain associated with endometriosis. *FASEB J.* (2019) 33:11210–22. doi: 10.1096/fj.201900797R
- Greaves E, Temp J, Esnal-Zufiurre A, Mechsner S, Horne AW, Saunders PT. Estradiol is a critical mediator of macrophage-nerve cross talk in peritoneal endometriosis. *Am J Pathol.* (2015) 185:2286–97. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2015.04.012
- Ju C, Tacke F. Hepatic macrophages in homeostasis and liver diseases: from pathogenesis to novel therapeutic strategies. *Cell Mol Immunol.* (2016) 13:316–27. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2015.104
- Lloyd AF, Davies CL, Holloway RK, Labrak Y, Ireland G, Carradori D, et al. Central nervous system regeneration is driven by microglia necroptosis and repopulation. *Nat Neurosci.* (2019) 22:1046–52. doi: 10.1038/s41593-019-0418-z
- Lloyd AF, Miron VE. Cellular and molecular mechanisms underpinning macrophage activation during remyelination. *Front Cell Dev Biol.* (2016) 4:60. doi: 10.3389/fcell.2016.00060
- Bellido T. Osteocyte-driven bone remodeling. Calcif Tissue Int. (2014) 94:25– 34. doi: 10.1007/s00223-013-9774-y
- Schulz C, Gomez Perdiguero E, Chorro L, Szabo-Rogers H, Cagnard N, Kierdorf K, et al. A lineage of myeloid cells independent of Myb and hematopoietic stem cells. *Science*. (2012) 336:86–90. doi: 10.1126/science.1219179

- Hashimoto D, Chow A, Noizat C, Teo P, Beasley MB, Leboeuf M, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages self-maintain locally throughout adult life with minimal contribution from circulating monocytes. *Immunity*. (2013) 38:792–804. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.04.004
- Gomez Perdiguero E, Klapproth K, Schulz C, Busch K, Azzoni E, Crozet L, et al. Tissue-resident macrophages originate from yolk-sac-derived erythromyeloid progenitors. *Nature*. (2015) 518:547–51. doi: 10.1038/nature13989
- Hoeffel G, Chen J, Lavin Y, Low D, Almeida FF, See P, et al. C-Myb(+) erythro-myeloid progenitor-derived fetal monocytes give rise to adult tissue-resident macrophages. *Immunity.* (2015) 42:665–78. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2015.03.011
- Mass E, Ballesteros I, Farlik M, Halbritter F, Gunther P, Crozet L, et al. Specification of tissue-resident macrophages during organogenesis. *Science*. (2016) 353:aaf4238. doi: 10.1126/science.aaf4238
- Ginhoux F, Jung S. Monocytes and macrophages: developmental pathways and tissue homeostasis. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2014) 14:392–404. doi: 10.1038/nri3671
- Geissmann F, Manz MG, Jung S, Sieweke MH, Merad M, Ley K. Development of monocytes, macrophages, and dendritic cells. *Science*. (2010) 327:656–61. doi: 10.1126/science.1178331
- Olingy CE, San Emeterio CL, Ogle ME, Krieger JR, Bruce AC, Pfau DD, et al. Non-classical monocytes are biased progenitors of wound healing macrophages during soft tissue injury. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:447. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-00477-1
- Auffray C, Fogg D, Garfa M, Elain G, Join-Lambert O, Kayal S, et al. Monitoring of blood vessels and tissues by a population of monocytes with patrolling behavior. *Science.* (2007) 317:666–70. doi: 10.1126/science.1142883
- Jakubzick C, Gautier EL, Gibbings SL, Sojka DK, Schlitzer A, Johnson TE, et al. Minimal differentiation of classical monocytes as they survey steady-state tissues and transport antigen to lymph nodes. *Immunity.* (2013) 39:599–610. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.007
- 70. Randolph GJ. The fate of monocytes in atherosclerosis. *J Thromb Haemost.* (2009) 7 (Suppl. 1):28–30. doi: 10.1111/j.1538-7836.2009.03423.x
- Ingersoll MA, Spanbroek R, Lottaz C, Gautier EL, Frankenberger M, Hoffmann R, et al. Comparison of gene expression profiles between human and mouse monocyte subsets. *Blood.* (2010) 115:e10–9. doi: 10.1182/blood-2009-07-235028
- Wynn TA, Chawla A, Pollard JW. Macrophage biology in development, homeostasis and disease. *Nature*. (2013) 496:445–55. doi: 10.1038/nature12034
- Mantovani A, Sica A, Sozzani S, Allavena P, Vecchi A, Locati M. The chemokine system in diverse forms of macrophage activation and polarization. *Trends Immunol.* (2004) 25:677–86. doi: 10.1016/j.it.2004.09.015
- Rey-Giraud F, Hafner M, Ries CH. *In vitro* generation of monocyte-derived macrophages under serum-free conditions improves their tumor promoting functions. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e42656. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0042656
- 75. Qian BZ, Pollard JW. Macrophage diversity enhances tumor progression and metastasis. *Cell.* (2010) 141:39–51. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2010.03.014
- Martinez FO, Gordon S. The M1 and M2 paradigm of macrophage activation: time for reassessment. *F1000Prime Rep.* (2014) 6:13. doi: 10.12703/P6-13
- 77. Gautier EL, Shay T, Miller J, Greter M, Jakubzick C, Ivanov S, et al. Geneexpression profiles and transcriptional regulatory pathways that underlie the identity and diversity of mouse tissue macrophages. *Nat Immunol.* (2012) 13:1118–28. doi: 10.1038/ni.2419
- Johnson JL, Newby AC. Macrophage heterogeneity in atherosclerotic plaques. *Curr Opin Lipidol.* (2009) 20:370–8. doi: 10.1097/MOL.0b013e3283309848
- 79. Noy R, Pollard JW. Tumor-associated macrophages: from mechanisms to therapy. *Immunity*. (2014) 41:49–61. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2014.09.021
- Udalova IA, Mantovani A, Feldmann M. Macrophage heterogeneity in the context of rheumatoid arthritis. *Nat Rev Rheumatol.* (2016) 12:472–85. doi: 10.1038/nrrheum.2016.91
- Critchley HO, Kelly RW, Brenner RM, Baird DT. The endocrinology of menstruation–a role for the immune system. *Clin Endocrinol.* (2001) 55:701– 10. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2265.2001.01432.x

- Arici A, MacDonald PC, Casey ML. Regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 gene expression in human endometrial cells in cultures. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (1995) 107:189–97. doi: 10.1016/0303-7207(94)03442-V
- Jones RL, Kelly RW, Critchley HO. Chemokine and cyclooxygenase-2 expression in human endometrium coincides with leukocyte accumulation. *Hum Reprod.* (1997) 12:1300–6. doi: 10.1093/humrep/12.6.1300
- Kitaya K, Nakayama T, Daikoku N, Fushiki S, Honjo H. Spatial and temporal expression of ligands for CXCR3 and CXCR4 in human endometrium. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2004) 89:2470–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.2003-031293
- Eidukaite A, Tamosiunas V. Endometrial and peritoneal macrophages: expression of activation and adhesion molecules. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2004) 52:113–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2004.00201.x
- Garry R, Hart R, Karthigasu KA, Burke C. Structural changes in endometrial basal glands during menstruation. *BJOG.* (2010) 117:1175–85. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2010.02630.x
- Sharkey AM, Day K, McPherson A, Malik S, Licence D, Smith SK, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor expression in human endometrium is regulated by hypoxia. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:402–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.1.402
- Zhang X, Nothnick WB. The role and regulation of the uterine matrix metalloproteinase system in menstruating and non-menstruating species. *Front Biosci.* (2005) 10:353–66. doi: 10.2741/1533
- Salamonsen LA, Zhang J, Brasted M. Leukocyte networks and human endometrial remodelling. J Reprod Immunol. (2002) 57:95–108. doi: 10.1016/S0165-0378(02)00011-6
- Curry TE Jr, Osteen KG. The matrix metalloproteinase system: changes, regulation, and impact throughout the ovarian and uterine reproductive cycle. *Endocr Rev.* (2003) 24:428–65. doi: 10.1210/er.2002-0005
- Jeziorska M, Nagase H, Salamonsen LA, Woolley DE. Immunolocalization of the matrix metalloproteinases gelatinase B and stromelysin 1 in human endometrium throughout the menstrual cycle. J Reprod Fertil. (1996) 107:43–51. doi: 10.1530/jrf.0.1070043
- 92. Pepe G, Braga D, Renzi TA, Villa A, Bolego C, D'Avila F, et al. Selfrenewal and phenotypic conversion are the main physiological responses of macrophages to the endogenous estrogen surge. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:44270. doi: 10.1038/srep44270
- McLaren J, Prentice A, Charnock-Jones DS, Millican SA, Muller KH, Sharkey AM, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor is produced by peritoneal fluid macrophages in endometriosis and is regulated by ovarian steroids. *J Clin Invest.* (1996) 98:482–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI118815
- 94. Rochefort H, Chalbos D, Cunat S, Lucas A, Platet N, Garcia M. Estrogen regulated proteases and antiproteases in ovarian and breast cancer cells. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol. (2001) 76:119–24. doi: 10.1016/S0960-0760(00)00142-4
- Stewart JA, Bulmer JN, Murdoch AP. Endometrial leucocytes: expression of steroid hormone receptors. J Clin Pathol. (1998) 51:121–6. doi: 10.1136/jcp.51.2.121
- Cheng CW, Bielby H, Licence D, Smith SK, Print CG, Charnock-Jones DS. Quantitative cellular and molecular analysis of the effect of progesterone withdrawal in a murine model of decidualization. *Biol Reprod.* (2007) 76:871–83. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.106.057950
- Thiruchelvam U, Maybin JA, Armstrong GM, Greaves E, Saunders PT, Critchley HO. Cortisol regulates the paracrine action of macrophages by inducing vasoactive gene expression in endometrial cells. J Leukoc Biol. (2016) 99:1165–71. doi: 10.1189/jlb.5A0215-061RR
- Ghosn EE, Cassado AA, Govoni GR, Fukuhara T, Yang Y, Monack DM, et al. Two physically, functionally, and developmentally distinct peritoneal macrophage subsets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:2568–73. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0915000107
- Jackson-Jones LH, Benezech C. Control of innate-like B cell location for compartmentalised IgM production. *Curr Opin Immunol.* (2018) 50:9–13. doi: 10.1016/j.coi.2017.10.006
- 100. Rosas M, Davies LC, Giles PJ, Liao CT, Kharfan B, Stone TC, et al. The transcription factor Gata6 links tissue macrophage phenotype and proliferative renewal. *Science.* (2014) 344:645–8. doi: 10.1126/science.1251414
- 101. Bain CC, Hawley CA, Garner H, Scott CL, Schridde A, Steers NJ, et al. Long-lived self-renewing bone marrow-derived macrophages displace

embryo-derived cells to inhabit adult serous cavities. *Nat Commun.* (2016) 7:ncomms11852. doi: 10.1038/ncomms11852

- Cassado Ados A, D'Imperio Lima MR, Bortoluci KR. Revisiting mouse peritoneal macrophages: heterogeneity, development, and function. Front Immunol. (2015) 6:225. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00225
- 103. Kubicka U, Olszewski WL, Tarnowski W, Bielecki K, Ziolkowska A, Wierzbicki Z. Normal human immune peritoneal cells: subpopulations and functional characteristics. *Scand J Immunol.* (1996) 44:157–63. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-3083.1996.d01-297.x
- 104. Irvine KM, Banh X, Gadd VL, Wojcik KK, Ariffin JK, Jose S, et al. CRIg-expressing peritoneal macrophages are associated with disease severity in patients with cirrhosis and ascites. JCI Insight. (2016) 1:e86914. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.86914
- Barth MW, Hendrzak JA, Melnicoff MJ, Morahan PS. Review of the macrophage disappearance reaction. J Leukoc Biol. (1995) 57:361–7. doi: 10.1002/jlb.57.3.361
- Okabe Y, Medzhitov R. Tissue-specific signals control reversible program of localization and functional polarization of macrophages. *Cell.* (2014) 157:832–44. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.016
- 107. Davies LC, Rosas M, Smith PJ, Fraser DJ, Jones SA, Taylor PR. A quantifiable proliferative burst of tissue macrophages restores homeostatic macrophage populations after acute inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:2155–64. doi: 10.1002/eji.201141817
- Gautier EL, Ivanov S, Lesnik P, Randolph GJ. Local apoptosis mediates clearance of macrophages from resolving inflammation in mice. *Blood*. (2013) 122:2714–22. doi: 10.1182/blood-2013-01-478206
- 109. Liao CT, Rosas M, Davies LC, Giles PJ, Tyrrell VJ, O'Donnell VB, et al. IL-10 differentially controls the infiltration of inflammatory macrophages and antigen-presenting cells during inflammation. *Eur J Immunol.* (2016) 46:2222–32. doi: 10.1002/eji.201646528
- 110. Wong K, Valdez PA, Tan C, Yeh S, Hongo JA, Ouyang W. Phosphatidylserine receptor Tim-4 is essential for the maintenance of the homeostatic state of resident peritoneal macrophages. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2010) 107:8712– 7. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0910929107
- 111. Wang J, Kubes P. A reservoir of mature cavity macrophages that can rapidly invade visceral organs to affect tissue repair. *Cell.* (2016) 165:668–78. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.009
- 112. Ruckerl D, Campbell SM, Duncan S, Sutherland TE, Jenkins SJ, Hewitson JP, et al. Macrophage origin limits functional plasticity in helminth-bacterial co-infection. *PLoS Pathog.* (2017) 13:e1006233. doi: 10.1371/journal.ppat.1006233
- 113. Cassado Ados A, de Albuquerque JA, Sardinha LR, Buzzo Cde L, Faustino L, Nascimento R, et al. Cellular renewal and improvement of local cell effector activity in peritoneal cavity in response to infectious stimuli. *PLoS ONE.* (2011) 6:e22141. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0022141
- 114. Bellingan GJ, Caldwell H, Howie SE, Dransfield I, Haslett C. *In vivo* fate of the inflammatory macrophage during the resolution of inflammation: inflammatory macrophages do not die locally, but emigrate to the draining lymph nodes. *J Immunol.* (1996) 157:2577–85.
- 115. Yona S, Kim KW, Wolf Y, Mildner A, Varol D, Breker M, et al. Fate mapping reveals origins and dynamics of monocytes and tissue macrophages under homeostasis. *Immunity*. (2013) 38:79–91. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.05.008
- Bain CC, Jenkins SJ. The biology of serous cavity macrophages. Cell Immunol. (2018) 330:126–35. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.01.003
- 117. Burnett SH, Beus BJ, Avdiushko R, Qualls J, Kaplan AM, Cohen DA. Development of peritoneal adhesions in macrophage depleted mice. J Surg Res. (2006) 131:296–301. doi: 10.1016/j.jss.2005.08.026
- Wang Y, Nicholes K, Shih IM. The origin and pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Annu Rev Pathol.* (2019). doi: 10.1146/annurev-pathmechdis-012419-032654
- 119. Zhang QW, Liu L, Gong CY, Shi HS, Zeng YH, Wang XZ, et al. Prognostic significance of tumor-associated macrophages in solid tumor: a meta-analysis of the literature. *PLoS ONE.* (2012) 7:e50946. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0050946
- 120. Candido J, Hagemann T. Cancer-related inflammation. J Clin Immunol. (2013) 33 (Suppl. 1):S79–84. doi: 10.1007/s10875-012-9847-0
- 121. Qian BZ, Li J, Zhang H, Kitamura T, Zhang J, Campion LR, et al. CCL2 recruits inflammatory monocytes to facilitate breast-tumour metastasis. *Nature*. (2011) 475:222–5. doi: 10.1038/nature10138

- 122. Sawanobori Y, Ueha S, Kurachi M, Shimaoka T, Talmadge JE, Abe J, et al. Chemokine-mediated rapid turnover of myeloid-derived suppressor cells in tumor-bearing mice. *Blood.* (2008) 111:5457–66. doi: 10.1182/blood-2008-01-136895
- 123. Cortez-Retamozo V, Etzrodt M, Newton A, Rauch PJ, Chudnovskiy A, Berger C, et al. Origins of tumor-associated macrophages and neutrophils. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA.* (2012) 109:2491–6. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1113 744109
- 124. Yang W, Lu Y, Xu Y, Xu L, Zheng W, Wu Y, et al. Estrogen represses hepatocellular carcinoma (HCC) growth via inhibiting alternative activation of tumor-associated macrophages (TAMs). *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:40140–9. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.348763
- 125. Sekiguchi K, Ito Y, Hattori K, Inoue T, Hosono K, Honda M, et al. VEGF receptor 1-expressing macrophages recruited from bone marrow enhances angiogenesis in endometrial tissues. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:7037. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-43185-8
- Hey YY, Tan JK, O'Neill HC. Redefining myeloid cell subsets in murine spleen. Front Immunol. (2015) 6:652. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2015.00652
- 127. Capobianco A, Monno A, Cottone L, Venneri MA, Biziato D, Di Puppo F, et al. Proangiogenic Tie2(+) macrophages infiltrate human and murine endometriotic lesions and dictate their growth in a mouse model of the disease. *Am J Pathol.* (2011) 179:2651–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2011.07.029
- Berbic M, Schulke L, Markham R, Tokushige N, Russell P, Fraser IS. Macrophage expression in endometrium of women with and without endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:325–32. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ den393
- 129. Takebayashi A, Kimura F, Kishi Y, Ishida M, Takahashi A, Yamanaka A, et al. Subpopulations of macrophages within eutopic endometrium of endometriosis patients. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2015) 73:221–31. doi: 10.1111/aji.12331
- Jolicoeur C, Boutouil M, Drouin R, Paradis I, Lemay A, Akoum A. Increased expression of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 in the endometrium of women with endometriosis. *Am J Pathol.* (1998) 152:125–33.
- 131. Collette T, Maheux R, Mailloux J, Akoum A. Increased expression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 in the eutopic endometrial tissue of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:3059–67. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del297
- 132. Yang HL, Zhou WJ, Chang KK, Mei J, Huang LQ, Wang MY, et al. The crosstalk between endometrial stromal cells and macrophages impairs cytotoxicity of NK cells in endometriosis by secreting IL-10 and TGF-beta. *Reproduction.* (2017) 154:815–25. doi: 10.1530/REP-17-0342
- 133. Beste MT, Pfaffle-Doyle N, Prentice EA, Morris SN, Lauffenburger DA, Isaacson KB, et al. Molecular network analysis of endometriosis reveals a role for c-Jun-regulated macrophage activation. *Sci Transl Med.* (2014) 6:222ra16. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.3007988
- 134. Fan YY, Chen HY, Chen W, Liu YN, Fu Y, Wang LN. Expression of inflammatory cytokines in serum and peritoneal fluid from patients with different stages of endometriosis. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2018) 34:507–12. doi: 10.1080/09513590.2017.1409717
- Yuan M, Li D, An M, Li Q, Zhang L, Wang G. Rediscovering peritoneal macrophages in a murine endometriosis model. *Hum Reprod.* (2017) 32:94– 102. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew274
- 136. Johan MZ, Ingman WV, Robertson SA, Hull ML. Macrophages infiltrating endometriosis-like lesions exhibit progressive phenotype changes in a heterologous mouse model. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 132:1–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2019.01.002
- 137. Van Rooijen N, Sanders A. Liposome mediated depletion of macrophages: mechanism of action, preparation of liposomes and applications. *J Immunol Methods*. (1994) 174:83–93. doi: 10.1016/0022-1759(94)90012-4
- 138. Haber E, Danenberg HD, Koroukhov N, Ron-El R, Golomb G, Schachter M. Peritoneal macrophage depletion by liposomal bisphosphonate attenuates endometriosis in the rat model. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:398–407. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den375
- 139. Duan J, Liu X, Wang H, Guo SW. The M2a macrophage subset may be critically involved in the fibrogenesis of endometriosis in mice. *Reprod Biomed Online*. (2018) 37:254–68. doi: 10.1016/j.rbmo.2018.05.017
- Murray PJ, Wynn TA. Protective and pathogenic functions of macrophage subsets. Nat Rev Immunol. (2011) 11:723–37. doi: 10.1038/nri3073

- Chan RWS, Lee C-L, Ng EHY, Yeung WSB. Co-culture with macrophages enhances the clonogenic and invasion activity of endometriotic stromal cells. *Cell Prolif.* (2017) 50:e12330. doi: 10.1111/cpr.12330
- 142. Mei J, Chang KK, Sun HX. Immunosuppressive macrophages induced by IDO1 promote the growth of endometrial stromal cells in endometriosis. *Mol Med Rep.* (2017) 15:2255–60. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2017.6242
- 143. Shao J, Zhang B, Yu JJ, Wei CY, Zhou WJ, Chang KK, et al. Macrophages promote the growth and invasion of endometrial stromal cells by downregulating IL-24 in endometriosis. *Reproduction.* (2016) 152:673–82. doi: 10.1530/REP-16-0278
- 144. Wynn TA, Ramalingam TR. Mechanisms of fibrosis: therapeutic translation for fibrotic disease. Nat Med. (2012) 18:1028–40. doi: 10.1038/ nm.2807
- McKinnon B, Bersinger NA, Wotzkow C, Mueller MD. Endometriosisassociated nerve fibers, peritoneal fluid cytokine concentrations, and pain in endometriotic lesions from different locations. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 97:373–80. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2011.11.011
- 146. Tokushige N, Markham R, Russell P, Fraser IS. Nerve fibres in peritoneal endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2006) 21:3001–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del260
- 147. Arnold J, Barcena de Arellano ML, Ruster C, Vercellino GF, Chiantera V, Schneider A, et al. Imbalance between sympathetic and sensory innervation in peritoneal endometriosis. *Brain Behav Immun.* (2012) 26:132–41. doi: 10.1016/j.bbi.2011.08.004
- 148. Tran LV, Tokushige N, Berbic M, Markham R, Fraser IS. Macrophages and nerve fibres in peritoneal endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:835–41. doi: 10.1093/humrep/den483
- 149. Cominelli A, Gaide Chevronnay HP, Lemoine P, Courtoy PJ, Marbaix E, Henriet P. Matrix metalloproteinase-27 is expressed in CD163+/CD206+ M2 macrophages in the cycling human endometrium and in superficial endometriotic lesions. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2014) 20:767–75. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gau034
- 150. Smith KA, Pearson CB, Hachey AM, Xia DL, Wachtman LM. Alternative activation of macrophages in rhesus macaques (*Macaca mulatta*) with endometriosis. *Comp Med.* (2012) 62:303–10.

- 151. Strachan DC, Ruffell B, Oei Y, Bissell MJ, Coussens LM, Pryer N, et al. CSF1R inhibition delays cervical and mammary tumor growth in murine models by attenuating the turnover of tumor-associated macrophages and enhancing infiltration by CD8(+) T cells. *Oncoimmunology*. (2013) 2:e26968. doi: 10.4161/onci.26968
- 152. Gomez-Roca CA, Italiano A, Le Tourneau C, Cassier PA, Toulmonde M, D'Angelo SP, et al. Phase I study of emactuzumab single agent or in combination with paclitaxel in patients with advanced/metastatic solid tumors reveals depletion of immunosuppressive M2-like macrophages. *Ann Oncol.* (2019) 30:1381–92. doi: 10.1093/annonc/mdz163
- 153. Ries CH, Cannarile MA, Hoves S, Benz J, Wartha K, Runza V, et al. Targeting tumor-associated macrophages with anti-CSF-1R antibody reveals a strategy for cancer therapy. *Cancer Cell.* (2014) 25:846–59. doi: 10.1016/j.ccr.2014.05.016
- 154. Stanley ER, Chitu V. CSF-1 receptor signaling in myeloid cells. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol.* (2014) 6:a021857. doi: 10.1101/cshperspect.a021857
- 155. Nywening TM, Wang-Gillam A, Sanford DE, Belt BA, Panni RZ, Cusworth BM, et al. Targeting tumour-associated macrophages with CCR2 inhibition in combination with FOLFIRINOX in patients with borderline resectable and locally advanced pancreatic cancer: a single-centre, open-label, dosefinding, non-randomised, phase 1b trial. *Lancet Oncol.* (2016) 17:651–62. doi: 10.1016/S1470-2045(16)00078-4

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Hogg, Horne and Greaves. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Inflammasome in Reproductive Biology: A Promising Target for Novel Therapies

Juan Pablo de Rivero Vaccari^{1,2,3*}

¹ Department of Neurological Surgery and The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States, ² Center for Cognitive Neuroscience and Aging, University of Miami Miller School of Medicine, Miami, FL, United States, ³ InflamaCORE, LLC, Miami, FL, United States

The inflammasome is a key regulator of innate immunity involved in the inflammatory response to infections as well as disease through the activation of caspase-1 and the processing of the inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-18. Even though the inflammasome was first described in the context of infections, most research in recent years has focused on targeting the inflammasome as a therapeutic option in sterile inflammatory events. Recent evidence indicates a clear involvement of the inflammasome in Reproductive Biology such as infertility and preeclampsia. In this mini-review, I summarize the current findings on the inflammasome that have been described in the field of Reproductive Biology and highlight the potential that the inflammasome has as a novel therapeutic option in this field. The topics covered in this review as it pertains to the inflammasome field cover the literature published on male and female infertility, endometriosis, preeclampsia, placental inflammation, and reproductive senescence.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Even Schjenken, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Conforti, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Dana Manuela Savulescu, National Institute of Communicable Diseases (NICD), South Africa

*Correspondence:

Juan Pablo de Rivero Vaccari jderivero@med.miami.edu

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 09 September 2019 Accepted: 07 January 2020 Published: 28 January 2020

Citation:

de Rivero Vaccari JP (2020) The Inflammasome in Reproductive Biology: A Promising Target for Novel Therapies. Front. Endocrinol. 11:8. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00008 Keywords: inflammasome, fertility, inflammation, caspase-1, reproduction

THE INFLAMMASOME

The inflammasome is a multiprotein complex with a dual role, one on inflammation and the other one on cell death. The most studied role of the inflammasome involves the activation of the cysteine aspartase caspase-1, resulting in the processing of the pro-inflammatory cytokines interleukin (IL)-1 β and IL-18 (1). The most recently identified role of the inflammasome is the cell death mechanism of pyroptosis, which involves the cleavage of gasdermin-D and the release, but not activation, of IL-1 β (2). The inflammasome is comprised of three basic components: a nucleotide oligomerization domain (NOD)-like receptor (NLR) such as NLRP1, NLRP2, or NLRP3 as well as the adaptor protein known as apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase activating recruitment domain (ASC) and the inflammatory cysteine protease caspase-1 (**Figure 1**).

INITIAL STEPS IN THE FIELD OF INFLAMMASOME RESEARCH

The inflamma some was initially discovered by the late Tschopp and colleagues in 2002 as a multiprotein complex involved in the activation of caspase-1, which is responsible for activating IL-1 β and IL-18 (1). Most of the initial studies on the inflamma some started focusing on bacterial infections (3). Then these studies were further extended to the role of inflamma somes in viral (4) and fungal infections (5, 6) as well as autoimmune diseases (7). In the mid 2000s, the first studies on the inflamma some in a sterile event were carried on vitiligo (8) and central nervous system

56



injury (9). Since then, the inflammasome field has started to expand into other indications such as atherosclerosis (10), diabetes (11), nephropathies (12), liver diseases (13), aging (14, 15) as well as in the field of reproductive biology (16, 17), which extent even to the effects of obesity and the inflammatory contribution of the inflammasome to male subfertility (18).

THE INFLAMMASOME IN REPRODUCTIVE BIOLOGY

In the context of reproductive biology, the inflammasome has been studied in areas as diverse as female (19) and male infertility (16, 17), fetal growth (20), endometriosis (21), preeclampsia (22), gestational diabetes (23), perinatal depression (24), placental inflammation (25), preterm births (26), and reproductive senescence (27) (**Table 1**).

Infertility

Effective fertility requires a fine balance between proand anti-inflammatory mediators. Thus, an imbalance in the inflammatory response during fertilization and early embryogenesis dooms the process toward pregnancy failure (31). Witkin and colleagues showed that a polymorphism in the gene encoding for NLRP3 (*CIAS1*) is associated with female infertility. Interestingly, this polymorphism increased the likelihood of mycoplasma infection-associated female infertility (19). Moreover, another role for NLRP2 was also described

TABLE 1 Conditions associated with inflammasome activation in the field of
Reproductive Biology.

Condition	Findings	References
Female infertility	NLRP3 gene polymorphism associated with female infertility	(19)
Male infertility	Inflammasome inhibition improves sperm motility in spinal cord injured men	(16, 17)
Endometriosis	Inflammasome signaling proteins are elevated in the endometrium of females with recurrent pregnancy loss	(28)
Preeclampsia	The NLRP3 inflammasome contributes to the inflammatory response seen in preeclampsia	(25, 29, 30)
Preterm births	Caspase-1, ASC, and IL-1 β genes are elevated in preterm birth mice	(26)
Reproductive senescence	Inflammasome proteins are carried in EV released by female reproductive organs that reach the brain, contributing to brain inflammation	(27)

for infertility. The NLRP2 inflammasome was first described to be formed in the nervous system (32). In the context of fertility, NLRP2 regulates oocyte quality, which is involved in age-associated fertility loss (33). In addition, a role for NLRP3 in the immune response in the testes has also been described (34). In addition, in the sperm of patients with spinal cord injury, inflammasome proteins are elevated (16), and this increase in inflammasome protein expression is consistent with decrease sperm motility that is improved by inhibition of ASC (16). In a rodent model of spinal cord injury, similar findings have been recently reported (35).

Endometriosis

An abnormal imbalance between pro- and anti-inflammatory proteins in the endometrium results in recurrent miscarriages. Inflammatory proteins like tumor necrosis factor, IL-6, IL-10, and interferon- γ are dysregulated in women with recurrent pregnancy loss (36). Thus, highlighting the importance of an adequate pro- to anti-inflammatory milieu. Similarly, significant research has started to be published in the rea of the inflammasome and the endometrium (37). Accordingly, NLRP3, caspase-1, ASC, IL-1 β , and IL-18 are increased in the endometrium of women with recurrent pregnancy loss (28). Thus, future therapeutic alternatives that aim to rebalance the pro- to anti-inflammatory milieu in the endometrium should also consider the inflammasome as part of the equation.

Preeclampsia and Placental Inflammation

A disorder associated with hypertension and proteinuria starting on the 20th week of pregnancy (38), preeclampsia has a significantly heightened inflammatory response in which the inflammasome plays a contributing role (39). In regards to inflammasome regulation in preeclampsia, Weel and colleagues showed that the NLRP3 inflammasome is upregulated, and that it contributes to the damaging effects of inflammation present in preeclampsia (29), a finding that was then corroborated by Stodle et al. who showed that cholesterol and uric acid crystals activated the NLRP3 inflammasome in preeclampsia (30). A similar role for NLRP3 was suggested in a model of nanosilicainduced placental inflammation in rodents, but not for ASC (25). However, ASC is significantly increased in the amniotic fluid of women who undergo spontaneous labor at term (40). More recently, extracellular vesicles (EV) have been shown to activate the inflammasome in trophoblasts, thus promoting preeclampsia (41). Moreover, in women with anti-phospholipid syndrome, NLRP3 and ASC are responsible for placental dysfunction that increases adverse pregnancy outcomes (42). For instance, ASC specks have been detected in choriodecidual leukocytes isolated from women who underwent spontaneous labor at term (43).

In addition, exacerbated inflammation in the placenta is associated with fetal growth restriction (44), and protein levels of caspase-1 and IL-1 β were elevated in cytotrophoblasts exposed to uric acid crystals, suggesting that inflammasome activation may contribute to placental inflammation by exposure to uric acid crystals, which are known to be associated with fetal growth restriction, preeclampsia and inflammasome activation. Taken together, these findings indicate a clear role for the inflammasome in preeclampsia and placental inflammation.

Reproductive Senescence

Reproductive senescence in females is characterized by heightened inflammation, which makes females more prone to the development of certain diseases. Inflammasome proteins have been shown to be present in EV (45). Interestingly, in reproductive senescent females, EV containing a cargo of inflammasome proteins originate in the female reproductive organs such as the ovaries; EV are then transported through the bloodstream to the nervous system by crossing the blood brain barrier, resulting in inflammasome activation in the brain (27). This heightened inflammasome activation in the brain makes females more susceptible to the damaging effects of central nervous system events such as stroke.

THERAPEUTIC POTENTIAL OF THE INFLAMMASOME

As a result of inflammasome involvement in several indications affecting several organ systems, the inflammasome is wellpoised for the development of therapeutic interventions that can improve outcomes in a variety of diseases. Recently, as a result of this tremendous therapeutic potential, Big Pharma and the Biotechnology Industry have garnered special interest in licensing and developing therapeutic interventions that are meant to inhibit the inflammasome in a variety of diseases such as neurodegenerative diseases, liver diseases or gout, among others. The therapeutic potential of the inflammasome is so vast that it has been proven difficult to decide what indication to choose for clinical trials targeting the inflammasome.

Testing therapeutic interventions aimed at inhibiting inflammasome activation is of utmost importance since the ultimate role should be to gain a better mechanistic understanding so that efficient and more specific therapies can be eventually tested in patients. In the field of Reproductive Biology, miR-520c-3p has been shown to inhibit the NLRP3 inflammasome in preeclampsia (46). In addition, the NLRP3 inhibitor MCC950 has been shown to reduce preterm birth by 35.7% and neonatal mortality by 26.7% (47). Similarly, the NLRP3 inflammasome inhibitor glibenclamide also decreases inflammasome activation in human trophoblasts, thus highlighting the therapeutic potential of the NLRP3 inflammasome for the treatment of placental disorders (22).

Moreover, other inflammasomes such as the NLRP1 and AIM2 inflammasomes are also promising targets in this field. For instance, omega-3 fatty acids inhibit NLRP1 and AIM2 inflammasome activation and trophoblast cathepsin S release into the cytosol from lysosomes, thus reducing preterm birth associated with infection and inflammation (48).

Taken together, these findings in the area of Reproductive Biology highlight the important role of the inflammasome, and indicate that therapeutic targeting of the inflammasome is a viable option to treat reproduction-related problems. Current evidence points at NLRP1, NRLP2, NLRP3, AIM2, caspase-1, ASC, and IL-1 β as potential targets for therapeutic intervention in this field.

FUTURE DIRECTIONS AND CONCLUSIONS

Inflammasome research in the field of Reproductive Biology needs to focus on more mechanistic insights beyond understanding the expression of inflammasome signaling proteins like caspase-1, ASC, and IL-1 β (Figure 1). Future research should take a deeper look into the potential mechanisms of inflammasome activation such as extracellular potassium levels (22); the role of oxidative stress on inflammasome activation (49, 50); or whether the inflammasome-mediated process of pyroptosis, or the non-canonical inflammasome pathways, involving caspase-11 in rodents (caspase-4/5 in humans), or caspase-8 are involved in conditions associated with reproduction. To this extent, a recent article has been published showing that hypoxia and endoplasmic reticulum stress activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in primary human trophoblasts, resulting in increased expression of Thioredoxin-interacting protein (TXNIP), a key regulator of inflammasome activation (51). Moreover, these findings were consistent with increased cleavage of caspase-1 and GSDM-D, thus indicating that placental pyroptosis contributes to the systemic release of factors involved in preeclampsia (52).

In conclusion, whether it involves female or male reproductive biology, the data published so far indicate that it is critical to maintain an adequate ratio of pro-inflammatory to antiinflammatory proteins to increase the possibility of successful reproduction. Thus, targeting the inflammasome to decrease the pro-inflammatory environment is a promising approach, but further research in the area of biomarkers will be useful in gaining a better understanding as to what are the right protein concentrations for relevant pro-inflammatory and anti-inflammatory markers that can be used to help patients with reproductive problems. For instance, one of such studies has been carried looking at increased ASC levels in amniotic fluid obtained from women with clinical chorioamnionitis at term (53). Therefore, further research should focus on mechanistic insights with the goal of developing better therapies and on biomarkers with the goal of diagnosis and monitoring patients once those treatments are tested in clinical trials or delivered to patients in the clinical setting.

REFERENCES

- Martinon F, Burns K, Tschopp J. The inflammasome: a molecular platform triggering activation of inflammatory caspases and processing of proIL-beta. *Mol Cell.* (2002) 10:417–26. doi: 10.1016/S1097-2765(02)00599-3
- He WT, Wan H, Hu L, Chen P, Wang X, Huang Z, et al. Gasdermin D is an executor of pyroptosis and required for interleukin-1beta secretion. *Cell Res.* (2015) 25:1285–98. doi: 10.1038/cr.2015.139
- Martinon F, Agostini L, Meylan E, Tschopp J. Identification of bacterial muramyl dipeptide as activator of the NALP3/cryopyrin inflammasome. *Curr Biol.* (2004) 14:1929–34. doi: 10.1016/j.cub.2004.10.027
- Johnston JB, Barrett JW, Nazarian SH, Goodwin M, Ricciuto D, Wang G, et al. A poxvirus-encoded pyrin domain protein interacts with ASC-1 to inhibit host inflammatory and apoptotic responses to infection. *Immunity.* (2005) 23:587–98. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2005.10.003
- Hise AG, Tomalka J, Ganesan S, Patel K, Hall BA, Brown GD, et al. An essential role for the NLRP3 inflammasome in host defense against the human fungal pathogen *Candida albicans. Cell Host Microbe.* (2009) 5:487–97. doi: 10.1016/j.chom.2009.05.002
- Lev-Sagie A, Prus D, Linhares IM, Lavy Y, Ledger WJ, Witkin SS. Polymorphism in a gene coding for the inflammasome component NALP3 and recurrent vulvovaginal candidiasis in women with vulvar vestibulitis syndrome. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2009) 200:303.e301–6. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2008.10.039
- Agostini L, Martinon F, Burns K, Mcdermott MF, Hawkins PN, Tschopp J. NALP3 forms an IL-1beta-processing inflammasome with increased activity in Muckle-Wells autoinflammatory disorder. *Immunity.* (2004) 20:319–25. doi: 10.1016/S1074-7613(04)00046-9
- Taieb A. NALP1 and the inflammasomes: challenging our perception of vitiligo and vitiligo-related autoimmune disorders. *Pigment Cell Res.* (2007) 20:260–2. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0749.2007.00393.x
- De Rivero Vaccari JP, Lotocki G, Marcillo AE, Dietrich WD, Keane RW. A molecular platform in neurons regulates inflammation after spinal cord injury. J Neurosci. (2008) 28:3404–14. doi: 10.1523/JNEUROSCI.0157-08.2008
- Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, et al. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature*. (2010) 464:1357–61. doi: 10.1038/nature08938
- Pontillo A, Brandao L, Guimaraes R, Segat L, Araujo J, Crovella S. Two SNPs in NLRP3 gene are involved in the predisposition to type-1 diabetes and celiac disease in a pediatric population from northeast Brazil. *Autoimmunity*. (2010) 43:583–9. doi: 10.3109/08916930903540432
- Vilaysane A, Chun J, Seamone ME, Wang W, Chin R, Hirota S, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome promotes renal inflammation and contributes to CKD. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2010) 21:1732–44. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2010 020143
- Imaeda AB, Watanabe A, Sohail MA, Mahmood S, Mohamadnejad M, Sutterwala FS, et al. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in mice is dependent on Tlr9 and the Nalp3 inflammasome. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:305–14. doi: 10.1172/JCI35958
- Mawhinney LJ, De Rivero Vaccari JP, Dale GA, Keane RW, Bramlett HM. Heightened inflammasome activation is linked to age-related cognitive impairment in Fischer 344 rats. *BMC Neurosci.* (2011) 12:123. doi: 10.1186/1471-2202-12-123

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JR contributed fully to the writing of this article.

FUNDING

This work was supported by the 2019 Stanley J. Glaser Foundation Research Award to JR and The Miami Project to Cure Paralysis.

- Mejias NH, Martinez CC, Stephens ME, De Rivero Vaccari JP. Contribution of the inflammasome to inflammaging. J Inflamm. (2018) 15:23. doi: 10.1186/s12950-018-0198-3
- Ibrahim E, Castle SM, Aballa TC, Keane RW, De Rivero Vaccari JP, Lynne CM, et al. Neutralization of ASC improves sperm motility in men with spinal cord injury. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:2368–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu230
- 17. Ibrahim E, Lynne CM, Brackett NL. Male fertility following spinal cord injury: an update. *Andrology*. (2016) 4:13–26. doi: 10.1111/andr.12119
- Fan W, Xu Y, Liu Y, Zhang Z, Lu L, Ding Z. Obesity or overweight, a chronic inflammatory status in male reproductive system, leads to mice and human subfertility. *Front Physiol.* (2017) 8:1117. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2017.01117
- Witkin SS, Bierhals K, Linhares I, Normand N, Dieterle S, Neuer A. Genetic polymorphism in an inflammasome component, cervical mycoplasma detection and female infertility in women undergoing *in vitro* fertilization. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 84:171–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.11.005
- Brien ME, Duval C, Palacios J, Boufaied I, Hudon-Thibeault AA, Nadeau-Vallee M, et al. Uric acid crystals induce placental inflammation and alter trophoblast function via an IL-1-dependent pathway: implications for fetal growth restriction. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:443–51. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601179
- Bullon P, Navarro JM. Inflammasome as a key pathogenic mechanism in endometriosis. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2017) 18:997–1002. doi: 10.2174/1389450117666160709013850
- Tamura K, Ishikawa G, Yoshie M, Ohneda W, Nakai A, Takeshita T, et al. Glibenclamide inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated IL-1beta secretion in human trophoblasts. *J Pharmacol Sci.* (2017) 135:89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jphs.2017.09.032
- Lappas M. Activation of inflammasomes in adipose tissue of women with gestational diabetes. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2014) 382:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.09.011
- Leff-Gelman P, Mancilla-Herrera I, Flores-Ramos M, Cruz-Fuentes C, Reyes-Grajeda JP, Garcia-Cuetara Mdel P, et al. The immune system and the role of inflammation in perinatal depression. *Neurosci Bull.* (2016) 32:398–420. doi: 10.1007/s12264-016-0048-3
- Shirasuna K, Usui F, Karasawa T, Kimura H, Kawashima A, Mizukami H, et al. Nanosilica-induced placental inflammation and pregnancy complications: different roles of the inflammasome components NLRP3 and ASC. *Nanotoxicology.* (2015) 9:554–67. doi: 10.3109/17435390.2014.956156
- Winship A, Dimitriadis E. Interleukin-11 induces preterm birth and modulates decidual inflammasome gene expression in mice. *Placenta*. (2017) 50:99–101. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2017.01.006
- Raval AP, Martinez CC, Mejias NH, De Rivero Vaccari JP. Sexual dimorphism in inflammasome-containing extracellular vesicles and the regulation of innate immunity in the brain of reproductive senescent females. *Neurochem Int.* (2019) 127:29–37. doi: 10.1016/j.neuint.2018.11.018
- D'ippolito S, Tersigni C, Marana R, Di Nicuolo F, Gaglione R, Rossi ED, et al. Inflammosome in the human endometrium: further step in the evaluation of the "maternal side". *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105:111–8.e111-4. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.09.027
- Weel IC, Romao-Veiga M, Matias ML, Fioratti EG, Peracoli JC, Borges VT, et al. Increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome in placentas from pregnant women with severe preeclampsia. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 123:40–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.09.002

- Stodle GS, Silva GB, Tangeras LH, Gierman LM, Nervik I, Dahlberg UE, et al. Placental inflammation in pre-eclampsia by Nod-like receptor protein (NLRP)3 inflammasome activation in trophoblasts. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2018) 193:84–94. doi: 10.1111/cei.13130
- Dahm-Kahler P, Ghahremani M, Lind AK, Sundfeldt K, Brannstrom M. Monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1), its receptor, and macrophages in the perifollicular stroma during the human ovulatory process. *Fertil Steril.* (2009) 91:231–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1330
- Minkiewicz J, De Rivero Vaccari JP, Keane RW. Human astrocytes express a novel NLRP2 inflammasome. *Glia.* (2013) 61:1113–21. doi: 10.1002/glia.22499
- Kuchmiy AA, D'hont J, Hochepied T, Lamkanfi M. NLRP2 controls age-associated maternal fertility. J Exp Med. (2016) 213:2851–60. doi: 10.1084/jem.20160900
- Walenta L, Schmid N, Schwarzer JU, Kohn FM, Urbanski HF, Behr R, et al. NLRP3 in somatic non-immune cells of rodent and primate testes. *Reproduction.* (2018) 156:231–8. doi: 10.1530/REP-18-0111
- 35. Nikmehr B, Bazrafkan M, Hassanzadeh G, Shahverdi A, Sadighi Gilani MA, Kiani S, et al. The correlation of gene expression of inflammasome indicators and impaired fertility in rat model of spinal cord injury: a time course study. *Urol J.* (2017) 14:5057–63. doi: 10.22037/uj.v14i6.4085
- 36. Banerjee P, Jana SK, Pasricha P, Ghosh S, Chakravarty B, Chaudhury K. Proinflammatory cytokines induced altered expression of cyclooxygenase-2 gene results in unreceptive endometrium in women with idiopathic recurrent spontaneous miscarriage. *Fertil Steril.* (2013) 99:179–87. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.08.034
- Di Nicuolo F, Specchia M, Trentavizi L, Pontecorvi A, Scambia G, Di Simone N. An emerging role of endometrial inflammasome in reproduction: new therapeutic approaches. *Protein Pept Lett.* (2018) 25:455– 62. doi: 10.2174/0929866525666180412160045
- De Oliveira LG, Karumanchi A, Sass N. Preeclampsia: oxidative stress, inflammation and endothelial dysfunction. *Rev Bras Ginecol Obstet.* (2010) 32:609–16. doi: 10.1590/S0100-72032010001200008
- Cheng SB, Sharma S. Preeclampsia and health risks later in life: an immunological link. Semin Immunopathol. (2016) 38:699–708. doi: 10.1007/s00281-016-0579-8
- Panaitescu B, Romero R, Gomez-Lopez N, Xu Y, Leng Y, Maymon E, et al. *In vivo* evidence of inflammasome activation during spontaneous labor at term. *J Matern Fetal Neonatal Med.* (2019) 32:1978–91. doi: 10.1080/14767058.2017.1422714
- Kohli S, Ranjan S, Hoffmann J, Kashif M, Daniel EA, Al-Dabet MM, et al. Maternal extracellular vesicles and platelets promote preeclampsia via inflammasome activation in trophoblasts. *Blood.* (2016) 128:2153–64. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-705434
- 42. Mulla MJ, Salmon JE, Chamley LW, Brosens JJ, Boeras CM, Kavathas PB, et al. A role for uric acid and the Nalp3 inflammasome in antiphospholipid antibody-induced IL-1beta production by human first trimester trophoblast. *PLoS ONE.* (2013) 8:e65237. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0065237
- Gomez-Lopez N, Romero R, Xu Y, Garcia-Flores V, Leng Y, Panaitescu B, et al. Inflammasome assembly in the chorioamniotic membranes during spontaneous labor at term. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 77:e12648. doi: 10.1111/aji.12648

- Hulthen Varli I, Petersson K, Kublickas M, Papadogiannakis N. Both acute and chronic placental inflammation are overrepresented in term stillbirths: a case-control study. *Infect Dis Obstet Gynecol.* (2012) 2012:293867. doi: 10.1155/2012/293867
- De Rivero Vaccari JP, Brand F III, Adamczak S, Lee SW, Perez-Barcena J, Wang MY, et al. Exosome-mediated inflammasome signaling after central nervous system injury. J Neurochem. (2016) 136(Suppl. 1):39–48. doi: 10.1111/jnc.13036
- 46. Liu Z, Zhao X, Shan H, Gao H, Wang P. microRNA-520c-3p suppresses NLRP3 inflammasome activation and inflammatory cascade in preeclampsia by downregulating NLRP3. *Inflamm Res.* (2019) 68:643–54. doi: 10.1007/s00011-019-01246-8
- Gomez-Lopez N, Romero R, Garcia-Flores V, Leng Y, Miller D, Hassan SS, et al. Inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome can prevent sterile intra-amniotic inflammation, preterm labor/birth, and adverse neonatal outcomesdagger. *Biol Reprod.* (2019) 100:1306–18. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ioy264
- Chen CY, Chen CY, Liu CC, Chen CP. Omega-3 polyunsaturated fatty acids reduce preterm labor by inhibiting trophoblast cathepsin S and inflammasome activation. *Clin Sci.* (2018) 132:2221–39. doi: 10.1042/CS20180796
- 49. Shirasuna K, Takano H, Seno K, Ohtsu A, Karasawa T, Takahashi M, et al. Palmitic acid induces interleukin-1beta secretion via NLRP3 inflammasomes and inflammatory responses through ROS production in human placental cells. J Reprod Immunol. (2016) 116:104–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.06.001
- Nunes PR, Peracoli MTS, Romao-Veiga M, Matias ML, Ribeiro VR, Da Costa Fernandes CJ, et al. Hydrogen peroxide-mediated oxidative stress induces inflammasome activation in term human placental explants. *Pregnancy Hypertens*. (2018) 14:29–36. doi: 10.1016/j.preghy.2018.07.006
- Yang Y, Li J, Han TL, Zhou X, Qi H, Baker PN, et al. Endoplasmic reticulum stress may activate NLRP3 inflammasomes via TXNIP in preeclampsia. *Cell Tissue Res.* (2019). doi: 10.1007/s00441-019-03104-9. [Epub ahead of print].
- 52. Cheng SB, Nakashima A, Huber WJ, Davis S, Banerjee S, Huang Z, et al. Pyroptosis is a critical inflammatory pathway in the placenta from early onset preeclampsia and in human trophoblasts exposed to hypoxia and endoplasmic reticulum stressors. *Cell Death Dis.* (2019) 10:927. doi: 10.1038/s41419-019-2162-4
- Gomez-Lopez N, Romero R, Maymon E, Kusanovic JP, Panaitescu B, Miller D, et al. Clinical chorioamnionitis at term IX: *in vivo* evidence of intra-amniotic inflammasome activation. *J Perinat Med.* (2019) 47:276–87. doi: 10.1515/jpm-2018-0271

Conflict of Interest: JR is a co-founder and managing member of InflamaCORE, LLC and has licensed patents on inflammasome proteins as biomarkers of injury and disease as well as on targeting inflammasome proteins for therapeutic purposes. JR is a Scientific Advisory Board Member for ZyVersa Therapeutics.

Copyright © 2020 de Rivero Vaccari. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Regulation of Inflammation Pathways and Inflammasome by Sex Steroid Hormones in Endometriosis

Elizabeth García-Gómez^{1*}, Edgar Ricardo Vázquez-Martínez², Christian Reyes-Mayoral³, Oliver Paul Cruz-Orozco³, Ignacio Camacho-Arroyo² and Marco Cerbón²

¹ Unidad de Investigación en Reproducción Humana, Consejo Nacional de Ciencia y Tecnología (CONACyT)-Instituto Nacional de Perinatología, Mexico City, Mexico, ² Unidad de Investigación en Reproducción Humana, Instituto Nacional de Perinatología-Facultad de Química, Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México, Mexico City, Mexico, ³ Departamento de Ginecología, Instituto Nacional de Perinatología, Mexico City, Mexico

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Hsun Ming Chang, University of British Columbia, Canada

Reviewed by:

Felice Petraglia, University of Florence, Italy Tae Hoon Kim, Michigan State University, United States

*Correspondence: Elizabeth García-Gómez egarciag1982@gmail.com

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 13 September 2019 Accepted: 23 December 2019 Published: 29 January 2020

Citation:

García-Gómez E, Vázquez-Martínez ER, Reyes-Mayoral C, Cruz-Orozco OP, Camacho-Arroyo I and Cerbón M (2020) Regulation of Inflammation Pathways and Inflammasome by Sex Steroid Hormones in Endometriosis. Front. Endocrinol. 10:935. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00935

Endometriosis is a gynecological disorder characterized by the growth of endometrial tissue (glands and stroma) outside the uterus, mainly in the peritoneal cavity, ovaries, and intestines. This condition shows estrogen dependency and progesterone resistance, and it has been associated with chronic inflammation, severe pain, and infertility, which negatively affect the quality of life in reproductive women. The molecular mechanisms involved in the pathogenesis of endometriosis are not completely understood; however, inflammation plays a key role in the pathophysiology of the disease, mainly by altering the function of immune cells (macrophages, natural killer, and T cells) and increasing levels of pro-inflammatory mediators in the peritoneal cavity, endometrium, and blood. These immune alterations inhibit apoptotic pathways and promote adhesion and proliferation of endometriotic cells, as well as angiogenesis and neurogenesis in endometriotic lesions. It has been demonstrated that hormonal alterations in endometriosis are related to the inflammatory unbalance in this disease. Particularly, steroid hormones (mainly estradiol) promote the expression and release of pro-inflammatory factors. Excessive inflammation in endometriosis contributes to changes of hormonal regulation by modulating sex steroid receptors expression and increasing aromatase activity. In addition, dysregulation of the inflammasome pathway, mediated by an alteration of cellular responses to steroid hormones, participates in disease progression through preventing cell death, promoting adhesion, invasion, and cell proliferation. Furthermore, inflammation is involved in endometriosis-associated infertility, which alters endometrium receptivity by impairing biochemical responses and decidualization. The purpose of this review is to present current research about the role of inflammasome in the pathogenesis of endometriosis as well as the molecular role of sex hormones in the inflammatory responses in endometriosis.

Keywords: endometriosis, inflammation, pro-inflammatory factors, inflammasome, sex steroid hormones, progesterone receptor, estrogen receptor, bacteria

INTRODUCTION

Endometriosis is a multifaceted gynecological condition with an estimated prevalence of $\sim 10-15\%$ of the general population (1). It is histologically defined as the presence of glands and stroma of endometrial tissue outside the uterus, mainly in the peritoneal cavity and ovaries (2–4). Reports have shown the location of these lesions in sub-peritoneal fat, recto-vaginal or recto-uterine spaces, bowel, bladder, pelvic nerves, uterosacral ligaments, ureters, anterior abdominal wall, as well as abdominal skin, diaphragm, pleura, lungs, pericardium, and brain, although these locations are usually less frequent than in pelvic structures (4–6).

Endometriotic lesions include superficial lesions in peritoneum and serosa, up to ovarian cysts (endometriomas), deep nodules, and severe adhesions (7). Pelvic endometriotic lesions have been systematically classified into superficial implants (peritoneum and ovarian cysts) and deep nodules (parametrium, Douglas pouch, the anterior wall of the rectum, vaginal wall, vesicouterine space, detrusor muscle of the bladder, ureters, and sigmoid colon) (5). The most widely used staging system of endometriosis was defined by the American Society for Reproductive Medicine (ASRM) in 1997, which classifies endometriosis severity into four different stages (I–IV), from minimal to severe, according to the score obtained from the size of the endometrial implants, involved pelvic structures, and spread of the lesions (7).

Endometriosis is the more frequent cause of chronic and cyclic pelvic pain in reproductive-age women, even occurring in adolescents and menopausal women (7); endometriosis encompasses different pain classes, including dysmenorrhea, dyspareunia, dysuria, and dyschezia (8, 9). Especially in cases of deep endometriosis, the pain is due to an invasion of endometrial cells and pro-inflammatory mediators on the nerve fibers, which trigger a disorder of nociceptive modulation of pain increasing the intensity of the neuronal signal toward the somatosensory cerebral cortex (10). Infertility is another consequence of endometriosis, by reducing implantation capacity, increasing risk of pregnancy loss and physical obstruction imposed by endometriotic lesions (11). Moreover, endometriosis symptoms negatively influence women's life quality by affecting their productivity, social life, and emotional health (12).

Treatment for endometriosis usually includes hormonal management and surgical elimination of lesions (10). Hormonal treatment consists of suppression of growth lesions and pain reduction by abolishing ovulation and menstruation through the administration of progestins, oral contraceptives, and gonadotropin-releasing hormone agonists (13). Surgical elimination is frequently made by laparoscopy, the gold standard for diagnosis and treatment, by which peritoneal implants, deep nodules, and ovarian cysts are removed; moreover, this technique is also performed for more radical proceedings as hysterectomy (1, 14). However, there is not an actual cure for the disease, and lesions and pain tend to reappear after treatments (15); therefore, it is important to continue the development of cuttingedge research focused on studying the underlying mechanisms involved in endometriosis pathophysiology.

There are several and not fully confirmed theories that describe endometriosis pathogenesis. The more accepted theory is the origin of lesions from retrograde menstruation, which establishes that during menstruation, residual endometrial tissue reaches the pelvic cavity, by traveling through fallopian tubes, due to uterine contraction disorders (3). This phenomenon is observed in 90% of women in reproductive age; however, it does not explain why only 10% of them develop endometriosis or the presence of lesions in more distal locations (14). Among other proposed theories are the coelomic metaplasia and the theory of Müllerian remnant; the first one involves the transformation of healthy peritoneal tissue into ectopic endometrial tissue; this theory is based on the fact that peritoneal and endometrial cells have a common origin from coelomic epithelium. In contrast, vascular and lymphatic metastasis suggests that reminiscent endometrial tissue travel through the blood and lymphatic vessels to reach ectopic locations; on the other hand, the theory of Müllerian remnant argues that cellular debris from embryonic Müllerian duct transform into endometriotic tissue by the influence of sex hormones rising at the beginning of puberty (3). There are efforts to unify the existent theories (16); however, the precise mechanisms underlying origin and development of endometriosis remain mainly unknown.

At a cellular level, the main alterations in endometriosis are characterized by cell proliferation, inflammation, and angiogenesis, which are closely connected to each other and are caused by an alteration in sex hormonal signaling, that depend on the sustained activation of estradiol (E2)dependent pathways and the disruption of those dependent on progesterone (P4), through alteration of activity of their cognate receptors. This alteration in the activity of hormone receptors converges in a distinctive phenotype of resistance to progesterone and of estrogen dependence. A recent and detailed revision about the role of P4 and E2 in endometriosis describes the normal molecular hormonal regulation of the physiology of endometrium and its alterations in endometriosis (17) and highlights inflammation as a known key contributor in the pathophysiology of endometriosis, which is strongly associated with chronic pelvic pain and defects in endometrial receptivity and the decidualization process (17, 18). In fact, endometriosis is frequently considered as an inflammatory disease. Therefore, this review presents the current research about the role of inflammation and the inflammasome in the pathogenesis of endometriosis, as well as a discussion about the molecular mechanisms involved in the alteration of immune and inflammatory responses by female steroid hormones in this disease.

PATHOGENESIS OF ENDOMETRIOSIS: ALTERED PATHWAYS

Hormonal imbalance in endometriosis is the main contributor in the alterations of multiple cellular functions such as proliferation, adhesion, and differentiation, as well as evasion of immune clearance, neurogenesis, angiogenesis, pain generation, metabolism, and inflammation (3). This imbalance is due

to an increased expression of aromatase (CYP19A1) (19) and a decreased expression of progesterone-regulated 17βhydroxysteroid dehydrogenase (17 β -HSD) (20), which increases bioavailable levels of E2 in ovaries, peripheral tissue, and endometriotic lesions (21). Besides enzymatic and hormonal changes, the activity of nuclear receptors is also modified, through dysregulation of their expression at both mRNA and protein levels (22, 23). In the case of estrogen receptors (ER), there is an increase of isotype ER- β (*ESR2*) expression associated with hypomethylation of its promoter (24), and a significant reduction of ER- α (ESR1) expression by hypermethylation of its promoter and through direct inhibition by ER-β. In contrast, both progesterone receptor isoforms PR-A and PR-B (PRG) show a decreased expression; in particular, PR-B undergoes a drastic downregulation (mRNA and protein levels), which is mainly due to hypermethylation of the PR-B promoter (25), therefore affecting downstream hormone target genes (26).

The cellular and molecular processes involved in the development of endometriosis are only partially described. Considering retrograde menstruation as the potential beginning of endometriosis, it has been proposed that viable glandular and stromal endometrial cells contained in the menstrual debris reach the peritoneal cavity and are able to adhere to the peritoneum by interaction of cell surface receptors such as integrins, with membrane adhesion molecules of extracellular matrix, like fibronectin and laminin (27, 28). Besides, this debris contains stem cells that could also be responsible for the progress of endometriosis, by differentiating in endometrial cells that are unable to decidualize and that possess a phenotype of progesterone resistance and immune function alteration (29).

Furthermore, it has been shown that after initial adhesion, endometriotic cells invade peritoneum, possibly through the action of matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) that degrade the basal lamina containing laminin, fibronectin, and collagen, which allows the remodeling of surrounding tissue (30). Additionally, reports have demonstrated that E2, through the increased activity of ER-β, promotes the cellular survival, by impairing tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF- α)-mediated apoptosis (31), increasing cellular proliferation with the participation of growth factor signaling, and favoring epithelial-mesenchymal transition that contributes to the production of collagen and formation of fibrosis (7). Also, ER- β induces the proliferation and survival of endometriotic cells through the increase of mRNA and protein levels of Ras-like estrogen-regulated growth inhibitor (RERG) that induces ribosomal biogenesis, while significantly stimulating expression of glucocorticoid-regulated kinase (SGK1) that has an anti-apoptotic role (32, 33). Growth factors such as hepatocyte growth factor (HGF), epidermal growth factor (EGF), plateletderived growth factor (PDGF), insulin-like growth factors (IGF), and basic fibroblast growth factor (BFGF) also participate in the progression of endometriotic lesion through their strong mitogenic activity (3).

Additionally, studies have shown that an immunologically permissive environment in the peritoneum (34) is involved in endometriosis pathogenesis. Impaired inflammatory cell function of macrophages with a reduced phagocytic activity (35) and a resistance of endometriotic tissue to be lysed by natural killer cells (NKs) (36) allow the evasion of clearance by the immune system.

Once invasion takes place, angiogenesis and neurogenesis are activated coordinately. Angiogenesis allows the maintenance of lesions, supplying them with functional blood vessels that form a dense vascularization. In this process, diverse growth and pro-angiogenic factors play important roles, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) that is regulated by E2 and responds to an inflammatory microenvironment, promoting endothelial cell proliferation (37, 38). Neurogenesis is linked to both inflammatory response and angiogenesis and, along with an imbalance in sensory and sympathetic innervation, contributes to the growth of nerve fibers, subsequent peripheral neuroinflammation, and generation of chronic pain (39). One of the postulated consequences of immune cell activation in the endometriosis microenvironment is the production of cytokines, growth factors, and eicosanoids that simultaneously stimulate lesion innervation and neovascularization through a coordinated mechanism that is known as neuroangiogenesis (40).

Concerning the molecular origin of these alterations, there is an increasing evidence of genetic and epigenetic changes in epithelial and stromal cells, respectively, both in ectopic and eutopic endometrial tissue compared to healthy endometrium. This changes influence of all aspects in the pathophysiology of endometriosis, by modifying the expression of essential components of cellular and biochemical pathways compromised in endometriosis, including the expression of ER and PR genes, and can explain associated inheritance and predisposition to present the disease (41).

Some genetic variants associated with endometriosis risk have been linked to chromosomic regions 7p15.2 and 10q26 by genetic linkage studies. These regions contain CYP2C19 (cytochrome P450 2C19), INHBA (inhibin subunit beta A), SFRP4 (secreted frizzled-related protein 4), and HOXA10 (homeobox A10) genes (42). On the other hand, genome-wide association studies have shown 14 genetic loci associated with endometriosis, which are involved in alterations of winglessrelated integration site protein (WNT), mitogen-activated protein kinase (MAPK), and signal transducer and activator of transcription 3 (STAT3) signaling (7). Remarkably, cancer driver mutations have been identified in ARID1A, PIK3CA, KRAS, and PPP2R1A genes in epithelial cells of endometriotic tissue; however, it has not yet been demonstrated that these changes originate malignant transformation from endometriotic lesions (43).

Different transcriptomic alterations have been detected in endometriosis patients; for example, by using cDNA microarray analysis specific genes that mainly encode components of the immune system and inflammatory pathways, proteins involved in cell adhesion and remodeling of the extracellular matrix as well components of signal transduction pathways were found differentially expressed in ectopic endometrium when compared to eutopic endometrium; some altered genes are those that encode phospholipase A2 group IIA (PLA2 IIA), PLA2 group V (PLA2V), fatty acid-binding protein 4 (FABP4), prostacyclin synthase (PGIS), complement component 7, claudin 11, heptoglobin, some integrins, and tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases 1 and 2 (TIMP-1 and TIMP-2) (44). Furthermore, next-generation sequencing analysis of eutopic endometrium transcriptome has shown abnormalities in comparison with endometrium from healthy women, demonstrating differential expression of genes involved in extracellular matrix remodeling, angiogenesis, cell proliferation and differentiation, such as matrix metallopeptidase 11 (MMP-11), dual specific phosphatase 1 (DUSP1), Fos proto-oncogene (FOS), serpin family E member 1 (SERPINE1), and adenosine deaminase 2 (ADA2) (45).

The regulation of gene expression by epigenetic mechanisms encompasses DNA methylation, post-translational modifications of histones, non-coding RNAs (mainly microRNAs), among others (46). The role of epigenetic mechanisms in the pathogenesis of endometriosis has been recently explored and reviewed (47). Genome-wide DNA methylation studies have shown that endometriotic lesions and eutopic endometrium display an altered epigenetic program compared with endometrial tissue from women without the disease, which in turn has been associated with an altered expression profile in several genes involved in the pathogenesis of endometriosis (29, 47-49). Particularly, an increase in the content of DNA methylation has been reported in the promoter and coding region of GATA2 gene, and the promoter of ESR1 and PGR genes in endometriotic cells in relation to endometrial cells, whereas GATA6, ESR2, and SF1 genes are hypomethylated in endometriotic cells (24, 25, 50, 51). These alterations were associated with the corresponding changes in gene expression, which partly explains the altered progesterone signaling, progesterone resistance, increased inflammation, and the excessive estradiol production observed in this disease (47). Moreover, it has been suggested that histone acetylation and methylation are also involved in the pathogenesis of endometriosis, since alterations in those post-translational modifications have been associated with the presence of the disease (52).

In spite of being considered a "benign" disease, the complexity of endometriosis is very clear. Its pathogenesis is associated with different molecular and cellular alterations in endometriotic tissue and the surrounding microenvironment; these modifications are closely related to each other and form a complex positive feedback loop, which indicates that probably there is not only one mechanism that originates and influences their pathogenesis. Components of the molecular mechanisms involved in endometriosis pathophysiology show high heterogeneity between patients, notwithstanding that they are analyzed in populations as homogeneous as possible. Indeed, great recent advances in the knowledge about the disease have been made; however, there is still a gap in the information that allows the identification of the key pathway or pathways that start the appearance of endometriotic lesions. According to recent findings, we consider that the phenomenon where all mechanisms converged is the chronic inflammation, which is present in all the clinical manifestations of this gynecological disorder, without forgetting that it is subject to a fine hormonal regulation. For that reason, in the next sections, we described main cellular and molecular alterations of the immune response in endometriosis.

ALTERATION OF INFLAMMATORY FUNCTIONS IN ENDOMETRIOSIS

Inflammation is the main molecular and cellular process involved in the pathophysiology of endometriosis, causing pain, tissue remodeling, lesion formation, fibrosis, and infertility (6). Aberrant production and secretion of immune mediators like cytokines, prostaglandins, and metalloproteinases, as well as alteration of activity and infiltration of immune cells in sites of lesion and peritoneal cavity are some changes involved in this disrupted response (3, 53).

The interaction between immune and hormonal systems considerably impacts endometriosis pathogenesis and development (14). Hormonal signaling differentially regulates immune response; P4 is known by its anti-inflammatory capacity, mediated mainly through PR-B, which overcomes nuclear factor kappa-light-chain-enhancer of active B cells $(NF-\kappa B)$ signaling (54). On the other hand, E2 has a noteworthy role in the promotion of inflammation, by inducing the secretion of cytokines and prostaglandins from peritoneal macrophages (55) by action of ER- β (23), while ER- α has a dual role, with both anti- and pro-inflammatory effects (56). However, in endometriosis, there is an imbalance in the functions of sex steroid hormones, with an important role of estrogens in the exacerbated pro-inflammatory state of endometriosis. Changes induced by sex steroid hormones through their cognate receptors at the immune and inflammatory levels are described below. Figure 1 shows a schematic model that resumes the mechanisms involved in regulation of inflammation in endometriosis.

Alteration of Immune Cell Function

Inflammation in endometriosis is generally attributed to the recruitment of macrophages and other activated leukocytes from bone marrow to the developing endometriotic lesions and eutopic endometrium, these cells are attracted by chemokines synthesized and released *in situ*. In the endometriotic lesions, immune cells secrete elevated levels of pro-inflammatory cytokines, which in turn stimulate the production of diverse molecules such as chemokines, and growth factors that sustain an inflammatory microenvironment and the remodeling of the ectopic tissue (40). This tissue also has the capacity of releasing pro-inflammatory factors, creating a positive feedback loop that maintains the chronic inflammation state (57).

Macrophages are the first defense line of the immune system, by removing pathogens through phagocytosis and cell debris through cytokine secretion (58). An elevated number of macrophages are found in endometriosis patients during all phases of the menstrual cycle (59). Interleukin-8 (IL-8), C-C chemokine regulated on activation normal T cell expressed and secreted (RANTES, or CCL5), as well as monocyte chemotactic protein-1 (MCP-1, or CCL2) have been found in peritoneal fluid mainly functioning as chemoattractants of recruited macrophages (60–63). As a result, peritoneal macrophages from



FIGURE 1 Inflammatory mechanisms involved in endometriosis. An overview about the molecular mechanisms involved in the adhesion, survival, proliferation, inflammation, and neuroangiogenesis of endometriotic lesions. (A) According to the most accepted hypothesis of endometriosis origin, stromal and epithelial cells from shed endometrial tissue reach ovaries or peritoneal cavity by retrograde efflux during menstruation. The developing endometriotic lesion stimulates angiogenesis and nerve development and secretes chemoattractant molecules recruiting high numbers of macrophages (showed in blue) and natural killer cells (indicated in green) with reduced phagocytic and cytolytic activity, respectively. (B) Alterations in DNA methylation lead to the growth and maintenance of endometriotic lesions by increasing the expression of estrogen receptor β (ER- β) and reducing progesterone receptor (PR) expression. Overexpressed ER- β induces the expression of genes that encode several pro-inflammatory molecules, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, IL-17, TNF- α , and COX2; some of them, in turn, can stimulate the production of other immune molecules (depicted as blue arrows). COX2 promotes an increase of the synthesis of prostaglandin E2 (PGE₂), and PGE₂ induces aromatase activity (CYP19A1), leading to E2 increased levels. E2 elevated levels are sustained by reduced expression of 17 β -HSD, an enzyme that catalyzes the conversion of E2 to estrone (E1), and that is induced by PR (not shown). In addition, ER- β interacts with some inflammasome components such as NLRP3 sensor and caspase 1 (Cas1) to activate IL-1 β , and also interacts with apoptosis signal-regulating kinase-1 (ASK-1) to reduce its activity and hence inhibits TNF- α -mediated apoptosis. On the other hand, the induction of genes involved in the inflammatory response in endometriosis is also mediated by NF- κ B activation, through the TLR4 interaction with *E. coli* LPS, or possibly through other microbial metabolites associated with infections or dysbiosis,

endometriosis patients overexpress cyclo-oxygenase 2 (COX-2) and secrete higher levels of prostaglandins than those from women without disease (64).

MMPs normally regulate macrophage activity by degrading the extracellular matrix of cells that will be phagocyted, but these molecules show a reduced expression in macrophages of patients with endometriosis, which is subsequently associated with impaired phagocytic activity. Particularly, MMP-9 has a reduction in both expression (mRNA and protein) and enzymatic activity, and this reduction is essentially due to the presence of prostaglandin E_2 (PGE₂) in the peritoneal fluid. Moreover, PGE₂ activity takes place through the EP2/EP4 (receptors for MMPs)-dependent PKA pathway (65). Other studies report that phagocytosis inactivation by PGE2 trough CD36 inhibition is mediated by the EP-2. On the other hand, cytokines secretion activity by these cells is increased; for example, IL-8, IL-10, and tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α are found in peritoneal fluid of endometriosis patients at greater levels than fertile women (66); thus, macrophages could promote and sustain an inflammatory environment required for endometriosis progress (67).

Lymphocytes are essential to determining survival, implantation, and proliferation of endometriotic cells (68); among affected lymphocytes in endometriosis are T-cells. Usually, there is a balance between populations of regulatory T-cells (Tregs), a subgroup of helper T cells (CD4+) that act as anti-inflammatory cells, and effector or cytotoxic T-cells (CD8+); this equilibrium is required to maintain immune tolerance and to eliminate endometriotic cells. However, the high levels of E2 and the reduced P4 response influence in the elevated concentration of T_{regs} in peritoneal fluid and in the endometriotic lesions, which decrease immune surveillance (58) and suppress the immune response, promote in this way the establishment of lesions (69). In contrast, effector T cells show a decreased activity, while helper T-cells in general are increased and participate in secreting high levels of cytokines (58, 70). Growth of endometriotic lesions is allowed by reduced ratios of Th1 to Th2 cells, with the consequent potentiation of Th1 response, mainly in the first stages of disease (71, 72). The Th1/Th2 ratio depends on the stage of the disease once it has been established, since Th1 cytokines prevalence occurs during minimal to mild endometriosis whereas Th2 cytokines are manifested in severe stages (58). Besides, the Th17 cell subset has a role in endometriosis, mediated by secretion of IL-17 resulting in the secretion of chemokine (C-C motif) ligand 20 (CCL20; also known as macrophage inflammatory protein-3, MIP3A) by endometriotic cells. CCL20 acts as a chemoattractant for Th17 cells and neutrophils to the endometriotic lesion (68). IL-17A also can stimulate IL-8 secretion and COX2 expression that promotes the proliferation of human endometriotic stromal cells (73).

NK cells represent around 15% of leukocytes in peripheral blood and of 30% of peritoneal leukocytes; the main function of NK cells consists in protecting against infections and tumor development through their cytolytic and immunomodulatory capabilities. NK cells destroy other cells by secreting lytic granules that contain granzymes, perforin, cytotoxins, or cytokines (74). NK cells in peritoneal fluid and peripheral blood from patients with diagnosed endometriosis have a decreased cytotoxicity against endometrial cells (75). Hence, they fail in eliminating endometrial fragments from menstrual debris in ectopic sites due to both their diminished activity and resistance from ectopic endometrium to be eliminated, which could be due to the presence of soluble non-specific factors released by human endometrial cells able to interfere with NK cell function, as suggested by the reduced activity of NKs in the presence of conditioned media obtained from human endometrial cell culture, without compromised cell viability (36). Alteration of NK cytotoxic activity in endometriosis patients is related to the reduced levels of granzyme B and perforin. In addition to defects in their activity, NK cells showed reduced numbers both in peritoneal fluid and in peripheral blood of endometriosis patients vs. control women (76, 77). Analysis of populations of peritoneal NK cells has shown that mature NK cells (CD32CD56+) are significantly decreased, in contrast with the proportions of immature NK cells (CD272CD11b2) that are increased, which suggest that the pathogenesis of endometriosis is associated with anomalous differentiation of NK cells (36). On the other hand, the reduction in NK activity correlates with the severity of disease (78), which makes them a potential marker and diagnosis tool of endometriosis and its severity. On the other hand, the reduction of NK function is associated with elevated levels of E2 in endometriosis. The association between NK cell activity and serum E2 levels suggests that immunoendocrine interaction is essential for the progression of endometriosis (77).

Mast cells are another group of leukocytes that are involved in endometriosis by modulating the recruitment, survival, development, phenotype, or function of other immune cells involved in endometriosis pathology, including macrophages, granulocytes, dendritic cells, and T and B cells (79). High numbers of degranulated mast cells have been found in endometriotic lesions, mainly of deep infiltrating type, but not in non-affected areas from peritoneum or eutopic endometrium of patients, indicating that a reaction of hypersensitivity is strongly associated to endometriosis (80); released mediators include TNF-α, IL-8, MCP-1, RANTES, and stem cell factor (SCF) (81). Additionally, the infiltration of mast cells is mainly observed at the periphery of nerve endings, which correlated with chronic pelvic pain, suggesting a relation with nociception in this disease that could be produced through the transient receptor potential vanilloid subfamily 1 (TRPV1) channel (82).

The alteration of the mechanism of maturation, infiltration, and functions of immune cells at the systemic or local level in endometriosis is mediated through modification of molecular and the biochemical environment that converges in the progression of the disease. This makes them potential targets to drug design or looking for alternative treatments that inhibit specific molecules of altered pathways involved in exacerbated inflammation and associated symptoms such as pain or infertility.

Alterations of Immune Mediators

The predominant molecular characteristic of endometriosis is the elevated concentration of immune mediators, mainly proinflammatory molecules, both locally and at the systemic level. NF-kB is a key transcriptional factor that is overexpressed and overactivated in endometriotic cells of the lesions and peritoneal macrophages, an effect that is potentiated by the pro-inflammatory environment through action of cytokines. In turn, NF-κB is involved in the positive regulation of these proinflammatory factors as well as of chemoattractants, adhesion molecules, and angiogenic factors (83). Immune cells and endometriotic stromal cells are an important source of cytokines, prostaglandins, and chemokines, which are released to the surrounding environment, showing consistency in elevated levels between different fluids and tissues. For example, levels of proinflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-6, IL-8, IFN-γ, and TNF-α are elevated in peritoneal fluid and serum of patients with endometriosis and could be used as non-invasive markers of the disease (84).

IL-1 β is the more studied inflammatory cytokine involved in the pathophysiology of endometriosis, with multiple roles in the disease development. For example, it is involved in activation of cvclooxygenase 2 (COX2), which in turn elevates prostaglandin E₂ (PGE₂) levels that contribute to activation of aromatase and other members of steroidogenic pathway, through an increased binding of steroidogenic factor 1 (SF-1) to promoter of aromatase gene (85). IL-1 β also contributes to recruitment of macrophages and neuroangiogenesis by regulating chemokine RANTES and promoting the production of brain-derived neurotrophic factor (BDNF), which co-localizes with macrophages and nerve fibers in endometriotic lesions and cultures of eutopic stromal cells; both events are mediated through c-Jun N-terminal kinase (JNK) and NF-kB signaling pathways. These findings support the notion of interaction between pro-inflammatory factors that favor the communication between different cell types in endometriotic lesions, which as a result promote the recruitment of vessels and nerves to stimulate angiogenesis, growth of the lesion, and generation of pain (40).

IL-6 for its part is found at elevated concentrations in peritoneal fluid and circulation; it is secreted by both macrophages and endometriotic cells, with the macrophages being its main source (86, 87). Serum concentration of IL-6 was analyzed along with the concentration of surface antigen CA125, used frequently as a marker of disease, and both showed an association to moderate-severe endometriosis (87). IL-6 also participates in the decrease of differentiation and cytolytic activity of NK cells, by inducing the tyrosine phosphorylation of phospholipase Cg and tyrosine phosphatase SHP-2, whose expression inhibits cytotoxic activities of NKs, promoting survival of endometriotic cells (86). Multiple functions of IL-6 are mediated by its receptor IL-6R, located on macrophages surface, which simultaneously makes them the source and the target of this cytokine (88). Its elevated expression and secretion by peritoneal macrophages from women with endometriosis is promoted by E2, which in turn is associated with induction of growth of endometriotic lesions (55). Additionally, this pro-inflammatory cytokine participates in the stimulation of aromatase expression in stromal cells from lesions (89), which shows again an interaction between the endocrine system and inflammation processes.

In addition to its function as a chemokine, IL-8 has other important roles in endometriosis development. Its elevated concentration has been shown in endometriotic stromal cells, as an effect of the action of E2 and TNF- α through NF- κ B; remarkably, this increase is reversed by P4 treatment, indicating that P4 downregulation in endometriosis contributes to alteration of IL-8 expression during the pathogenesis of the disease (90). Moreover, IL-8 considerably increases the proliferation of stromal cells from ovarian endometriomas (91) and shows a positive correlation with the severity of endometriosis.

On the other hand, TNF- α is considered an essential factor in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. It is secreted in high levels by pelvic macrophages in response to E2 treatment (55). TNF- α promotes the production of prostaglandins PGF₂ and PGE₂ by epithelial and stromal endometrial cells in endometriotic lesions and stromal cells from eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis by inducing COX2 overexpression through NF- κ B activation (92, 93). TNF- α induces endometriosis-associated inflammation by overregulated secretion of other molecules as IL-6, granulocyte-macrophage–colony-stimulating factor (GM-CSF), and MCP-1 (94).

Another pro-inflammatory cvtokine involved in endometriosis is IL-17A that stimulates the production of pro-angiogenic cytokines, such as IL-8 or IL-1β, and was found in significantly higher concentrations in the peritoneal fluid of patients with minimal-to-mild endometriosis than those with moderate-to-severe endometriosis and without the disease. Therefore, IL-17 could play an important role in the initial phases of endometriosis by favoring the angiogenesis in the peritoneal surface, which facilitates the survival, implantation, and proliferation of ectopic endometrial tissue (95). In addition to the role in promoting angiogenesis, IL-17 contributes to maintaining a pro-inflammatory environment in the peritoneal cavity needed for the establishment and preservation of endometriosis lesions, where it is produced at elevated levels. Moreover, studies have shown that IL-17 plasma levels are also increased and are dependent on the stage of the disease. This cytokine also maintains the inflammatory and angiogenic milieu by inducing the production of cytokines VEGF, plateletderived growth factor (PDGF)-AA, C-X-C motif chemokine ligand 12 (CXCL12), and granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) (96).

IFN- γ is also expressed at elevated levels in ectopic endometrium in contrast to eutopic endometrium of patients with endometriosis; a similar situation is observed in serum as well as in peritoneal fluid of patients (97–99), which is related with an unbalanced immune activity in endometriosis. IFN- γ is involved in increasing the resistance of endometrial cells to apoptosis and to stimulate the expression of cell adhesion molecules to allow the establishment of endometriotic lesions (99).

Prostaglandins are locally produced hormones involved in inflammation and pain. In women with endometriosis, PGE2 and $PGF_{2\alpha}$ are produced in elevated concentrations both in the eutopic and ectopic endometrium. $PGF_{2\alpha}$ contributes to dysmenorrhea through its vasoconstrictive properties and the capacity to induce uterine contractions. In contrast, PGE₂ may induce pain directly. In endometriosis, there is a positive feedback between inflammation mediators and E2. This hormone stimulates COX2 activation that increases PGE₂ production using arachidonic acid as precursor; PGE₂ production in turn influences steroidogenic genes, mainly overexpressing aromatase (100), therefore increasing the E2 levels that stimulate signaling through ER- β . As mentioned before, the inflammatory microenvironment in endometriotic lesions also stimulates PGE₂ production (65). Interestingly, COX2 is differentially regulated in ectopic and eutopic endometrium from endometriosis patients in response to IL-1β, since ectopic tissue is more sensible to this induction that is important to sustain inflammatory microenvironment that in turn sustain lesion development. This increased sensibility is due to IL-1ß capacity to increase COX-2 transcript stability (65, 100). Angiogenic factor VEGF also participates in PGE₂ production by induction of COX2 expression (101), which shows the interplay between inflammation and cell pathways that sustain the maintenance of endometriotic milieu.

Chemoattractants facilitate the recruitment of macrophages at the lesion site, especially chemokines IL-8, MCP-1, and RANTES, whose participation was described in section alteration of immune cells function, which can serve as biomarkers in identifying patients with endometriosis, but the precision of such tests can be enriched by including other inflammatory markers, or in the case of infertility-associated endometriosis, these molecules could be included as endometrial receptivity markers. Interestingly, MCP-1 is overexpressed (mRNA and protein) by action of P4 and E2 only in endometrial endothelial cells from patients with endometriosis, in contrast with cells from healthy women that did not show MCP-1 expression in response to this stimulus. Therefore, hormonal induction of chemokine expression in the endometriotic cells plays an important role in recruiting mononuclear cells, which contribute to inflammation in endometriosis (102).

The pro-inflammatory environment also has the capacity of regulating expression of steroid hormone receptors; Grandi et al. observed in endometrial stromal cells (eutopic tissue) isolated from endometriosis patients that exposition to TNF- α and IL-1 β significantly reduces the expression of both PR-A and PR-B (mRNA and protein). This contributes to P4 resistance, by altering the response to hormonal treatments using progestins, which explains the low local response to this therapy and indicates that the origin of inflammation in endometriosis lies not only in the ectopic tissue but also in the cells of eutopic tissue, whose multiple molecular alterations could allow them to survive out the uterus (57).

On the other hand, elevated expression of immunosuppressive cytokines in endometriosis has also been reported, like IL-4 and IL-10, which are involved in the development of disease through stimulating survival, growth, invasion, angiogenesis, and immune escape of endometriotic lesions (103). The elevated concentrations of these cytokines could be due to their insufficient control over pro-inflammatory activities, overcompensating and inhibiting the immune response. IL-4 is found at high levels in endometriotic tissues, where it stimulates the proliferation of endometriotic stromal cells by stimulating the activation of p38MAPK, SAPK/JNK, and p42/44 MAPK signaling (104). IL-10 in serum and peritoneal fluid from patients with endometriosis has shown significantly increased levels in contrast to those from healthy women (105). The role of this cytokine was addressed using a mouse model of surgically induced endometriosis. The blocking activity of IL-10 in mouse decreases the size of lesions, while the administration of this cytokine promoted their growth; additionally, infiltrated dendritic cells were the main secreting source of IL-10. The foregoing suggests that IL-10 contributes to immune suppression necessary for the development of endometriosis (105, 106).

For its part, retinol, which is the precursor of retinoic acid (RA) necessary for endometrial cell differentiation and function, and whose nuclear receptors have also been detected

in endometrium, also has a participation in endometriosis, since genes that regulate its synthesis and signaling pathways have an altered expression, which therefore causes reduction of RA. Cell pathways altered in endometriosis and regulated by local retinoic acid production involve MMP secretion, gap junctional intracellular communication, and the expression of a variety of cytokines involved in cell differentiation and immune regulation. Some altered RA-regulated molecules are IL-6, MCP-1, TNF- α , VEGF, connexin 43, various integrins, and *fas* ligand; this dysregulation is related to the progesterone-resistance effect (107, 108). This observation indicates a relationship between diet and nutrition in the disease, supporting the hypothesis of its multifactorial origin.

The use of biochemical markers of inflammation has been proposed to evaluate disease in complement instead of detection of endometriotic lesions through laparoscopic surgery. In this respect, a nested case-control study revealed that plasma IL-1β levels were positively associated with an increased risk to develop endometriosis. However, an association between plasmatic IL-6 and TNF- α levels with disease risk was not found (109), but an association of TNF- α with this risk was found only between women younger than 40, suggesting that young age is a threat factor to develop endometriosis, and the authors concluded that IL-1β and TNF-β could be early markers of disease. Recently, significantly higher concentrations of SCGF-β, IL-8, HGF, and MCP-1 have been reported, as well as lower levels of anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-13 in endometriosis patients such as those found in women without endometriosis (110). Additionally, in the same study, through regression analysis, the combination of SCGF-\beta, IL-13, and G-CSF concentrations predicted with accuracy the presence of endometriosis (86% sensitivity and 67% specificity) (110). Other studies focused to associate concentrations of pro-inflammatory cytokines and markers of receptivity in peritoneal fluid, such as IL-8, RANTES, osteoprotegerin (OPG), pregnancy-associated plasma protein-A (PAPP-A), TNF- α , midkine, and glycodelin, with the severity of pain according to pain scores. Concentrations of these molecules were found to be correlated with pain level and stage of endometriosis; in particular, this correlation was positive in the case of increased levels of TNF- α and glycodelin, indicating the potential role of this molecule in the severity of pain in endometriosis (111).

In summary, dysregulation of immune molecule expression is manifested both in immune system cells and in endometriosic cells, in response to an altered hormonal environment, which in turn responds to changes in the immune milieu. In fact, the action of these molecules is not individual; they act in a coordinated fashion to regulate the production and function of each other, thus forming a complex network that allows the communication between different cell types in order to maintain the viability and development of endometriotic lesions. Due to the importance of these inflammatory factors, it is necessary to perform more studies about altered immune factors associated with the severity of endometriosis. Since most molecules found in ectopic tissue can also be found at systemic level, that is, they could reflect the local environment that surrounds endometriotic lesion, it is fundamental to propose a complete panel of non-invasive biomarkers to detect early stages of the disease in patients who are exposed to commonly associated risk factors or have a family history of endometriosis, which could be useful to complement or substitute the surgical diagnosis. In the same way, this knowledge will be advantageous to determine the appropriate therapeutic target and treatment to each patient, in the process of designing a personalized therapy.

EFFECTS OF SEX HORMONES ON INFLAMMASOME REGULATION IN ENDOMETRIOSIS

Inflammasomes are complex molecular structures from the innate immune system that control pyroptosis (inflammatory form of cell death) and the activation of caspase 1, which is an enzyme involved in the proteolytic maturation of the pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-1β, IL-18, and IL-33, which, by caspase-1 influence, are released in a non-classical secretion pathway (112). Production of IL-1 β and IL-18 occurs in response against components of pathogen microorganisms (pathogenassociated molecular patterns, PAMPs) or danger signals from damaged and necrotic cells (danger-associated molecular patterns, DAMPs) that activate pattern recognition receptors (PRRs) expressed on the surfaces of macrophages, dendritic, and epithelial cells, among which are Toll-like receptors (TLRs) (113). After recognition of PAMPs or DAMPs by PRRs, adapter molecules are recruited, leading to NF-kB activation and, in consequence, the overexpression of genes that encode proinflammatory cytokines. For activation of caspase 1, the assembly of a complex integrated by a cytosolic sensor is necessary [a PRR that consists in a nucleotide-binding domain and leucine-richrepeat-containing (NLR, also known as NOD-like receptor) or an AIM2-like receptor (ALR) protein], an adapter protein known as apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a CARD (ASC), which interacts with procaspase 1, connecting it with sensor that initiates self-cleavage of caspase 1 and the formation of its active form that is necessary for processing of immature cytokines (114).

Nevertheless, alteration of inflammasome is involved in the development of distinct diseases related to inflammatory disorders, for example, inflammatory bowel disease, Crohn's disease, vitiligo, periodontitis neurodegenerative diseases such as multiple sclerosis, Alzheimer's disease, and Parkinson's disease, as well as metabolic disorders that include atherosclerosis, insulin resistance, type 2 diabetes, and obesity (115). Besides the former illnesses, inflammasome also plays an important role in reproduction pathologies.

Recently, it has been demonstrated that human endometrium expresses inflammasome components, including the NLR family member NLRP3 (also identified as NALP-3) and ASC protein, which are significantly overexpressed in the endometrium of patients with recurrent pregnancy loss (without any evidence of infection) in contrast to healthy fertile women. In consequence, caspase 1 showed an increased activity and augmented levels of both IL-1 β and IL-18 were detected, which probably led to an abnormal activation of uterine innate immunity that is involved in the establishment of a pro-inflammatory endometrial milieu,

which would impede successful implantation, and provoke disturbance of placental development and pregnancy loss (116).

Inflammasome pathways could also be involved in the pathophysiology of endometriosis. Recently, to investigate the role of non-genomic activation of ER- β in this disease, a mouse model of surgically induced endometriosis was used through autotransplantation of fragments of endometrial tissue in the peritoneal cavity, both in mice with overexpression of ER- β (ER β -OE) and in ER β -null mice. Lesions in ER β -OE mice had greater dimensions than in ER β -null and control mice, confirmed by using a selective antagonist, suggesting an important participation of receptor in the progression of the disease (31).

In the same study, the authors determined interactions of ER- β with proteins involved in apoptosis, such as apoptosis signalregulating kinase-1 (ASK-1), which participates in apoptosis induced by TNF- α . Nonetheless, ASK-1 has shown reduced activity in ER β -OE mice; additionally, an ASK-1 interaction with serine/threonine kinase receptor-associated protein (STRAP) and 14-3-3 protein was observed, a complex that also interacts with ER- β ; in turn, the STRAP/14-3-3 complex obstructs ASK-1/TNF receptor-associated factor 2 interaction, hence inhibiting TNF- α -mediated apoptosis.

In the same way, the interaction of ER- β with inflammasome components was determined, such as NLRP3 and caspase 1. The processed form (and therefore its activated form) of the latter along with IL-1 β was found in high levels in endometriosis lesions of ERB-OE mice. This is in accordance with previous reports of endometriosis in humans, in which it has been observed that endometriotic implants produce elevated concentrations of IL-1 β , in contrast to eutopic endometrium or endometrium of healthy women; likewise, this increase is also observed in the peritoneal fluid of endometriosis patients (117, 118). In conclusion, the mechanism observed in this model of endometriosis progression indicates an interaction between the immune system and estrogen signaling through non-genomic ER- β activity. This interaction, in which ER- β cooperates with components of inflammasome machinery to increase IL-1ß levels and to modulate apoptosis induced by TNF-a, activates a mechanism to ensure endometriotic cell survival, adhesion, and proliferation through evasion of immune surveillance and the epithelial-mesenchymal transition pathway (31). However, the interplay between non-genomic and genomic activities of ER- β , as well the participation of ER- α and other steroid receptors in inflammatory processes of endometriosis, remains to be determined. In addition, key components of inflammasome and their interactions with these receptors could be useful as drug targets, designed to interrupt downstream signaling pathways, thus affecting progress of the disease and maintaining it in stages easily controlled by using non-invasive therapies.

CONTRIBUTION OF INFLAMMATION OF BACTERIAL ORIGIN TO ENDOMETRIOSIS

Endometriosis is a multifactorial disease in whose development alteration of sex hormone pathways has a key role and bacterial infections of the female reproductive tract or alterations in its

microbiota composition seem to have significant participation. Inflammation in endometriosis has been related to the presence of bacteria and their products (metabolites or virulence factors) in the peritoneal cavity, which led researchers to propose the "bacterial contamination" hypothesis (119). Some observations indicate the presence of Escherichia coli in menstrual blood of patients diagnosed with endometriosis in contrast with control women; bacterial load correlates with elevated concentrations of LPS in menstrual blood and peritoneal fluid. In addition, the concentrations of HGF, VEGF, IL-6, and TNF- α were significantly higher in the culture media of peritoneal macrophages treated with LPS from E. coli; this effect was mediated through activation of TLR4; this receptor was also detected in stromal and gland cells from eutopic or ectopic endometrium from endometriosis patients (120). The authors suggested that resident Gram-negative bacteria of the vagina, including E. coli, could migrate to the upper reproductive tract and have an involvement in endometriosis by the accumulation of endotoxin in the menstrual/peritoneal fluid that would unchain pelvic inflammation, leading to growth of lesions. High concentrations of PGE2 in peritoneal or menstrual fluids could be a factor that promotes bacterial survival since it stimulates bacterial growth in vitro and simultaneously causes impairment of the function of lymphocytes (121).

Taking these results as antecedent, using a mouse model of endometriosis, it was demonstrated that simultaneous administration of blood (simulating menstrual reflux that reaches pelvic cavity during retrograde menstruation) with LPS in mice, which were previously injected with endometrial implants, induces the growth of endometriotic lesions and the production of TNF-a, IL-6, and MIP-2 in peritoneal fluid (122), which in turn is related with NF-KB expression (123). An additive effect has been observed with the simultaneous treatment of macrophages with LPS and E2, which induced secretion of pro-inflammatory factors and proliferation of endometriotic cells (55). The above suggests a role of LPS in coordination with steroid hormones in the first stages of endometriosis development through induction of inflammatory responses and recruitment of neutrophils to endometriotic lesions, which in turn possibly participate in the release of angiogenic factors, unchaining a process of inflammatory angiogenesis (122). These observations have to be taken carefully since findings can be caused by an asymptomatic or subclinical vaginal infection or contamination with bacteria from cervicovaginal microbiota that contribute to bacterial contamination of analyzed samples (124).

On the other hand, the role of the microbiome in the pathogenesis of endometriosis has also been suggested; however, the role of this microbial community in endometrial function and the development of its pathologies remain unclear. In contrast to the general acknowledgment about uterine cavity as a sterile environment, recently by the usage of next-generation sequence tools in combination with culture techniques, it has been reported that endometrium has its microbiota (125); however, it is still debated whether the bacterial presence is due to contamination from the vaginal or cervical microbiome (126).

Most of the studies have reported the presence of members of phyla Firmicutes, Bacteroidetes, Proteobacteria, and Actinobacteria, among others, as part of "health" uterine microbiota (127-129), and that changes of this diversity and its abundance are related to alterations in endometrial function (127, 130, 131), benign uterine pathologies (128, 132, 133), or endometrial cancer. In the case of endometriosis, changes of taxonomic bacterial composition to potentially pathogen bacteria in patients diagnosed with the disease have been detected in peritoneal fluid, cervical mucus, and cervicovaginal microbiota (129, 134, 135). However, studies that detect the real changes in endometrial microbiota related to endometriosis are lacking; furthermore, studies carried out to date in general lack a control group with healthy women (without any benign pathology) and face difficulties to obtain endometrial samples, among other technical complications (126, 134, 136).

On the other hand, although the mechanisms used by microbiota of the upper reproductive tract to regulate host functions are still unidentified, it has been suggested that there is a relation between uterine microorganisms and the uterine immune system, and it is speculated that bacteria interact with endometrium and control the expression of endometrial factors involved in inflammatory response, proliferation, apoptosis, expression of leukocyte subsets, infiltration of plasma cells, and secretion of immunoglobulins, which in turn regulates processes of decidualization, embryo implantation, pregnancy development, and protection against infections (116). More studies are necessary to confirm and characterize the composition and the role of microbiota on the physiology of the human female reproductive system, particularly in the endometrium, and its relationship with components of uterine microenvironment, as hormonal levels and metabolites are produced at the endometrium. In the future, this knowledge could enable the potential use of bacterial microbiota as a diagnostic tool and as a therapeutic target.

ASSOCIATION OF INFLAMMATION WITH INFERTILITY IN PATIENTS WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS

Chronic inflammation is strongly linked to alterations in female fertility, as occurs with infertility-associated endometriosis, where the produced "hostile" environment alters the sperm transport, tubal motility, and oocyte development (through impaired uterine peristalsis), as well as embryo implantation (137). At the uterine level, inflammation induces an impairment of endometrial decidualization as a response to progesterone resistance due to the alteration in the function of PR. Therefore, the expression of progesterone-responsive genes is dysregulated during the implantation window, which comprises a period of 8-10 days after the luteinizing hormone (LH) surge (midsecretory phase) (11). Some of these altered genes encode biomarkers of endometrial receptivity (138), which are involved in embryo attachment and stimulation of decidua invasion, such as adhesion molecules (CAM family), cytokines, growth factors, and prostaglandins (11).

Decidualization occurs during the secretory phase of the menstrual cycle in response to ovarian hormones, conducive to differentiation and specialization of the endometrium, independent of the presence of a fertilized oocyte, initiating a series of profound changes that allow embryo implantation and is finished when the development of the placenta is complete (139). At the molecular level, changes reflected in gene expression, proteome, and secretome occur. In particular, two robustly secreted molecules are the hallmark of decidualization: insulin-like growth factor binding protein-1 (IGFBP-1) and prolactin (PRL) (140), whose expression is related to PR activity (141, 142). Both IGFBP-1 and PRL are drastically downregulated in the eutopic endometrium of women affected by endometriosis (143). In addition, IGFBP-1 and PRL also show a lower secretion by cultured endometrial stromal cells from women with endometriosis than those from healthy women (144).

CAM encompasses integrins, cadherins, selectins, and immunoglobulins, which typically are glycoproteins involved in cell-to-cell adhesion; during the implantation window, they lead to firm attachment of the blastocyst to the endometrial pinopods to guarantee successful implantation (138). Between CAMs is $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin, a molecule that suffers dynamic alterations over the course of the menstrual cycle, with a peak of expression at the mid-secretory phase. $\alpha\nu\beta3$ is activated upon binding to its ligand osteopontin, and forms aggregates that recruit cytoskeletal proteins and components of cell signaling pathways required for attachment of embryo. Endometrial $\alpha\nu\beta3$ integrin expression was significantly reduced in patients with endometriosis during the window of implantation (145), probably in response to local estrogen (146). The diminished $\alpha v\beta 3$ expression is related to impaired production of the HOXA10 transcription factor (member of family homeobox, which is involved in the development and physiology of the uterus) that regulates expression of subunit β 3 (147, 148). Reduced expression of HOXA10 is related to epigenetic changes, and there exists evidence of hypermethylation of its promoter and its consequent silencing in the eutopic endometrium of endometriosis patients, in comparison to healthy endometrium (149). Also, HOXA10 regulates IGFBP-1 expression, making it a key transcription factor during the process of uterine receptivity maintaining (150).

HOXA11 is another member of the homeobox family that is involved in diverse processes associated with embryo development and aspects of female reproductive tract physiology such as endometrial growth, differentiation, receptivity, and embryonic development. HOXA11 is detected at significantly lower levels (mRNA and protein) in the eutopic mid-secretory endometrium of infertile patients with endometriosis than in endometrium of fertile women. HOXA11 promoter is hypermethylated; this can be one of the possible molecular mechanisms causing a decrease in its expression. Obtained results indicate the relation of HOXA11 with infertility in endometriosis (151). A previous report supports this observation since HOXA11 seems to regulate PRL expression during decidualization (152). It is to be noted that regulation of expression of HOXA genes in healthy endometrium is mediated by sexual hormone action, mainly P4, showing a significant increase at the secretory menstrual phase (153, 154), which suggests that its dysregulation in endometriosis is also related to alteration in hormonal pathways.

Further transcriptional regulators involved in uterine receptivity are down-regulated in eutopic endometrial tissue from endometriosis patients. These include GATA Binding Protein 2 (GATA2), SRY-Box 17 (SOX17), Indian hedgehog signaling molecule (IHH), COUP transcription factor 2 (COUPTFII), Wingless-type MMTV integration site family (WNT4), Forkhead box O1 (FOXO1), AT-rich interaction domain 1A (ARID1A), and histone deacetylase 3 (HDAC3), most of which are involved in regulation of P4-responsive pathways (17).

Among other alterations observed in CAMs of eutopic endometrium, there is an altered regulation of the E-cadherin and β -catenin expression in epithelial cells of endometrium from infertile women with endometriosis during the mid-secretory phase, since both are expressed at increased levels (155). The β catenin expression is associated with the Wnt pathway, which could be activated in endometriosis. In the fertile endometrium, increased E2 levels induce Wnt/ β -catenin signaling to enhance proliferation, whereas P4 inhibits this signaling pathway during the secretory phase, reducing proliferation and promoting cell differentiation (156); however, in endometriosis, it is probable that P4 resistance and hyper-estrogenic milieu prevent inactivation of this pathway, thus promoting cell proliferation while inhibiting decidualization (155).

Glycodelin A, an immunomodulator glycoprotein regulated by P4 during the window of implantation, is downregulated in endometrium of women with endometriosis (143, 157). However, there are inconsistencies between published reports; for example, an analysis of expression reveals an increase in glycodelin A levels in the eutopic endometrium of patients with endometriosis in contrast to those from the endometrium of control group (158). This coincides with its elevated concentrations found in peritoneal fluid and serum of endometriosis patients compared to controls, in both proliferative and secretory cycle phases; importantly, values of concentration correlate with level of pain intensity (159). Differences could be attributed to the type of endometriotic lesion and the severity of the disease or ethnicity of the study population, even though general evidence suggests that glycodelin A has a significant participation in uterine receptivity and could be useful as a non-invasive biomarker of endometriosis.

Among altered cytokines, leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF), a member of IL-6-like family E2-responsive, essential for blastocyst implantation, also shows reduced expression in infertile patients with endometriosis, especially at moderate stages of the disease (160, 161). Another IL-6-like family member required for embryo implantation, IL-11, and its receptor, are absent in the glandular epithelium of endometrium from endometriosis patients, in contrast to fertile women (161). Another cytokine involved in endometrial infertility is IL-1 β , which can alter the differentiation of stromal endometrial cell by causing disruption of decidual function through cellular depletion of ER- α , PR, and gap junction
alpha-1 protein (also known of connexin 43 or Cx43); inhibition of IL-6-mediated extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK)1/2 pathway recover decidualization markers as well as production of steroid receptors (162).

Among other receptivity markers altered in endometriosis are the transcriptional gene repressor BLC6 and the histone deacetylase sirtuin 1 (SIRT1), whose co-expression is promoted by pro-inflammatory environment in eutopic endometrium from endometriosis patients; both are used for the diagnosis of disease. BLC6 and SIRT1 overexpression (induced by Kirsten rat sarcoma viral oncogene, KRAS) alter the actions of P4 by suppression of the promoter of *GL11*, a critical mediator of progesterone action in the Indian Hedgehog pathway, contributing to the pathophysiology of this disease and infertility through the increase of P4 resistance (163).

Overall, receptivity endometrial markers show a strong interaction with components of pro-inflammatory and hormonal environment, which influence negatively their expression and function and hence contribute to impede a successful pregnancy in endometriosis patients. In order to preserve women's fertility and to promote effectiveness of in vitro reproduction techniques, it is necessary to restore the adequate expression and production of molecules involved in uterine receptivity, through safe and personalized immunomodulatory therapies that reduce or avoid surgical interventions and their adverse effects. Moreover, it is necessary to establish an integral management of the disease according to individual requirements of each patient, which encompasses non-invasive diagnosis and medical and psychological therapies, through the interactions of researchers in basic molecular biology with distinct clinical specialists.

CURRENT AND FUTURE TREATMENTS FOR INFLAMMATION ASSOCIATED WITH ENDOMETRIOSIS

The treatment more extensively used for endometriosis is hormone modulation by progestins that can bind PR and regulate its activity, thus suppressing ovulation, provoking amenorrhea, and a hypo-estrogenic environment; however, not all the patients that receive the treatment have benefited from it. Another common treatment is the inhibition of production of prostaglandins, through a COX or an aromatase inhibitor, for example, a non-selective and non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug such as ibuprofen or naproxen, which significantly reduce symptoms of disease, mainly pelvic pain. However, they can produce secondary effects such as the development of osteopenia, osteoporosis and bone fractures, increased cardiovascular risk, and negative gastrointestinal effects (6, 53). To ensure the efficiency of treatment and avoid undesirable secondary effects, the compound used should be effective on specific targets of distinct affected pathways simultaneously and ideally originated from natural sources. In this section, we describe selected potential drugs and alternative treatments with these characteristics, which are recently reported in the literature.

Resveratrol, a polyphenolic compound with anti-proliferative and anti-inflammatory actions, found in many dietary sources, is an alternative for endometriosis treatment (164). In a rat model with experimentally induced endometrial implant, resveratrol significantly reduced implant areas, while it decreased serum and peritoneal levels of VEGF and MCP-1. For this reason, resveratrol is considered a potential novel therapeutic agent that acts by inhibition of angiogenesis and inflammation (165).

Crocin is a vegetal compound found in some flowers and saffron, and it possesses anti-inflammatory and anti-proliferation properties. In a mice model of endometriosis with crocin treatment, aspects of inflammation, angiogenesis, growth of lesions, as well as endothelial apoptosis and proliferation were evaluated. Crocin avoids the growth of the lesion through inhibition of proliferation without causing apoptosis, as well as reducing the expression and secretion of inflammatory cytokines INF- γ , TNF- α , and IL-6, as well as VEGF and proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA) (166).

Another natural compound is nobiletin, a flavonoid isolated from citrus peels with capacity for inhibiting NF- κ B activation. A recent study in mice shows that administration of nobiletin significantly reduced lesion size and expression of PCNA, VEGF, E-cadherin, IL-6, IL-1 β , TNF- α , MMP-1, and MMP-3; this observation was related with the inactivation of NF- κ B through targeting the activity of I κ B kinases (167).

Recently, molecules isolated from sources used in traditional medicine have also been reported; this is the case of dehydrocostus lactone from the roots of *Aucklandia lappa*, used in Asiatic traditional medicine for the treatment of diseases associated to inflammation and pain. This compound inhibited Akt and NF- κ B pathways in endometriotic cells and macrophages. Dehydrocotus lactone caused apoptosis in endometriotic cells by activation of caspase-3, -8, and -9, and decreased the production of PGE₂ and neurotrophins, while that in macrophages induced the decrease of IL-10, VEGF, MMP-2, and MMP-9 (168).

On the other hand, therapies can be implemented by using existent drugs used to treat other inflammatory diseases. Simvastatin, which belongs to the statins family, was assayed in a baboon model of endometriosis. Treatment with simvastatin induced ER- α expression while provoking a reduction of ER- β in lesions and eutopic tissue. Furthermore, simvastatin significantly reduced the expression of neopterin, a marker of inflammation, oxidative stress, and immune system activation. Collectively, the present findings indicate that the inhibition of the mevalonate pathway by simvastatin reduces the risk of developing endometriosis in the primate model of this disease by decreasing the growth of endometrial lesions, by modulating the expression of genes encoding for estrogen receptors, and by reducing inflammation (169).

Regardless of the finding of new potential therapies for endometriosis treatment, it is necessary to perform more studies to determine the effectiveness of therapeutical agents in women and to assess possible side effects on reproductive tract function. Additionally, these discoveries can enhance the activity of traditional drugs if used simultaneously with them.

CONCLUSION

Endometriosis is a complex gynecological disease characterized by a chronic inflammatory process that is strongly linked to altered sex hormonal-dependent pathways, mainly through steroid hormone receptor function (Figure 1). According to current evidence, its origin is multifactorial, involving molecular, biochemical, and cellular alterations that in turn are interconnected and possibly related to responses to the external stimuli; however, it is not yet determined whether these alterations are the consequence or the effect of the disease. It is necessary to elucidate the key components of each of the involved pathway in the development of endometriosis, particularly those related to inflammation, responsible for the activation of other important cellular pathways involved in the development and maintaining of the endometriotic lesions, which in turn contribute to the maintenance of the inflammatory milieu. Further studies are still necessary for elucidating the pathogenesis of the disease, by translating animal and in vitro models to clinical studies that mimic the disease in humans the nearest. This knowledge will allow to determine the ideal targets for developing novel therapies to treat endometriosis effectively, through recovery of altered cell functions and that at the same time avoid recurrence of the implants or undesirable

REFERENCES

- Wasson MN. Chronic pelvic pain due to postmenopausal endometriosis. J Minim Invasive Gynecol. (2019). doi: 10.1016/j.jmig.2019.08.015. [Epub ahead of print].
- Collinet P, Fritel X, Revel-Delhom C, Ballester M, Bolze PA, Borghese B, et al. Management of endometriosis: CNGOF/HAS clinical practice guidelines—short version. J Gynecol Obstet Hum Reprod. (2018) 47:265–74. doi: 10.1016/j.jogoh.2018.06.003
- Burney RO, Giudice LC. Pathogenesis and pathophysiology of endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:511–9. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert. 2012.06.029
- Hickey M, Ballard K, Farquhar C. Endometriosis. BMJ. (2014) 348:g1752. doi: 10.1136/bmj.g1752
- Haas D, Shebl O, Shamiyeh A, Oppelt P. The rASRM score and the Enzian classification for endometriosis: their strengths and weaknesses. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (2013) 92:3–7. doi: 10.1111/aogs. 12026
- Bulun SE, Yilmaz BD, Sison C, Miyazaki K, Bernardi L, Liu S, et al. Endometriosis. *Endocr Rev.* (2019) 40:1048–79. doi: 10.1210/er.2018-00242
- Zondervan KT, Becker CM, Koga K, Missmer SA, Taylor RN, Vigano P. Endometriosis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2018) 4:9. doi: 10.1038/ s41572-018-0008-5
- Schliep KC, Mumford SL, Peterson CM, Chen Z, Johnstone EB, Sharp HT, et al. Pain typology and incident endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2015) 30:2427–38. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dev147
- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive M. Endometriosis and infertility: a committee opinion. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:591–8. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2012.05.031
- Vercellini P, Vigano P, Somigliana E, Fedele L. Endometriosis: pathogenesis and treatment. *Nat Rev Endocrinol.* (2014) 10:261–75. doi: 10.1038/ nrendo.2013.255

secondary effects. In turn, these targets ideally must be accurate non-invasive biomarkers for the diagnosis and classification of the disease. For this end, it is imperative to develop biomarker panels that ideally must contain individual molecules involved in interconnected pathways, as well as molecular complexes or bacterial signatures, which in turn will contribute to the selection of personalized treatments according to disease particularities and/or fertility desire in each patient, looking to improve her life quality.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

EG-G, EV-M, and MC designed the concept. EG-G and CR-M wrote the first draft of the manuscript. IC-A and OC-O revised and corrected the first version of the text. All authors read, revised, and approved the manuscript for publication.

FUNDING

This research was supported by Instituto Nacional de Perinatología grant number 2017-3-114 and CONACYT grant number A1-S-7855.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors would like to thank M. S. Diana Medina-Bastidas for the critical reading of the manuscript.

- Lessey BA, Kim JJ. Endometrial receptivity in the eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis: it is affected, and let me show you why. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 108:19–27. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.05.031
- Gao X, Yeh YC, Outley J, Simon J, Botteman M, Spalding J. Health-related quality of life burden of women with endometriosis: a literature review. *Curr Med Res Opin*. (2006) 22:1787–97. doi: 10.1185/030079906X121084
- Geoffron S, Legendre G, Darai E, Chabbert-Buffet N. Medical treatment of endometriosis: hormonal treatment of pain, impact on evolution and future perspectives. *Presse Med.* (2017) 46:1199–211. doi: 10.1016/ j.lpm.2017.10.005
- Greene AD, Lang SA, Kendziorski JA, Sroga-Rios JM, Herzog TJ, Burns KA. Endometriosis: where are we and where are we going? *Reproduction*. (2016) 152:R63–78. doi: 10.1530/REP-16-0052
- Guo SW. Recurrence of endometriosis and its control. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2009) 15:441–61. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp007
- Lagana AS, Vitale SG, Salmeri FM, Triolo O, Ban Frangez H, Vrtacnik-Bokal E, et al. Unus pro omnibus, omnes pro uno: a novel, evidence-based, unifying theory for the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Med Hypotheses*. (2017) 103:10–20. doi: 10.1016/j.mehy.2017.03.032
- Marquardt RM, Kim TH, Shin JH, Jeong JW. Progesterone and estrogen signaling in the endometrium: what goes wrong in endometriosis? *Int J Mol Sci.* (2019) 20:e3822. doi: 10.3390/ijms20153822
- Simmen RC, Kelley AS. Reversal of fortune: estrogen receptor-β in endometriosis. J Mol Endocrinol. (2016) 57:F23-7. doi: 10.1530/ JME-16-0080
- Noble LS, Simpson ER, Johns A, Bulun SE. Aromatase expression in endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1996) 81:174–9. doi: 10.1210/ jcem.81.1.8550748
- Zeitoun K, Takayama K, Sasano H, Suzuki T, Moghrabi N, Andersson S, et al. Deficient 17beta-hydroxysteroid dehydrogenase type 2 expression in endometriosis: failure to metabolize 17beta-estradiol. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1998) 83:4474–80. doi: 10.1210/jcem.83.12.5301

- Huhtinen K, Stahle M, Perheentupa A, Poutanen M. Estrogen biosynthesis and signaling in endometriosis. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2012) 358:146–54. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.08.022
- Attia GR, Zeitoun K, Edwards D, Johns A, Carr BR, Bulun SE. Progesterone receptor isoform A but not B is expressed in endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:2897–902. doi: 10.1210/jc.85.8.2897
- Bulun SE, Monsavais D, Pavone ME, Dyson M, Xue Q, Attar E, et al. Role of estrogen receptor-β in endometriosis. Semin Reprod Med. (2012) 30:39–45. doi: 10.1055/s-0031-1299596
- Xue Q, Lin Z, Cheng YH, Huang CC, Marsh E, Yin P, et al. Promoter methylation regulates estrogen receptor 2 in human endometrium and endometriosis. *Biol Reprod.* (2007) 77:681–7. doi: 10.1095/ biolreprod.107.061804
- Wu Y, Strawn E, Basir Z, Halverson G, Guo SW. Promoter hypermethylation of progesterone receptor isoform B (PR-B) in endometriosis. *Epigenetics*. (2006) 1:106–11. doi: 10.4161/epi.1.2.2766
- Yilmaz BD, Bulun SE. Endometriosis and nuclear receptors. Hum Reprod Update. (2019) 25:473–85. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmz005
- Rai V, Hopkisson J, Kennedy S, Bergqvist A, Barlow DH, Mardon HJ. Integrins alpha 3 and alpha 6 are differentially expressed in endometrium and endometriosis. *J Pathol.* (1996) 180:181–7.
- Klemmt PA, Carver JG, Koninckx P, McVeigh EJ, Mardon HJ. Endometrial cells from women with endometriosis have increased adhesion and proliferative capacity in response to extracellular matrix components: towards a mechanistic model for endometriosis progression. *Hum Reprod.* (2007) 22:3139–47. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem262
- 29. Barragan F, Irwin JC, Balayan S, Erikson DW, Chen JC, Houshdaran S, et al. Human endometrial fibroblasts derived from mesenchymal progenitors inherit progesterone resistance and acquire an inflammatory phenotype in the endometrial niche in endometriosis. *Biol Reprod.* (2016) 94:118. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.115.136010
- Pitsos M, Kanakas N. The role of matrix metalloproteinases in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Reprod Sci.* (2009) 16:717–26. doi: 10.1177/ 1933719109333661
- Han SJ, Jung SY, Wu SP, Hawkins SM, Park MJ, Kyo S, et al. Estrogen receptor beta modulates apoptosis complexes and the inflammasome to drive the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Cell.* (2015) 163:960–74. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2015.10.034
- 32. Monsivais D, Dyson MT, Yin P, Coon JS, Navarro A, Feng G, et al. ERβ- and prostaglandin E2-regulated pathways integrate cell proliferation via Ras-like and estrogen-regulated growth inhibitor in endometriosis. *Mol Endocrinol*. (2014) 28:1304–15. doi: 10.1210/me.2013-1421
- 33. Monsivais D, Dyson MT, Yin P, Navarro A, Coon JST, Pavone ME, et al. Estrogen receptor β regulates endometriotic cell survival through serum and glucocorticoid-regulated kinase activation. *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105:1266–73. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.01.012
- Klemmt PAB, Starzinski-Powitz A. Molecular and cellular pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Curr Womens Health Rev.* (2018) 14:106–16. doi: 10.2174/1573404813666170306163448
- Capobianco A, Rovere-Querini P. Endometriosis, a disease of the macrophage. Front Immunol. (2013) 4:9. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2013.00009
- 36. Somigliana E, Vigano P, Gaffuri B, Candiani M, Busacca M, Di Blasio AM, et al. Modulation of NK cell lytic function by endometrial secretory factors: potential role in endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1996) 36:295–300. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1996.tb00179.x
- 37. Shifren JL, Tseng JF, Zaloudek CJ, Ryan IP, Meng YG, Ferrara N, et al. Ovarian steroid regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor in the human endometrium: implications for angiogenesis during the menstrual cycle and in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (1996) 81:3112–8. doi: 10.1210/jcem.81.8.8768883
- McLaren J, Prentice A, Charnock-Jones DS, Millican SA, Muller KH, Sharkey AM, et al. Vascular endothelial growth factor is produced by peritoneal fluid macrophages in endometriosis and is regulated by ovarian steroids. *J Clin Invest.* (1996) 98:482–9. doi: 10.1172/JCI118815
- Wu J, Xie H, Yao S, Liang Y. Macrophage and nerve interaction in endometriosis. J Neuroinflammation. (2017) 14:53. doi: 10.1186/ s12974-017-0828-3
- 40. Yu J, Francisco AMC, Patel BG, Cline JM, Zou E, Berga SL, et al. IL-1 β stimulates brain-derived neurotrophic factor production in eutopic endometriosis stromal cell cultures: a model for cytokine

regulation of neuroangiogenesis. Am J Pathol. (2018) 188:2281-92. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2018.06.011

- Kobayashi H, Imanaka S, Nakamura H, Tsuji A. Understanding the role of epigenomic, genomic and genetic alterations in the development of endometriosis (review). *Mol Med Rep.* (2014) 9:1483–505. doi: 10.3892/mmr.2014.2057
- Borghese B, Zondervan KT, Abrao MS, Chapron C, Vaiman D. Recent insights on the genetics and epigenetics of endometriosis. *Clin Genet*. (2017) 91:254–64. doi: 10.1111/cge.12897
- Bulun SE, Wan Y, Matei D. Epithelial mutations in endometriosis: link to ovarian cancer. *Endocrinology*. (2019) 160:626–38. doi: 10.1210/ en.2018-00794
- Eyster KM, Klinkova O, Kennedy V, Hansen KA. Whole genome deoxyribonucleic acid microarray analysis of gene expression in ectopic versus eutopic endometrium. *Fertil Steril.* (2007) 88:1505–33. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.01.056
- Zhao L, Gu C, Ye M, Zhang Z, Han W, Fan W, et al. Identification of global transcriptome abnormalities and potential biomarkers in eutopic endometria of women with endometriosis: a preliminary study. *Biomed Rep.* (2017) 6:654–62. doi: 10.3892/br.2017.902
- Moore LD, Le T, Fan G. DNA methylation and its basic function. Neuropsychopharmacology. (2013) 38:23–38. doi: 10.1038/npp.2012.112
- Dyson MT, Roqueiro D, Monsivais D, Ercan CM, Pavone ME, Brooks DC, et al. Genome-wide DNA methylation analysis predicts an epigenetic switch for GATA factor expression in endometriosis. *PLoS Genet.* (2014) 10:e1004158. doi: 10.1371/journal.pgen.1004158
- Naqvi H, Ilagan Y, Krikun G, Taylor HS. Altered genome-wide methylation in endometriosis. *Reprod Sci.* (2014) 21:1237–43. doi: 10.1177/1933719114532841
- Barjaste N, Shahhoseini M, Afsharian P, Sharifi-Zarchi A, Masoudi-Nejad A. Genome-wide DNA methylation profiling in ectopic and eutopic of endometrial tissues. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2019) 36:1743–52. doi: 10.1007/s10815-019-01508-8
- Xue Q, Lin Z, Yin P, Milad MP, Cheng YH, Confino E, et al. Transcriptional activation of steroidogenic factor-1 by hypomethylation of the 5' CpG island in endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2007) 92:3261–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.2007-0494
- Xiaomeng X, Ming Z, Jiezhi M, Xiaoling F. Aberrant histone acetylation and methylation levels in woman with endometriosis. *Arch Gynecol Obstet*. (2013) 287:487–94. doi: 10.1007/s00404-012-2591-0
- Monteiro JB, Colon-Diaz M, Garcia M, Gutierrez S, Colon M, Seto E, et al. Endometriosis is characterized by a distinct pattern of histone 3 and histone 4 lysine modifications. *Reprod Sci.* (2014) 21:305–18. doi: 10.1177/1933719113497267
- Patel BG, Lenk EE, Lebovic DI, Shu Y, Yu J, Taylor RN. Pathogenesis of endometriosis: interaction between endocrine and inflammatory pathways. *Best Pract Res Clin Obstet Gynaecol.* (2018) 50:50–60. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2018.01.006
- Patel B, Elguero S, Thakore S, Dahoud W, Bedaiwy M, Mesiano S. Role of nuclear progesterone receptor isoforms in uterine pathophysiology. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2015) 21:155–73. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmu056
- 55. Khan KN, Kitajima M, Inoue T, Fujishita A, Nakashima M, Masuzaki H. 17β-estradiol and lipopolysaccharide additively promote pelvic inflammation and growth of endometriosis. *Reprod Sci.* (2015) 22:585–94. doi: 10.1177/1933719114556487
- Burns KA, Rodriguez KF, Hewitt SC, Janardhan KS, Young SL, Korach KS. Role of estrogen receptor signaling required for endometriosis-like lesion establishment in a mouse model. *Endocrinology*. (2012) 153:3960–71. doi: 10.1210/en.2012-1294
- 57. Grandi G, Mueller MD, Papadia A, Kocbek V, Bersinger NA, Petraglia F, et al. Inflammation influences steroid hormone receptors targeted by progestins in endometrial stromal cells from women with endometriosis. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 117:30–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016.06.004
- Kralickova M, Fiala L, Losan P, Tomes P, Vetvicka V. Altered immunity in endometriosis: what came first? *Immunol Invest.* (2018) 47:569–82. doi: 10.1080/08820139.2018.1467926
- Berbic M, Schulke L, Markham R, Tokushige N, Russell P, Fraser IS. Macrophage expression in endometrium of women with and without endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2009) 24:325–32. doi: 10.1093/humrep/ den393

- 60. Arici A. Local cytokines in endometrial tissue: the role of interleukin-8 in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2002) 955:101–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2002.tb02770.x
- Jiang L, Yan Y, Liu Z, Wang Y. Inflammation and endometriosis. Front Biosci. (2016) 21:941–8. doi: 10.2741/4431
- Akoum A, Lemay A, McColl SR, Paradis I, Maheux R. Increased monocyte chemotactic protein-1 level and activity in the peripheral blood of women with endometriosis. Le groupe d'investigation en gynecologie. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1996) 175:1620–5. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(96)70115-1
- Reis FM, Petraglia F, Taylor RN. Endometriosis: hormone regulation and clinical consequences of chemotaxis and apoptosis. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2013) 19:406–18. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmt010
- 64. Wu MH, Sun HS, Lin CC, Hsiao KY, Chuang PC, Pan HA, et al. Distinct mechanisms regulate cyclooxygenase-1 and—2 in peritoneal macrophages of women with and without endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2002) 8:1103– 10. doi: 10.1093/molehr/8.12.1103
- 65. Wu MH, Shoji Y, Wu MC, Chuang PC, Lin CC, Huang MF, et al. Suppression of matrix metalloproteinase-9 by prostaglandin E(2) in peritoneal macrophage is associated with severity of endometriosis. Am J Pathol. (2005) 167:1061–9. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)61195-9
- 66. Rana N, Braun DP, House R, Gebel H, Rotman C, Dmowski WP. Basal and stimulated secretion of cytokines by peritoneal macrophages in women with endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (1996) 65:925–30. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)58262-4
- Izumi G, Koga K, Takamura M, Makabe T, Satake E, Takeuchi A, et al. Involvement of immune cells in the pathogenesis of endometriosis. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. (2018) 44:191–98. doi: 10.1111/jog.13559
- Osuga Y, Koga K, Hirota Y, Hirata T, Yoshino O, Taketani Y. Lymphocytes in endometriosis. Am J Reprod Immunol. (2011) 65:1–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00887.x
- de Barros IBL, Malvezzi H, Gueuvoghlanian-Silva BY, Piccinato CA, Rizzo LV, Podgaec S. What do we know about regulatory T cells and endometriosis? A systematic review. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 120:48–55. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.04.003
- Slabe N, Meden-Vrtovec H, Verdenik I, Kosir-Pogacnik R, Ihan A. Cytotoxic T-cells in peripheral blood in women with endometriosis. *Geburtshilfe Frauenheilkd*. (2013) 73:1042–48. doi: 10.1055/s-0033-1350702
- Takamura M, Koga K, Izumi G, Hirata T, Harada M, Hirota Y, et al. Simultaneous detection and evaluation of four subsets of CD4+ T lymphocyte in lesions and peripheral blood in endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 74:480–6. doi: 10.1111/aji.12426
- Podgaec S, Dias Junior JA, Chapron C, Oliveira RM, Baracat EC, Abrao MS. TH1 and TH2 ummune responses related to pelvic endometriosis. *Rev Assoc Med Bras*. (2010) 56:92–8. doi: 10.1590/S0104-42302010000100022
- Hirata T, Osuga Y, Hamasaki K, Yoshino O, Ito M, Hasegawa A, et al. Interleukin (IL)-17A stimulates IL-8 secretion, cyclooxygensase-2 expression, and cell proliferation of endometriotic stromal cells. *Endocrinology*. (2008) 149:1260–7. doi: 10.1210/en.2007-0749
- 74. Jeung I, Cheon K, Kim MR. Decreased cytotoxicity of peripheral and peritoneal natural killer cell in endometriosis. *Biomed Res Int.* (2016) 2016:2916070. doi: 10.1155/2016/2916070
- Oosterlynck DJ, Cornillie FJ, Waer M, Vandeputte M, Koninckx PR. Women with endometriosis show a defect in natural killer activity resulting in a decreased cytotoxicity to autologous endometrium. *Fertil Steril.* (1991) 56:45–51. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)54414-8
- Kikuchi Y, Ishikawa N, Hirata J, Imaizumi E, Sasa H, Nagata I. Changes of peripheral blood lymphocyte subsets before and after operation of patients with endometriosis. *Acta Obstet Gynecol Scand.* (1993) 72:157–61. doi: 10.3109/00016349309013364
- Garzetti GG, Ciavattini A, Provinciali M, Fabris N, Cignitti M, Romanini C. Natural killer cell activity in endometriosis: correlation between serum estradiol levels and cytotoxicity. *Obstet Gynecol.* (1993) 81:665–8.
- Oosterlynck DJ, Meuleman C, Waer M, Vandeputte M, Koninckx PR. The natural killer activity of peritoneal fluid lymphocytes is decreased in women with endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (1992) 58:290–5. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(16)55224-8
- Kirchhoff D, Kaulfuss S, Fuhrmann U, Maurer M, Zollner TM. Mast cells in endometriosis: guilty or innocent bystanders? *Expert Opin Ther Targets*. (2012) 16:237–41. doi: 10.1517/14728222.2012.661415

- Sugamata M, Ihara T, Uchiide I. Increase of activated mast cells in human endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2005) 53:120–5. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2005.00254.x
- Aich A, Afrin LB, Gupta K. Mast cell-mediated mechanisms of nociception. Int J Mol Sci. (2015) 16:29069–92. doi: 10.3390/ijms161226151
- Anaf V, Chapron C, El Nakadi I, De Moor V, Simonart T, Noel JC. Pain, mast cells, and nerves in peritoneal, ovarian, and deep infiltrating endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2006) 86:1336–43. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2006.03.057
- Gonzalez-Ramos R, Defrere S, Devoto L. Nuclear factor-kappaB: a main regulator of inflammation and cell survival in endometriosis pathophysiology. *Fertil Steril.* (2012) 98:520–8. doi: 10.1016/ j.fertnstert.2012.06.021
- Malutan AM, Drugan T, Costin N, Ciortea R, Bucuri C, Rada MP, et al. Pro-inflammatory cytokines for evaluation of inflammatory status in endometriosis. *Cent Eur J Immunol.* (2015) 40:96–102. doi: 10.5114/ ceji.2015.50840
- Attar E, Tokunaga H, Imir G, Yilmaz MB, Redwine D, Putman M, et al. Prostaglandin E2 via steroidogenic factor-1 coordinately regulates transcription of steroidogenic genes necessary for estrogen synthesis in endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2009) 94:623–31. doi: 10.1210/jc.2008-1180
- Kang YJ, Jeung IC, Park A, Park YJ, Jung H, Kim TD, et al. An increased level of IL-6 suppresses NK cell activity in peritoneal fluid of patients with endometriosis via regulation of SHP-2 expression. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:2176–89. doi: 10.1093/humrep/deu172
- Kashanian M, Sariri E, Vahdat M, Ahmari M, Moradi Y, Sheikhansari N. A comparison between serum levels of interleukin-6 and CA125 in patients with endometriosis and normal women. *Med J Islam Repub Iran.* (2015) 29:280. Availabe online at: http://mjiri.iums.ac.ir/article-1-3280-en. html
- Li S, Fu X, Wu T, Yang L, Hu C, Wu R. Role of interleukin-6 and its receptor in endometriosis. *Med Sci Monit.* (2017) 23:3801–07. doi: 10.12659/MSM.905226
- Velasco I, Rueda J, Acien P. Aromatase expression in endometriotic tissues and cell cultures of patients with endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2006) 12:377–81. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gal041
- Horie S, Harada T, Mitsunari M, Taniguchi F, Iwabe T, Terakawa N. Progesterone and progestational compounds attenuate tumor necrosis factor alpha-induced interleukin-8 production via nuclear factor kappa B inactivation in endometriotic stromal cells. *Fertil Steril.* (2005) 83:1530–5. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2004.11.042
- Iwabe T, Harada T, Tsudo T, Nagano Y, Yoshida S, Tanikawa M, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha promotes proliferation of endometriotic stromal cells by inducing interleukin-8 gene and protein expression. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2000) 85:824–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.85.2.6335
- 92. Kim YA, Kim JY, Kim MR, Hwang KJ, Chang DY, Jeon MK. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha-induced cyclooxygenase-2 overexpression in eutopic endometrium of women with endometriosis by stromal cell culture through nuclear factor-kappaB activation. *J Reprod Med.* (2009) 54:625–30. Availabe online at: http://www.reproductivemedicine.com/toc/auto_article_process. php?year=2009&page=625&id=23684&sn=0
- 93. Chen DB, Yang ZM, Hilsenrath R, Le SP, Harper MJ. Stimulation of prostaglandin (PG) F2 alpha and PGE2 release by tumour necrosis factor-alpha and interleukin-1 alpha in cultured human luteal phase endometrial cells. *Hum Reprod.* (1995) 10:2773–80. doi: 10.1093/ oxfordjournals.humrep.a135790
- 94. Grund EM, Kagan D, Tran CA, Zeitvogel A, Starzinski-Powitz A, Nataraja S, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha regulates inflammatory and mesenchymal responses via mitogen-activated protein kinase kinase, p38, and nuclear factor kappaB in human endometriotic epithelial cells. *Mol Pharmacol.* (2008) 73:1394–404. doi: 10.1124/mol.107.042176
- Zhang X, Xu H, Lin J, Qian Y, Deng L. Peritoneal fluid concentrations of interleukin-17 correlate with the severity of endometriosis and infertility of this disorder. *BJOG*. (2005) 112:1153–5. doi: 10.1111/ j.1471-0528.2005.00639.x
- 96. Ahn SH, Edwards AK, Singh SS, Young SL, Lessey BA, Tayade C. IL-17A contributes to the pathogenesis of endometriosis by triggering proinflammatory cytokines and angiogenic growth factors. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:2591–600. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1501138

- 97. Klein NA, Pergola GM, Rao-Tekmal R, Dey TD, Schenken RS. Enhanced expression of resident leukocyte interferon gamma mRNA in endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (1993) 30:74–81. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.1993.tb00605.x
- Malutan AM, Drugan T, Ciortea R, Bucuri C, Rada MP, Mihu D. Endometriosis-associated changes in serum levels of interferons and chemokines. *Turk J Med Sci.* (2017) 47:115–22. doi: 10.3906/sag-1507-185
- Podgaec S, Abrao MS, Dias JA, Jr, Rizzo LV, de Oliveira RM, Baracat EC. Endometriosis: an inflammatory disease with a TH2 immune response component. *Hum Reprod.* (2007) 22:1373–9. doi: 10.1093/humrep/del516
- 100. Noble LS, Takayama K, Zeitoun KM, Putman JM, Johns DA, Hinshelwood MM, et al. Prostaglandin E2 stimulates aromatase expression in endometriosis-derived stromal cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1997) 82:600–6. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.2.600
- 101. Tamura M, Sebastian S, Yang S, Gurates B, Ferrer K, Sasano H, et al. Up-regulation of cyclooxygenase-2 expression and prostaglandin synthesis in endometrial stromal cells by malignant endometrial epithelial cells. A paracrine effect mediated by prostaglandin E2 and nuclear factor-kappa b. *J Biol Chem*. (2002) 277:26208–16. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M201347200
- 102. Luk J, Seval Y, Ulukus M, Ulukus EC, Arici A, Kayisli UA. Regulation of monocyte chemotactic protein-1 expression in human endometrial endothelial cells by sex steroids: a potential mechanism for leukocyte recruitment in endometriosis. *Reprod Sci.* (2010) 17:278–87. doi: 10.1177/1933719109352380
- 103. Zhou WJ, Yang HL, Shao J, Mei J, Chang KK, Zhu R, et al. Antiinflammatory cytokines in endometriosis. *Cell Mol Life Sci.* (2019) 76:2111– 32. doi: 10.1007/s00018-019-03056-x
- 104. OuYang Z, Hirota Y, Osuga Y, Hamasaki K, Hasegawa A, Tajima T, et al. Interleukin-4 stimulates proliferation of endometriotic stromal cells. Am J Pathol. (2008) 173:463–9. doi: 10.2353/ajpath.2008.071044
- 105. Suen JL, Chang Y, Chiu PR, Hsieh TH, Hsi E, Chen YC, et al. Serum level of IL-10 is increased in patients with endometriosis, and IL-10 promotes the growth of lesions in a murine model. *Am J Pathol.* (2014) 184:464–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ajpath.2013.10.023
- 106. Ho HN, Wu MY, Chao KH, Chen CD, Chen SU, Yang YS. Peritoneal interleukin-10 increases with decrease in activated CD4+ T lymphocytes in women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1997) 12:2528–33. doi: 10.1093/humrep/12.11.2528
- 107. Pierzchalski K, Taylor RN, Nezhat C, Jones JW, Napoli JL, Yang G, et al. Retinoic acid biosynthesis is impaired in human and murine endometriosis. *Biol Reprod.* (2014) 91:84. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.114.119677
- Pavone ME, Reierstad S, Sun H, Milad M, Bulun SE, Cheng YH. Altered retinoid uptake and action contributes to cell survival in endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (2010) 95:E300–9. doi: 10.1210/jc.2010-0459
- 109. Mu F, Harris HR, Rich-Edwards JW, Hankinson SE, Rimm EB, Spiegelman D, et al. A prospective study of inflammatory markers and risk of endometriosis. Am J Epidemiol. (2018) 187:515–22. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwx272
- 110. Jorgensen H, Hill AS, Beste MT, Kumar MP, Chiswick E, Fedorcsak P, et al. Peritoneal fluid cytokines related to endometriosis in patients evaluated for infertility. *Fertil Steril.* (2017) 107:1191–99 e2. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2017.03.013
- 111. Scholl B, Bersinger NA, Kuhn A, Mueller MD. Correlation between symptoms of pain and peritoneal fluid inflammatory cytokine concentrations in endometriosis. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2009) 25:701–6. doi: 10.3109/09513590903159680
- Rathinam VA, Fitzgerald KA. Inflammasome complexes: emerging mechanisms and effector functions. *Cell.* (2016) 165:792–800. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2016.03.046
- 113. Bullon P, Navarro JM. Inflammasome as a key pathogenic mechanism in endometriosis. *Curr Drug Targets*. (2017) 18:997–1002. doi: 10.2174/1389450117666160709013850
- 114. Latz E, Xiao TS, Stutz A. Activation and regulation of the inflammasomes. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2013) 13:397–411. doi: 10.1038/nri3452
- 115. Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. *Nature*. (2012) 481:278–86. doi: 10.1038/nature 10759
- 116. D'Ippolito S, Tersigni C, Marana R, Di Nicuolo F, Gaglione R, Rossi ED, et al. Inflammosome in the human endometrium: further step in the evaluation of the "maternal side." *Fertil Steril.* (2016) 105:111–8 e1–4. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2015.09.027

- 117. Bergqvist A, Bruse C, Carlberg M, Carlstrom K. Interleukin Ibeta, interleukin-6, and tumor necrosis factor-alpha in endometriotic tissue and in endometrium. *Fertil Steril.* (2001) 75:489–95. doi: 10.1016/S0015-0282(00)01752-0
- Sikora J, Mielczarek-Palacz A, Kondera-Anasz Z. Imbalance in cytokines from interleukin-1 family—role in pathogenesis of endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2012) 68:138–45. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01147.x
- 119. Khan KN, Fujishita A, Hiraki K, Kitajima M, Nakashima M, Fushiki S, et al. Bacterial contamination hypothesis: a new concept in endometriosis. *Reprod Med Biol.* (2018) 17:125–33. doi: 10.1002/rmb2.12083
- 120. Khan KN, Kitajima M, Hiraki K, Yamaguchi N, Katamine S, Matsuyama T, et al. Escherichia coli contamination of menstrual blood and effect of bacterial endotoxin on endometriosis. *Fertil Steril.* (2010) 94:2860–3 e1–3. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2010.04.053
- 121. Khan KN, Kitajima M, Yamaguchi N, Fujishita A, Nakashima M, Ishimaru T, et al. Role of prostaglandin E2 in bacterial growth in women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (2012) 27:3417–24. doi: 10.1093/humrep/des331
- 122. Keyama K, Kato T, Kadota Y, Erdenebayar O, Kasai K, Kawakita T, et al. Lipopolysaccharide promotes early endometrial-peritoneal interactions in a mouse model of endometriosis. *J Med Invest.* (2019) 66(1.2):70–74. doi: 10.2152/jmi.66.70
- 123. Azuma Y, Taniguchi F, Nakamura K, Nagira K, Khine YM, Kiyama T, et al. Lipopolysaccharide promotes the development of murine endometriosislike lesions via the nuclear factor-kappa B pathway. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2017) 77:e12631. doi: 10.1111/aji.12631
- 124. Khan KN, Kitajima M, Fujishita A, Nakashima M, Masuzaki H. Toll-like receptor system and endometriosis. J Obstet Gynaecol Res. (2013) 39:1281– 92. doi: 10.1111/jog.12117
- 125. Giudice LC. Challenging dogma: the endometrium has a microbiome with functional consequences! Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2016) 215:682–83. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.09.085
- 126. Garcia-Grau I, Simon C, Moreno I. Uterine microbiome-low biomass and high expectations. *Biol Reprod.* (2018) 101:1102–14. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ioy257
- 127. Moreno I, Codoner FM, Vilella F, Valbuena D, Martinez-Blanch JF, Jimenez-Almazan J, et al. Evidence that the endometrial microbiota has an effect on implantation success or failure. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2016) 215:684–703. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2016.09.075
- 128. Fang RL, Chen LX, Shu WS, Yao SZ, Wang SW, Chen YQ. Barcoded sequencing reveals diverse intrauterine microbiomes in patients suffering with endometrial polyps. *Am J Transl Res.* (2016) 8:1581–92. Availabe online at: http://www.ajtr.org/files/ajtr0025246.pdf
- 129. Chen C, Song X, Wei W, Zhong H, Dai J, Lan Z, et al. The microbiota continuum along the female reproductive tract and its relation to uterine-related diseases. *Nat Commun.* (2017) 8:875. doi: 10.1038/s41467-017-00901-0
- 130. Verstraelen H, Vilchez-Vargas R, Desimpel F, Jauregui R, Vankeirsbilck N, Weyers S, et al. Characterisation of the human uterine microbiome in nonpregnant women through deep sequencing of the V1–2 region of the 16S rRNA gene. *PeerJ*. (2016) 4:e1602. doi: 10.7717/peerj.1602
- 131. Franasiak JM, Werner MD, Juneau CR, Tao X, Landis J, Zhan Y, et al. Endometrial microbiome at the time of embryo transfer: next-generation sequencing of the 16S ribosomal subunit. J Assist Reprod Genet. (2016) 33:129–36. doi: 10.1007/s10815-015-0614-z
- 132. Mitchell CM, Haick A, Nkwopara E, Garcia R, Rendi M, Agnew K, et al. Colonization of the upper genital tract by vaginal bacterial species in non-pregnant women. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (2015) 212:611 e1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2014.11.043
- Pelzer ES, Willner D, Buttini M, Huygens F. A role for the endometrial microbiome in dysfunctional menstrual bleeding. *Antonie Van Leeuwenhoek*. (2018) 111:933–43. doi: 10.1007/s10482-017-0992-6
- 134. Ata B, Yildiz S, Turkgeldi E, Brocal VP, Dinleyici EC, Moya A, et al. The endobiota study: comparison of vaginal, cervical and gut microbiota between women with stage 3/4 endometriosis and healthy controls. *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:2204. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-39700-6
- 135. Akiyama K, Nishioka K, Khan KN, Tanaka Y, Mori T, Nakaya T, et al. Molecular detection of microbial colonization in cervical mucus of women with and without endometriosis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 82:e13147. doi: 10.1111/aji.13147

- 136. Winters AD, Romero R, Gervasi MT, Gomez-Lopez N, Tran MR, Garcia-Flores V, et al. Does the endometrial cavity have a molecular microbial signature? *Sci Rep.* (2019) 9:9905. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-46173-0
- Taylor RN, Lebovic DI. Chapter 24—endometriosis. In: Strauss JF, Barbieri RL, editors. Yen & Jaffe's Reproductive Endocrinology. 6th ed. Philadelphia, PA: W.B. Saunders (2009). p. 577–95. doi: 10.1016/B978-1-4160-4907-4.00024-3
- Achache H, Revel A. Endometrial receptivity markers, the journey to successful embryo implantation. *Hum Reprod Update*. (2006) 12:731–46. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dml004
- Vinketova K, Mourdjeva M, Oreshkova T. Human decidual stromal cells as a component of the implantation niche and a modulator of maternal immunity. J Pregnancy. (2016) 2016:8689436. doi: 10.1155/2016/8689436
- Gellersen B, Brosens J. Cyclic amp and progesterone receptor cross-talk in human endometrium: a decidualizing affair. *J Endocrinol.* (2003) 178:357–72. doi: 10.1677/joe.0.1780357
- Brosens JJ, Hayashi N, White JO. Progesterone receptor regulates decidual prolactin expression in differentiating human endometrial stromal cells. *Endocrinology*. (1999) 140:4809–20. doi: 10.1210/endo.140.10.7070
- 142. Pina Carvalho LF, Hui CYY, Agarwal A. Endometriosis and infertility: biomarkers affecting implantation rate. *Expert Rev Obstet Gynecol.* (2013) 8:467–73. doi: 10.1586/17474108.2013.825456
- 143. Burney RO, Talbi S, Hamilton AE, Vo KC, Nyegaard M, Nezhat CR, et al. Gene expression analysis of endometrium reveals progesterone resistance and candidate susceptibility genes in women with endometriosis. *Endocrinology*. (2007) 148:3814–26. doi: 10.1210/en.2006-1692
- 144. Klemmt PA, Carver JG, Kennedy SH, Koninckx PR, Mardon HJ. Stromal cells from endometriotic lesions and endometrium from women with endometriosis have reduced decidualization capacity. *Fertil Steril.* (2006) 85:564–72. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2005.08.046
- 145. Lessey BA, Castelbaum AJ, Sawin SW, Buck CA, Schinnar R, Bilker W, et al. Aberrant integrin expression in the endometrium of women with endometriosis. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1994) 79:643–9. doi: 10.1210/jcem.79.2.7519194
- 146. Somkuti SG, Yuan L, Fritz MA, Lessey BA. Epidermal growth factor and sex steroids dynamically regulate a marker of endometrial receptivity in Ishikawa cells. J Clin Endocrinol Metab. (1997) 82:2192–7. doi: 10.1210/jc.82.7.2192
- Daftary GS, Troy PJ, Bagot CN, Young SL, Taylor HS. Direct regulation of beta3-integrin subunit gene expression by HOXA10 in endometrial cells. *Mol Endocrinol.* (2002) 16:571–9. doi: 10.1210/me.16.3.571
- 148. Zhu LH, Sun LH, Hu YL, Jiang Y, Liu HY, Shen XY, et al. Pcaf impairs endometrial receptivity and embryo implantation by down-regulating β3integrin expression via HOXA10 acetylation. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2013) 98:4417–28. doi: 10.1210/jc.2013-1429
- 149. Wu Y, Halverson G, Basir Z, Strawn E, Yan P, Guo SW. Aberrant methylation at HOXA10 may be responsible for its aberrant expression in the endometrium of patients with endometriosis. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2005) 193:371–80. doi: 10.1016/j.ajog.2005.01.034
- Modi D, Godbole G. HOXA10 signals on the highway through pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2009) 83:72–8. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2009.07.009
- 151. Szczepanska M, Wirstlein P, Skrzypczak J. HOXA11 gene expression in women with and without impaired infertility. *Ginekol Pol.* (2010) 81:414–21.
- 152. Bao L, Tessier C, Prigent-Tessier A, Li F, Buzzio OL, Callegari EA, et al. Decidual prolactin silences the expression of genes detrimental to pregnancy. *Endocrinology*. (2007) 148:2326–34. doi: 10.1210/en.2006-1643
- 153. Taylor HS, Bagot C, Kardana A, Olive D, Arici A. HOX gene expression is altered in the endometrium of women with endometriosis. *Hum Reprod.* (1999) 14:1328–31. doi: 10.1093/humrep/14.5.1328
- 154. Large MJ, DeMayo FJ. The regulation of embryo implantation and endometrial decidualization by progesterone receptor signaling. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2012) 358:155–65. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.07.027
- 155. Matsuzaki S, Darcha C, Maleysson E, Canis M, Mage G. Impaired down-regulation of E-cadherin and beta-catenin protein expression in endometrial epithelial cells in the mid-secretory endometrium of infertile patients with endometriosis. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab.* (2010) 95:3437–45. doi: 10.1210/jc.2009-2713
- 156. Wang Y, Hanifi-Moghaddam P, Hanekamp EE, Kloosterboer HJ, Franken P, Veldscholte J, et al. Progesterone inhibition of Wnt/beta-catenin signaling

in normal endometrium and endometrial cancer. Clin Cancer Res. (2009) 15:5784–93. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0814

- 157. Lessey BA, Lebovic DI, Taylor RN. Eutopic endometrium in women with endometriosis: ground zero for the study of implantation defects. *Semin Reprod Med.* (2013) 31:109–24. doi: 10.1055/s-0032-1333476
- 158. Broi MGD, Rocha CVJ, Meola J, Martins WP, Carvalho FM, Ferriani RA, et al. Expression of PGR, HBEGF, ITGAV, ITGB3 and SPP1 genes in eutopic endometrium of infertile women with endometriosis during the implantation window: a pilot study. *JBRA Assist Reprod.* (2017) 21:196–202. doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20170038
- 159. Kocbek V, Vouk K, Mueller MD, Rizner TL, Bersinger NA. Elevated glycodelin-a concentrations in serum and peritoneal fluid of women with ovarian endometriosis. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2013) 29:455–9. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2013.769516
- 160. Schmitz CR, Oehninger S, Genro VK, Chandra N, Lattanzio F, Yu L, et al. Alterations in expression of endometrial milk fat globule-EGF factor 8 (MFG-E8) and leukemia inhibitory factor (LIF) in patients with infertility and endometriosis. *JBRA Assist Reprod.* (2017) 21:313–20. doi: 10.5935/1518-0557.20170056
- 161. Dimitriadis E, Stoikos C, Stafford-Bell M, Clark I, Paiva P, Kovacs G, et al. Interleukin-11, IL-11 receptoralpha and leukemia inhibitory factor are dysregulated in endometrium of infertile women with endometriosis during the implantation window. *J Reprod Immunol.* (2006) 69:53–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2005.07.004
- 162. Yu J, Berga SL, Zou W, Taylor RN. Interleukin-1β inhibits estrogen receptor-α, progesterone receptors A and B and biomarkers of human endometrial stromal cell differentiation: implications for endometriosis. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2019). 25:625–37. doi: 10.1093/molehr/ gaz045
- 163. Yoo JY, Kim TH, Fazleabas AT, Palomino WA, Ahn SH, Tayade C, et al. KRAS activation and over-expression of SIRT1/BCL6 contributes to the pathogenesis of endometriosis and progesterone resistance. *Sci Rep.* (2017) 7:6765. doi: 10.1038/s41598-017-04577-w
- 164. Dull AM, Moga MA, Dimienescu OG, Sechel G, Burtea V, Anastasiu CV. Therapeutic approaches of resveratrol on endometriosis via antiinflammatory and anti-angiogenic pathways. *Molecules*. (2019) 24:e667. doi: 10.3390/molecules24040667
- 165. Ozcan Cenksoy P, Oktem M, Erdem O, Karakaya C, Cenksoy C, Erdem A, et al. A potential novel treatment strategy: inhibition of angiogenesis and inflammation by resveratrol for regression of endometriosis in an experimental rat model. *Gynecol Endocrinol.* (2015) 31:219–24. doi: 10.3109/09513590.2014.976197
- 166. Liu Y, Qin X, Lu X. Crocin improves endometriosis by inhibiting cell proliferation and the release of inflammatory factors. *Biomed Pharmacother*. (2018) 106:1678–85. doi: 10.1016/j.biopha.2018.07.108
- 167. Wei X, Shao X. Nobiletin alleviates endometriosis via down-regulating NF-κB activity in endometriosis mouse model. *Biosci Rep.* (2018) 38:BSR20180470. doi: 10.1042/BSR20180470
- 168. Woo JH, Ahn JH, Jang DS, Choi JH. Effect of dehydrocostus lactone isolated from the roots of *Aucklandia lappa* on the apoptosis of endometriotic cells and the alternative activation of endometriosis-associated macrophages. *Am J Chin Med.* (2019):1–17. doi: 10.1142/S0192415X1950 0666
- Taylor HS, Alderman Iii M, D'Hooghe TM, Fazleabas AT, Duleba AJ. Effect of simvastatin on baboon endometriosis. *Biol Reprod.* (2017) 97:32–38. doi: 10.1093/biolre/iox058

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 García-Gómez, Vázquez-Martínez, Reyes-Mayoral, Cruz-Orozco, Camacho-Arroyo and Cerbón. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Role of the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Preeclampsia

Koumei Shirasuna^{1*}, Tadayoshi Karasawa² and Masafumi Takahashi²

¹ Department of Animal Science, Tokyo University of Agriculture, Atsugi, Japan, ² Division of Inflammation Research, Center for Molecular Medicine, Jichi Medical University, Shimotsuke, Japan

Reproduction involves tightly regulated series of events and the immune system is involved in an array of reproductive processes. Disruption of well-controlled immune functions leads to infertility, placental inflammation, and numerous pregnancy complications, including preeclampsia (PE). Inflammasomes are involved in the process of pathogen clearance and sterile inflammation. They are large multi-protein complexes that are located in the cytosol and play key roles in the production of the pivotal inflammatory cytokines, interleukin (IL)-1β and IL-18, and pyroptosis. The nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain, leucine-rich repeat-, and pyrin domain-containing 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome is a key mediator of sterile inflammation induced by various types of damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs). Recent evidence indicates that the NLRP3 inflammasome is involved in pregnancy dysfunction, including PE. Many DAMPs (uric acid, palmitic acid, high-mobility group box 1, advanced glycation end products, extracellular vesicles, cell-free DNA, and free fatty acids) are increased and associated with pregnancy complications, especially PE. This review focuses on the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in the pathophysiology of PE.

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Even Schjenken, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Xian-Hui He, Jinan University, China Udo Jeschke, Ludwig-Maximilians-Universität München, Germany

> *Correspondence: Koumei Shirasuna ks205312@nodai.ac.jp

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 10 October 2019 Accepted: 07 February 2020 Published: 25 February 2020

Citation:

Shirasuna K, Karasawa T and Takahashi M (2020) Role of the NLRP3 Inflammasome in Preeclampsia. Front. Endocrinol. 11:80. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00080 Keywords: NLRP3 inflammasome, pregnancy, preeclampsia, interleukin-1 β , inflammation

INTRODUCTION

Reproduction, including development of oocyte and sperm, ovulation, corpus luteum function, fertilization, implantation, placentation, maintenance of pregnancy, and parturition, is essential for species maintenance, and reproductive events for next generation are tightly regulated (1). Pregnancy has been studied extensively over the years (2). From the perspective of the maternal immune system, a conceptus is a semi-allogeneic tissue that must be rejected; however, that does not generally happen. It was quickly ruled out that the fetus is shielded from the maternal immune system via the placenta acting as a physical barrier because the fetal extravillous trophoblast cells deeply penetrate the uterine mucosa and directly communicate with various maternal immune cells to avoid rejection (3).

Inflammation is basically a complex protective immune response to harmful stimuli such as pathogens, damaged or dead cells, and irritants (4). This response is tightly regulated by the host, enabling survival after infection or injury and maintaining tissue homeostasis. However, excessive inflammation may cause chronic or systemic inflammatory diseases. On the other hand, the immune system also contributes to the regulation of reproductive function and pregnancy (5). Immune-mediated processes such as tissue growth, remodeling, and differentiation are crucial to maintain pregnancy (1, 5). Disruption of well-controlled immune functions leads to infertility, placental inflammation, and numerous pregnancy complications, such as preeclampsia

(PE), obesity during pregnancy, gestational diabetes mellitus (GDM), spontaneous abortion, and recurrent pregnancy loss (6–8).

There is an increasing body of evidence to suggest that inflammation and immune cells are involved in both physiology and pathophysiology of pregnancy. Since infection is not involved in the majority of the phenomena related to pregnancy physiology and pathology, it remains unclear why inflammation is involved. Recently, there have been numerous reports of inflammasome mechanisms that control sterile inflammation involved in pregnancy pathologies. Inflammasomes are large multi-protein complexes found in the cytosol that play key roles in the production of the pivotal inflammatory cytokines, interleukin (IL)-1\beta and IL-18, and pyroptosis (inflammatory cell death) [(9-11); Figure 1]. In particular, nucleotide-binding oligomerization domain, leucine-rich repeat-, and pyrin domaincontaining 3 (NLRP3) inflammasome is a key mediator of sterile inflammation. Excessive activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome contributes to the pathogenesis of a wide variety of diseases, such as diabetes, atherosclerosis, and obesity-induced insulin resistance (12-17). The present review focuses on the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in placental inflammation and pregnancy complications, especially PE.

IMMUNE CELLS INVOLVED IN PREGNANCY

The most important immune cells that induce pregnancy immune tolerance is CD4+ regulatory T cells (Tregs) (18). The transcription factor, forkhead boxP3 (Foxp3), is a master regulator of the development and function of Tregs (19). The frequency of Foxp3+Tregs increases during normal pregnancy in the decidua and peripheral blood in humans and mice (20-22). Shima et al. (23) used an animal model to demonstrate that CD4⁺CD25⁺Foxp3⁺ Tregs play a critical role in regulating immune tolerance at the implantation site to support implantation and successful pregnancy. The frequency of Tregs is lower in human pregnancy complications such as PE or miscarriage (24). In addition, seminal fluid induces and accumulates paternal-specific Tregs that are involved in the preimplantation uterus, and insufficient expansion of Tregs against paternal antigens may trigger spontaneous abortion (25).

Natural killer (NK) cells, particularly decidual NK cells, are also essential immune cells involved in establishing pregnancy; they are the most abundant leukocyte population during the first trimester of human pregnancy (1, 26). Decidual NK cells directly communicate with extravillous trophoblast cells and other immune cells in the fetal-maternal boundary area, and promote fetal tolerance and pregnancy progression (26).

Monocytes also accumulate in the decidua, in a process that involves communication with trophoblast cells (1, 27). They can differentiate into dendritic cells (DCs) in the decidua during murine and human pregnancy (28, 29). DCs regulate immune tolerance by inducing effector T cell apoptosis and expansion of Tregs due to reduced antigen presentation, reduced expression of co-stimulatory molecules, or enhanced production of anti-inflammatory IL-10 (1, 30). Monocytes also differentiate into macrophages depending on the tissue, and polarization of macrophages is well-understood (inflammatory M1 and antiinflammatory M2 type macrophages). It has been suggested that dysfunction of decidual macrophages and dysregulation of M1/M2 balance are critical events in the pathogenesis of PE. Moreover, activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in the reproductive organs including placenta is known to occur by these macrophages.

MECHANISMS OF NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME ACTIVATION

Inflammasomes recognize various inflammation-inducing stimuli, such as endogenous danger/damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) and exogenous pathogenassociated molecular patterns (PAMPs). They tightly regulate the production of proinflammatory cytokines such as IL-1ß and IL-18 (9, 13, 31). The NLRP3 inflammasome is the most widely studied and is activated in response to a wide array of stimuli, including exogenous and endogenous danger signals [(9, 11); Figure 1]. The NLRP3 inflammasome is typically composed of NLRP3, apoptosis-associated speck-like protein containing a caspase recruitment domain (ASC), and caspase-1 as an IL-1 β -converting enzyme (32). Activation of NLRP3 in response to danger signals leads to nucleation of ASC into prion-like filaments via pyrin domain (PYD)-PYD interactions (33). ASC is then linearly ubiquitinated for NLRP3 inflammasome assembly, followed by procaspase-1 interaction with ASC using caspase recruitment domain (CARD)-CARD interactions, forming its own prion-like filaments (34). Activated caspase-1 (a cysteine protease) cleaves the precursor cytokines, pro-IL-1 β and pro-IL-18, generating the biologically active cytokines, IL-1 β and IL-18, respectively (9-11). Moreover, active caspase-1 is able to induce pyroptosis as an inflammatory form of cell death due to cleaved gasdermin D (GSDMD) (35, 36). Caspase-1 proteolytically cleaves GSDMD into a N-terminal domain and C-terminal domain. Cleaved N-terminal domain of GSDMD binds to phosphatidylinositol phosphates and phosphatidylserine in the cell membrane, forming a 10-20 nm pore and induces a lytic form of cell death, pyroptosis (36). Another feature of gasdermin D-dependent pyroptosis is the release of IL-1ß and IL-18 via GSDMD-forming cell membrane pore.

The production and secretion of mature IL-1 β are regulated via two steps, including the transcription of pro-IL-1 β and proteolytic processing into a mature form IL-1 β by inflammasomes (9–11). Prior to its activation, NLRP3 must be primed in most cell types. Nuclear factor κ B (NF- κ B)-activating stimuli, such as lipopolysaccharide (LPS), upregulate mRNA expression of *NLRP3* and *IL-1\beta*, resulting in elevated expression of NLRP3 and pro-IL-1 β protein (9–11). On the other hand, another priming step facilitates the rapid induction of the NLRP3 inflammasome via deubiquitination of NLRP3 (37, 38).

The upstream mechanisms of NLRP3 activation have been elucidated by many studies, and include the release of cathepsins into the cytosol after lysosomal destabilization,



potassium efflux, generation of mitochondrial reactive oxygen species (ROS), and release of mitochondrial DNA (39, 40). Cytosolic leakage of cathepsin B via lysosomal rupture is essential for NLRP3 inflammasome activation, especially by endogenous DAMPs (41). Leakage of cathepsin B also leads to potassium efflux and mitochondrial damage. Potassium efflux and reduced potassium concentration within cells result in NLRP3 inflammasome activation (10). In response to potassium efflux, NEK7 (a member of the family of mammalian NIMArelated kinases) directly interacts with NLRP3 inflammasome (42, 43). Cellular and mitochondrial ROS production also act as NLRP3 inflammasome activators (44, 45). Furthermore, recent studies have demonstrated that the NLRP3 inflammasome is tightly regulated by multiple mechanisms, including ubiquitination, phosphorylation, nitrosylation, microRNAs, and endogenous regulators (e.g., pyrin-only proteins and CARD-only proteins) (9, 46-48).

Following NLRP3 activation through the above mentioned regulatory mechanisms, NLRP3 relocates from endoplasmic reticulum to the mitochondria, where it forms complexes with ASC (49). IL-1 β and IL-18 secretion is regulated by caspase-1 activation by many NLRP3 inflammasome activators, including monosodium urate (MSU) crystals, silica crystals, asbestos, and cholesterol crystals (12, 13, 31, 50). Additionally to the canonical

pathway of the NLRP3 inflammasome, the inflammasome activation can also be indirectly triggered by caspase-11 in mice (or the homologs caspase-4 and caspase-5 in humans), which has been termed the non-canonical inflammasome pathway (51). In this non-canonical pathway, caspase-11 directly recognized and binds to intracellular LPS, resulting in its oligomerization and activation by autoproteolytic cleavage (35). Then, caspase-11 can directly induce the cleavage of GSDMD to induce pyroptosis (35, 36). Details of the structure and activation mechanism of the NLRP3 inflammasome are refer to following great reviews (10, 17, 39, 40, 52).

PREECLAMPSIA AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME

PE is a pregnancy-specific hypertensive syndrome that complicates around 5–10% of all pregnancies worldwide (53), and is a leading cause of maternal and fetal morbidity and mortality. It is characterized by the onset of hypertension and proteinuria in the third trimester of pregnancy, and is associated with 12% of infants with fetal growth restriction (FGR) and approximately 20% of preterm deliveries (54). The clinical manifestations of PE reflect widespread systemic inflammation

and endothelial dysfunction, resulting in vasoconstriction, end-organ ischemia and increased vascular permeability (55). The placenta has been shown to play a central role in the pathogenesis of PE due to the rapid disappearance of disease symptoms after delivery. Thus, placenta-derived circulating factor(s) may induce excessive inflammation and endothelial defects, leading to PE (56).

During normal pregnancy, trophoblast cells invade, and remodeling of maternal spiral arteries and the fetoplacental unit produce angiogenic factors, such as vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and placental growth factor (PIGF), to support the developing placenta (57, 58). Inadequate trophoblast remodeling of spiral arteries, which is a key feature of PE, is believed to result of dysregulation in placental angiogenesis and maternal immune response (55). Following that, various inflammatory factors are produced by the diseased and hypoxic placenta, which activates systemic inflammatory responses (27, 59). It is widely recognized that antiangiogenic factors, including soluble endoglin (sEng; a coreceptor for transforming growth factor β) and soluble fmslike tyrosine kinase (sFlt-1; a receptor for VEGF), induce PElike phenomena (57, 60). Indeed, overexpression of sEng and sFlt-1 in pregnant rats leads to severe PE symptoms including hypertension, proteinuria, renal and endothelial dysfunction, hemolysis, elevated liver enzymes, and FGR (60).

Pathophysiological changes of PE include inflammation and immune cell activation (61–63). The main pathological features of PE include a general inflammatory response by cytokines, such as IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and tumor necrosis factor- α (TNF α) (7, 64, 65). Siljee et al. (66) reported that IL-1 β has a potential to improve prediction of PE during the first trimester. A decreased frequency of peripheral Tregs is characteristic immune cell dynamics seen in PE patients (6). On the other hand, M2-like immunomodulatory macrophages are abundantly present in the decidua in healthy pregnant women and participate in spiral artery remodeling via the angiogenic factors, VEGF and PIGF (27). Increased numbers of M1-like inflammatory macrophages are observed in PE patients and may be associated with increase in inflammatory cytokines, decreased spiral artery remodeling, and increased production of sFIt-1 and sEng (27).

In recent years, there has been a rapid increase in reports that the NLRP3 inflammasome is involved in the pathogenesis of PE (**Figure 2**). Higher expression of components of the NLRP3 inflammasome has been reported in peripheral blood mononuclear cells and placental tissue from PE patients compared with that of healthy normal pregnant women (67–69). In addition to immune cells, human trophoblast cells express NLRP3, ASC and caspase-1 that are components of the NLRP3 inflammasome (70–72). IL-1 β secretion is induced in response to nigericin or nanosilica crystals, typical activators of the NLRP3 inflammasome, in human trophoblast cells (71, 72).

HYPERTENSION AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Maternal hypertension is a characteristic of PE and the reninangiotensin system has been implicated in its pathogenesis of PE (73, 74) generated a mouse model of PE-like symptoms by mating females expressing human angiotensinogen with males expressing human renin, resulting in mice exhibiting maternal hypertension, proteinuria, and FGR. Angiotensin II (AngII) is a strong vasoconstrictor that contributes to hypertension and stimulates sFlt-1 production and secretion from the placenta in mice (75). Infusion of AngII in pregnant mice can lead to high maternal blood pressure, proteinuria, and FGR (75, 76). Deficiency of NLRP3 inflammasome components attenuates the development of AngII-induced hypertension, but does not affect FGR, proteinuria, or sFlt1 levels (76).

Furthermore, during non-pregnant conditions, infusion of AngII induces hypertension with activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in the aorta, and NLRP3 deficiency attenuated AngII-induced hypertension via inhibition of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in mice (77). A murine experimental hypertension model (uninephrectomy and treatment with deoxycorticosterone acetate and 0.9% NaCl in the drinking water) induced activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome in kidney and specific NLRP3 inhibitor, MCC950, inhibited the NLRP3 inflammasome and inflammation, resulting in improvement of hypertension in mice (78). In rats, salt-induced hypertension occurs partly due to the role of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in the hypothalamic paraventricular nucleus, while blockade of brain NLRP3 attenuates the hypertensive response (79). An absence of ASC also reduces pulmonary hypertension induced by hypoxia (80). These findings suggest that the NLRP3 inflammasome contributes to the development of hypertension in both pregnant and non-pregnant situations. On the other hand, NLRP3 inflammasome has been shown to contribute to a wide range of acute and chronic kidney diseases (81); the importance of NLRP3 inflammasome in renal pathologic abnormalities in PE pathology is not well-understood.

ACTIVATION OF NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME BY DAMPS IN PE

Release of DAMPs from various cells during stress has been implicated in pregnancy complications. In PE patients, many DAMPs, such as, cholesterol, uric acid crystals (MSU), extracellular DNA, high-mobility group box 1 (HMGB1), extracellular cell debris, advanced glycation end-products (AGEs), and free fatty acids, have been detected in higher levels in the peripheral blood and placenta (**Figure 2**) and act as NLRP3 inflammasome activators.

CHOLESTEROL AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Cholesterol crystals activate inflammatory responses and promote inflammatory cell infiltration, resulting in progression of atherosclerosis and development of cardiovascular disease (16, 82). Cholesterol crystals also cause lysosome rupture, resulting in the release of cathepsin B to the cytosol, and are a candidate activator of the NLRP3 inflammasome (82, 83).



Maternal cholesterol serum levels are elevated in PE and cholesterol accumulates in placenta of PE patients, along with increased levels of NLRP3 and IL-1\beta expression (84, 85). In an in vitro human placental explant experiment, treatment with cholesterol crystals significantly increased the release of IL-1β, and cholesterol crystal-induced IL-1β secretion was suppressed by treatment with MCC950, as a specific inhibitor of the NLRP3 inflammasome (84). Cholesterol crystals also strongly activated the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages and induced IL-1ß secretion, dependent on activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome (82, 83, 86). In addition to macrophages, cholesterol crystals markedly increase the formation and activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in endothelial cells, as demonstrated by increased colocalization of NLRP3 with ASC or caspase-1, enhanced caspase-1 activity, and elevated IL-1 β secretion in mice (87). These findings indicate that cholesterol induces placental inflammation via the NLRP3 inflammasome pathway in human placenta, suggesting the contribution of enhanced NLRP3 inflammasome activation to harmful placental inflammation in PE.

MSU AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Saturation of uric acid in body fluids results in the formation of MSU crystals. These are identified as danger signals from dying cells, resulting in an acute and/or chronic inflammatory response known as gout, which is associated with the deposition of MSU crystals (41, 88) demonstrated that MSU crystals activate the NLRP3 inflammasome, resulting in the production of active IL- 1β and neutrophil accumulation in mice, suggesting a pivotal role for inflammasomes in inflammatory diseases. In terms of the mechanisms of NLRP3 inflammasome activation, MSU crystals are taken up by phagocytosis and lysosomal damage is induced, resulting in the release of cathepsin B and stimulation of ROS production from mitochondria (89).

Elevated levels of MSU in the maternal circulation have been shown in many pregnancy complications, especially PE (69, 84, 90, 91). In human first trimester trophoblast cell lines, IL-1β was produced in response to MSU crystals via the NLRP3 inflammasome (91). Brien et al. (91) reported that MSU crystals induce a proinflammatory profile with predominant secretion of IL-1ß and IL-6 in human placental explants, and these effects were IL-1-dependent, as confirmed using a caspase-1 inhibitor and IL-1 receptor antagonist. In addition, administration of MSU crystals to pregnant rats induced placental inflammation (increase IL-1β, IL-6, and TNFa production, and macrophage accumulation) and FGR. Indeed, MSU crystals elicit an increase in the recruitment of macrophages and neutrophils with IL-1β secretion in the NLRP3 inflammasome-dependent manner (41, 92). These findings suggest that higher levels of MSU in PE patients trigger placental inflammation via NLRP3 inflammasome activation, resulting in the pathogenesis of PE.

EXTRACELLULAR DNA AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Extracellular released cell-free DNA (cfDNA) circulating in the blood, which is considered a product of apoptosis and/or necrosis, acts as a DAMP and is related to many types of inflammatory diseases (93, 94). Toll-like receptor 9 (TLR9), originally identified as a sensor of exogenous DNA fragments, contributes to cfDNA-mediated inflammatory processes (95). It is activated by bacterial DNA rich in unmethylated CpG motifs, and can also be activated by DNA from mammalian cells such as nucleic and mitochondrial DNA. Therefore, TLR9 signaling is of interest as a candidate molecule responsible for the first signal in sterile inflammation (96). It was previously reported that cfDNA released from apoptotic hepatocytes activates TLR9 systems, which in turn triggers a signaling cascade that increases transcription of the genes encoding pro-IL-1ß and pro-IL-18. Furthermore, mice lacking components of the NLRP3 inflammasome showed reduced amounts of cfDNA and improved liver injury (96). Pan et al., reported that mitochondrial DNA is directly recognized and binds with NLRP3, resulting in the formation of NLRP3 inflammasome complex and its activation (97).

During pregnancy, the amount of total cfDNA and cf-fetal DNA (cffDNA) is significantly increased in the maternal blood depending on the stage of pregnancy (98). There are also significant associations between elevated cfDNA and cffDNA with pregnancy complications such as PE and FGR (98-104). We recently showed that expression levels of TLR9 and the amount of cffDNA from the placenta were higher in PE patients compared with that in women with normal placenta (NP), and PE-derived cffDNA stimulated levels of inflammatory cytokine, including IL-1ß and sEng secretion depend on TLR9 signaling, compared with NP-derived cffDNA (105). Moreover, a synthetic TLR9 ligand activated inflammatory responses including IL-6 secretion together with stimulation of sFlt1 secretion, while inhibition of TLR9 reduced sFlt1 secretion in human trophoblast cells (106). In mice, administration of a TLR9 ligand induces PE-like symptoms, such as hypertension, proteinuria, placental inflammation, and FGR. Moreover, injection of human fetal DNA, but not adult DNA, induces placental inflammation, fetal resorption, and preterm birth in pregnant mice, and notably, these adverse effects are improved in TLR9-knockout mice (107). These findings suggest that excessive extracellular DNA acts as a DAMP and causes pregnancy complications, especially PE, via TLR9 signaling.

In trophoblast cells, cfDNA is also capable of detecting danger signals via the intracellular DNA sensor, interferoninducible protein 16 (IFI16). Indeed, IFI16 agonist poly(dA:dT) stimulates sFlt-1 and sEng production in human trophoblast cells in an IFI16-dependent manner (108). Extracellular DNA plays an essential role in the induction of inflammatory responses; however, further research is required to clarify the role of extracellular DNA in NLRP3 inflammasome activation in pregnancy complications.

HMGB1 AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

HMGB1 is an important DAMP that acts as an architectural chromatin-binding factor and is generally located in the nucleus of most cell types under physiological conditions (109). When cells are exposed to stress, HMGB1 is translocated into the extracellular milieu and elicits inflammatory responses via the production of proinflammatory mediators and accumulation of inflammatory cells. HMGB1 interacts with TLR2, TLR4, and receptor for AGE (RAGE), resulting in elevated levels of HMGB1 in tissues and serum associated with the development of inflammation during pathological conditions (110). It is reported that HMGB1 induces the formation of the NLRP3 inflammasome (111). HMGB1 also activates the NLRP3 inflammasome since that stimulation with HMGB1 induces the release of IL-1β with increase in NLRP3 inflammasome component, these effects can be attenuated by inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome (112). In addition, Deng et al. (113) demonstrated that HMGB1 directly binds LPS and targets its internalization into the lysosomes of cells via the RAGE, resulting activation of caspase-11-dependent non-canonical inflammasome signaling. On the contrary, NLRP3 inflammasome activation accelerates atherosclerosis induced by HMGB1 secretion, indicating that HMGB1 is a key downstream signaling molecule of NLRP3 inflammasome activation (114). Therefore, the vicious cycle of HMGB1 and the NLRP3 inflammasome may exacerbate inflammation and pathological conditions.

In peripheral blood, HMGB1 concentrations are significantly elevated in PE patients compared with those of healthy pregnant and non-pregnant women (115, 116). Compared with healthy placenta, protein and mRNA expression of HMGB1 and its receptor RAGE, are increased in severe PE placentas (116). In human trophoblast cells, HMGB1 stimulates inflammatory cytokine production dependent on NF-кВ activation and ROS signaling via TLR4 (117). In human placenta, treatment with PE serum increased the expression and release of HMGB1, which induced endothelial cell activation (118). In addition, HMGB1 treatment increased NLRP3 protein expression and activation of caspase-1, resulting in an increase of mature IL-1ß secretion in human chorioamniotic membranes (119). These findings indicated that HMGB1 contributes to placental inflammation and NLRP3 inflammasome activation as endogenous DAMPs, leading to PE. Interestingly, the expression levels of HMGB1 in the uterus are lowest during the expected time of implantation, and exogenous administration of HMGB1 leads to pregnancy failure accompanied by induction of inflammatory responses in rats, indicating a role of excessive extracellular HMGB1 in PE as well as infertility (120).

PLACENTAL DEBRIS AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

The outer layer of the placenta is covered by a single syncytiotrophoblast that forms the maternal-fetal interface (1). When portions of the syncytiotrophoblast become damaged, cellular debris is extruded into the maternal blood in membrane-enclosed vesicles (121). During normal healthy pregnancy, trophoblastic debris is produced by programmed cell death/apoptosis in the placenta. This extracellular debris is believed to induce a tolerogenic response in maternal endothelial and immune cells (122). On the other hand, extracellular debris from PE placenta mainly originates from necrotic cell death, and exposing endothelial cells to necrotic trophoblastic debris leads to their activation (123). The amount of trophoblastic debris shed into the maternal blood is greatly increased in PE patients compared with that in healthy pregnant women (108).

It is likely that trophoblastic debris includes various types of danger signals, such as DNA, RNA, adenosine, HMGB1, and MSU (118, 124). The degree of trophoblastic debris from human placenta is increased by treatment with PE serum and antiphospholipid antibodies, resulting in the activation of endothelial cell activation and induction of immune cell adhesion (118). Interestingly, necrotic, but not apoptotic, trophoblastic debris contains IL-1 β protein, whereas much of the trophoblastic debris is dead cell corpses that might not be able to produce new proteins (124). On the other hand, adenosine in trophoblastic debris and cell surface adenosine receptor A2B signaling also contributes to the pathogenesis of PE (125). Iriyama et al. (125) demonstrated that chronically elevated placental adenosine leads to the hallmark features of PE (hypertension, proteinuria, and FGR) in a mouse model. Moreover, elevated adenosine in PE patients is correlated with Th1/Th2 imbalance, and adenosine directly induces sFlt-1 production from placenta (126). Baron et al. (127) showed that extracellular adenosine activates the NLRP3 inflammasome and IL-1 β secretion by interaction with adenosine receptors and through adenosine cellular uptake using nucleotide transporters. These findings suggest that adenosine signaling in debris activates NLRP3 inflammasome in placenta, resulting in PE.

EXTRACELLULAR VESICLES AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Extracellular vesicles (EVs) are also produced and released by living cells and can be detected in all biological fluids, including blood. EVs are nanosized particles that are traditionally classified into subtypes, such as exosomes, microvesicles, and apoptotic/necrotic bodies (debris). EV cargo includes bioactive molecules such as protein, lipids, and nucleic acid (DNA, mRNA, microRNA, and non-coding RNA) (128). Significantly higher levels of syncytiotrophoblast-derived EVs are found in the peripheral blood of women with PE compared with women with normal pregnancies (129). EVs isolated from PE patients differ phenotypically and functionally from those isolated from healthy pregnant women (130). Indeed, syncytiotrophoblastderived EVs (including exosomes) from patients with PE contain higher levels of sFlt-1, sEng, and neprilysin, and treatment with EVs from PE patients impairs angiogenesis of endothelial cells and changes the characteristics of monocytes in vitro (131, 132). In addition, exosomes from PE patients cause vascular dysfunction and directly result in adverse PE-like birth outcomes in mice (131). Kohli et al. (133) demonstrated that administration of EVs led to accumulation of activated platelets and induced activation of NLRP3 inflammasome within the placenta, resulting in a PE-like phenotype in pregnant mice. Intriguingly, genetic deletion of NLRP3 inflammasome or pharmacological inhibition of inflammasome abolished this PElike phenotype, indicating the pathogenesis of PE by EVs was dependent the NLRP3 inflammasome.

FREE FATTY ACID AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

Obesity is a major risk factor for PE and FGR (134, 135). Obesity represents low-grade chronic systemic inflammation (136), and maternal obesity increases the risk of the offspring developing obesity and insulin resistance in the later stages of life (137–141). The NLRP3 inflammasome is involved in the pathogenesis of obesity-related inflammatory diseases, including metabolic syndrome, type 2 diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases (12, 13, 31, 50). There are many common mechanisms between PE and

obesity-related pregnancy complications, and obesity accelerates the systemic features of PE.

Free fatty acids levels are elevated in the plasma of obese humans (142), and it has been proposed that they act to promote inflammatory responses by directly engaging TLRs and inducing the NF- κ B-dependent production of inflammatory cytokines (143, 144). In particular, one of the major saturated fatty acids, palmitic acid (PA), causes intracellular crystallization, which in turn activates the NLRP3 inflammasome via lysosomal dysfunction in macrophages (145). PA also induces NLRP3 inflammasome activation by generating ROS and inducing autophagy dysfunction, resulting in secretion of mature IL-1 β (144, 146, 147). Similar to other crystalline molecules, intraperitoneal administration of PA crystal induces neutrophil recruitment in an IL-1 β -dependent manner (145).

Serum PA levels are increased in women with PE and FGR (148–150). Treatment with free fatty acid solution to mimic the plasma of PE patients induces lipid droplet accumulation, mitochondrial dysfunction, and apoptosis in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (149). In addition, PA induces activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome, resulting in the secretion of mature IL-1 β by human trophoblast cells (147). NF- κ B activation and IL-6 production are associated with higher levels of lipid accumulation in the placenta of obese women compared with those of lean women (151). These findings suggest that saturated fatty acids directly induce placental inflammation, resulting in PE.

AGES AND THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME IN PE

AGEs are heterogeneous, reactive, and irreversibly crosslinked molecules formed from the non-enzymatic glycation of proteins, lipids, and nucleic acids (152, 153). They interact with RAGE and/or TLR4 to induce inflammatory responses (154, 155). AGE-RAGE interactions may increase and perpetuate the inflammatory condition, leading to obesity, diabetes mellitus, and cardiovascular and kidney diseases. Both *in vivo* and *in vitro* experiments have demonstrated that AGEs stimulate NLRP3 inflammasome activation and IL-1 β secretion in human umbilical vein endothelial cells, kidney, and pancreatic islets (117, 156, 157). Ablation of the NLRP3 inflammasome improved AGE-induced abnormal insulin sensitivity, pancreatic islet damage, and inflammatory responses (158). These findings suggest that consumption of AGEs increases obesity-related dysfunction via NLRP3 inflammasome activation.

Increasing evidence indicates that AGEs and IL-1 β are associated with PE and obesity in pregnant women (134, 135, 159–161). In human placenta, AGEs increase *in vitro* release of IL-1 β , IL-6, IL-8, and TNF α depend on NF- κ B activation (162). We also demonstrated that in human placental tissues, AGEs directly increase both the transcription and secretion of IL-1 β (117). In addition, AGEs stimulate pro-IL-1 β production, resulting in the acceleration of mature IL-1 β secretion by NLRP3 inflammasome activation in human trophoblast cells. AGEs also induce sFlt-1 production through RAGE signaling, suggesting a direct link with the pathology of PE (163). Antoniotti et al. (164) reported that AGEs led to activated inflammatory responses in endometrial cells, impaired decidualization, compromised implantation of blastocyst, and suppressed trophoblast invasion. Therefore, AGEs adversely may impact not only PE but also endometrial function and embryo implantation.

OTHER PREGNANCY COMPLICATIONS ASSOCIATED WITH THE NLRP3 INFLAMMASOME

GDM is also classed as an obesity-related pregnancy complication. In GDM, high levels of serum glucose are associated with increased inflammation in blood as well as placenta (165). Excess glucose induces IL-1 β secretion from human trophoblast cells depending on the NLRP3 inflammasome (166). In addition to the placenta, caspase-1 activation and mature IL-1 β secretion are higher in the adipose tissue of pregnant patients with GDM compared with healthy pregnant women (167), and treatment with caspase-1 inhibitor suppresses IL-1 β secretion, suggesting the contribution of NLRP3 inflammasome activation in GDM.

Inflammation of the maternal-fetal interface such as intra-amniotic inflammation or chorioamnionitis, which can be induced by intra-amniotic infection or DAMPs, is a causal link to spontaneous pretern birth, which is a leading cause of perinatal mortality and morbidity (168). In a non-primate rhesus macaques chorioamnionitis model induced by intra-amniotic injection of LPS, the amnion upregulated neutrophil accumulation via the chemoattractant IL-8 in an IL-1-dependent manner (169). In a mouse model of intra-amniotic inflammation-induced preterm birth, the NLRP3 inflammasome was activated following IL-1 β secretion in the fetal membranes

REFERENCES

- Arck PC, Hecher K. Fetomaternal immune cross-talk and its consequences for maternal and offspring's health. *Nat Med.* (2013) 19:548–56. doi: 10.1038/nm.3160
- Medawar P. Some immunological and endocrinological problems raised by the evolution of viviparity in vertebrates. Symp Soc Exp Biol. (1952) 7:320–38.
- Moffett A, Loke C. Immunology of placentation in eutherian mammals. Nat Rev Immunol. (2006) 6:584–94. doi: 10.1038/nri1897
- 4. Akira S, Uematsu S, Takeuchi O. Pathogen recognition and innate immunity. *Cell.* (2006) 124:783–801. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2006.02.015
- Yockey LJ, Iwasaki A. Interferons and proinflammatory cytokines in pregnancy and fetal development. *Immunity.* (2018) 49:397–412. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018.07.017
- Saito S, Nakashima A, Ito M, Shima T. Clinical implication of recent advances in our understanding of IL-17 and reproductive immunology. *Expert Rev Clin Immunol.* (2011) 7:649–57. doi: 10.1586/eci.11.49
- Laresgoiti-Servitje E. A leading role for the immune system in the pathophysiology of preeclampsia. J Leukoc Biol. (2013) 94:247–57. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1112603
- Kalagiri RR, Carder T, Choudhury S, Vora N, Ballard AR, Govande V, et al. Inflammation in complicated pregnancy and its outcome. *Am J Perinatol.* (2016) 33:1337–56. doi: 10.1055/s-0036-1582397

and decidua basalis (170). In addition, IL-1 β blockade decreased inflammation-induced preterm labor in mice (171). These findings suggest that the NLRP3 inflammasome plays a pivotal role in inflammation of the maternal-fetal interface associated with preterm birth, and IL-1 is a potential therapeutic target for these conditions.

To understand the role of the NLRP3 inflammasome in normal pregnancy and pregnancy complications, please refer the essential review (172).

CONCLUSION

Accumulating evidence suggests that the NLRP3 inflammasome plays an essential role in the pathogenesis of pregnancy inflammatory complications. Various types of DAMPs act as danger signals to activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in reproductive organs, resulting in pregnancy inflammatory complications (Figure 2). Once activated, the NLRP3 inflammasome drives the robust release of mature IL-18, initiating a positive feedback loop that results in the accumulation of other immune cells (neutrophils and macrophages) and an increase in the "danger" cytokines and chemokines. Considering the potential for excessive NLRP3 inflammasome and IL-1β production, it is not unexpected that several negative regulatory mechanisms exist in nature to control inflammasome function. Understanding how the NLRP3 inflammasome regulates pregnancy complications and how to control excessive NLRP3 inflammasome activation is essential for the identification of new targets for the treatment of reproductive dysfunction.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

KS and TK wrote the manuscript. MT critically revised the manuscript. All authors read and approved the final manuscript.

- Rathinam VA, Vanaja SK, Fitzgerald KA. Regulation of inflammasome signaling. Nat Immunol. (2012) 13:333–2. doi: 10.1038/ni.2237
- Strowig T, Henao-Mejia J, Elinav E, Flavell R. Inflammasomes in health and disease. *Nature*. (2012) 481:278–86. doi: 10.1038/nature10759
- Guo H, Callaway JB, Ting JP. Inflammasomes: mechanism of action, role in disease, and therapeutics. *Nat Med.* (2015) 21:677–87. doi: 10.1038/nm.3893
- Schroder K, Zhou R, Tschopp J. The NLRP3 inflammasome: a sensor for metabolic danger? *Science*. (2010) 327:296–300. doi: 10.1126/science.1184003
- Davis BK, Wen H, Ting JP. The inflammasome NLRs in immunity, inflammation, and associated diseases. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2011) 29:707– 35. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-031210-101405
- Usui F, Shirasuna K, Kimura H, Tatsumi K, Kawashima A, Karasawa T, et al. Critical role of caspase-1 in vascular inflammation and development of atherosclerosis in Western diet-fed apolipoprotein E-deficient mice. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2012) 425:162–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2012.07.058
- Takahashi M. NLRP3 inflammasome as a novel player in myocardial infarction. Int Heart J. (2014) 55:101–5. doi: 10.1536/ihj.13-388
- Karasawa T, Takahashi M. Role of NLRP3 inflammasomes in atherosclerosis. J Atheroscler Thromb. (2017) 24:443–51. doi: 10.5551/jat.RV17001
- Swanson KV, Deng M, Ting JP. The NLRP3 inflammasome: molecular activation and regulation to therapeutics. *Nat Rev Immunol.* (2019) 19:477– 89. doi: 10.1038/s41577-019-0165-0

- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising CD4+ regulatory t cells for immunologic selftolerance and negative control of immune responses. *Annu Rev Immunol.* (2004) 22:531–62. doi: 10.1146/annurev.immunol.21.120601.141122
- Sakaguchi S. Naturally arising Foxp3-expressing CD25+CD4+ regulatory T cells in immunological tolerance to self and non-self. *Nat Immunol.* (2005) 6:345–52. doi: 10.1038/ni1178
- Sasaki Y, Sakai M, Miyazaki S, Higuma S, Shiozaki A, Saito S. Decidual and peripheral blood CD4+CD25+ regulatory T cells in early pregnancy subjects and spontaneous abortion cases. *Mol Hum Reprod.* (2004) 10:347– 53. doi: 10.1093/molehr/gah044
- Thuere C, Zenclussen ML, Schumacher A, Langwisch S, Schulte-Wrede U, Teles A, et al. Kinetics of regulatory T cells during murine pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2007) 58:514–23. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2007.00538.x
- Zhao JX, Zeng YY, Liu Y. Fetal alloantigen is responsible for the expansion of the CD4(+)CD25(+) regulatory T cell pool during pregnancy. J Reprod Immunol. (2007) 75:71–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2007.06.052
- Shima T, Sasaki Y, Itoh M, Nakashima A, Ishii N, Sugamura K, et al. Regulatory T cells are necessary for implantation and maintenance of early pregnancy but not late pregnancy in allogeneic mice. J Reprod Immunol. (2010) 85:121–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2010.02.006
- 24. Saito S, Nakashima A, Shima T, Ito M. Th1/Th2/Th17 and regulatory T-cell paradigm in pregnancy. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2010) 63:601–10. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00852.x
- Lee SK, Kim JY, Lee M, Gilman-Sachs A, Kwak-Kim J. Th17 and regulatory T cells in women with recurrent pregnancy loss. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2012) 67:311–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2012.01116.x
- Moffett-King A. Natural killer cells and pregnancy. Nat Rev Immunol. (2002) 2:656–63. doi: 10.1038/nri886
- 27. Faas MM, Spaans F, De Vos P. Monocytes and macrophages in pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *Front Immunol.* (2014) 5:298. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2014.00298
- Kammerer U, Schoppet M, McLellan AD, Kapp M, Huppertz HI, Kampgen E, et al. Human decidua contains potent immunostimulatory CD83(+) dendritic cells. Am J Pathol. (2000) 157:159–69. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9440(10)64527-0
- Blois SM, Alba Soto CD, Tometten M, Klapp BF, Margni RA, Arck PC. Lineage, maturity, and phenotype of uterine murine dendritic cells throughout gestation indicate a protective role in maintaining pregnancy. *Biol Reprod.* (2004) 70:1018–23. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.103.022640
- Steinman RM. Decisions about dendritic cells: past, present, and future. Annu Rev Immunol. (2012) 30:1–22. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-100311-102839
- Takahashi M. Role of the inflammasome in myocardial infarction. *Trends Cardiovasc Med.* (2011) 21:37–41. doi: 10.1016/j.tcm.2012.02.002
- Gu Y, Kuida K, Tsutsui H, Ku G, Hsiao K, Fleming MA, et al. Activation of interferon-gamma inducing factor mediated by interleukin-1beta converting enzyme. *Science*. (1997) 275:206–9. doi: 10.1126/science.275.5297.206
- Lu A, Magupalli VG, Ruan J, Yin Q, Atianand MK, Vos MR, et al. Unified polymerization mechanism for the assembly of ASC-dependent inflammasomes. *Cell.* (2014) 156:1193–206. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.02.008
- 34. Cai X, Chen J, Xu H, Liu S, Jiang QX, Halfmann R, et al. Prion-like polymerization underlies signal transduction in antiviral immune defense and inflammasome activation. *Cell.* (2014) 156:1207–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.01.063
- Kayagaki N, Stowe IB, Lee BL, O'Rourke K, Anderson K, Warming S, et al. Caspase-11 cleaves gasdermin D for non-canonical inflammasome signalling. *Nature*. (2015) 526:666–71. doi: 10.1038/nature15541
- Shi J, Zhao Y, Wang K, Shi X, Wang Y, Huang H, et al. Cleavage of GSDMD by inflammatory caspases determines pyroptotic cell death. *Nature*. (2015) 526:660–5. doi: 10.1038/nature15514
- Juliana C, Fernandes-Alnemri T, Kang S, Farias A, Qin F, Alnemri ES. Non-transcriptional priming and deubiquitination regulate NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *J Biol Chem.* (2012) 287:36617–22. doi: 10.1074/jbc.M112.407130
- Py BF, Kim MS, Vakifahmetoglu-Norberg H, Yuan J. Deubiquitination of NLRP3 by BRCC3 critically regulates inflammasome activity. *Mol Cell.* (2013) 49:331–8. doi: 10.1016/j.molcel.2012.11.009

- Lamkanfi M, Dixit VM. Mechanisms and functions of inflammasomes. Cell. (2014) 157:1013–22. doi: 10.1016/j.cell.2014.04.007
- Vanaja SK, Rathinam VA, Fitzgerald KA. Mechanisms of inflammasome activation: recent advances and novel insights. *Trends Cell Biol.* (2015) 25:308–15. doi: 10.1016/j.tcb.2014.12.009
- Martinon F, Petrilli V, Mayor A, Tardivel A, Tschopp J. Gout-associated uric acid crystals activate the NALP3 inflammasome. *Nature*. (2006) 440:237–41. doi: 10.1038/nature04516
- He Y, Zeng MY, Yang D, Motro B, Nunez G. NEK7 is an essential mediator of NLRP3 activation downstream of potassium efflux. *Nature*. (2016) 530:354– 7. doi: 10.1038/nature16959
- Sharif H, Wang L, Wang WL, Magupalli VG, Andreeva L, Qiao Q, et al. Structural mechanism for NEK7-licensed activation of NLRP3 inflammasome. *Nature*. (2019) 570:338–43. doi: 10.1038/s41586-019-1295-z
- Cassel SL, Eisenbarth SC, Iyer SS, Sadler JJ, Colegio OR, Tephly LA, et al. The Nalp3 inflammasome is essential for the development of silicosis. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*. (2008) 105:9035–40. doi: 10.1073/pnas.0803933105
- Hornung V, Bauernfeind F, Halle A, Samstad EO, Kono H, Rock KL, et al. Silica crystals and aluminum salts activate the NALP3 inflammasome through phagosomal destabilization. *Nat Immunol.* (2008) 9:847–56. doi: 10.1038/ni.1631
- Chen S, Sun B. Negative regulation of NLRP3 inflammasome signaling. *Protein Cell*. (2013) 4:251–8. doi: 10.1007/s13238-013-2128-8
- Karasawa T, Kawashima A, Usui F, Kimura H, Shirasuna K, Inoue Y, et al. Oligomerized CARD16 promotes caspase-1 assembly and IL-1beta processing. FEBS Open Bio. (2015) 5:348–56. doi: 10.1016/j.fob.2015.04.011
- Kawashima A, Karasawa T, Tago K, Kimura H, Kamata R, Usui-Kawanishi F, et al. ARIH2 ubiquitinates NLRP3 and negatively regulates NLRP3 inflammasome activation in macrophages. *J Immunol.* (2017) 199:3614–22. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1700184
- Misawa T, Takahama M, Kozaki T, Lee H, Zou J, Saitoh T, et al. Microtubule-driven spatial arrangement of mitochondria promotes activation of the NLRP3 inflammasome. *Nat Immunol.* (2013) 14:454–60. doi: 10.1038/ni.2550
- Chen GY, Nunez G. Sterile inflammation: sensing and reacting to damage. Nat Rev Immunol. (2010) 10:826–37. doi: 10.1038/nri2873
- Shi J, Zhao Y, Wang Y, Gao W, Ding J, Li P, et al. Inflammatory caspases are innate immune receptors for intracellular LPS. *Nature*. (2014) 514:187–92. doi: 10.1038/nature13683
- Wen H, Miao EA, Ting JP. Mechanisms of NOD-like receptorassociated inflammasome activation. *Immunity*. (2013) 39:432–41. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2013.08.037
- Mol BW, Roberts CT, Thangaratinam S, Magee LA, de Groot CJ, Hofmeyr GJ. Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet.* (2015) 387:999–1011. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(15)00070-7
- Duley L. The global impact of pre-eclampsia and eclampsia. Semin Perinatol. (2009) 33:130–7. doi: 10.1053/j.semperi.2009.02.010
- Sibai B, Dekker G, Kupferminc M. Pre-eclampsia. *Lancet*. (2005) 365:785–99. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(05)17987-2
- Roberts JM, Taylor RN, Musci TJ, Rodgers GM, Hubel CA, McLaughlin MK. Preeclampsia: an endothelial cell disorder. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (1989) 161:1200–4. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(89)90665-0
- 57. Maynard SE, Min JY, Merchan J, Lim KH, Li J, Mondal S, et al. Excess placental soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase 1 (sFlt1) may contribute to endothelial dysfunction, hypertension, and proteinuria in preeclampsia. J Clin Invest. (2003) 111:649–58. doi: 10.1172/JCI17189
- Taylor RN, Grimwood J, Taylor RS, McMaster MT, Fisher SJ, North RA. Longitudinal serum concentrations of placental growth factor: evidence for abnormal placental angiogenesis in pathologic pregnancies. *Am J Obstet Gynecol.* (2003) 188:177–82. doi: 10.1067/mob.2003.111
- Sacks G, Sargent I, Redman C. An innate view of human pregnancy. *Immunol Today*. (1999) 20:114–8. doi: 10.1016/S0167-5699(98)01393-0
- Venkatesha S, Toporsian M, Lam C, Hanai J, Mammoto T, Kim YM, et al. Soluble endoglin contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Nat Med.* (2006) 12:642–9. doi: 10.1038/nm1429
- 61. Sacks GP, Studena K, Sargent K, Redman CW. Normal pregnancy and preeclampsia both produce inflammatory changes in peripheral blood

leukocytes akin to those of sepsis. Am J Obstet Gynecol. (1998) 179:80-6. doi: 10.1016/S0002-9378(98)70254-6

- Melgert BN, Spaans F, Borghuis T, Klok PA, Groen B, Bolt A, et al. Pregnancy and preeclampsia affect monocyte subsets in humans and rats. *PLoS ONE*. (2012) 7:e45229. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0045229
- Lau SY, Guild SJ, Barrett CJ, Chen Q, McCowan L, Jordan V, et al. Tumor necrosis factor-alpha, interleukin-6, and interleukin-10 levels are altered in preeclampsia: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2013) 70:412–27. doi: 10.1111/aji.12138
- Mellembakken JR, Aukrust P, Hestdal K, Ueland T, Abyholm T, Videm V. Chemokines and leukocyte activation in the fetal circulation during preeclampsia. *Hypertension*. (2001) 38:394–8. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.38.3.394
- Mor G, Cardenas I, Abrahams V, Guller S. Inflammation and pregnancy: the role of the immune system at the implantation site. *Ann N Y Acad Sci.* (2011) 1221:80–7. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.2010.05938.x
- 66. Siljee JE, Wortelboer EJ, Koster MP, Imholz S, Rodenburg W, Visser GH, et al. Identification of interleukin-1 beta, but no other inflammatory proteins, as an early onset pre-eclampsia biomarker in first trimester serum by bead-based multiplexed immunoassays. *Prenat Diagn.* (2013) 33:1183–8. doi: 10.1002/pd.4219
- 67. Xie F, Hu Y, Turvey SE, Magee LA, Brunham RM, Choi KC, et al. Toll-like receptors 2 and 4 and the cryopyrin inflammasome in normal pregnancy and pre-eclampsia. *BJOG.* (2010) 117:99–108. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2009.02428.x
- Matias ML, Romao M, Weel IC, Ribeiro VR, Nunes PR, Borges VT, et al. Endogenous and uric acid-induced activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in pregnant women with preeclampsia. *PLoS ONE.* (2015) 10:e0129095. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0129095
- C Weel I, Romao-Veiga M, Matias ML, Fioratti EG, Peracoli JC, Borges VT, et al. Increased expression of NLRP3 inflammasome in placentas from pregnant women with severe preeclampsia. J Reprod Immunol. (2017) 123:40–7. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2017.09.002
- Mulla MJ, Myrtolli K, Potter J, Boeras C, Kavathas PB, Sfakianaki AK, et al. Uric acid induces trophoblast IL-1beta production via the inflammasome: implications for the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2011) 65:542–8. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0897.2010.00960.x
- Shirasuna K, Usui F, Karasawa T, Kimura H, Kawashima A, Mizukami H, et al. Nanosilica-induced placental inflammation and pregnancy complications: different roles of the inflammasome components NLRP3 and ASC. *Nanotoxicology*. (2015) 9:554–67. doi: 10.3109/17435390.2014.956156
- 72. Tamura K, Ishikawa G, Yoshie M, Ohneda W, Nakai A, Takeshita T, et al. Glibenclamide inhibits NLRP3 inflammasome-mediated IL-1beta secretion in human trophoblasts. *J Pharmacol Sci.* (2017) 135:89–95. doi: 10.1016/j.jphs.2017.09.032
- Furuya M, Ishida J, Aoki I, Fukamizu A. Pathophysiology of placentation abnormalities in pregnancy-induced hypertension. *Vasc Health Risk Manag.* (2008) 4:1301–13. doi: 10.2147/VHRM.S4009
- 74. Takimoto E, Ishida J, Sugiyama F, Horiguchi H, Murakami K, Fukamizu A. Hypertension induced in pregnant mice by placental renin and maternal angiotensinogen. *Science*. (1996) 274:995–8. doi: 10.1126/science.274.5289.995
- 75. Zhou CC, Ahmad S, Mi T, Xia L, Abbasi S, Hewett PW, et al. Angiotensin II induces soluble fms-Like tyrosine kinase-1 release via calcineurin signaling pathway in pregnancy. *Circ Res.* (2007) 100:88–95. doi: 10.1161/01.RES.0000254703.11154.18
- Shirasuna K, Karasawa T, Usui F, Kobayashi M, Komada T, Kimura H, et al. NLRP3 Deficiency improves angiotensin II-induced hypertension but not fetal growth restriction during pregnancy. *Endocrinology*. (2015) 156:4281– 92. doi: 10.1210/en.2015-1408
- Ren XS, Tong Y, Ling L, Chen D, Sun HJ, Zhou H, et al. NLRP3 gene deletion attenuates angiotensin ii-induced phenotypic transformation of vascular smooth muscle cells and vascular remodeling. *Cell Physiol Biochem.* (2017) 44:2269–80. doi: 10.1159/000486061
- Krishnan SM, Ling YH, Huuskes BM, Ferens DM, Saini N, Chan CT, et al. Pharmacological inhibition of the NLRP3 inflammasome reduces blood pressure, renal damage, and dysfunction in salt-sensitive hypertension. *Cardiovasc Res.* (2019) 115:776–87. doi: 10.1093/cvr/cvy252

- 79. Wang ML, Kang YM, Li XG, Su Q, Li HB, Liu KL, et al. Central blockade of NLRP3 reduces blood pressure via regulating inflammation microenvironment and neurohormonal excitation in salt-induced prehypertensive rats. *J Neuroinflam.* (2018) 15:95. doi: 10.1186/s12974-018-1131-7
- Cero FT, Hillestad V, Sjaastad I, Yndestad A, Aukrust P, Ranheim T, et al. Absence of the inflammasome adaptor ASC reduces hypoxia-induced pulmonary hypertension in mice. *Am J Physiol Lung Cell Mol Physiol.* (2015) 309:L378–87. doi: 10.1152/ajplung.00342.2014
- Komada T, Muruve DA. The role of inflammasomes in kidney disease. Nat Rev Nephrol. (2019) 15:501–20. doi: 10.1038/s41581-019-0158-z
- Duewell P, Kono H, Rayner KJ, Sirois CM, Vladimer G, Bauernfeind FG, et al. NLRP3 inflammasomes are required for atherogenesis and activated by cholesterol crystals. *Nature*. (2010) 464:1357–61. doi: 10.1038/nature08938
- Freigang S, Ampenberger F, Spohn G, Heer S, Shamshiev AT, Kisielow J, et al. Nrf2 is essential for cholesterol crystal-induced inflammasome activation and exacerbation of atherosclerosis. *Eur J Immunol.* (2011) 41:2040–51. doi: 10.1002/eji.201041316
- Stodle GS, Silva GB, Tangeras LH, Gierman LM, Nervik I, Dahlberg UE, et al. Placental inflammation in pre-eclampsia by Nod-like receptor protein (NLRP)3 inflammasome activation in trophoblasts. *Clin Exp Immunol.* (2018) 193:84–94. doi: 10.1111/cei.13130
- Jabalie G, Ahmadi M, Koushaeian L, Eghbal-Fard S, Mehdizadeh A, Kamrani A, et al. Metabolic syndrome mediates proinflammatory responses of inflammatory cells in preeclampsia. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2019) 81:e13086. doi: 10.1111/aji.13086
- Liu W, Yin Y, Zhou Z, He M, Dai Y. OxLDL-induced IL-1 beta secretion promoting foam cells formation was mainly via CD36 mediated ROS production leading to NLRP3 inflammasome activation. *Inflamm Res.* (2014) 63:33–43. doi: 10.1007/s00011-013-0667-3
- Koka S, Xia M, Chen Y, Bhat OM, Yuan X, Boini KM, et al. Endothelial NLRP3 inflammasome activation and arterial neointima formation associated with acid sphingomyelinase during hypercholesterolemia. *Redox Biol.* (2017) 13:336–44. doi: 10.1016/j.redox.2017.06.004
- Shi Y, Evans JE, Rock KL. Molecular identification of a danger signal that alerts the immune system to dying cells. *Nature*. (2003) 425:516–21. doi: 10.1038/nature01991
- Gross O, Yazdi AS, Thomas CJ, Masin M, Heinz LX, Guarda G, et al. Inflammasome activators induce interleukin-1alpha secretion via distinct pathways with differential requirement for the protease function of caspase-1. *Immunity*. (2012) 36:388–400. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2012. 01.018
- Girard S, Heazell AE, Derricott H, Allan SM, Sibley CP, Abrahams VM, et al. Circulating cytokines and alarmins associated with placental inflammation in high-risk pregnancies. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2014) 72:422–34. doi: 10.1111/aji.12274
- Brien ME, Duval C, Palacios J, Boufaied I, Hudon-Thibeault AA, Nadeau-Vallee M, et al. Uric acid crystals induce placental inflammation and alter trophoblast function via an IL-1-dependent pathway: implications for fetal growth restriction. *J Immunol.* (2017) 198:443–51. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1601179
- Mitroulis I, Kambas K, Ritis K. Neutrophils, IL-1beta, and gout: is there a link? *Semin Immunopathol.* (2013) 35:501–12. doi: 10.1007/s00281-013-0361-0
- Atamaniuk J, Kopecky C, Skoupy S, Saemann MD, Weichhart T. Apoptotic cell-free DNA promotes inflammation in haemodialysis patients. *Nephrol Dial Transplant*. (2012) 27:902–5. doi: 10.1093/ndt/gfr695
- Nishimoto S, Fukuda D, Higashikuni Y, Tanaka K, Hirata Y, Murata C, et al. Obesity-induced DNA released from adipocytes stimulates chronic adipose tissue inflammation and insulin resistance. *Sci Adv.* (2016) 2:e1501332. doi: 10.1126/sciadv.1501332
- 95. Vollmer J. TLR9 in health and disease. *Int Rev Immunol.* (2006) 25:155–81. doi: 10.1080/08830180600743107
- 96. Imaeda AB, Watanabe A, Sohail MA, Mahmood S, Mohamadnejad M, Sutterwala FS, et al. Acetaminophen-induced hepatotoxicity in mice is dependent on Tlr9 and the Nalp3 inflammasome. J Clin Invest. (2009) 119:305–14. doi: 10.1172/JCI35958

- Pan J, Ou Z, Cai C, Li P, Gong J, Ruan XZ, et al. Fatty acid activates NLRP3 inflammasomes in mouse kupffer cells through mitochondrial DNA release. *Cell Immunol.* (2018) 332:111–20. doi: 10.1016/j.cellimm.2018.08.006
- Sur Chowdhury C, Hahn S, Hasler P, Hoesli I, Lapaire O, Giaglis S. Elevated levels of total cell-free DNA in maternal serum samples arise from the generation of neutrophil extracellular traps. *Fetal Diagn Ther*. (2016) 40:263– 7. doi: 10.1159/000444853
- Martin A, Krishna I, Badell M, Samuel A. Can the quantity of cell-free fetal DNA predict preeclampsia: a systematic review. *Prenat Diagn.* (2014) 34:685–91. doi: 10.1002/pd.4416
- Taglauer ES, Wilkins-Haug L, Bianchi DW. Review: cell-free fetal DNA in the maternal circulation as an indication of placental health and disease. *Placenta*. (2014) 35:S64–8. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.11.014
- 101. Eche S, Mackraj I, Moodley J. Circulating fetal and total cell-free DNA, and sHLA-G in black South African women with gestational hypertension and pre-eclampsia. *Hypert Pregna*. (2017) 36:295–301. doi: 10.1080/10641955.2017.1385794
- 102. Munoz-Hernandez R, Medrano-Campillo P, Miranda ML, Macher HC, Praena-Fernandez JM, Vallejo-Vaz AJ, et al. Total and fetal circulating cell-free DNA, angiogenic, and antiangiogenic factors in preeclampsia and HELLP syndrome. *Am J Hypertens*. (2017) 30:673–82. doi: 10.1093/ajh/hpx024
- 103. Konecna B, Laukova L, Vlkova B. Immune activation by nucleic acids: a role in pregnancy complications. *Scand J Immunol.* (2018) 87:e12651. doi: 10.1111/sji.12651
- 104. van Boeckel SR, Davidson DJ, Norman JE, Stock SJ. Cell-free fetal DNA and spontaneous preterm birth. *Reproduction*. (2018) 155:R137–45. doi: 10.1530/REP-17-0619
- 105. Ozeki A, Tani K, Takahashi H, Suzuki H, Nagayama S, Hirashima C, et al. Preeclamptic patient-derived circulating cell-free DNA activates the production of inflammatory cytokines via toll-like receptor 9 signalling in the human placenta. J Hypertens. (2019) 37:2452–60. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000002208
- 106. He B, Yang X, Li Y, Huang D, Xu X, Yang W, et al. TLR9 (Toll-like receptor 9) agonist suppresses angiogenesis by differentially regulating VEGFA (vascular endothelial growth factor A) and sFLT1 (soluble vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 1) in preeclampsia. *Hypertension*. (2018) 71:671–80. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.117.10510
- 107. Scharfe-Nugent A, Corr SC, Carpenter SB, Keogh L, Doyle B, Martin C, et al. TLR9 provokes inflammation in response to fetal DNA: mechanism for fetal loss in preterm birth and preeclampsia. *J Immunol.* (2012) 188:5706–12. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1103454
- Li N, Fu Y, Chen W, Hu GQ, Zhou M, Yu SX, et al. IFI16 mediates soluble Flt-1 and endoglin production by trophoblast cells. *J Hypertens*. (2015) 33:1658–65. doi: 10.1097/HJH.00000000000605
- 109. Andersson U, Tracey KJ. HMGB1 as a mediator of necrosis-induced inflammation and a therapeutic target in arthritis. *Rheum Dis Clin North Am.* (2004) 30:627–37. doi: 10.1016/j.rdc.2004.04.007
- Pisetsky DS, Erlandsson-Harris H, Andersson U. High-mobility group box protein 1 (HMGB1): an alarmin mediating the pathogenesis of rheumatic disease. *Arthritis Res Ther.* (2008) 10:209. doi: 10.1186/ar2440
- 111. Yao X, Jiang Q, Ding W, Yue P, Wang J, Zhao K, et al. Interleukin 4 inhibits high mobility group box-1 protein-mediated NLRP3 inflammasome formation by activating peroxisome proliferator-activated receptorgamma in astrocytes. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun.* (2019) 509:624–31. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2018.11.145
- 112. Kim EJ, Park SY, Baek SE, Jang MA, Lee WS, Bae SS, et al. HMGB1 increases IL-1beta production in vascular smooth muscle cells via NLRP3 inflammasome. *Front Physiol.* (2018) 9:313. doi: 10.3389/fphys.2018. 00313
- 113. Deng M, Tang Y, Li W, Wang X, Zhang R, Zhang X, et al. The endotoxin delivery protein HMGB1 mediates caspase-11-dependent lethality in sepsis. *Immunity*. (2018) 49:740–53 e747. doi: 10.1016/j.immuni.2018. 08.016
- 114. Wang R, Wu W, Li W, Huang S, Li Z, Liu R, et al. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome promotes foam cell formation in vascular smooth muscle cells and atherogenesis via HMGB1. J Am Heart Assoc. (2018) 7:e008596. doi: 10.1161/JAHA.118.008596

- 115. Pradervand PA, Clerc S, Frantz J, Rotaru C, Bardy D, Waeber B, et al. High mobility group box 1 protein (HMGB-1): a pathogenic role in preeclampsia? *Placenta*. (2014) 35:784–6. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.06.370
- 116. Zhu L, Zhang Z, Zhang L, Shi Y, Qi J, Chang A, et al. HMGB1-RAGE signaling pathway in severe preeclampsia. *Placenta*. (2015) 36:1148–52. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.08.006
- 117. Seno K, Sase S, Ozeki A, Takahashi H, Ohkuchi A, Suzuki H, et al. Advanced glycation end products regulate interleukin-1beta production in human placenta. J Reprod Dev. (2017) 63:401–8. doi: 10.1262/jrd.2017-032
- 118. Shao J, Zhao M, Tong M, Wei J, Wise MR, Stone P, et al. Increased levels of HMGB1 in trophoblastic debris may contribute to preeclampsia. *Reproduction.* (2016) 152:775–84. doi: 10.1530/REP-16-0083
- 119. Plazyo O, Romero R, Unkel R, Balancio A, Mial TN, Xu Y, et al. HMGB1 induces an inflammatory response in the chorioamniotic membranes that is partially mediated by the inflammasome. *Biol Reprod.* (2016) 95:130. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.116.144139
- 120. Bhutada S, Basak T, Savardekar L, Katkam RR, Jadhav G, Metkari SM, et al. High mobility group box 1 (HMGB1) protein in human uterine fluid and its relevance in implantation. *Hum Reprod.* (2014) 29:763–80. doi: 10.1093/humrep/det461
- 121. Coleman SJ, Gerza L, Jones CJ, Sibley CP, Aplin JD, Heazell AE. Syncytial nuclear aggregates in normal placenta show increased nuclear condensation, but apoptosis and cytoskeletal redistribution are uncommon. *Placenta*. (2013) 34:449–55. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.02.007
- Chen Q, Guo F, Jin HY, Lau S, Stone P, Chamley L. Phagocytosis of apoptotic trophoblastic debris protects endothelial cells against activation. *Placenta*. (2012) 33:548–53. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2012.03.007
- Chen Q, Stone PR, McCowan LM, Chamley LW. Phagocytosis of necrotic but not apoptotic trophoblasts induces endothelial cell activation. *Hypertension*. (2006) 47:116–21. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000196731.56062.7c
- 124. Wei J, Chen Q, James JL, Stone PR, Chamley LW. IL-1 beta but not the NALP3 inflammasome is an important determinant of endothelial cell responses to necrotic/dangerous trophoblastic debris. *Placenta*. (2015) 36:1385–92. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.10.011
- 125. Iriyama T, Sun K, Parchim NF, Li J, Zhao C, Song A, et al. Elevated placental adenosine signaling contributes to the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *Circulation.* (2015) 131:730–41. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.114.013740
- 126. George EM, Cockrell K, Adair TH, Granger JP. Regulation of sFlt-1 and VEGF secretion by adenosine under hypoxic conditions in rat placental villous explants. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol.* (2010) 299:R1629– 33. doi: 10.1152/ajpregu.00330.2010
- 127. Baron L, Gombault A, Fanny M, Villeret B, Savigny F, Guillou N, et al. The NLRP3 inflammasome is activated by nanoparticles through ATP, ADP and adenosine. *Cell Death Dis.* (2015) 6:e1629. doi: 10.1038/cddis.2014.576
- 128. Chiarello DI, Salsoso R, Toledo F, Mate A, Vazquez CM, Sobrevia L. Foetoplacental communication via extracellular vesicles in normal pregnancy and preeclampsia. *Mol Aspects Med.* (2018) 60:69–80. doi: 10.1016/j.mam.2017.12.002
- 129. Knight M, Redman CW, Linton EA, Sargent IL. Shedding of syncytiotrophoblast microvilli into the maternal circulation in preeclamptic pregnancies. Br J Obstet Gynaecol. (1998) 105:632–40. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.1998.tb10178.x
- 130. Boisrame-Helms J, Meziani F, Sananes N, Boisrame T, Langer B, Schneider F, et al. Detrimental arterial inflammatory effect of microparticles circulating in preeclamptic women: *ex vivo* evaluation in human arteries. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol.* (2015) 29:450–61. doi: 10.1111/fcp.12136
- 131. Chang X, Yao J, He Q, Liu M, Duan T, Wang K. Exosomes from women with preeclampsia induced vascular dysfunction by delivering sFlt (soluble fms-like tyrosine kinase)-1 and sEng (soluble endoglin) to endothelial cells. *Hypertension*. (2018) 72:1381–90. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.118.11706
- 132. Gill M, Motta-Mejia C, Kandzija N, Cooke W, Zhang W, Cerdeira AS, et al. Placental syncytiotrophoblast-derived extracellular vesicles carry active NEP (neprilysin) and are increased in preeclampsia. *Hypertension*. (2019) 73:1112–9. doi: 10.1161/HYPERTENSIONAHA.119.12707
- 133. Kohli S, Ranjan S, Hoffmann J, Kashif M, Daniel EA, Al-Dabet MM, et al. Maternal extracellular vesicles and platelets promote preeclampsia

via inflammasome activation in trophoblasts. *Blood.* (2016) 128:2153–64. doi: 10.1182/blood-2016-03-705434

- Catalano PM, Ehrenberg HM. The short- and long-term implications of maternal obesity on the mother and her offspring. *BJOG*. (2006) 113:1126– 33. doi: 10.1111/j.1471-0528.2006.00989.x
- Marchi J, Berg M, Dencker A, Olander EK, Begley C. Risks associated with obesity in pregnancy, for the mother and baby: a systematic review of reviews. Obes Rev. (2015) 16:621–38. doi: 10.1111/obr.12288
- Prieto D, Contreras C, Sanchez A. Endothelial dysfunction, obesity and insulin resistance. *Curr Vasc Pharmacol.* (2014) 12:412–26. doi: 10.2174/1570161112666140423221008
- 137. Challier JC, Basu S, Bintein T, Minium J, Hotmire K, Catalano PM, et al. Obesity in pregnancy stimulates macrophage accumulation and inflammation in the placenta. *Placenta*. (2008) 29:274–81. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2007.12.010
- Jungheim ES, Schoeller EL, Marquard KL, Louden ED, Schaffer JE, Moley KH. Diet-induced obesity model: abnormal oocytes and persistent growth abnormalities in the offspring. *Endocrinology*. (2010) 151:4039–46. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0098
- 139. Jungheim ES, Louden ED, Chi MM, Frolova AI, Riley JK, Moley KH. Preimplantation exposure of mouse embryos to palmitic acid results in fetal growth restriction followed by catch-up growth in the offspring. *Biol Reprod.* (2011) 85:678–83. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.111.092148
- 140. Shankar K, Zhong Y, Kang P, Lau F, Blackburn ML, Chen JR, et al. Maternal obesity promotes a proinflammatory signature in rat uterus and blastocyst. *Endocrinology*. (2011) 152:4158–70. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-1078
- 141. Aye IL, Jansson T, Powell TL. Interleukin-1beta inhibits insulin signaling and prevents insulin-stimulated system A amino acid transport in primary human trophoblasts. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2013) 381:46–55. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.07.013
- 142. Boden G. Interaction between free fatty acids and glucose metabolism. *Curr Opin Clin Nutr Metab Care*. (2002) 5:545–9. doi: 10.1097/00075197-200209000-00014
- 143. Shi H, Kokoeva MV, Inouye K, Tzameli I, Yin H, Flier JS. TLR4 links innate immunity and fatty acid-induced insulin resistance. J Clin Invest. (2006) 116:3015–25. doi: 10.1172/JCI28898
- 144. Wen H, Gris D, Lei Y, Jha S, Zhang L, Huang MT, et al. Fatty acid-induced NLRP3-ASC inflammasome activation interferes with insulin signaling. *Nat Immunol.* (2011) 12:408–15. doi: 10.1038/ni.2022
- 145. Karasawa T, Kawashima A, Usui-Kawanishi F, Watanabe S, Kimura H, Kamata R, et al. Saturated fatty acids undergo intracellular crystallization and activate the NLRP3 inflammasome in macrophages. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol.* (2018) 38:744–56. doi: 10.1161/ATVBAHA.117. 310581
- 146. L'Homme L, Esser N, Riva L, Scheen A, Paquot N, Piette J, et al. Unsaturated fatty acids prevent activation of NLRP3 inflammasome in human monocytes/macrophages. J Lipid Res. (2013) 54:2998–3008. doi: 10.1194/jlr.M037861
- 147. Shirasuna K, Takano H, Seno K, Ohtsu A, Karasawa T, Takahashi M, et al. Palmitic acid induces interleukin-1beta secretion via NLRP3 inflammasomes and inflammatory responses through ROS production in human placental cells. J Reprod Immunol. (2016) 116:104–12. doi: 10.1016/j.jri.2016. 06.001
- 148. Endresen MJ, Tosti E, Heimli H, Lorentzen B, Henriksen T. Effects of free fatty acids found increased in women who develop pre-eclampsia on the ability of endothelial cells to produce prostacyclin, cGMP and inhibit platelet aggregation. *Scand J Clin Lab Invest.* (1994) 54:549–57. doi: 10.3109/00365519409088567
- Robinson NJ, Minchell LJ, Myers JE, Hubel CA, Crocker IP. A potential role for free fatty acids in the pathogenesis of preeclampsia. *J Hypertens*. (2009) 27:1293–302. doi: 10.1097/HJH.0b013e328329fbfe
- 150. Ortega-Senovilla H, Alvino G, Taricco E, Cetin I, Herrera E. Enhanced circulating retinol and non-esterified fatty acids in pregnancies complicated with intrauterine growth restriction. *Clin Sci.* (2010) 118:351–8. doi: 10.1042/CS20090292
- 151. Saben J, Lindsey F, Zhong Y, Thakali K, Badger TM, Andres A, et al. Maternal obesity is associated with a lipotoxic placental environment. *Placenta*. (2014) 35:171–7. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.01.003

- Brownlee M, Cerami A, Vlassara H. Advanced glycosylation end products in tissue and the biochemical basis of diabetic complications. N Engl J Med. (1988) 318:1315–21. doi: 10.1056/NEJM198805193182007
- John WG, Lamb EJ. The maillard or browning reaction in diabetes. *Eye.* (1993) 7:230–7. doi: 10.1038/eye.1993.55
- Ibrahim ZA, Armour CL, Phipps S, Sukkar MB. RAGE and TLRs: relatives, friends or neighbours? *Mol Immunol.* (2013) 56:739–44. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2013.07.008
- 155. Shirasuna K, Seno K, Ohtsu A, Shiratsuki S, Ohkuchi A, Suzuki H, et al. AGEs and HMGB1 increase inflammatory cytokine production from human placental cells, resulting in an enhancement of monocyte migration. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 75:557–68. doi: 10.1111/aji.12506
- 156. Yeh WJ, Yang HY, Pai MH, Wu CH, Chen JR. Long-term administration of advanced glycation end-product stimulates the activation of NLRP3 inflammasome and sparking the development of renal injury. *J Nutr Biochem.* (2017) 39:68–76. doi: 10.1016/j.jnutbio.2016.09.014
- 157. Cao X, Xia Y, Zeng M, Wang W, He Y, Liu J. Caffeic acid inhibits the formation of advanced glycation end products (AGEs) and mitigates the AGEs-induced the oxidative stress and inflammation reaction in human umbilical vein endothelial cells (HUVECs). *Chem Biodivers*. (2019) 16:e1900174. doi: 10.1002/cbdv.201900174
- 158. Kong X, Lu AL, Yao XM, Hua Q, Li XY, Qin L, et al. Activation of NLRP3 inflammasome by advanced glycation end products promotes pancreatic islet damage. Oxid Med Cell Longev. (2017) 2017:9692546. doi: 10.1155/2017/9692546
- 159. Chekir C, Nakatsuka M, Noguchi S, Konishi H, Kamada Y, Sasaki A, et al. Accumulation of advanced glycation end products in women with preeclampsia: possible involvement of placental oxidative and nitrative stress. *Placenta*. (2006) 27:225–33. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2005.02.016
- 160. Alexander KL, Mejia CA, Jordan C, Nelson MB, Howell BM, Jones CM, et al. Differential receptor for advanced glycation end products expression in preeclamptic, intrauterine growth restricted, and gestational diabetic placentas. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2016) 75:172–80. doi: 10.1111/aji.12462
- 161. Chen W, Zhang Y, Yue C, Ye Y, Chen P, Peng W, et al. Accumulation of advanced glycation end products involved in inflammation and contributing to severe preeclampsia, in maternal blood, umbilical blood and placental tissues. *Gynecol Obstet Invest.* (2016) 82:388–97. doi: 10.1159/000448141
- 162. Lappas M, Permezel M, Rice GE. Advanced glycation endproducts mediate pro-inflammatory actions in human gestational tissues via nuclear factorkappaB and extracellular signal-regulated kinase 1/2. J Endocrinol. (2007) 193:269–77. doi: 10.1677/JOE-06-0081
- 163. Huang QT, Zhang M, Zhong M, Yu YH, Liang WZ, Hang LL, et al. Advanced glycation end products as an upstream molecule triggers ROSinduced sFlt-1 production in extravillous trophoblasts: a novel bridge between oxidative stress and preeclampsia. *Placenta*. (2013) 34:1177–82. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2013.09.017
- 164. Antoniotti GS, Coughlan M, Salamonsen LA, Evans J. Obesity associated advanced glycation end products within the human uterine cavity adversely impact endometrial function and embryo implantation competence. *Hum Reprod.* (2018) 33:654–65. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey029
- 165. Corrêa-Silva S, Alencar AP, Moreli JB, Borbely AU, de S Lima L, Scavone C, et al. Hyperglycemia induces inflammatory mediators in the human chorionic villous. *Cytokine*. (2018) 111:41–8. doi: 10.1016/j.cyto.2018.07.020
- 166. Han CS, Herrin MA, Pitruzzello MC, Mulla MJ, Werner EF, Pettker CM, et al. Glucose and metformin modulate human first trimester trophoblast function: a model and potential therapy for diabetes-associated uteroplacental insufficiency. *Am J Reprod Immunol.* (2015) 73:362–71. doi: 10.1111/aji.12339
- Lappas M. Activation of inflammasomes in adipose tissue of women with gestational diabetes. *Mol Cell Endocrinol.* (2014) 382:74–83. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2013.09.011
- Nadeau-Vallee M, Obari D, Palacios J, Brien ME, Duval C, Chemtob S, et al. Sterile inflammation and pregnancy complications: a review. *Reproduction*. (2016) 152:R277–92. doi: 10.1530/REP-16-0453
- 169. Presicce P, Park CW, Senthamaraikannan P, Bhattacharyya S, Jackson C, Kong F, et al. IL-1 signaling mediates intrauterine inflammation and choriodecidua neutrophil recruitment and activation. JCI Insight. (2018) 3:98306. doi: 10.1172/jci.insight.98306

- 170. Faro J, Romero R, Schwenkel G, Garcia-Flores V, Arenas-Hernandez M, Leng Y, et al. Intra-amniotic inflammation induces preterm birth by activating the NLRP3 inflammasomedagger. *Biol Reprod.* (2019) 100:1290– 305. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ioy261
- 171. Nadeau-Vallee M, Quiniou C, Palacios J, Hou X, Erfani A, Madaan A, et al. Novel noncompetitive IL-1 receptor-biased ligand prevents infectionand inflammation-induced preterm birth. *J Immunol.* (2015) 195:3402–15. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1500758
- Gomez-Lopez N, Motomura K, Miller D, Garcia-Flores V, Galaz J, Romero R. Inflammasomes: their role in normal and complicated pregnancies. J Immunol. (2019) 203:2757–69. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900901

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Shirasuna, Karasawa and Takahashi. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





The Association Between Previous TORCH Infections and Pregnancy and Neonatal Outcomes in IVF/ICSI-ET: A Retrospective Cohort Study

Yifeng Liu^{1†}, Yiqing Wu^{1†}, Feixia Wang^{1†}, Siwen Wang¹, Wei Zhao², Lifen Chen¹, Shijiong Tu¹, Yuli Qian¹, Yun Liao¹, Yun Huang², Runjv Zhang^{1,3}, Gufeng Xu^{1,4*} and Dan Zhang^{1,2*}

¹ Key Laboratory of Reproductive Genetics (Ministry of Education), Department of Reproductive Endocrinology, School of Medicine, Women's Hospital, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China, ² Women's Reproductive Health Research Key Laboratory of Zhejiang Province, Hangzhou, China, ³ Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology, and Reproductive Sciences, Yale School of Medicine, New Haven, CT, United States, ⁴ Department of Obstetrics, Gynecology and Reproductive Biology, Brigham and Women's Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, United States

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

John Even Schjenken, University of Adelaide, Australia

Reviewed by:

Alessandro Conforti, University of Naples Federico II, Italy Foteini Chouliara, Assisting Nature IVF Clinic, Greece

*Correspondence:

Dan Zhang zhangdan@zju.edu.cn Gufeng Xu 5315012@zju.edu.cn

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 29 November 2019 Accepted: 15 June 2020 Published: 05 August 2020

Citation:

Liu Y, Wu Y, Wang F, Wang S, Zhao W, Chen L, Tu S, Qian Y, Liao Y, Huang Y, Zhang R, Xu G and Zhang D (2020) The Association Between Previous TORCH Infections and Pregnancy and Neonatal Outcomes in IVF/ICSI-ET: A Retrospective Cohort Study. Front. Endocrinol. 11:466. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.00466 **Objective:** This study aimed to investigate the associations between previous TORCH infection (cytomegalovirus, toxoplasmosis, herpes simplex virus, and rubella) with pregnancy and neonatal outcomes in couples undergoing IVF/ICSI-ET.

Materials and Methods: A total of 18,074 couples underwent fresh IVF/ICSI-ET (*in vitro* fertilization/intracytoplasmic sperm injection–embryo transfer) cycles were included in our analyses. TORCH infection status was determined by serological confirmation of cytomegalovirus, toxoplasmosis, herpes simplex virus, and rubella IgG in the absence of IgM antibodies. Clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, congenital malformation, and perinatal death were evaluated in both infection and non-infection group. Multivariate logistic regression was applied to calculate odds ratio.

Results: Previous toxoplasmosis infection is associated with a significantly decreased preterm birth rate [P = 0.045, OR = 0.755 (95% Cl, 0.571–0.997), Adjusted OR = 0.749 (95%Cl, 0.566–0.991)]. No differences in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, and perinatal death were observed between the corresponding TORCH infection group [IgM (–) IgG(+)] and the non-infection group [IgM (–) IgG (–)].

Conclusions: Previous TORCH infections were not associated with adverse pregnancy and neonatal outcomes in IVF/ICSI-ET overall, and toxoplasmosis infection might be associated with a lower preterm birth rate in patients underwent IVF/ICSI-ET. The necessity of TORCH IgG screening in IVF procedure might need re-evaluation, and further cost-effective analysis might be helpful for the clinical management strategy.

Keywords: TORCH, previous infection, pregnancy outcome, neonatal outcome, IVF/ICSI-ET

INTRODUCTION

TORCH infections classically comprise cytomegalovirus (CMV), toxoplasmosis, rubella, herpes simplex virus (HSV), and other commonly seen intrauterine infections, such as varicella and enteroviruses. The diseases caused by these pathogens can be transmitted from mothers to offspring (1) and are the main contributors to prenatal and neonatal abnormality and mortality (2).

CMV is a common viral pathogen which represents significant health concerns, as it could remain dormant in the host body over a long time, and may transmit from a mother to her developing fetus (3). It has been documented that congenital CMV infection affect \sim 0.3–2.0% of all newborns (4). The relationship between the CMV viral load and pregnancy and live-birth outcomes were suspected, with several previous studies showing that there was a positive correlation between high viral load and adverse clinical outcomes of the fetus (5, 6). Toxoplasma gondii infection during pregnancy may also result in severe fetal damage, which manifests as the classic triad of chorioretinitis, hydrocephalus, and intracranial calcifications with parasites transmitting through the placenta (7). Rubella virus infection during pregnancy predisposes the fetus to developing a constellation of congenital deformities known as congenital rubella syndrome (CRS) secondary to maternal infection, especially during the first trimester (8). Congenital HSV infection shares clinical features with other congenital infections, such as microcephaly, hydrocephalus, and chorioretinitis, and usually presents with clinical symptoms at birth, mainly due to exposure to HSV during delivery (9). Other pathogens like spirochete Treponema pallidum will cause Syphilis syndrome (10). Most of the pathogens mentioned above have common clinical features of rash and ocular abnormalities that bring a huge burden on healthcare system and the society (11).

The life cycle of TORCH agents are different from each other, and the infections of TORCH are believed to have lifelong influences. For CMV infection, lifelong latency is established after acute infection in infected hosts (12). The natural cycle of initial infection is related to an increased IgG level and decreased IgM level, while women with IgG-seropositive CMV infection could not be absolutely protected against reactivation or reinfection of the same pathogen (13). Besides, it has been reported that more children in the United States acquire congenital CMV infection from non-primary maternal infection than from primary maternal infection (14). Meanwhile, several studies have found that there is a link between human behavior, personality, or mental disorders and toxoplasmosis IgG seropositivity (15). A nested case-control study with age-matched participants found that fetal gastroschisis was associated with maternal HSV IgG reactivity (16). Rubella IgG is considered as a protective antibody from recurrent Rubella infection, so WHO and other guidelines strongly recommend individuals to take the Rubella vaccination reaching an IgG titer of 10 IU/mL anti-Rubella antibodies in serum (17). However, the influence of previous TORCH infection on long-term health, especially pregnancy and neonatal outcomes, is yet to be confirmed.

Since the infection rate of TORCH was relatively high among women at child-bearing age in Asia (18, 19), women are routinely checked for TORCH infection status, namely, IgM and IgG, before commencing IVF/ICSI cycles in our center. Nevertheless, there is no reliable information about the impact of previous TORCH infections on the outcomes of pregnancy and live birth in women undergoing IVF-ET. Hence, our study aims to investigate the association between past TORCH infections with IVF-ET outcomes.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

This retrospective, hospital-based cohort study was approved by the Hospital Ethics Committee, Women's Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine. Since it is a retrospective chart review study with only de-identified information collected, the Ethics Committee of Women's Hospital, Zhejiang University School of Medicine had determined exemption for informed consent of the study participants.

Patients admitted to our hospital for IVF treatment from January 1, 2010, to December 31, 2016, were enrolled. Inclusion criteria are as follows: (1) *in vitro* fertilization with fresh embryo transfer; (2) TORCH lab tests obtained within 6 months prior to transfer, with negative serum TORCH IgM. Exclusion criteria were (1) age more than 42 years old; (2) number of embryos transferred <1; (3) lost to follow-up; (4) incomplete data; and (5) data error. A total of 31,377 couples were recruited, and 18,074 were included in our final analysis. Flow chart was as in **Figure 1**.

Patients were divided into two groups, according to TORCH IgG seropositivity or not, clinical outcome data were collected and evaluated between the two groups. Primary outcomes were clinical pregnancy and live birth rate. Secondary outcomes were ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death. Clinical pregnancy was defined as the visualization of at least one gestational sac on ultrasound. Live birth was defined as baby born alive after 28 weeks of gestation. Ectopic pregnancy is defined as the development of a fertilized egg elsewhere than in the uterus. Miscarriage was defined as clinical pregnancy that was subsequently spontaneously miscarried. Preterm birth is defined as baby born alive before 37 weeks of gestation. Major malformations were defined as anomality that generally cause functional impairment or require surgical correction, and minor malformations were defined as the remaining malformations (20). Perinatal death was defined as infant death occur at less than 7 days of age or fetal death after 28 weeks of gestation. IVF and pregnancy outcomes were obtained from routine telephone follow-up by staff in our IVF center. Baseline characteristics were obtained from the running database in our IVF center. The rate of the primary and secondary outcomes were all calculated based on number of all cycles respectively.

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS (Statistical Package for the Social Sciences Version 23.0, IBM Corp., Armonk, NY, USA). Chi-square test and Student's *t*-test were used to compare proportions and means respectively. Adjusted odds ratios (OR) with 95% confidence intervals (CI) were



calculated to approximate relative risks of adverse outcomes. ORs were estimated using multivariate logistic regression for control of confounding factors. CMV infection, maternal age, paternal age, baseline FSH, number of MII oocytes, number of oocytes, number of 2PN created, and number of embryos transferred were factors put into the logistic regression model for previous CMV infection effect analysis. Toxoplasmosis infection, maternal age, paternal age, number of embryos transferred were the factors put into the logistic regression model for previous Toxoplasmosis infection effect analysis, while HSV infection, maternal age, paternal age, duration of infertility, number of embryos transferred were the factors used in the multivariate logistic regression for previous HSV infection effect analysis. As for the previous rubella infection effect analysis, rubella infection, maternal age, paternal age, antral follicle count, endometrial thickness, number of MII

oocytes, and number of embryos transferred were used as factors for multivariate logistic regression model. The method of backward testing was used for the selection of independent variables in logistic regressions with entry P value = 0.05 and removal P value = 0.1. P < 0.05 (two-tailed) was considered statistically significant.

RESULTS

Baseline Characteristics

Baseline characteristics of the study couples were shown in **Table 1**. There were differences in maternal age, paternal age, etiology of infertility, baseline FSH, number of MII oocyte, oocytes collected, 2PN created, and embryos transferred between the CMV IgM (–) IgG(+) group and CMV IgM (–) IIgG (–) group. All the baseline characteristics were similar between

TABLE 1 | Baseline characteristics of couples.

	CMV (-)	CMV (+)	Р	Toxoplasmosis (–)	Toxoplasmosis (+)	Р	HSV (-)	HSV (+)	Р	Rubella (–)	Rubella (+)	Р
No of IVF cycles	1,444	16,630		17,698	376		17,783	291		3,030	15,044	
Female Age	31.73 ± 4.42	31.22 ± 4.41	0.000	31.26 ± 4.41	31.36 ± 4.54	0.684	31.26 ± 4.41	31.38 ± 4.25	0.659	31.66 ± 4.54	31.19 ± 4.38	0.000
Duration of infertility (Years)	4.48 ± 3.29	4.30 ± 3.15	0.056	4.31 ± 3.16	4.46 ± 3.20	0.385	4.32 ± 3.16	3.98 ± 2.75	0.037	4.36 ± 3.18	4.31 ± 3.15	0.412
Female BMI	22.10 ± 2.75	22.18 ± 2.88	0.347	22.17 ± 2.88	22.20 ± 2.81	0.810	22.18 ± 2.87	21.77 ± 2.82	0.017	22.24 ± 2.81	22.15 ± 2.89	0.120
Male Age	33.99 ± 5.48	33.38 ± 5.28	0.000	33.41 ± 5.30	33.96 ± 5.61	0.049	33.42 ± 5.30	33.58 ± 5.51	0.621	33.88 ± 5.41	33.33 ± 5.28	0.000
Male BMI	23.69 ± 3.03	23.74 ± 3.20	0.543	23.73 ± 3.17	23.92 ± 3.59	0.304	23.74 ± 3.19	23.67 ± 3.03	0.746	23.81 ± 3.18	23.72 ± 3.18	0.160
Previous pregnancy in couple			0.495			0.284			0.524			0.001
Yes	818	9,266		9,864	220		9,927	157		1,772	8,312	
	(56.6)	(55.7)		(55.7)	(58.5)		(55.8)	(54.0)		(58.5)	(55.3)	
No	626	7,364		7,834	156		7,856	134		1,258	6,732	
	(43.4)	(44.3)		(44.3)	(41.5)		(44.2)	(46.0)		(41.5)	(44.7)	
Main reason			0.008			0.969			0.878			0.000
of infertility												
Tubal	745	9,377		9,905	217		9,962	160		1,651	8,471	
A	(51.6)	(56.4)		(56.0)	(57.7)		(56.0)	(55.0)		(54.5)	(56.3)	
Anovulatory Male factor	50 (3.5) 296	558 (3.4) 3,257		598(3.4) 3,482	10(2.7) 71		597(3.4) 3,601	11(3.8) 52		89(2.9) 593	519(3.4) 2,960	
IVIAIE TACLUI	(20.5)	(19.6)		(19.7)	(18.9)		(19.7)	(17.9)		(19.6)	(19.7)	
Endometriosis	154	1,462		1,573	33		1,578	28		336	1270	
	(10.0)	(8.8)		(8.9)	(8.8)		(8.9)	(9.6)		(11.1)	(8.4)	
Unexplained	79(5.5)	772 (4.6)		833(4.7)	18(4.8)		834 (4.7)	1 7(5.8)		130 (4.3)	721 (4.8)	
Others	130 (9.0)	1,204(7.2)		1,307(7.4)	27(7.2)		1,311(7.4)	23(7.9)		231(7.6)	1,103(7.3)	
Baseline FSH	6.88 ± 2.64	7.04 ± 2.45	0.020	7.02 ± 2.46	7.02 ± 2.61	0.990	7.03 ± 2.47	6.78 ± 2.28	0.083	6.99 ± 2.39	7.03 ± 2.48	0.416
AFC	10.72 ± 4.62	10.94 ± 4.61	0.104	10.92 ± 4.62	10.88 ± 4.32	0.843	10.91 ± 4.61	11.45 ± 4.75	0.055	10.74 ± 4.63	10.96 ± 4.61	0.023
Em Thickness(mm)	10.85 ± 2.97	10.80 ± 2.39	0.483	10.81 ± 2.45	10.79 ± 2.28	0.900	10.81 ± 2.44	10.79 ± 2.38	0.915	10.73 ± 2.34	10.82 ± 2.46	0.045
No of MII oocyte	1.07 ± 3.21	1.71 ± 3.88	0.000	1.66 ± 3.84	1.46 ± 3.77	0.324	1.65 ± 3.83	1.75 ± 4.13	0.664	1.51 ± 3.65	1.68 ± 3.87	0.024
Type of fertilization			0.528			0.588			0.338			0.358
IVF	1,021	11,775		12,536	260		12,585	211		2,115	10,682 (71.0)	
	(70.7)	(70.8)		(70.8)	(69.1)		(70.8)	(72.5)		(69.8)		
ICSI	423	4,855		5162	116		5,198	80		916	4,362	
	(29.3)	(29.2)		(29.2)	(30.9)		(29.2)	(27.5)		(30.2)	(29.0)	

TABLE 1 Continued	nued											
	CMV (-)	CMV (+)	٩	Toxoplasmosis (-)	Toxoplasmosis (+)	٩	(-) NSH	(+) ASH	٩	Rubella (–)	Rubella (+)	٩
No of eggs collected	11.30 ± 5.88	10.91 ± 5.62	0.010	10.94 土 5.64	10.68 ± 5.85	0.368	10.94 ± 5.65	10.71 ± 5.30	0.491	10.85 ± 5.66	10.96 ± 5.64	0.325
No of2PN created	6.78 ± 4.44	6.32 ± 4.10	0.000	6.36 ± 4.13	6.26 ± 4.28	0.621	6.36 ± 4.15	6.17 ± 3.85	0.434	6.34 ± 4.25	6.36 土 4.11	0.774
No of embryo transfer	2.04 ± 0.61	1.94 ± 0.58	0.000	1.95 ± -0.59	1.96 ± 0.64	0.742	1.95 ± 0.59	1.97 ± 0.58	0.548	1.97 ± 0.60	1.95 ± 0.58	0.037
At least one good embryo transferred	815 (56.4)	9,433 (56.7)	0.835	10,047 (56.8)	201 (53.5)	0.200	10,074 (56.6)	174 (59.8)	0.283	1,677 (55.3)	8,571 (57.0)	0.099
Values are Mean = CMV (-):CMV IgM Toxoplasmosis(-):: HSV(-):HSV IgM (- Rubella(-):rubella (Values are Mean ± Standard Deviation or N(%). CMV (-):CMV IgM (-) IgG (-): CMV(+): CMV IgM (-) IgG(+). Toxoplasmosis(-):toxoplasmosis IgM (-) IgG (-): toxoplasmosis (+). HSV(-):HSV IgM (-) IgG (-): HSV (+): HSV IgM (-) IgG(+). Rubella():rubella IgM (-) IgG (-): rubella (+): rubella IgM (-) IgG(+).	or N(%). CMV IgM (-) IgG(+).) IgG (-); toxoplasmo. SV IgM (-) IgG(+). (+): rubella IgM (-) I <u></u> ţ	sis (+): toxol gG(+).	Values are Mean ± Standard Deviation or N(%). CMV (-):CMV IgM (-) IgG (-): CMV/+): CMV IgM (-) IgG(+). Toxoplasmosis(-):toxoplasmosis IgM (-) IgG (-): (toxoplasmosis (+): toxoplasmosis IgM (-) IgG(+). +SV(-):HSV IgM (-) IgG (-): HSV (H): HSV IgM (-) IgG(+). Rubella(-):rubella IgM (-) IgG (-): rubella (+): rubella IgM (-) IgG(+).	,(+							

the toxoplasmosis IgM (-) IgG(+) group and toxoplasmosis IIgM (-) IgG (-) group. Baseline characteristics were similar between the HSV IgM (-) IgG(+) group and HSV IgM (-) IgG (-) group, except for duration of infertility, maternal BMI, and antral follicle count. As for the rubella IgM (-) IgG(+) group and rubella IgM (-) IgG (-) group, differences were found in maternal age, paternal age, previous pregnancy, etiology of infertility, endometrial thickness, number of MII oocytes, and whether at least one good embryo was transferred. All the factors with significant differences were put into the multivariate logistic regression analysis to adjust ORs.

Reproductive and Neonatal Outcome in the Presence of CMV IgG

We investigated the differences in reproductive and neonatal outcomes between the CMV IgM (-) IgG(+) group and CMV IgM (-) IgG (-) group. As shown in **Table 2**, CMV IgM (-) IgG(+) group showed a lower live birth rate compared with CMV IgM (-) IgG (-) group (31.8 vs. 34.2%), while no statistically significant difference was noticed [P = 0.063, OR = 0.948 (95% CI, 0.895–1.003), adjusted OR = 0.965 (95%CI, 0.911–1.023)]. There was no significant difference regarding the rate of clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death between the two groups.

Reproductive and Neonatal Outcome in the Presence of Toxoplasmosis IgG

The comparison of the differences in reproductive and neonatal outcomes between the toxoplasmosis IgM (–) IgG(+) group and toxoplasmosis IgM (–) IgG (–) group were shown in **Table 3**. Previous toxoplasmosis infection significantly lowered the preterm birth rate [P = 0.045, OR = 0.755 (95% CI, 0.571–0.997), Adjusted OR = 0.749 [95%CI, 0.566–0.991)], while no significant differences were identified in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, major malformation, neonatal minor malformation, and perinatal death between the two groups.

Reproductive and Neonatal Outcome in the Presence of HSV or Rubella IgG

Comparison between previous HSV or Rubella infection and non-infection group were shown in **Tables 4**, **5**, respectively. No differences in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, offspring malformation, and perinatal death were noticed.

DISCUSSION

Infection during pregnancy has long been proven to cause adverse pregnancy outcomes, such as abortion and disastrous sequelae depending on the pathogens. The most well-known group of teratogenic pathogens are referred to as "TORCH" (*Toxoplasma gondii*, others like *Treponema pallidum*, rubella virus, cytomegalovirus, herpes simplex virus), for which, up to

TABLE 2 Crude and adjusted ORs	for reproductive and neonatal	outcome by presence of IgG of CMV.

	CMV (-) N (%)	CMV (+) N (%)	Р	Crude ORs (95% CI)	Adjusted ORs (95% CI)
Clinical pregnancy	612 (42.4)	7,009 (42.1)	0.862	0.995 (0.942–1.051)	1.016 (0.961–1.074)
Ectopic pregnancy	26 (1.8)	383 (2.3)	0.218	1.134 (0.928–1.386)	1.167 (0.954–1.427)
Miscarriage	80 (5.5)	997 (6.0)	0.484	1.043 (0.927–1.172)	1.070 (0.951–1.204)
Live Birth	494 (34.2)	5,294 (31.8)	0.063	0.948 (0.895–1.003)	0.965 (0.911–1.023)
Preterm Birth	90 (6.2)	970 (5.8)	0.535	0.965 (0.863–1.079)	0.996 (0.890–1.115)
Major malformation	6 (0.4)	69 (0.4)	0.997	0.999 (0.658–1.518)	1.011 (0.664–1.538)
Minor malformation	1 (0.1)	25 (0.2)	0.719	1.474 (0.542-4.006)	1.517 (0.557–4.130)
Perinatal Death	3 (0.2)	33 (0.2)	0.763	0.977 (0.541-1.766)	1.038 (0.574–1.879)

Clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death were calculated based on number of all cycles. CMV (–):CMV IgM (–) IgG (–); CMV(+): CMV IgM (–)IgG(+).

TABLE 3 | Crude and adjusted ORs for reproductive and neonatal outcome by presence of IgG of Toxoplasmosis.

	Toxoplasmosis (–) N(%)	Toxoplasmosis (+) N(%)	Р	Crude ORs (95% CI)	Adjusted ORs (95% CI)
Clinical pregnancy	7,474 (42.2)	157 (39.1)	0.223	0.937 (0.844–1.040)	0.937 (0.843–1.042)
Ectopic pregnancy	402 (2.3)	7 (1.9)	0.597	0.903 (0.620–1.317)	0.899 (0.617–1.312)
Miscarriage	1,059 (6.0)	18 (4.8)	0.332	0.889 (0.700-1.128)	0.884 (0.696–1.122)
Live Birth	5,676 (32.1)	112 (29.8)	0.348	0.948 (0.848-1.060)	0.948 (0.847-1.062)
Preterm Birth	1,047 (5.9)	13 (3.5)	0.045	0.755 (0.571–0.997)	0.749 (0.566–0.991)
Major malformation	75 (0.4)	O (O)	0.411	-	-
Minor malformation	24 (0.1)	2 (0.5)	0.101	1.984 (0.963–4.089)	1.980 (0.960–4.083)
Perinatal Death	36 (0.2)	O (O)	1.000	-	-

Ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death were calculated based on number of all cycles. Toxoplasmosis (–):toxoplasmosis IgM (–) IgG (–); toxoplasmosis (+): toxoplasmosis IgM (–)IgG(+).

	HSV (–) N(%)	HSV (+) N(%)	Р	Crude ORs (95% CI)	Adjusted ORs (95% CI)
Clinical pregnancy	7,495 (42.1)	126 (43.3)	0.693	1.024 (0.911–1.151)	1.019 (0.905–1.157)
Ectopic pregnancy	399 (2.2)	10 (3.4)	0.175	1.245 (0.905–1.713)	1.241 (0.902-1.709)
Miscarriage	1063 (6.0)	15 (4.8)	0.404	0.892 (0.680–1.168)	0.891 (0.679–1.167)
Live Birth	5,690 (32.0)	98 (33.7)	0.542	1.039 (0.919–1.174)	1.033 (0.912–1.170)
Preterm Birth	1,041 (5.9)	19 (6.5)	0.627	1.060 (0.838–1.340)	1.050 (0.829–1.329)
Major malformation	74 (0.4)	1 (0.3)	1.000	0.908 (0.338-2.441)	0.902 (0.336-2.424)
Minor malformation	26 (0.1)	O (O)	1.000	-	-
Perinatal Death	36 (0.2)	O (O)	1.000	_	_

TABLE 4 Crude and adjusted ORs for reproductive and neonatal outcome by presence of IgG of HSV.

Ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death were calculated based on number of all cycles. HSV (-):HSV IgM (-) IgG (-); HSV (+): HSV IgM (-) IgG(+).

now, the underlying mechanisms were still unclear (21). In our study, we found that there is no difference in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, and perinatal death between the corresponding previous TORCH infection group and the non-infection group respectively. Previous toxoplasmosis infection is associated with a significantly decreased preterm birth rate.

Previous studies revealed that the crucial mechanisms of intrauterine infections leading to abortion, lowering live birth rate, and increasing risk of congenital malformations is possibly through upregulated oxidative stress and apoptosis pathways to inhibit placenta development and fetal growth (22–24). Patients

admitted for IVF/ICSI-ET treatment will undergo a series of assisted reproductive technology to achieve pregnancy and are required to take a TORCH test before starting IVF/ICSI-ET cycles. With the number of infertile patients annually increasing, the cycles of IVF/ICSI-ET raised consequently, and ever since the administration of TORCH screening during or before pregnancy, more and more serologic positive patients have been identified (18). However, no preceding research has focused on investigating the effect of previous TORCH infection on patients undergoing IVF/ICSI-ET and the clinical significance of carrying out such screening in IVF centers. The lack of high-quality

	Rubella (–) N (%)	Rubella (+) N (%)	Р	Crude ORs (95% CI)	Adjusted ORs (95% CI)
Clinical pregnancy	1,281 (42.3)	6,340 (42.1)	0.891	0.997 (0.959–1.037)	0.982 (0.941–1.024)
Ectopic pregnancy	63 (2.1)	346 (2.3)	0.456	1.053 (0.919–1.206)	1.020 (0.886–1.174)
Miscarriage	188 (6.2)	889 (5.9)	0.531	0.974 (0.898–1.057)	0.975 (0.896–1.062)
Live Birth	962 (31.7)	4,826 (32.1)	0.722	1.008 (0.966-1.051)	0.992 (0.948–1.037)
Preterm Birth	175 (5.8)	885 (5.9)	0.819	1.010 (0.929–1.098)	1.003 (0.919–1.096)
Major malformation	15 (0.5)	61 (0.4)	0.659	0.937 (0.700-1.253)	0.931 (0.688–1.259)
Minor malformation	5 (0.2)	21 (0.1)	0.736	0.920 (0.564-1.498)	0.889 (0.544–1.453)
Perinatal Death	6 (0.2)	30 (0.2)	0.987	1.004 (0.647–1.556)	1.217 (0.722–2.053)

Ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth, preterm birth, major malformation, minor malformation, and perinatal death were calculated based on number of all cycles. Rubella (–):rubella IgM (–) IgG (–); rubella (+): rubella IgM (–) IgG(+).

studies in this field places clinicians in a dilemma of patient management and decision making, which warrants more indepth research.

It is reported that \sim 30% of primary CMV infections presented a positive IgM, but there was a high false-positive rate. Thus, the IgG test was preferred as a diagnostic test 3 to 4 weeks after initial exposure. The results of serologic testing become meaningful when there is seroconversion from IgG negative to positive or the IgG titer rises greater than 4-fold from baseline (25). Hence, we want to explore the correlation between IgG seropositivity and pregnant and neonatal outcomes among infertile patients receiving IVF/ICSI-ET treatment.

CMV is the most prevalent congenital viral infection worldwide, influencing up to 2.0% pregnancies (26). The total birth incidence of congenital CMV infection is estimated to be 0.64%, and the risk of primary CMV infection in seronegative mothers ranges between 0.7 and 4.1% (27). In our study, we found patients with previous CMV infection had a lower live birth rate in comparison with those without CMV infection after IVF/ICSI-ET [P = 0.063, OR = 0.948 (95% CI, 0.895-1.003), adjusted OR = 0.965 (95%CI, 0.911-1.032)], indicating that previous CMV infection might have an adverse effect on live birth rate in patients undergoing IVF/ICSI-ET. Although the difference was not significant, the trend would remind clinicians to pay more attention to previous CMV infection. What's more, from the results, we can interpret that there are no statistically significant differences in clinical pregnancy rate or miscarriage rate between the CMV IgG(+) group and CMV IgG (-) group. It has been reported that the mechanism of intrauterine CMV infection causing pregnancy loss is mainly through placental inflammation. Scientists had detected higher levels of multiple cytokines and growth factors in amniotic fluid from those who with CMV infection than uninfected controls (21). The results observed in our study could possibly be caused by a similar pathophysiological effect of CMV IgG antibodies. Therefore, prevention of CMV infection seems to be more important during preparation for pregnancy, which incorporates hygiene precautions and behavioral interventions based on published findings, such as thoroughly washing hands with soap and water for 15 to 20s (28). Further studies are needed to explore the effect of different levels of IgG avidity on pregnant and neonatal outcomes among patients underwent IVF/ICSI-ET.

Toxoplasma gondii is a similarly prevalent infection throughout the world. Toxoplasma gondii is a protozoan parasite that spreads through cat feces or through ingestion of uncooked meat. Infection of Toxoplasma gondii leads to fetal injury, with brain and ocular involvement (29). An Iranian survey showed overall seroprevalence of toxoplasmosis is 39.9% (95% CI, 26.1-53.7) among childbearing-age women (30). Identically, IgG of toxoplasmosis is the most sensitive test, because IgM has a high false-positive rate and remains elevated for up to 2 years after infection (31). Our study discovered previous toxoplasmosis infection resulted in a significant decrement in the preterm birth rate [P = 0.045, OR = 0.755](95% CI, 0.571-0.997), adjusted OR = 0.749 (95% CI, 0.566-0.991)], indicating pre-pregnancy toxoplasmosis exposure might be a protective factor in infertile women. The reason for the decreased incidence of preterm birth is uncertain, but might be explained as the presence of antibody prevent individuals from further Toxoplasmosis infection (32). There are no significant differences found in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth rate, major malformation, neonatal minor malformation, and perinatal death between the toxoplasmosis IgM (-) IgG(+) group and IgM (-) IgG (-) group, which means patients with previous toxoplasmosis infection don't warrant more attention and further treatments.

Pregnant women without rubella immunity have a high risk of congenital Rubella infection. Fortunately, rubella vaccination has significantly reduced the prevalence of congenital rubella syndrome (CRS) in many countries (33). Serum IgG positivity of rubella implies there is an immune response from the past. No differences in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth rate, malformation rate, or perinatal death were noticed between patients with previous rubella infection [IgM (–) IgG(+)] and those without [IgM (–) IgG (–)], indicating rubella IgG may potentially be a protective factor during pregnancy.

HSV infection can be disastrous to newborns. However, neonatal HSV infections are uncommon, occurring in around 1 out of every 3,200 births in the United State considering the high prevalence of HSV infection in the overall population (1). Therefore, routine prenatal screening for HSV infection is not recommended (34). Our study confirmed no differences in clinical pregnancy, ectopic pregnancy, miscarriage, live birth rate, malformation rate, perinatal death between HSV IgM (–) IgG(+)

group, and the non-infection group, which is consistent with the advice mentioned above.

This study has limitations. First, despite the large quantity of 18,074 IVF/ICSI-ET cycles included, this study is retrospectively designed, which might have included unmeasured confounding factors and led to potential bias, such as information bias negatively impacting the veracity of the study. Further multicenter prospective studies are needed to provide more convincing evidence. Second, our study merely observed neonatal outcomes; the growth and development of the child were not evaluated. Long-term follow-up of offspring are needed to further explore the effect of maternal previous TORCH infections on offspring health. Third, the results are concluded from clinical data exhibiting a correlation between previous TORCH infection and the pregnancy and neonatal outcomes for couples underwent IVF/ICSI-ET, while we have not yet conducted further basic research to confirm the phenomenon and explore the underlying mechanisms. Last but not least, our study does not investigate the different TORCH pathogen co-infection effects, and further research is needed to distinguish the effect of different co-infected pathogens and to undertake subgroup analysis.

Previous studies have only paid attention to the effects of TORCH infection during pregnancy, and a lot of observations have demonstrated TORCH infection has accounted for several adverse prenatal and neonatal events, including miscarriage, malformation, and neurodevelopmental abnormalities. Our study focuses on a totally different timeframe and a special group of patients to explore whether past infection of TORCH before pregnancy will have an impact on maternal and neonatal outcomes in patients undergoing IVF/ICSI-ET. Our study indicated that previous TORCH infections were not directly associated with adverse pregnancy and neonatal outcomes, providing evidence for clinicians to reduce the screening frequency on this matter. Therefore, further cost-effective analysis might be helpful for clinical strategy of TORCH IgG screening in IVF procedure.

REFERENCES

- Brown ZA, Wald A, Morrow RA, Selke S, Zeh J, Corey L. Effect of serologic status and cesarean delivery on transmission rates of herpes simplex virus from mother to infant. *JAMA*. (2003) 289:203–9. doi: 10.1001/jama. 289.2.203
- 2. Neu N, Duchon J, Zachariah P. TORCH infections. *Clin Perinatol.* (2015) 42:77–103. doi: 10.1016/j.clp.2014.11.001
- Nigro G, Adler SP. Cytomegalovirus infections during pregnancy. Curr Opin Obstetr Gynecol. (2011) 23:123–8. doi: 10.1097/GCO.0b013e3283 42f1f6
- Nijman J, de Vries LS, Koopman-Esseboom C, Uiterwaal CS, van Loon AM, Verboon-Maciolek MA. Postnatally acquired cytomegalovirus infection in preterm infants: a prospective study on risk factors and cranial ultrasound findings. *Arch Dis Childhood Fetal Neonatal Edn.* (2012) 97:F259– 63. doi: 10.1136/archdischild-2011-300405
- Lazzarotto T, Varani S, Guerra B, Nicolosi A, Lanari M, Landini MP. Prenatal indicators of congenital cytomegalovirus infection. *J Pediatr.* (2000) 137:90– 5. doi: 10.1067/mpd.2000.107110
- 6. Lazzarotto T, Gabrielli L, Foschini MP, Lanari M, Guerra B, Eusebi V, et al. Congenital cytomegalovirus infection in twin pregnancies: viral load

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

All datasets generated for this study are included in the article/supplementary material.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Hospital Ethics Committee, Women's Hospital, School of Medicine, Zhejiang University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

DZ and GX designed the study and critically revised the manuscript. YL performed data analysis. YW, FW, WZ, LC, ST, YQ, YL, YH, and RZ collected data. YL, YW, FW, and SW drafted the manuscript. All authors reviewed the manuscript.

FUNDING

This study was supported by the National Key Research and Development Program of China (2018YFC1005003, 2017YFC1001003), the National Natural Science Foundation of China (No. 81701442), Zhejiang Provincial Key Medical Technology Program (WKJ-ZJ-1826), the Natural Science Foundation of Zhejiang Province (LZ18H040001), and the Fundamental Research Funds for the Zhejiang Provincial Universities (2-2050205-19-007).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank Yangfan Fan and Jing Guo for their assistance with data analysis.

in the amniotic fluid and pregnancy outcome. *Pediatrics*. (2003) 112:e153-7. doi: 10.1542/peds.112.2.e153

- Berrebi A, Kobuch WE. Toxoplasmosis in pregnancy. Lancet. (1994) 344:950. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(94)92298-5
- Grant GB, Reef SE, Patel M, Knapp JK, Dabbagh A. Progress in rubella and congenital rubella syndrome control and elimination -Worldwide, 2000-2016. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. (2017) 66:1256– 60. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6645a4
- Corey L, Wald A. Maternal and neonatal herpes simplex virus infections. N Engl J Med. (2009) 361:1376–85. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra0 807633
- Epps RE, Pittelkow MR, Su WP. TORCH syndrome. Semin Dermatol. (1995) 14:179–86. doi: 10.1016/S1085-5629(05)80016-1
- Peeling RW, Mabey D, Kamb ML, Chen XS, Radolf JD, Benzaken AS. Syphilis. Nat Rev Dis Primers. (2017) 3:17073. doi: 10.1038/nrdp.2017.73
- Heald-Sargent TA, Forte E, Liu X, Thorp EB, Abecassis MM, Zhang ZJ, et al. New insights into the molecular mechanisms and immune control of cytomegalovirus reactivation. *Transplantation*. (2020) 104:e118–24. doi: 10.1097/TP.00000000003138
- Kagan KO, Hamprecht K. Cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy. Arch Gynecol Obstetr. (2017) 296:15–26. doi: 10.1007/s00404-017-4380-2

- Wang C, Zhang X, Bialek S, Cannon MJ. Attribution of congenital cytomegalovirus infection to primary versus non-primary maternal infection. *Clin Infect Dis.* (2011) 52:e11–3. doi: 10.1093/cid/ciq085
- Johnson HJ, Koshy AA. Latent toxoplasmosis effects on rodents and humans: how much is real and how much is media hype? *mBio.* (2020) 11:e02164-19. doi: 10.1128/mBio.02164-19
- Werler MM, Parker SE, Hedman K, Gissler M, Ritvanen A, Surcel HM. Maternal antibodies to herpes virus antigens and risk of gastroschisis in offspring. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2016) 184:902–12. doi: 10.1093/aje/ kww114
- Kempster SL, Almond N, Dimech W, Grangeot-Keros L, Huzly D, Icenogle J, et al. WHO international standard for antirubella: learning from its application. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2019) 20:e17–9. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(19)30274-9
- Li Z, Yan C, Liu P, Yan R, Feng Z. Prevalence of serum antibodies to TORCH among women before pregnancy or in the early period of pregnancy in Beijing. *Clin Chim Acta.* (2009) 403:212–5. doi: 10.1016/j.cca.2009. 03.027
- Shigemi D, Yamaguchi S, Otsuka T, Kamoi S, Takeshita T. Seroprevalence of cytomegalovirus IgG antibodies among pregnant women in Japan from 2009-2014. Am J Infect Control. (2015) 43:1218–21. doi: 10.1016/j.ajic.2015. 06.026
- Belva F, Bonduelle M, Roelants M, Verheyen G, Van Landuyt L. Neonatal health including congenital malformation risk of 1072 children born after vitrified embryo transfer. *Hum Reprod.* (2016) 31:1610– 20. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dew103
- Adams Waldorf KM, McAdams RM. Influence of infection during pregnancy on fetal development. *Reproduction*. (2013) 146:R151–62. doi: 10.1530/REP-13-0232
- Fredricks DN, Fiedler TL, Marrazzo JM. Molecular identification of bacteria associated with bacterial vaginosis. N Engl J Med. (2005) 353:1899– 911. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043802
- DiGiulio DB, Romero R, Amogan HP, Kusanovic JP, Bik EM, Gotsch F, et al. Microbial prevalence, diversity and abundance in amniotic fluid during preterm labor: a molecular and culture-based investigation. *PLoS ONE.* (2008) 3:e3056. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0003056
- Menard JP, Mazouni C, Salem-Cherif I, Fenollar F, Raoult D, Boubli L, et al. High vaginal concentrations of *Atopobium* vaginae and *Gardnerella vaginalis* in women undergoing preterm labor. *Obstetr Gynecol.* (2010) 115:134– 40. doi: 10.1097/AOG.0b013e3181c391d7
- Feldman DM, Keller R, Borgida AF. Toxoplasmosis, parvovirus, and cytomegalovirus in pregnancy. *Clin Lab Med.* (2016) 36:407–19. doi: 10.1016/j.cll.2016.01.011

- Manicklal S, Emery VC, Lazzarotto T, Boppana SB, Gupta RK. The "silent" global burden of congenital cytomegalovirus. *Clin Microbiol Rev.* (2013) 26:86–102. doi: 10.1128/CMR.00062-12
- Rasti S, Ghasemi FS, Abdoli A, Piroozmand A, Mousavi SG, Fakhrie-Kashan Z. ToRCH "co-infections" are associated with increased risk of abortion in pregnant women. *Congenit Anom.* (2016) 56:73–8. doi: 10.1111/cga. 12138
- Rawlinson WD, Boppana SB, Fowler KB, Kimberlin DW, Lazzarotto T, Alain S, et al. Congenital cytomegalovirus infection in pregnancy and the neonate: consensus recommendations for prevention, diagnosis, and therapy. *Lancet Infect Dis.* (2017) 17:e177–88. doi: 10.1016/S1473-3099(17) 30143-3
- Leeper C, Lutzkanin A, III. Infections during pregnancy. *Primary Care.* (2018) 45:567–86. doi: 10.1016/j.pop.2018.05.013
- Borna S, Shariat M, Fallahi M, Janani L. Prevalence of immunity to toxoplasmosis among Iranian childbearing age women: systematic review and meta-analysis. *Iran J Reprod Med.* (2013) 11:861–8.
- Murat JB, Hidalgo HF, Brenier-Pinchart MP, Pelloux H. Human toxoplasmosis: which biological diagnostic tests are best suited to which clinical situations? *Exp Rev Anti infect Ther.* (2013) 11:943–56. doi: 10.1586/14787210.2013.825441
- Sever JL. TORCH tests and what they mean. Am J Obstetr Gynecol. (1985) 152:495–8. doi: 10.1016/0002-9378(85) 90614-3
- Muller CP, Kremer JR, Best JM, Dourado I, Triki H, Reef S. Reducing global disease burden of measles and rubella: report of the WHO Steering Committee on research related to measles and rubella vaccines and vaccination, 2005. *Vaccine*. (2007) 25:1–9. doi: 10.1016/j.vaccine.2006. 07.039
- 34. Urato AC, Caughey AB. Universal prenatal herpes screening is a bad idea in pregnancy. *Lancet.* (2006) 368:898–9. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(06)69348-3

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2020 Liu, Wu, Wang, Wang, Zhao, Chen, Tu, Qian, Liao, Huang, Zhang, Xu and Zhang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.





Effect and Relationship of Seasons on the High Risk of Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome After Oocyte Retrieval in Patients With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome

Yurong Cao^{1,2,3†}, Hao Shi^{1,2,3†}, Yue Ma^{1,2,3}, Linna Ma^{1,2,3} and Jun Zhai^{1,2,3*}

¹ Center for Reproductive Medicine, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ² Henan Key Laboratory of Reproduction and Genetics, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China, ³ Henan Provincial Obstetrical and Gynecological Diseases (Reproductive Medicine) Clinical Research Center, The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, Zhengzhou, China

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by: Yang Yu, Peking University Third Hospital, China

Reviewed by:

Yukiko Katagiri, Toho University, Japan Gufeng Xu, Brigham and Women's Hospital and Harvard Medical School, United States

*Correspondence:

Jun Zhai bestzhai2005@163.com

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 27 September 2020 Accepted: 07 December 2020 Published: 26 January 2021

Citation:

Cao Y, Shi H, Ma Y, Ma L and Zhai J (2021) Effect and Relationship of Seasons on the High Risk of Ovarian Hyperstimulation Syndrome After Oocyte Retrieval in Patients With Polycystic Ovary Syndrome. Front. Endocrinol. 11:610828. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2020.610828 **Objective:** To investigate the effect of seasons on the incidence of high risk of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) after in oocyte retrieval in patients with polycystic ovarian syndrome (PCOS) and to establish a nomogram to predict the risk of OHSS.

Design: Single-center, retrospective study.

Setting: University-affiliated reproductive medicine center.

Patient(s): A total of 2,030 infertility patients with PCOS underwent the follicular phase long-acting long protocol IVF/ICSI in the reproductive medicine center from January 2017 to December 2019.

Intervention(s): None.

Main outcome measure(s): Logistic regression analysis was used to analyze the factors associated with a high risk of OHSS. We established a nomogram to predict the risk of OHSS in infertility patients with PCOS after oocyte retrieval.

Result(s): The incidence of patients at high risk of OHSS was significantly different from season-to-season and was especially higher in the summer and winter. Multivariate logistic analysis showed that gonadotropin dosage, number of retrieved oocytes, estradiol level, average bilateral ovarian diameter on the day human chorionic gonadotropin was administered, type of infertility, and average temperature were independent risk factors for OHSS after oocyte retrieval in PCOS patients. Based on the above independent risk factors, we constructed a prediction model for OHSS risk. To evaluate the efficiency of the prediction model, we calculated the C-index (0.849), area under the receiver operating characteristic curve (0.849), and internal validation C-index (0.846). Decision curve analysis suggested that the prediction model exhibited significant net benefits.

Conclusion(s): The incidence of PCOS patients at high risk for OHSS after oocyte retrieval fluctuated with seasonal temperature changes, and was significantly higher in

extreme climates. The prediction model had favorable predictive performance and clinical application value.

Keywords: polycystic ovary syndrome, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome, temperature change, nomogram, receiver operating characteristic curve

INTRODUCTION

Seasonal changes affect the development of many diseases and are closely related to the morbidity and mortality rate of hospitalization (1, 2). For instance, seasonal variations in acute coronary syndromes have been reported, with incidence and mortality peaking in the winter because of the proportion of plaque rupture is highest in winter (3). However, infectious and respiratory diseases are more prevalent in the summer (4).

Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) is a severe complication of controlled ovarian hyperstimulation (COH) that is related to age, body mass index, ovarian function, and the ovulation stimulation protocol. The risk of OHSS in polycystic ovary syndrome (PCOS) patients is significantly increased (5). The etiology of OHSS is complex. Emerging evidence has shown that OHSS is associated with inflammatory factors interleukin (IL)-6, tumor necrosis factor (TNF)- α , IL-8, vascular endothelial growth factor, and the local renin-angiotensin aldosterone system, which led to a series of pathologic changes, including increased capillary permeability, leakage of vascular fluid into the interstitial space to form pleural effusions or ascites, decreased effective circulating blood volume, blood concentration, and even thrombosis (6, 7).

The immune system changes significantly throughout the year. Specifically, it has been shown that serum concentrations of IL-6 and soluble IL-6 receptor exhibit seasonality with higher expression during cold climates. IL-6 is an inflammatory factor that increases capillary permeability and plays an important role in the pathogenesis of OHSS (8, 9). Extreme weather activates the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenocortical (HPA) axis and the sympathetic nervous system, which resulted in a high level of aldosterone (10). Abnormal expression of aldosterone promotes renal tubular reabsorption and increases the levels of inflammatory mediators, both of which play a key role in the occurrence of OHSS. The purpose of this study was to evaluate the relationship between the incidence of patients with PCOS at high risk for OHSS after oocyte retrieval and season and to construct a prediction model for OHSS risk to provide a new strategy to reduce the incidence of OHSS.

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Study Design

A retrospective analysis of patients from Henan Province in China who were diagnosed with PCOS according to the Rotterdam criteria at The Center for Reproductive Medicine of The First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University, and underwent oocyte retrieval between 1 January 2017 and 31 December 2019. The follicular phase long-acting long protocol was used to stimulate follicles and *in vitro* fertilization (IVF)/ intracytoplasmic sperm injection (ICSI) was performed. The study was retrospectively, the access and processing of patient data was approved by the ethics committee under a protocol for retrospective studies.

The inclusion criteria were as follows: 1) diagnosis of PCOS according to the Rotterdam criteria; 2) first fresh cycle using follicular phase long-term protocol and recived oocyte retrieval; and 3) age < 40 years. The exclusion criteria were as follows: 1) cycle cancellation of fresh embryo transfer because of abnormal liver function tests, high serum progesterone levels, pre-implantation genetic diagnosis/pre-implantation genetic screening, personal reasons, and/or uterine factors; 2) a history of OHSS or OHSS following embryo transfer; 3) a history of endometriosis, adenomyosis, surgery for ovarian cysts, hydrosalpinx, and pelvic tuberculosis; and 4) The male suffers from severe oligozoospermia or teratozoospermia.

Patients with PCOS at high risk for OHSS (serum estradiol [E2] level on human chorionic gonadotropin [HCG] administration day > 11,010 pmol/L, number of retrieved oocytes \geq 15 and perceived bloating, and/or symptoms, such as bloating, abdominal pain, chest tightness, oliguria, pleural effusion, blood hypercoagulability, and/or volume of ovaries increased before retrieval) were required to cancel fresh embryo transfer and freeze embryos.

Meteorological Data

Meteorological data for January 2017–December 2019 for Zhengzhou City, Henan Province, China were downloaded from the China Meteorological Data Net (http://data.cma.cn/) and included monthly minimum, maximum and average temperatures, and sunshine duration. Henan, China is located in the northern hemisphere with a warm temperate–subtropical monsoon climate. The dates of oocyte retrieval were divided into spring (March–May), summer (June–August), autumn (September–November), and winter (December–February).

Ovulation Stimulation Program and Embryo Transfer

On the 2^{nd} - 3^{rd} days of menstruation, patients were given a longacting gonadotropin releasing hormone agonist (Diphereline, 3.75 mg; Beaufour-Ipsen, Dreux, France) by subcutaneous injections. Thirty days later, we obtained blood from patients to determine serum follicle-stimulating hormone (FSH), luteinizing hormone (LH), E2, and progesterone (P) levels. At the same time, vaginal ultrasound was used to monitor the size of antral follicles. When the FSH level was < 5 IU/L, the LH level was < 3 IU/L, and the antral follicle was nearly 5 mm in diameter, COH was initiated. Based on patient age, anti-Mullerian hormone level, antral follicle count, body mass index, and serum FSH level, we determined the individualized dosage of gonadotropin ([Gn] GONAL-f; Merck Serono, Darmstadt, Germany). When one dominant follicle was ≥ 20 mm in diameter and at least three dominant follicles were ≥ 17 mm in diameter, a trigger injection of HCG (recombinant human chorionic gonadotropin alfa for injection, Merck Serono) was administered the same night. After 36–37 h of the trigger injection, we performed transvaginal oocyte retrieval. The method of fertilization depended on semen quality. Fresh embryo transfer was performed 3–5 days after oocyte retrieval based on embryo quality, endometrial and patient's condition. The transplant was cancelled if patients were deemed at high risk for OHSS, the P level was > 3 ng/ml, or a uterine effusion was demonstrated.

Our primary outcome measure was the incidence of patients with PCOS at high risk for OHSS, calculated as the number of patients at high risk for OHSS per total number of patients. Secondary outcome measures were as follows. The fertilization rate was defined as the total number of fertilization oocytes per total number of retrieved oocytes. The cleavage rate was calculated as the total number of cleavages divided by the total number of fertilization oocytes. The high-quality embryo rate is expressed as the total number of high-quality embryos divided by the total number of cleavages. The clinical pregnancy rate was defined by the presence of a fetal heartbeat at 6–7 weeks of pregnancy. The live birth rate was defined as the total number of women with live births per total number of women with fresh embryo transfer.

Statistical Analysis

For comparison of continuous variables between multiple groups and when the variance was homogeneous among groups, oneway ANOVA or the Kruskal-Wallis non-parametric test was used. The LSD-t test was used for a pairwise comparison of continuous variables within the group, and a chi-square test was used for comparison of proportions (Bonferroni correction was used to account for multiple testing). Linear regression analysis was used when the outcomes were continuous variables. Multivariable logistic regression analysis was used when the outcomes were dichotomous variables. The features were considered as odds ratios (ORs) with 95% confidence intervals (CIs) and a P-value. According to the regression coefficient of the final variable, a personalized prediction model was constructed. All potential predictors were applied to develop the prediction model. To evaluate the accuracy and differentiation of the prediction model, the C-index and receiver operating characteristic curve (ROC) were measured. The prediction model was subjected to bootstrapping validation (1000 bootstrap resamples) to calculate a relatively corrected C-index. Decision curve analysis (DCA) was performed to determine the clinical usefulness of the prediction model by quantifying the net benefits at different threshold probabilities in the cohort. A $P \leq$ 0.05 was considered statistically significant. Data analysis was conducted using SPSS 26.0 (Armonk, New York, USA) and R software (version 3.6.0; Miami, FL, USA). Delete sample objects with missing values under indicators.

RESULTS

A total of 2,030 patients with PCOS were included. Among them, 683 women with the high risk of OHSS cancelled fresh embryo transfer and frozen embryos, and the rest of the women served as controls, including 1,333 women who received fresh embryo transfer and 14 women without available embryos. We divided patients into four groups by season and compared various indicators of them. The results indicated that the number of retrieved oocytes, average bilateral ovarian diameter on the day of HCG administration, Gn dosage, incidence of patients at high risk for OHSS, and live birth rate were statistically different between seasons (P < 0.05; **Table 1** and **Figure 1**).

We analyzed the impact of season changes on the occurrence of patients at high risk for OHSS. Logistic regression analysis showed that Gn dosage, number of retrieved oocytes, serum E2 level, average bilateral ovarian diameter on the day of HCG administration, etiology of infertility, average temperature, average minimum temperature, and average maximum temperature were independent risk factors affecting OHSS risk in patients with PCOS (P < 0.05; **Table 2**).

The OHSS risk prediction model that incorporated the above independent risk factors was developed and is presented as a nomogram. We performed the precision, discrimination, stability, and application value of the model by the C-index, ROC curve, bootstrap internal validation method, and DCA. We deleted sample objects with missing values under some indicators. Ultimately, 1925 individuals were included in the model analysis. The C-index was 0.849, the AUC was 0.849, and the internal validation C-index was 0.846. DCA showed that the nomogram is clinically useful when the decision to intervene at an OHSS possibility threshold of 4% (**Figures 2** and **3**).

In different seasons, the live birth rate, number of retrieved oocytes, and high-quality embryo rate were significant differences. The relationships between the above three outcomes and the seasonal factor were analyzed by linear or logistic regression; there was no correlation between the live birth rate or number of retrieved oocytes and the seasonal factor (P > 0.05). The high-quality embryo rate was related with sunshine duration (P < 0.05; **Table 3**).

DISCUSSION

OHSS is a serious, iatrogenic complication of COH. Patients with PCOS are at an increased risk for OHSS due to the high ovarian responsivity to gonadotropin stimulation (11). Our results showed that the high risk for OHSS after oocyte retrieval in PCOS patients was associated with total Gn dosage, number of retrieved oocytes, E2 level, and average diameter of the bilateral ovaries on the HCG day of administration, which was consistent with previous studies (12–15). In addition, our study showed that PCOS patients with primary infertility had a greater incidence of OHSS, which may be related to more complex symptoms.

We found that the high risk for OHSS in PCOS patients was significantly different between the seasons. Correlation analysis showed that the monthly average temperature, average

	Spring (Mar-May)	Summer (Jun-Aug)	Autumn (Sept-Nov)	Winter (Dec-Feb)	F	P value
Age, y	28.44 ± 3.69	28.8 ± 3.58	28.87 ± 3.64	28.91 ± 3.85	1.47	0.220
Fertilization method					_	0.382
IVF	85.8%(364/424)	86.9%(560/644)	83.4%(448/537)	85.8%(365/425)	_	
ICSI	14.2%(60/424)	13.1%(84/644)	16.6%(89/537)	14.2%(60/425)	_	
Type of infertility						0.109
Primary infertility	38.2%(162/424)	37.7%(243/644)	32.6%(175/537)	39.5%(168/425)	_	
Secondary infertility	61.8%(262/424)	62.3%(401/644)	67.4%(362/537)	60.5%(257/425)	_	
Infertility duration, y	3.9 ± 2.42	4.19 ± 2.76	4.11 ± 2.91	3.92 ± 2.57	1.38	0.247
BMI, kg/m2	24.39 ± 3.45	24.24 ± 3.21	24.48 ± 3.38	24.21 ± 3.39	0.73	0.532
Basal serum FSH level, U/L	5.85 ± 1.65	5.71 ± 1.5	5.92 ± 1.55	5.81 ± 1.65	1.83	0.139
Basal serum E2 level, pmol/L	46.24 ± 45.72	48.53 ± 40.88	52.80 ± 49.85	47.37 ± 41.20	0.152	0.118
Basal serum LH level, U/L	10.12 ± 7	10.29 ± 7.3	10.06 ± 7.87	9.99 ± 8.94	0.15	0.932
Basal serum AMH level, ng/ml	8.08 ± 4.25	8.46 ± 4.44	8.17 ± 4.27	8.38 ± 4.23	0.85	0.469
AFC	21.87 ± 5.43	22.17 ± 4.86	22.47 ± 4.64	22.2 ± 4.75	_	0.790
Number of retrieved oocytes	18.74 ± 7.91	17.65 ± 7.49^{cd}	18.9 ± 7.97	19.13 ± 8.1	4.05	0.007
Endometrial thickness, mm	12.4 ± 2.62	12.195 ± 2.33	12.029 ± 2.53	12.287 ± 2.41	_	0.160
Serum E2 level on HCG day, pmol/L	1,059.88	1,006.95	962.95	1,015.23	_	0.086
Serum P level on HCG day, nmol/L	0.88 ± 0.58	0.81 ± 0.54	0.83 ± 0.51	0.84 ± 0.54	1.14	0.333
Average size of bilateral ovaries on HCG day, cm	5.44 ± 1.03	5.28 ± 0.99^{d}	5.31 ± 0.93	5.45 ± 1.04	3.81	0.010
Gn dosage, U	2165.18 ± 914.91	2,082.16 ± 802.94 ^{cd}	2,220.9 ± 878.52	2,253.56 ± 921.4	4.08	0.007
Incidence of high risk of OHSS	32.3%(137/424)	35.9%(231/644)	29.4%(158/537)	36.9%(157/425)	_	0.044
Fertilization rate	61.7%(4,903/7,947)	60.2%(6,839/11,364)	60.8%(6,166/10147)	60.7%(4,936/8,129)	_	0.211
Cleavage rate	98.9%(4,849/4,903)	98.7%(6,749/6,839)	98.8%(6,090/6,166)	98.9%(4,881/4,936)	_	0.675
High-quality embryo rate	60.2% ^{cd} (2,917/4,849)	60.5% ^{cd} (4,084/6,749)	64.4% ^{ab} (3,920/6,090)	63.3% ^{ab} (3,088/4,881)	_	0.000
Clinical pregnancy rate	76.0%(215/283)	76.7%(310/404)	74.5%(281/377)	74.7%(201/269)	_	0.887
Live birth rate	66.43%(188/283)	68.07% ^c (275/404)	58.62%(221/377)	62.45%(168/269)	_	0.035

BMI, body mass index; AFC, antral follicle count; OHSS, ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome; FSH, follicle stimulatine hormone; LH, luteinizing hormone; AMH, anti-mullerian hormone; E2, estradiol; P, progesterone^aSignificantly different from spring.

^aSignificantly different from spring ^bSignificantly different from summer ^cSignificantly different from autumn ^dSignificantly different from winter.

maximum temperature, and average minimum temperature were independent risk factors for OHSS, suggesting that effect of extreme climates. Extreme climates (heat and/or cold) could cause vasoconstriction, the release of inflammatory factors and the activation of the local renin-angiotensin aldosterone system, all of them are associated with the development of OHSS.

Extreme temperature exposure has adverse effects on the human body, especially females and elderly people are

vulnerable to the potential adverse effects (16). Winter is the season with high incidence of cardiovascular and cerebrovascular diseases because of low temperature stimulates vasocontraction. When the outdoor temperature is higher than 5°C, systolic blood pressure increases by 6.7 mmHg and diastolic blood pressure increases by 2.1 mmHg for every 10°C decrease (17). Increased blood pressure speeds up the flow of fluid from the blood vessels into the interstitial space, facilitating the onset



	P value	OR	95%	6 CI
			Lower limit	Upper limit
Average temperatures, °C	0.003	0.395	0.214	0.727
Average minimum temperatures, °C	0.016	1.416	1.066	1.882
Average maximum	0.002	1.843	1.256	2.704
temperature, °C				
Sunshine duration, hr	0.153	0.996	0.991	1.001

TABLE 2 | Association of high risk of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) with meteorological factors.

OR, odd ratio; 95% Cl, 95% confidence interval.

Calibration variables: age, infertility duration, BMI, basal serum FSH, LH, AMH level, AFC, Gn dosage*, number of retrieved oocytes*, serum E2*, P level on HCG day, average size of bilateral ovaries on HCG day*, type of infertility*, average temperatures*, average minimum temperatures*, average maximum temperature*, sunshine duration. *P < 0.05.

of OHSS. In the winter, the immune system is reinforced, which in turn promotes the serum concentrations of IL-6 and IL-6R. Studies have shown that the inflammatory factor, IL-6, is involved in the pathogenesis of OHSS (8). The IL-6R/IL-6 complex acts on ovarian vascular endothelium to promote endothelial cells to secrete VEGF by activating the STAT3/ERK signaling pathway, which increases vascular permeability (18). Cold temperature also stimulates the HPA axis to secrete adrenocorticotropic hormone (ACTH) (19) and aldosterone levels increase in a dose-dependent fashion with ACTH (10). At the same time, cold temperature also affects the SNS, leading to the activation of adrenaline receptors on the juxtaglomerular cells and the release of renin, thus activating the reninangiotensin-aldosterone system, which increases the secretion of aldosterone, causes vasoconstriction and induce OHSS (20).

Similarly, heat and dryness produce anxiety, irritability, and other negative emotions that activate the HPA axis and SNS and promote aldosterone secretion (21). Studies have confirmed that four consecutive days of mice housed at 35 ± 1 °C led to a significant increase in cell volume and cell count in the adrenal cortex of mice, with a 16% increase in the serum levels of aldosterone (P < 0.05) (22). In addition, high temperatures can cause a series of physiologic changes including body heat dissipation and activity, blood redistribution, a large amount of blood flow to the skin and muscles, and water loss in the body that can subsequently contribute to the increases and aggravation of blood concentration (23).

We subsequently constructed an OHSS risk prediction model of the independent risk factors affecting the occurrence of high risk for OHSS after oocyte retrieval in patients with PCOS, and



FIGURE 2 | Ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome (OHSS) risk nomogram. The scaled line to the right of each variable represents the value range of the variable, while the length of the line indicates the size of the variable's contribution to the outcome event. The value of each variable corresponds to the Points at the top of the figure, and all the scores add up to the Total points at the bottom. The risk of OHSS occurrence is represented by the Total points corresponding to the value of Risk of OHSS at the bottom of the figure.



evaluated and validated the predictive efficacy and clinical application value of this prediction model. The C-index was 0.849 and the AUC was 0.849, suggesting that the model has good precision and discrimination. The internal validation C-index was 0.846, which indicates that the prediction model is stable. The DCA revealed that the prediction model has a meaningful clinical effect when intervention was decided among nearly the entire range of threshold probabilities. The nomogram can help clinicians screen patients at high risk for OHSS and intervene as early as possible. For example, on the HCG trigger day, we can use the nomogram prediction model to screen for those at high risk for OHSS and assign a personalized trigger plan or prophylactic medication after retrieved oocytes (letrozole or cabergoline) to reduce the risk of OHSS.

Currently, the correlation between the high-quality embryo rate and season is inconsistent. The present study showed that the high-quality embryo rate was significantly lower in the spring and summer than the autumn and winter, which is consistent with the findings of Stolwik et al. (24), but in contrast to the conclusions of Rojansky et al. (25). Further studies have demonstrated that the high-quality embryo rate was correlated with sunshine duration and may be related to melatonin, which is present in follicular fluid and is involved in follicular development, ovulation, and oocyte maturation. Moreover, the high-quality embryo rate is inversely proportional to sunshine duration (26). Less sunshine in the autumn and winter leads to an increased secretion of melatonin, which has a positive effect on oocyte quality (27).

Our study first found that the incidence of PCOS patients at high risk for OHSS after oocyte retrieval in the cycle of IVF/ICSI fluctuated with temperature changes, and increased in hot or cold weather, suggesting that the dosage of Gn should be

		Live birth	rate ¹	Num	ber of retrie	eved oocytes ²	Hig	gh-quality	embryo rate ³
	P	OR	95%CI	Р	β	95%CI	P	β	95%CI
Average temperatures, °C	0.516	0.817	(0.4431.504)	0.69	0.38	(-1.151 1.751)	0.69	0.46	(-0.049 0.074)
Average minimum temperatures, °C	0.519	1.099	(0.8251.464)	0.44	-0.33	(-0.937 0.410)	0.07	-0.94	(-0.055 0.002)
Average maximum temperature, °C	0.538	1.127	(0.771.649)	0.89	-0.08	(-0.978 0.848)	0.44	0.56	(-0.023 0.054)
Sunshine duration, hr	0.714	1.001	(0.9961.006)	0.13	-0.06	(-0.021 0.003)	0.00	-0.20	(-0.002 -0.001

Calibration variables:

¹age*,infertility duration, infertility type, BMI*, basal serum FSH, E2, LH, AMH level, AFC, Gn dosage, number of retrieved oocytes, number of transplanted embryos, serum E2, P* level on HCG day, endometrial thickness*, average temperatures,

average minimum temperatures, average maximum temperature, sunshine hours.

²age, infertility duration, BMI*, basal serum FSH*, E2, LH, AMH level, AFC*, Gn dosage, serum E2*, P* level on HCG day, average size of bilateral ovaries on HCG day*, average temperatures, average minimum temperatures, average maximum temperature, sunshine duration.

³age, infertility duration, BMI*, basal serum FSH, E2, LH, AMH* level, AFC, Gn dosage, number of retrieved oocytes*, serum E2, P level on HCG day, average size of bilateral ovaries on HCG day, average temperatures, average minimum temperatures, average maximum temperature, sunshine duration*.

*P < 0.05.

considered to reduce the risk of OHSS in climate extremes. We constructed the prediction model of OHSS risk so that clinicians can conduct personalized and effective prevention and treatment measures for patients to reduce the risk of OHSS. Our study was limited by region and sample size. In the future, we will conduct a multi-center and large-sample size study to further explore the factors related to a high risk for OHSS and verify the predictive efficacy and clinical application value of the predictive model.

DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Ethics Committee for scientific research and clinical trials of the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University. Written informed consent for participation was not required for

REFERENCES

- Friedman L, Abasilim C, Fitts R, Wueste M. Clinical outcomes of temperature related injuries treated in the hospital setting, 2011-2018. *Environ Res* (2020) 189:109882. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2020.109882
- Zhong X, Li Y, Huang C, Ng T, Weng L, Zhang J, et al. Seasonal variations and climatic factors on acute primary angle-closure admission in southern China: a 5-year hospital-based retrospective study. *Acta Ophthalmol* (2020). doi: 10.1111/aos.14649
- Kurihara O, Takano M, Yamamoto E, Yonetsu T, Kakuta T, Soeda T, et al. Seasonal Variations in the Pathogenesis of Acute Coronary Syndromes. J Am Heart Assoc (2020) 9(13):e015579. doi: 10.1161/jaha.119.015579
- Phung D, Guo Y, Nguyen H, Rutherford S, Baum S, Chu C. High temperature and risk of hospitalizations, and effect modifying potential of socio-economic conditions: A multi-province study in the tropical Mekong Delta Region. *Environ Int* (2016) 92(93):77–86. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.03.034
- Heijnen E, Eijkemans M, Hughes E, Laven J, Macklon N. Fauser B. A meta-analysis of outcomes of conventional IVF in women with polycystic ovary syndrome. *Hum Reprod Update* (2006) 12(1):13–21. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmi036
- Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive Medicine. Electronic address Aao, Practice Committee of the American Society for Reproductive M. Prevention and treatment of moderate and severe ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome: a guideline. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(7):1634–47. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.08.048
- Ata B, Yakin K, Alatas C, Urman B. Dual renin-angiotensin blockage and total embryo cryopreservation is not a risk-free strategy in patients at high risk for ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome. *Fertility Sterility* (2008) 90 (3):531–6. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2007.07.1309
- Dopico X, Evangelou M, Ferreira R, Guo H, Pekalski M, Smyth D, et al. Widespread seasonal gene expression reveals annual differences in human immunity and physiology. *Nat Commun* (2015) 6:7000. doi: 10.1038/ncomms8000
- Wei L, Chou C, Chen M, Rose-John S, Kuo M, Chen S, et al. The role of IL-6 trans-signaling in vascular leakage: implications for ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in a murine model. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* (2013) 98(3):E472–84. doi: 10.1210/jc.2012-3462
- Kubzansky L, Adler G. Aldosterone: a forgotten mediator of the relationship between psychological stress and heart disease. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev* (2010) 34(1):80–6. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2009.07.005

this study in accordance with the national legislation and the institutional requirements.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JZ contributed to the conception of study. YC, HS, and YM contributed to design work. YC was responsible for statistical analyses performing and manuscript writing. LM contributed to revising the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The study was supported by the National Science Foundation of China under Grant to JZ (82071649).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all of medical staffs and patients in the First Affiliated Hospital of Zhengzhou University for recording the data and cooperating with the treatment.

- Swanton A, Storey L, McVeigh E, Child T. IVF outcome in women with PCOS, PCO and normal ovarian morphology. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2010) 149(1):68–71. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2009.11.017
- Sopa N, Larsen EC, Westring Hvidman H, Andersen AN. An AMH-based FSH dosing algorithm for OHSS risk reduction in first cycle antagonist protocol for IVF/ICSI. *Eur J Obstet Gynecol Reprod Biol* (2019) 237:42–7. doi: 10.1016/j.ejogrb.2019.02.001
- Issat T, Nowicka M, Oleksik T, Zagozda M, Koziol K, Jakimiuk A, et al. Serum progesterone concentrations on the day of oocyte retrieval above 9.23 ng/ml may predict ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome risk in in vitro fertilized patients. J Physiol Pharmacol (2019) 70(5):801–6. doi: 10.26402/jpp.2019.5.15
- Verwoerd GR, Mathews T, Brinsden PR. Optimal follicle and oocyte numbers for cryopreservation of all embryos in IVF cycles at risk of OHSS. *Reprod BioMed Online* (2008) 17(3):312–7. doi: 10.1016/s1472-6483(10)60213-1
- Lee T, Liu C, Huang C, Wu Y, Shih Y, Ho H, et al. Serum anti-Müllerian hormone and estradiol levels as predictors of ovarian hyperstimulation syndrome in assisted reproduction technology cycles. *Hum Reprod (Oxford Engl)* (2008) 23(1):160–7. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dem254
- Deng J, Hu X, Xiao C, Xu S, Gao X, Ma Y, et al. Ambient temperature and non-accidental mortality: a time series study. *Environ Sci Pollution Res Int* (2020) 27(4):4190–6. doi: 10.1007/s11356-019-07015-8
- Yu B, Jin S, Wang C, Yan S, Zhou X, Cui X, et al. The association of outdoor temperature with blood pressure, and its influence on future cardiocerebrovascular disease risk in cold areas. J Hypertension (2020) 38 (6):1080–9. doi: 10.1097/hjh.00000000002387
- Miller I, Chuderland D, Grossman H, Ron-El R, Ben-Ami I, Shalgi R. The Dual Role of PEDF in the Pathogenesis of OHSS: Negating Both Angiogenic and Inflammatory Pathways. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101(12):4699– 709. doi: 10.1210/jc.2016-1744
- Pierre K, Schlesinger N, Androulakis I. The role of the hypothalamicpituitary-adrenal axis in modulating seasonal changes in immunity. *Physiol Genomics* (2016) 48(10):719–38. doi: 10.1152/physiolgenomics.00006.2016
- DiBona GF. Neural control of the kidney: past, present, and future. *Hypertension* (2003) 41(3 Pt 2):621–4. doi: 10.1161/01.HYP.0000047205.52509.8A
- Pryce CR, Fuchs E. Chronic psychosocial stressors in adulthood: Studies in mice, rats and tree shrews. *Neurobiol Stress* (2017) 6:94–103. doi: 10.1016/j.ynstr.2016.10.001
- 22. Popovska-Perčinić F, Manojlović-Stojanoski M, Pendovski L, Dinevska Kjovkarovska S, Miova B, Grubin J, et al. A Moderate Increase in Ambient

Temperature Influences The Structure and Hormonal Secretion of Adrenal Glands in Rats. *Cell J* (2021) 22(4):415–24. doi: 10.22074/cellj.2021.6827

- Vaidyanathan A, Malilay J, Schramm P, Saha S. Heat-Related Deaths United States, 2004-2018. MMWR Morbidity Mortality Wkly Rep (2020) 69(24):729– 34. doi: 10.15585/mmwr.mm6924a1
- Stolwijk A, Reuvers M, Hamilton C, Jongbloet P, Hollanders J, Zielhuis G. Seasonality in the results of in-vitro fertilization. *Hum Reprod (Oxford Engl)* (1994) 9(12):2300–5. doi: 10.1093/oxfordjournals.humrep.a138441
- Rojansky N, Benshushan A, Meirsdorf S, Lewin A, Laufer N, Safran A. Seasonal variability in fertilization and embryo quality rates in women undergoing IVF. *Fertility Sterility* (2000) 74(3):476–81. doi: 10.1016/s0015-0282(00)00669-5
- Mocayar Marón F, Ferder L, Reiter R, Manucha W. Daily and seasonal mitochondrial protection: Unraveling common possible mechanisms involving vitamin D and melatonin. J Steroid Biochem Mol Biol (2020) 199:105595. doi: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2020.105595
- 27. Yu K, Wang R, Li M, Sun T, Zhou Y, Li Y, et al. Melatonin Reduces Androgen Production and Upregulates Heme Oxygenase-1 Expression in Granulosa Cells from PCOS Patients with Hypoestrogenia and Hyperandrogenia. Oxid Med Cell Longev (2019) 2019:8218650. doi: 10.1155/2019/8218650

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Cao, Shi, Ma, Ma and Zhai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.




Endocrine Disruptor Compounds— A Cause of Impaired Immune Tolerance Driving Inflammatory Disorders of Pregnancy?

John E. Schjenken^{1,2†}, Ella S. Green^{1†}, Tenuis S. Overduin¹, Chui Yan Mah¹, Darryl L. Russell¹ and Sarah A. Robertson^{1*}

OPEN ACCESS

Edited by:

Carlo Alviggi, University of Naples Federico II, Italy

Reviewed by: Padma Murthi

Padma Murthi, Monash University, Australia Gendie Lash, Guangzhou Medical University, China

*Correspondence: Sarah A. Robertson sarah.robertson@adelaide.edu.au

[†]These authors have contributed equally to this work

Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Reproduction, a section of the journal Frontiers in Endocrinology

Received: 17 September 2020 Accepted: 04 January 2021 Published: 12 April 2021

Citation:

Schjenken JE, Green ES, Overduin TS, Mah CY, Russell DL and Robertson SA (2021) Endocrine Disruptor Compounds—A Cause of Impaired Immune Tolerance Driving Inflammatory Disorders of Pregnancy? Front. Endocrinol. 12:607539. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2021.607539 ¹ Adelaide Medical School and The Robinson Research Institute, University of Adelaide, Adelaide, SA, Australia, ² Priority Research Centre for Reproductive Science, Discipline of Biological Sciences, The Hunter Medical Research Institute, New Lambton Heights and the University of Newcastle, Newcastle, NSW, Australia

Endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) are prevalent and ubiquitous in our environment and have substantial potential to compromise human and animal health. Amongst the chronic health conditions associated with EDC exposure, dysregulation of reproductive function in both females and males is prominent. Human epidemiological studies demonstrate links between EDC exposure and infertility, as well as gestational disorders including miscarriage, fetal growth restriction, preeclampsia, and preterm birth. Animal experiments show EDCs administered during gestation, or to either parent prior to conception, can interfere with gamete quality, embryo implantation, and placental and fetal development, with consequences for offspring viability and health. It has been presumed that EDCs operate principally through disrupting hormone-regulated events in reproduction and fetal development, but EDC effects on maternal immune receptivity to pregnancy are also implicated. EDCs can modulate both the innate and adaptive arms of the immune system, to alter inflammatory responses, and interfere with generation of regulatory T (Treg) cells that are critical for pregnancy tolerance. Effects of EDCs on immune cells are complex and likely exerted by both steroid hormone-dependent and hormone-independent pathways. Thus, to better understand how EDCs impact reproduction and pregnancy, it is imperative to consider how immune-mediated mechanisms are affected by EDCs. This review will describe evidence that several EDCs modify elements of the immune response relevant to pregnancy, and will discuss the potential for EDCs to disrupt immune tolerance required for robust placentation and optimal fetal development.

Keywords: endocrine disrupting compounds, reproduction, reproductive immunology, pregnancy, fetal tolerance, developmental origins of health and disease

INTRODUCTION

Endocrine disrupting compounds (EDCs) are defined by their potential to alter endocrine function through mimicking or blocking the actions of endogenous hormones (1, 2). Exposure to EDCs is considered a contributing factor in the increasing prevalence of common metabolic, neurological and inflammatory diseases. Male and female reproductive disorders, and a myriad of conditions including obesity, diabetes, non-alcoholic fatty liver disease, neurodevelopmental disorders, allergy, asthma, autoimmunity, and cancer, are all associated with EDC exposure (1). Alarmingly, the estimated human disease cost of EDCs in 2016 was 2.33% of GDP (\$340 billion USD) in the USA and 1% of GDP (\$217 billion USD) in Europe (3). Recent reports commissioned by the World Health Organization recommend greater investment in research to better understand the health impact of EDCs. Identified research goals include the development of comprehensive testing methods to detect EDCs, improved reporting mechanisms for chemical composition of products, and the need for more cross-disciplinary research to fully understand the impact on public and global health of EDCs contacted in everyday life (1).

EDCs are structurally and functionally diverse chemicals that can be natural or synthetic in origin (1). Natural forms include phytoestrogens found in widely-consumed food and animal products. These are likely less harmful than synthetic EDCs since they have generally low affinity for estrogen receptors (ER) (4), and exhibit low stability compared to many synthetic compounds that are engineered to be stable. However, given the high levels present in some foods, including infant formula, and the fact that the abundant phytoestrogen genistein binds ER β with relatively high affinity, the potential health impacts of phytoestrogens need to be considered (4, 5).

Synthetic EDCs are far more diverse with several hundred identified and classified as persistent (exhibiting bioaccumulation) or non-persistent in the environment (2, 5). These compounds are present in many commonly used household and industrial products. They include chemicals used as solvents or lubricants, plasticizers, pesticides, fungicides, and pharmaceutical agents, that are present in plastics, detergents, household chemicals and building products, fire retardants, food, medicines, personal care products, perfume, and cosmetics (5).

EDCs interfere with the synthesis, biological actions, and metabolism of endocrine hormones, and disrupt hormoneregulated homeostatic processes in many tissues and physiological systems (2, 5). Through competitive interactions with hormone receptors, EDCs can act as agonists or antagonists and have a multitude of effects that range from enhancement, dampening, or blocking the action of endogenous hormones (2). Depending on the nature of the interaction, EDCs often exert non-monotonic dose responses characterized by low-dose effects, rather than linear dose responses like most other bioactive agents (6, 7). EDCs can also modulate synthesis of hormones and their respective receptors (2). Through these actions, they can interfere with physiological events and tissue homeostasis over the entire life cycle (2, 8–10). Depending on variables such as the duration, type, and dose of exposure, EDCs can exert transient or permanent impacts, to elevate long-term risk of chronic metabolic, neurological and immune diseases that may only become evident in later life (2, 9).

The events of reproduction, pregnancy, and fetal development are highly sensitive to EDCs because they involve a greater degree of tissue remodeling and hormone-dependence than other physiological processes. EDCs exert negative impacts on fertility and reproductive outcome, affecting gamete, embryo, and fetal development (2, 8, 11–13), with consequences that can cause fetal loss or attenuate offspring phenotype to impact lifetime health (2, 9, 14–19). The specific mechanisms by which different EDCs exert adverse developmental effects are not yet clear, and are likely to be complex and diverse. A large body of research has been generated in recent years to describe actions in different male and female reproductive tissue compartments. These actions are largely attributed to disruption of the hormone signaling that regulates most aspects of male and female reproductive physiology (2, 5).

In addition, EDCs are now understood to affect immune system development and function (20, 21), modulating many aspects of inflammatory and immune responses involving both the innate and adaptive immune compartments (22-29) (Table 1). Most reproductive processes are intimately dependent on a functional and appropriately balanced immune response (32, 33). Placental development and fetal growth are particularly dependent on adequate support from the maternal immune system (34), and a deficit in maternal immune cells and mediators that confer fetal tolerance is a central cause of poor gestational outcomes and impaired fetal development. An aberrant maternal immune response, that is insufficient in strength or skewed towards inflammation, can manifest as infertility, pregnancy loss, or a poor gestational outcome (32, 33, 35). Most often, these outcomes stem from failure of the maternal immune response to support embryo implantation and allow robust placental development (35-37).

These considerations raise the question of whether the adverse effects of EDCs on reproduction and pregnancy are at least partly due to mechanisms mediated by immune cells. Given the central role of the immune response in pregnancy, and the ubiquitous exposure of humans to environmental EDCs, it seems likely that EDC-induced immune disorders are a factor in the increasing incidence of fertility and gestational disorders.

This review will summarise evidence that common EDCs have capacity to interfere with pregnancy and fetal development through modifying maternal immune cells and mediators. We make the case that, given its critical importance to pregnancy outcome, and its sensitivity to perturbation by EDCs in other settings, the immune response warrants investigation as a mechanism by which EDCs affect reproductive success. Ultimately, devising strategies to protect humans and animals from the adverse reproductive effects of EDCs will require greater understanding of the how the immune system– EDC interaction contributes.

ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING COMPOUNDS AND REPRODUCTION

EDCs are well-documented to interfere with male and female reproductive hormone function, through genomic and nongenomic mechanisms that exert a wide range of endocrine
 TABLE 1 | Common endocrine disrupting chemicals shown to impact the immune response.

Common Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals	Description/Sources
Bisphenol-A (BPA)	* most pervasive EDC
	* estrogen mimic
	* found in canned food, dental sealants
	and composites, and widely used in
	manufacture of epoxy, polycarbonate
	plastics and unsaturated polyester resins
Phthalates	(30) * widek weed as plasticizers is pake ind
Phinalates	* widely used as plasticizers in polyvinyl
	chloride (PVC) products to impart flexibility
	and durability, including building materials, toys, personal care products and medical
	devices (31)
	* gained considerable attention due to specific
	concerns about pediatric exposure (31)
Alkylphenols	* widely used as non-ionic surfactants in
* Nonylphenol (NP)	household applications, industrial and
* Octylphenol (OP)	cosmetic products
	* undergo significant bioaccumulation due
	to their lipophilic properties and have weak
	estrogenic activity
Butyltins	* found in plastic food containers, plastic
* TributyItin (TBT)	water bottles, PVC pipes
* Dibutyltin (DBT)	
Insecticides	* agricultural and household use
* Dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane	* persists in environment
(DDT)	* estrogen mimic
Fungicides	* agricultural and household use
* Vinclozolin	
Herbicides	 * agricultural use on crops
* Atrazine	* used on artificial turf
Parabens	 common preservatives
* Methylparaben	 used in food, cosmetic and
	pharmaceutical products
	* estrogenic effects
Brominated flame retardants	* flame retardant used in household and
* Polybrominated diphenyl ethers	industrial products
(PBDE)	 * endocrine disrupter with carcinogenic
	properties
Synthetic hormones	* used in oral contraceptive pills and found
* 17α-ethinylestradiol	as a contaminant in wastewater
	 strong estrogenic properties

disturbances (5). In particular, these chemicals interfere with binding of hormones to their corresponding receptors, notably including estrogen receptor and androgen receptor to cause either agonistic or antagonistic effects. The net consequence is interference with physiologically normal signal transduction pathways, eliciting downstream changes to target gene expression and cellular function (38). Different EDCs exert a variety of effects on hormone signaling depending on the timing of exposure and the amount of EDC administered (2, 5).

Dysregulated hormone synthesis and signaling in reproductive tissues, and systemically in the hypothalamic-pituitary axis, thyroid, and other tissues influencing reproductive function, converge to have substantial consequences for sexual maturation and fertility (39–41). Emerging evidence indicates that sensitivity to EDCs is modulated by age and a range of environmental, lifestyle, and genetic factors that can exacerbate the impact of EDCs on reproductive health (3, 42, 43). These factors contribute

to the difficulty in comparing studies and considerable discrepancies between study outcomes (3, 44).

Large clinical studies show correlations between EDC exposure and fertility disorders in women. Most notably, occupational exposure to EDCs, or consumption of EDC-laden foods, are associated with increased risk of infertility, time-to-pregnancy, and early pregnancy loss (14, 45). These effects may reflect early life and life course accumulated exposures. In particular, prenatal effects of EDCs are linked with later life incidence of reproductive conditions including polycystic ovarian syndrome, endometriosis, uterine fibroids, and reproductive cancers (9). In an IVF setting, women exposed to certain pesticides appear more likely to exhibit defects in oocyte maturation and developmental competence, leading to impaired fertility, embryonic defects, and poor IVF outcomes (41, 45).

Research in rodent models provides insight on how EDCs impact reproductive endocrinology (2, 40, 46). These manifest most obviously as altered timing of sexual maturation, impaired gamete development, and reduced fecundity (39, 46). For example administration to rodents or large animals of plasticizers such as phthalates and bisphenol A, (BPA), or pesticides including vinclozolin and glyphosate, all cause reduced ovarian weight, impaired follicle growth and oocyte viability, and reduced synthesis of ovarian sex steroid hormones (46–48). For detailed information on the specific impacts of EDCs on female reproductive physiology, the reader is directed to the following reviews (2, 5, 9, 40, 46, 49).

EDCs also exert considerable effects on male reproduction and gamete developmental competence. Direct or gestational exposure of male rats and mice to any of several EDCs leads to reduced reproductive capacity, characterized by decreased gonad weight, testosterone levels, and gamete quality, as well as increased likelihood of reproductive conditions including testicular cancer, cryptorchidism, and hypospadias (39, 40, 50). In vitro studies show in cattle that exposure to low doses of the herbicide atrazine reduces sperm viability and impairs capacity to undergo acrosome reaction in response to calcium signals (51). In men, epidemiological evidence shows a clear negative association between EDCs and male reproductive parameters, in association with reduced sperm concentration, motility, viability, DNA integrity, and altered sperm methylation patterns (40, 50, 52, 53). Various EDCs are also readily detectable in seminal plasma (54), and the seminal vesicles, which are the major source of seminal plasma, are an important target of EDCs including diethylstilbestrol that targets estrogen receptor- α (55). These changes are likely to compromise fertility, and alter reproductive outcomes beyond the fertilising capacity of sperm. In men utilising IVF clinics, exposure to phthalates was associated with differential methylation of specific DNA sequences in sperm, and was inversely associated with blastocyst quality (53). A wide range of specific effects of EDCs on male reproduction are reported, and these are reviewed in detail elsewhere (2, 5, 9, 39, 40).

ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING COMPOUNDS AND PREGNANCY

Fetal and placental development are highly hormone-dependent processes and are therefore particularly susceptible to endocrine

signaling disturbances (56-58). Reproductive-aged women are at high risk of EDC exposure, especially through everyday exposure to personal care products and household chemicals, and the events of pregnancy would reasonably heighten the health risks of EDC exposure in women (56). There is compelling evidence implicating EDC exposures as a risk factor in a range of pregnancy disorders (59-63). Several clinical and epidemiological studies link EDCs, notably pesticides and plasticizers, in common pregnancy complications that together affect around 20% of women, including recurrent miscarriage, fetal growth restriction, preeclampsia and related hypertensive disorders, and preterm birth (13, 56, 61, 64, 65). Many studies consistently show a wide array of EDCs are detectable in the urine, cord blood, plasma, amniotic fluid and breast milk of the vast majority of pregnant women (66-68). Patterns of exposure depend on geographic, socioeconomic, occupational and lifestyle factors, and fluctuate over the course of pregnancy, to occur in infinitely variable combinations (known as the 'exposome') that might have stronger relationships to adverse outcomes than any individual chemical exposure (69, 70). Nevertheless, while causal relationships are difficult to prove in humans, extensive studies show strong evidence of correlations between adverse clinical outcomes and serum or urinary levels of bisphenol A (BPA), phthalate metabolites, organophosphate pesticides, and other EDCs (61, 71-73).

EDCs may operate through pre-pregnancy exposures that affect organs systems critical for pregnancy health, through gestational exposures that interfere with hormone control of fetal and placental development and function, or other *via* systemic adaptations required to sustain pregnancy (63). There is clear evidence that pregnant women with existing health disparities, associated with low socioeconomic status, or certain racial groups such as non-white women in the US where levels of chemical toxicants are often higher, exhibit a disproportionate health burden associate with EDC exposures (3, 44).

The placenta is implicated as an important target for EDC actions. As a rapidly developing, dynamic organ the placenta is highly responsive to hormone regulation during its morphogenesis, and expresses a wide array of hormone receptors that control placental supply of nutrients to the growing fetus (57, 58). The placenta adapts to fetal and environmental cues to reconcile fetal demand for growth with nutrient availability, and disruption of hormone signaling interferes with this adaptive capability to disturb fetal growth and developmental programming (57).

Animal models document a range of potential mechanisms by which EDCs disrupt placental and fetal development. Some EDCs, notably including BPA and triclosan, accumulate directly in placental tissues, where they modulate placental hormone synthesis and metabolism (74, 75). *In vitro* experiments show that a range of EDCs can exert direct effect in trophoblasts including regulation of signaling pathways to cause genetic and epigenetic changes that impact cell survival and invasive capability (75). It seems likely that effects of EDCs are prominent in early pregnancy during placental morphogenesis, when the extent of invasion into maternal tissues, and interaction with the maternal vasculature, is rate-limiting for later gestation placental transport function (58). However because EDC effects in placental cells have not been well investigated to date, it is not yet possible to discern the contribution of direct effects in trophoblasts, versus mechanisms that involve the maternal compartment (58).

ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING COMPOUNDS AND OFFSPRING HEALTH

The effects of EDCs on the developing fetus have a lasting impact on offspring phenotype and susceptibility to later life health and disease (9, 76). The developmental defects caused by maternal EDC administration in pregnancy can have life-long and even transgenerational consequences (77). Maternal EDC exposures likely impart changes to offspring health and behaviour through direct effects in the placenta and fetus, as well as indirectly through maternal physiological adaptations required to support pregnancy.

Animal studies show EDCs including pesticides, phthalates and BPA act to decrease fertility, alter anogenital distance, cause early puberty, and disrupt testis/ovarian function in both male and female offspring (40). These exposures not only disrupt offspring reproductive capacity, but also alter aspects of development affecting brain and endocrine function (15, 16, 78). In humans there is compelling evidence that gestational exposure to a variety of EDCs during fetal life leads to decreased infant birth weight, reduced anogenital distance in male neonates, increased incidence of childhood obesity, and alterations to neurodevelopment and cognitive function, leading to reduced IQ and behavioral problems (9).

Concerningly, there is emerging evidence that EDCs can exert transgenerational effects, such that not only the immediate offspring, but also future generations may be impacted after maternal contact in pregnancy (9, 40). This may be mediated through epigenetic modifications to DNA methylation profiles in fetal gametes, caused by inappropriate timing or inhibition of activation signals during gamete development, or through DNA adduction induced by EDCs or their metabolites (40, 79).

The impact of paternal exposures and their mechanisms of action are less well defined, but emerging evidence points to effects on offspring phenotype mediated by altered epigenetic properties of sperm (80). Furthermore, EDCs present in seminal plasma (54), or altered seminal plasma composition resulting from EDC-attenuated ER α signaling (55), have potential to transmit effects of paternal exposures to offspring. This could occur by impaired capacity of seminal plasma to support sperm integrity, or by attenuating seminal plasma signals that modulate female reproductive tract gene expression and receptivity for pregnancy (81, 82). In mice, it has been reported that paternal contact with BPA prior to conception impairs offspring spatial memory (19), and alters social behaviour with increased anxiety in male offspring (83). These can begin very early in the life course - male fetuses exposed in utero to the fungicide vinclozolin or pesticide dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) exhibit later epigenetic changes in sperm that can be

transmitted to male offspring (84). In zebrafish, exposure to synthetic estrogen 17 α -ethinylestradiol leads to an altered sperm and testicular transcript content, causing lymphodema in offspring (85). In human, recent evidence from a large-scale epidemiological study demonstrates a link between birth defects and fathers' occupational exposure to EDCs (17).

VIVIPAROUS REPRODUCTION AND THE IMMUNE RESPONSE

The embryo and the gestational tissues formed after implantation express antigens foreign to the mother, including transplantation antigens encoded by major histocompatibility complex (MHC) genes (33, 86). Both the innate and adaptive compartments are involved in the maternal immune adaptions required to avert effector immune responses to conceptus antigens (86, 87). Contrary to common assumptions, pregnancy requires a state of adaptive immune tolerance that depends on maternal lymphocytes being actively primed to recognise conceptus antigens (35, 86). Priming of the adaptive immune compartment must commence prior to implantation in order to initiate the necessary events of implantation, placental development and fetal growth, and ultimately to orchestrate on-time parturition and birth (35, 86).

Immune Mechanisms Essential for Implantation and Placental Development

Tightly controlled maternal immune regulation is important over the course of pregnancy, but the most critical period is the periconception phase spanning fertilization to embryo implantation (35). A series of dynamic changes in the uterine immune response determine whether or not embryo implantation can occur (88), and are instrumental in setting the trajectory of fetal development and shaping the offspring phenotype (35, 80, 89). Immune adaptation commences with sex hormone-induced changes in the ovulatory cycle followed by an inflammation-like response to seminal fluid components at coitus (90). Estrogen and seminal fluid together induce an influx of neutrophils, macrophages and dendritic cells (DCs), into the mucosal surface of the cervix and uterus (91-94). This is followed by transition to an antiinflammatory and pro-tolerogenic immune environment in order to acquire embryo receptivity (34, 35, 86). Implantation only occurs if immune cells in the uterine endometrium exhibit a favourable, permissive response. In particular, expansion and recruitment of specialized immune cells known as regulatory T cells (Treg cells) must occur (95-98). Treg cells interact with dendritic cells and macrophages to promote decidualisation of uterine stromal cells, suppress inflammation, and inhibit effector immunity towards fetal antigens.

After implantation, an array of soluble mediators including cytokines, chemokines, steroid hormones, and prostaglandins released from placental trophoblasts are important for sustaining the developing fetal-placental unit (32). As well as Treg cells, abundant populations of uterine natural killer (uNK) cells act to mediate structural changes in the decidual vasculature that support placental invasion and development (99–101).

Macrophages, DCs, and Treg cells each interact with uNK cells to facilitate the uterine vascular changes, while continuing to suppress inflammation and prevent immune effector cell activation (35, 100, 101) (**Figure 1**).

ENDOCRINE DISRUPTING COMPOUNDS AND THE IMMUNE RESPONSE TO PREGNANCY

Maternal EDC exposure is an identified risk factor in unexplained infertility and pregnancy complications, including preeclampsia, intra-uterine growth restriction, recurrent miscarriage, and spontaneous preterm birth (13, 61, 64, 65). Interference in hormone synthesis and signaling is implicated in the mechanisms by which EDCs contribute to pregnancy disorders (9), and there is a strong biological rationale to implicate inflammation, oxidative stress, and immune cells as local mediators of the pathophysiological changes induces by hormone dysregulation (59). That immune and inflammatory mechanisms are central to infertility and pregnancy disorders supports the prospect that EDCs act, at least in part, by driving an inappropriate maternal immune response (20, 21).

There is some evidence that EDCs are especially problematic in the peri-conception phase of pregnancy, when the maternal immune response is first established and the critical events of implantation and early placentation occur. Elevated phthalate metabolites in urine were shown to correlate with altered progression of embryo implantation, as indicated by a slower or faster rise in human chorionic gonadotrophin, with different metabolites appearing to be protective or adverse in their effects (102). Whether immune mechanisms are involved is not known, but seems biologically plausible. Others have shown that first trimester maternal peripheral blood cytokine levels correlate with the presence of several EDCs in urine, with a notable association between phthalates and pro-inflammatory interleukin (IL)-8 and interferon (IFN) (70). In another study, clear associations between polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PDBEs) and pro-inflammatory cytokines IL-6 and tumor necrosis factor (TNF), as well as between per- and polyfluorochemicals (PFAS) and IL-6, were found in maternal peripheral blood in the second trimester (103). Similar associations between EDCs and pro-inflammatory cytokines were seen at term, in infant cord blood (70). These observations are consistent with EDCs acting to impair resolution of the inflammatory response in early pregnancy and compromise tolerance as pregnancy progresses, but additional studies would be required to prove this.

Only a small number of mechanistic studies have specifically explored the impact of EDCs on maternal or fetal immune parameters in pregnancy, but several point to a pro-inflammatory pathology that affects the vascular adaptations required for robust placental development. In mice, short-term oral BPA exposure in early pregnancy was shown to cause impaired spiral artery remodeling and intra-uterine growth restriction (11). Although the number of uNK and mast cells was not changed, this study



FIGURE 1 | Immune cells including macrophages, natural killer (NK) cells, regulatory T cells (Treg cells), neutrophils and tolerogenic dendritic cells (tDC) residing in the uterine decidua each contribute in a network of cellular interactions to facilitate embryo (blastocyst) implantation and trophoblast outgrowth, required for progression to healthy pregnancy. The decidual immune cells exert a range of regulatory effects on the local microenvironment that each contribute to the success of implantation, ensuring robust placental development that in turn supports healthy fetal growth and development in later gestation. The immune cells together act to mediate immune tolerance, suppress inflammation, inhibit effector immunity mediated by T helper type 1 (Th1) cells, promote uterine blood vessel remodeling, and facilitate transformation of uterine stromal cells in the decidual response. Ovarian sex steroid hormones estrogen (E2) and progesterone (P4) act to regulate immune cell populations through direct effects in immune cells, and indirect effects mediated by non-immune cell synthesis of immune-regulatory factors.

did not assess phenotypes of these cells, or the potential influence of other immune cell populations. Another study reported reduced trophoblast invasion and impairment of uterine vascular remodeling after low dose BPA administration in mice, along with preeclampsia-like features of maternal hypertension and elevated angiogenesis biomarkers and glomerular atrophy (104). Also consistent with an inflammatory mechanism, administration of polychlorinated biphenol (PCB) to mink resulted in uterine vascular changes and placental lesions, with degeneration of endothelial and trophoblast cells, particularly in the placental labyrinth zone (105). Low dose 17\alpha-ethinylestradiol, used in oral contraceptive pills and prevalent in water supplies, caused impaired spiral artery remodeling, altered placental development, and fetal growth restriction (106). In non-pregnant mice, uterine expression of heat shock proteins (HSPs) that play important roles in antigen presentation and DC function are elevated in response to low dose BPA (107), but the impact of elevated HSPs on pregnancy is not clear.

Studies in other reproductive tissues are consistent with possible pro-inflammatory and immune-mediated effects of

EDCs (108). In the mammary gland, BPA exposure in utero causes long term changes in expression of both pro- and antiinflammatory cytokines, and this is postulated to be a potential mechanism for programming breast cancer risk (109).

As well as influencing the maternal immune compartment, EDCs likely elicit direct effects on immune cells in the placenta and fetus. The presence of EDCs in amniotic fluid and cord blood shows that many chemicals cross the placenta to access fetal tissues (58, 75). A wide range of EDCs including pesticides, plasticizers, fire retardants, and components of personal care products can be detected in the placenta (75). Compelling evidence of EDC effects on the developing fetal immune response is emerging (110, 111). In particular, phthalates and phenols are implicated as a factor in fetal programming of asthma and allergic airways disease, while heavy metals and air-borne particulates also contribute (21, 112). A wide range of immunomodulatory effects of EDCs on human immune cell development are reported, through mechanisms operating at the cellular, molecular, and epigenetic levels to alter innate and adaptive immune function in offspring (110).

EDCs AND HORMONE CONTROL OF IMMUNE CELLS

A clear mechanism for EDCs exerting significant influence on the maternal immune environment exists, as endocrine signaling in immune cells is an important aspect of normal immune regulation (113). Steroid hormones exert both direct and indirect influence on immune cells, the former through ligation of classical steroid hormone receptors for estrogen, androgens, and progesterone, to regulate a wide range of target genes. In addition, steroid hormones have rapid non-genomic effects in immune cells *via* binding to non-classical receptors on the cell membrane or in the cytoplasm (114). As well, steroid hormones control expression of a vast array of cytokines and chemokines in non-immune cell lineages in hormone-responsive reproductive tissues, to exert indirect effects on resident immune cell populations through this route (115).

It is well known that female sex steroid hormones exert potent regulatory effects on immune cells systemically and locally within the female reproductive tract over the course of the menstrual cycle and during pregnancy. In particular, estrogen and progesterone play important roles in the induction of maternal immune tolerance, both through direct signaling in immune cells and indirectly through actions on epithelial and stromal cells in the female reproductive tract (116, 117). Over the course of the estrous and menstrual cycle and after conception, estrogen and progesterone are key factors in driving expansion of Treg cells in readiness to accommodate embryo implantation (118–120). Given this direct and indirect regulation by hormones, immune cells are highly susceptible to the effects of EDCs. EDCs broadly affect various immunological processes, including cellular and humoral responses, survival, differentiation and phenotypic maturation, as well as secretion of cytokines and other immune signaling mediators (22). Emerging evidence demonstrates substantial potential for EDCs to interfere with the endocrine signaling required for maternal immune adaptation to pregnancy (**Figure 2**). Below, we summarise the current evidence for EDC action on the innate and adaptive components of the immune response relevant to pregnancy, with a focus on immune cell types affected by EDCs may act in pregnancy through influencing the maternal immune response is supported by studies of EDC effects on immune cells in other tissue settings and disease contexts.

Macrophages

Macrophages contribute to embryo implantation, placental development, and timing of birth (35, 121, 122). In the maternal compartment, immune-regulatory macrophages constrain inflammation, influence the adaptive immune response, and modulate uterine vascular function (123). EDC disruption of their functional phenotypes is likely to adversely impact placental morphogenesis, pregnancy progression and fetal development. In the placenta, a large population of fetus-derived macrophages known as 'Hofbauer cells' exert direct effects on placental development and transport function. These cells can respond to proinflammatory stimuli and contribute to



FIGURE 2 | Summary of EDC effects on immune cell subsets and potential implications for maternal immune adaptation to pregnancy. Various EDCs affect the differentiation, phenotype and function of specific immune cell subsets, each of which play important roles in maternal immune adaptation to pregnancy. While the effects of EDCs on the immune response to pregnancy are yet to be formally examined, there is substantial evidence from other settings showing that various ECs can modulate macrophages, T cells, NK cells, and dendritic cells. In particular, EDCs that impair the generation of regulatory T cells (Treg cells), key mediators of fetal-maternal tolerance that are essential for embryo implantation and placental development, are likely to elevate susceptibility to pregnancy complications, and warrant investigation as contributing risk factors in recurrent miscarriage, preeclampsia, preterm birth and related gestational disorders.

placental inflammation (124), so would also be susceptible to immune-modulatory effects of EDCs. Placental macrophages have been shown to upregulate production of prostaglandin E2 (PGE2) and cyclo-oxygenase-2 after exposure to mono-2ethylhexyl phthalate (MEHP), the active metabolite of diethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP) (125).

Evidence from animal studies indicates that EDCs have capacity to alter macrophage phenotype and function, in a manner dependent on the polarization state of the macrophages at the time of exposure and the specific EDC (110). The most extensive evidence exists for effects of EDCs in M1-like classical macrophages. In murine macrophages, treatment with BPA, the alkyl phenols p-n-nonylphenol (NP) and p-n-octylphenol, or the chlorinated phenols 2,4-dicholophenol and pentachlorophenol, each lead to inactivation of nuclear factor kappa-light-chainenhancer of activated B cells (NF-KB) signaling and suppression of TNF and nitric oxide (NO) following stimulation with lipopolysaccharide (LPS) (126-130). Interestingly, the capacity of BPA to suppress LPS-induced macrophage polarization is blocked by the ER antagonist ICI 182.780, suggesting BPA acts to regulate NF-KB signaling via ER (128, 129). Some of these effects occurred independently of classical ER signaling and were likely mediated by non-classical ER (129).

Other studies report that BPA and other EDCs have differing effects on macrophage production of pro-inflammatory cytokines and mediators, promoting a more activated, classical M1-like phenotype. For example in the mouse, benzo(a)pyrene (B(a)P) and hexachlorobenzene increase the production of NO in macrophage cell lines (127, 131). Similarly, human THP1 cell line-derived macrophages cultured with BPA exhibit increased pro-inflammatory TNF and IL-6 expression, dependent on classical ER signaling (132) Finally, treatment of mouse macrophages with EDCs including BPA, NP, dicyclohexyl phthalate and B(a)P causes cell death through apoptosis and necrosis pathways (127, 131).

Recent studies indicate impacts of various EDCs on M2-like alternative macrophages. In mice, exposure to polybrominated diphenyl ethers (PBDE) enhances estrogen mediated regrowth of mammary glands, in a manner potentially mediated by enhanced IL-10 expression and polarization of macrophages towards an M2-like state (133). Similarly, *in vivo* oral exposure of mice to BPA promotes the transition from ductal carcinoma *in situ* to invasive breast cancer through increases in pro-tumorigenic cluster of differentiation (CD)206⁺ M2-like alternatively activated macrophages (134). In contrast, other studies demonstrate that *in vitro* treatment of NP to mouse bone marrow-derived macrophages decreases their polarization by IL-4 toward an M2-like phenotype, associated with reduced survival in LPS-induced sepsis (135).

These studies indicate EDCs at physiological doses may promote or inhibit several aspects of both classical and alternate macrophage activation and effector function. The differential effects observed are likely due to differences in dose, context and type of EDC, and therefore, further work is required to develop greater understanding of the effect of EDCs on macrophages in various settings in mice and humans.

Neutrophils

Neutrophils are important in preparing the female reproductive tract for embryo implantation, especially after coitus when they clear microorganisms, seminal fluid debris, and superfluous sperm, and help guard against sexually transmitted infection (90). Recent studies in mice and humans show that neutrophils are programmed by decidual signals to acquire an activated, pro-angiogenic phenotype (136, 137) akin to functions observed for tumor-associated neutrophils in cancer (138), suggesting a key role for neutrophils in establishing pregnancy. Given their importance in protecting from infection, and their emerging roles in regulating decidualization and placental development, studies to understand the impact of EDCs on uterine neutrophils may reveal novel pathways that exert long term influence on offspring health.

In both animal and human models, various EDCs impair neutrophil chemotactic and phagocytic ability and increase neutrophil apoptosis (139–142). In humans, chronic exposure to the pesticide DDT leads to a reduction in neutrophil chemotactic and phagocytic capacity that inversely correlates with incidence of infectious disease (143). BPA exposure is associated with increased reactive oxygen species (ROS) in human neutrophils *via* ER signaling, but does not cause changes in ROS-dependent formation of neutrophil extracellular traps (139).

Dendritic Cells

Several effects of EDCs on DC differentiation and maturation are reported, where EDCs have been shown to shift the polarization and expression of maturation markers on DCs. In murine models, *in vitro* atrazine exposure leads to phenotypic changes, causing a dose-dependent loss of DC surface MHC class 1, as well as decreased CD86, CD11b, CD11c and CD14 expression (144). Other studies show EDCs alter DC cytokine production in mice, eliciting increased TNF and decreased IL-10 (145, 146). In other studies, BPA and NP induce the differentiation of murine bone marrow cells into DCs, with BPA having a more substantial effect than NP in altering differentiation capacity (147).

Mechanistic studies show that EDCs exert effects on DCs through both ER-dependent and –independent pathways. In a model of ovalbumin-induced allergic lung inflammation, NP-treated mice developed more severe inflammation compared to the control, however this effect was eliminated in mice carrying an aryl hydrocarbon receptor (AhR) mutation, suggesting NP may affect DCs *via* AhR-dependent (ER independent) pathways (146). In humans, exposure to the alkylphenols NP enhance TNF and suppress IL-10 and type 1 IFN production in peripheral blood mononuclear cell (PBMC)-derived plasmocytoid DCs. The ER antagonist ICI 182.780 could reverse NP-induced TNF and IFN- β expression but was unable to reverse the suppressive effect of NP on IL-10 or IFN- α expression in plasmocytoid DCs, suggesting both ER-dependent and -independent pathways of alkyphenol regulation of DCs occur (145).

DCs are critical regulators of the strength and quality of an adaptive immune response through signals delivered at antigen presentation, and the impact of EDCs on DC antigen presentation has been explored. EDCs such as BPA influence DC maturation and phenotype leading to an increased capacity to induce T-helper (Th)2 responses (148). Similarly, suppression of type 1 IFNs in human plasmocytoid DCs by phthalates programs a Th2 phenotype in T cells characterized by suppressed IFN- γ and enhanced IL-13 production (149). In contrast, BPA exposure increases CD1 α expression in human PBMC-derived DCs, enabling them to drive polarization of naïve CD4⁺ T cells towards a Th1 phenotype (150). While it is evident that EDCs can modulate DC phenotype, further studies are required to understand the specific effects of these DC changes for T cell phenotype, function, and maturation state.

Effects of EDCs on the DC contribution to pregnancy tolerance are unclear, but reasonably it would be expected that altered DC function and interaction with T cells could disrupt normal immune balance during pregnancy, and potentially skew permissive Treg cells towards destructive Th1 cells (151). In particular, an increase in TNF and IL-6 secretion by DCs in the peri-implantation period may create excessive inflammation that negatively influences embryo development. Whether EDCexposed DCs inhibit Treg cells is an important question with substantial implications for fetal-maternal tolerance (151).

Natural Killer Cells

Natural killer (NK) cells are affected by a wide range of EDCs, all of which appear to decrease NK cell recognition of and cytotoxicity towards tumour cells, even after brief and low concentration EDC exposure (110). These functions are elicited through changes in NK cell surface markers and production of inflammatory cytokines, ultimately leading to changes in cellular function (110). For example, tributytlin (TBT) and DDT exposure significantly decrease the cytotoxic function of human NK cells in vitro, modulating their expression of cell surface proteins including CD16, CD18 and CD56, as well as cytolytic proteins such as perforin and granzyme B (152, 153). The loss of NK cell lytic function following exposure to these EDCs appears to result from activation of protein kinase C and the mitogen-activated protein kinase pathway (154-156). However, not all EDCs elicit the same functional effects in NK cells. In vitro atrazine exposure inhibits the ability of NK cells to lyse target cells through blocking lytic granule release, without impacting the release of perforin or granzyme proteins (157), demonstrating that EDCs have differing functional effects, presumably reflecting different mechanisms of action.

EDCs also have significant impact on the production of inflammatory cytokines by NK cells, with several studies clearly demonstrating NK cells exhibit non-monotonic dose responses (110). Inflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IL1- β , IL-6 and IFN- γ were increased in response to low-dose exposure to various EDCs including TBT and dibutylin (DBT) (158–160). In the case of TBT-induced pro-inflammatory cytokines this was mediated through the activation of extracellular-signal-regulated kinase 1/2 and p38 kinase pathways (158–160).

Overall, these studies demonstrate that EDCs have substantial capacity to modulate NK cells, in ways relevant to uNK cell function in pregnancy. uNK cells are highly regulated by ovarian E2 and P4, and contribute to cyclic remodeling of the uterus over the course of the menstrual cycle in preparation for embryo

implantation (161). Indeed uNK cells are the most abundant immune cell population in the uterus, where they promote decidualization, facilitate spiral artery remodeling, and play critical roles in placental development (99–101). In particular, the effect of EDCs on NK cells is relevant to the common condition of endometriosis where exposure to phthalates and PCBs are implicated, and altered uNK cells are reported (162, 163). To date, there are no studies examining specific changes to the phenotype or function of the uNK cell subset following exposure to EDCs, although experiments investigating effects of BPA on the uterine vasculature point to a possible role for uNK cells and a target of BPA effects (11, 101). Further research is required to examine the effect of EDCs on uNK cells and their role in mediating EDC effects on fertility and fecundity.

CD4⁺ T Cells

In addition to indirect effects on T cell differentiation through the impact of EDCs on antigen presenting cells, there is evidence that EDCs directly influence CD4⁺ T cell differentiation and function. In studies of allergic disease, multiple EDCs have been shown to augment immunoglobulin (Ig)E-related responses through a common mechanism of enhancing T cell production of the Th2 inducing cytokine IL-4, *via* stimulation of nuclear factor of activated T-cells binding activity (30, 31, 164). Similar responses are observed in studies comparing adult versus prenatal exposure to BPA in male mice. In these studies, BPA promotes the antigen-stimulated production of Th2 cytokines (IL-10, IL-13 and IL-4) in adult mice, and both IFN- γ and IL-4 in adult offspring exposed to BPA prenatally (165).

In vitro studies of isolated mouse T cells exposed to EDCs from the alkylphenol family show suppression of Th1 development and enhanced Th2 development, in a manner independent of retinoic acid receptors, progesterone receptors, glucocorticoid receptor, retinoid x receptor, or ER (166). While this Th2 inducing capacity of EDCs is recapitulated in other studies (167, 168), it is notable that up-regulation of Th1 responses following either adult or prenatal exposure is also reported. Addition of BPA directly to splenocytes in vitro favours differentiation of Th1 cells, characterized by decreased IL-4 and increased IFN- γ production (169). The reason for variable effects of different EDC interventions on CD4⁺ T cell polarization remains unclear, but likely reflects the effects of different chemical entities, dose, duration or in vivo timing of exposure. Further studies are therefore required to fully understand the range of impacts of EDCs on CD4⁺ T cell differentiation.

Taken together, the published findings provide clear evidence that common EDCs such as BPA and phthalates can modulate T cell differentiation and function. The disturbance to Th1/Th2 polarization induced by EDCs may predispose to a range of inflammatory diseases (i.e. allergy, autoimmunity, and asthma) (110), and is also relevant to generation of maternal immune tolerance in pregnancy, where a specific suppression of Th1 cells is critical (34, 35).

As well as affecting Th1/Th2 polarization, BPA exposure influences the differentiation and functional phenotype of Treg cells. The elevated antigen-dependent induction of Th2 cytokines after BPA exposure seen in adult mice occurs in conjunction with

a shift away from Treg cell generation. A dose-dependent decrease in the $CD4^+CD25^+$ Treg cells among $CD4^+$ T cells with increasing BPA concentrations is reported (165). Similarly, BPA exposure during gestation and prior to weaning leads to a perturbed induction of oral tolerance characterized by a diminished accumulation of Treg cells (170). NP exposure in mice elevates Th2 and suppresses Treg cell numbers, which counteract the effects of ER agonists in the treatment of allergic rhinitis (171). In contrast, *in vitro* exposure of murine T cells to atrazine inhibits $CD4^+$ T cell proliferation and elicits increased Foxp3⁺ Treg cells (172), again highlighting the variable effects of different EDCs on lymphocyte biology.

A key mechanism implicated in EDC modulation of Treg cells involves the transcription factor AhR. In mouse T cells, AhR is a key regulator of T cell differentiation into Treg and Th17 cells (173), and AhR activation promotes differentiation of functional Treg cells (174). EDCs such as dioxins can bind with high affinity and activate AhR, leading to the induction of functional Treg cells that suppress experimental autoimmune encephalitis (173). Activation of AhR by naturally occurring activators of the AhR signaling pathway, such as 6-formylindolo[3,2-b]carbazole, elicits an opposite effect where Treg development is suppressed and Th17 differentiation boosted (173). Since other EDCs including phenols and phthalates also affect immune processes *via* AhR modulation, the AhR pathway may be a central determinant of the differential impacts of different EDCs on T cell differentiation (175).

Given these effects, it seems highly plausible that BPA exposure affects the expansion of Treg cells in early pregnancy and has potential to compromise fetal-maternal tolerance. Other EDCs demonstrated to interfere with Treg cell populations could reasonably also impair maternal immune adaptation to pregnancy. Given that Treg cell insufficiency is implicated in a wide range of gestational disorders (35), this warrants investigation as a convergent mechanism by which EDCs contribute to elevated susceptibility and the rising incidence of these conditions.

CONCLUSIONS

There is mounting evidence pointing to a contribution of EDCs in adverse pregnancy outcomes, as well as infertility and subfertility. While many studies have assessed mechanisms involving endocrine impacts of EDCs on reproductive processes, there has been limited exploration of mechanisms involving immune cells. Given the critical significance of the maternal immune response in pregnancy and the now substantial literature demonstrating that common EDCs interfere with key elements of the immune response relevant to pregnancy (**Figure 2**), it is important to consider immune dysregulation amogst the effects that EDCs may exert. In particular, EDC exposures in women prior to or around the time of conception have potential to disturb generation of maternal immune tolerance required at embryo implantation (34, 35), with ongoing consequences for placental morphogenesis, and susceptibility to gestational conditions that arise from compromised placentation. Since seminal fluid factors contribute to priming immune tolerance towards paternal antigens in women, is possible that male EDC exposures can also interfere with maternal immune tolerance in the female partner.

Research to uncover the significance of immune effects of EDCs in reproduction and pregnancy is aligned with the World Health Organization's recommendation to improve knowledge on EDCs and human health (1). This research should span a range of approaches. Laboratory animal studies will be critical for demonstrating causal effects, elucidating mechanisms, and defining effects of frequency and strength of different EDC exposures. Future studies must be designed with a view to their translational impact for health and clinical relevance. For example, several studies to date have utilized supraphysiological doses of EDCs in order to demonstrate an impact, and these now need to be replicated using environmentally relevant doses (2). Nevertheless, there is compelling evidence from both reproduction (2) and immune (22, 110) studies that EDCs can exert substantial effects at low doses relevant to those in human environments. Building the evidence for environmentally relevant exposures is a priority, as is unravelling the complex biology of the U-shaped dose response curve typical of many EDCs (2).

Large scale human cohort studies will be important for investigating how EDCs interact with other environmental and lifestyle factors that attenuate their biological effects, and quantifying the relative risk attributable to EDC exposures. As noted in the US Endocrine Society's Second Scientific Statement (2), studies must be carefully designed to take into account variables that likely attenuate EDC risk, including genetic diversity, socioeconomic status, geographic variables, age at exposure, and occupation (3, 42, 43). Importantly, pregnant women must be included in population studies and future research must focus on pregnancy as a critical period for investigation (56). In turn this work will inform public policy and justify government regulations on environmental exposures that impact reproductive and pregnancy health. The benefits will extend to rare and endangered species and economically important livestock animals, where EDCs will otherwise exert accumulating harm.

AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS

JS, EG, and SR assembled information and wrote drafts of the manuscript. TO, CM, and DR assembled information, reviewed drafts, and provided specialist insight. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

FUNDING

The authors acknowledge the funding support of the National Health and Medical Research Council (APP1099461, to SR) and Channel 7 Children's Research Foundation (to SR and JS).

REFERENCES

- 1. United Nations Environment Programme and the World Health Organization. *State of the Science of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals* -2012. Geneva, Switzerland (2013).
- Gore AC, Chappell VA, Fenton SE, Flaws JA, Nadal A, Prins GS, et al. EDC-2: The Endocrine Society's Second Scientific Statement on Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals. *Endocr Rev* (2015) 36(6):E1–E150. doi: 10.1210/ er.2015-1010
- Attina TM, Hauser R, Sathyanarayana S, Hunt PA, Bourguignon J-P, Myers JP, et al. Exposure to endocrine-disrupting chemicals in the USA: a population-based disease burden and cost analysis. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2016) 4(12):996–1003. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(16)30275-3
- 4. Kuiper GGJM, Lemmen JG, Carlsson B, Corton JC, Safe SH, van der Saag PT, et al. Interaction of Estrogenic Chemicals and Phytoestrogens with Estrogen Receptor β . *Endocrinology* (1998) 139(10):4252–63. doi: 10.1210/endo.139.10.6216
- Diamanti-Kandarakis E, Bourguignon JP, Giudice LC, Hauser R, Prins GS, Soto AM, et al. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: an Endocrine Society scientific statement. *Endocr Rev* (2009) 30(4):293–342. doi: 10.1210/ er.2009-0002
- Vandenberg LN, Colborn T, Hayes TB, Heindel JJ, Jacobs DR Jr, Lee DH, et al. Hormones and endocrine-disrupting chemicals: low-dose effects and nonmonotonic dose responses. *Endocr Rev* (2012) 33(3):378–455. doi: 10.1210/er.2011-1050
- Kohn MC, Melnick RL. Biochemical origins of the non-monotonic receptormediated dose-response. J Mol Endocrinol (2002) 29(1):113–23. doi: 10.1677/jme.0.0290113
- Rolfo A, Nuzzo AM, De Amicis R, Moretti L, Bertoli S, Leone A. Fetalmaternal exposure to endocrine disruptors: correlation with diet intake and pregnancy outcomes. *Nutrients* (2020) 12(6):1744(1–19). doi: 10.3390/ nu12061744
- Kahn LG, Philippat C, Nakayama SF, Slama R, Trasande L. Endocrinedisrupting chemicals: implications for human health. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2020) 8(8):703–18. doi: 10.1016/S2213-8587(20)30129-7
- Kassotis CD, Vandenberg LN, Demeneix BA, Porta M, Slama R, Trasande L. Endocrine-disrupting chemicals: economic, regulatory, and policy implications. *Lancet Diabetes Endocrinol* (2020) 8(8):719–30. doi: 10.1016/ S2213-8587(20)30128-5
- Muller JE, Meyer N, Santamaria CG, Schumacher A, Luque EH, Zenclussen ML, et al. Bisphenol A exposure during early pregnancy impairs uterine spiral artery remodeling and provokes intrauterine growth restriction in mice. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):9196. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-27575-y
- Philips EM, Trasande L, Kahn LG, Gaillard R, Steegers EAP, Jaddoe VWV. Early pregnancy bisphenol and phthalate metabolite levels, maternal hemodynamics and gestational hypertensive disorders. *Hum Reprod* (2019) 34(2):365–73. doi: 10.1093/humrep/dey364
- Ferguson KK, McElrath TF, Cantonwine DE, Mukherjee B, Meeker JD. Phthalate metabolites and bisphenol-A in association with circulating angiogenic biomarkers across pregnancy. *Placenta* (2015) 36(6):699–703. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2015.04.002
- Caserta D, Maranghi L, Mantovani A, Marci R, Maranghi F, Moscarini M. Impact of endocrine disruptor chemicals in gynaecology. *Hum Reprod Update* (2008) 14(1):59–72. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmm025
- Quinnies KM, Doyle TJ, Kim KH, Rissman EF. Transgenerational Effects of Di-(2-Ethylhexyl) Phthalate (DEHP) on Stress Hormones and Behavior. *Endocrinology* (2015) 156(9):3077–83. doi: 10.1210/EN.2015-1326
- Quinnies KM, Harris EP, Snyder RW, Sumner SS, Rissman EF. Direct and transgenerational effects of low doses of perinatal di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate (DEHP) on social behaviors in mice. *PloS One* (2017) 12(2):e0171977. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0171977
- Desrosiers TA, Herring AH, Shapira SK, Hooiveld M, Luben TJ, Herdt-Losavio ML, et al. Paternal occupation and birth defects: findings from the National Birth Defects Prevention Study. *Occup Environ Med* (2012) 69 (8):534–42. doi: 10.1136/oemed-2011-100372
- 18. Doyle TJ, Bowman JL, Windell VL, McLean DJ, Kim KH. Transgenerational effects of di-(2-ethylhexyl) phthalate on testicular germ cell associations and

spermatogonial stem cells in mice. Biol Reprod (2013) 88(5):112. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.112.106104

- Fan Y, Ding S, Ye X, Manyande A, He D, Zhao N, et al. Does preconception paternal exposure to a physiologically relevant level of bisphenol A alter spatial memory in an adult rat? *Horm Behav* (2013) 64(4):598–604. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2013.08.014
- Rogers JA, Metz L, Yong VW. Review: Endocrine disrupting chemicals and immune responses: a focus on bisphenol-A and its potential mechanisms. *Mol Immunol* (2013) 53(4):421–30. doi: 10.1016/j.molimm.2012.09.013
- Yang SN, Hsieh CC, Kuo HF, Lee MS, Huang MY, Kuo CH, et al. The effects of environmental toxins on allergic inflammation. *Allergy Asthma Immunol Res* (2014) 6(6):478–84. doi: 10.4168/aair.2014.6.6.478
- Bansal A, Henao-Mejia J, Simmons RA. Immune System: An Emerging Player in Mediating Effects of Endocrine Disruptors on Metabolic Health. *Endocrinology* (2018) 159(1):32–45. doi: 10.1210/en.2017-00882
- 23. Ahmed SA. The immune system as a potential target for environmental estrogens (endocrine disrupters): a new emerging field. *Toxicology* (2000) 150(1-3):191–206. doi: 10.1016/S0300-483X(00)00259-6
- 24. Chalubinski M, Kowalski ML. Endocrine disrupters-potential modulators of the immune system and allergic response. *Allergy* (2006) 61(11):1326–35. doi: 10.1111/j.1398-9995.2006.01135.x
- Forawi HA, Tchounwou PB, McMurray RW. Xenoestrogen modulation of the immune system: effects of dichlorodiphenyltrichloroethane (DDT) and 2,3,7,8-tetrachlorodibenzo-p-dioxin (TCDD). *Rev Environ Health* (2004) 19 (1):1–13. doi: 10.1515/REVEH.2004.19.1.1
- Dunbar B, Patel M, Fahey J, Wira C. Endocrine control of mucosal immunity in the female reproductive tract: impact of environmental disruptors. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2012) 354(1-2):85–93. doi: 10.1016/ j.mce.2012.01.002
- Fischer FP, Machleidt C, Rettenmeier AW, Kuhlmann U, Mettang T. Plasticizers and inhibition of leukocyte function in vitro. *Perit Dial Int* (1998) 18(6):620–5. doi: 10.1177/089686089801800610
- Hansen JF, Nielsen CH, Brorson MM, Frederiksen H, Hartoft-Nielsen ML, Rasmussen AK, et al. Influence of phthalates on in vitro innate and adaptive immune responses. *PloS One* (2015) 10(6):e0131168. doi: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0131168
- 29. Win-Shwe TT, Yanagisawa R, Koike E, Nitta H, Takano H. Expression levels of neuroimmune biomarkers in hypothalamus of allergic mice after phthalate exposure. *J Appl Toxicol* (2013) 33(10):1070–8. doi: 10.1002/jat.2835
- 30. Lee MH, Chung SW, Kang BY, Park J, Lee CH, Hwang SY, et al. Enhanced interleukin-4 production in CD4+ T cells and elevated immunoglobulin E levels in antigen-primed mice by bisphenol A and nonylphenol, endocrine disruptors: involvement of nuclear factor-AT and Ca2+. *Immunology* (2003) 109(1):76–86. doi: 10.1046/j.1365-2567.2003.01631.x
- Lee MH, Park J, Chung SW, Kang BY, Kim SH, Kim TS. Enhancement of interleukin-4 production in activated CD4+ T cells by diphthalate plasticizers via increased NF-AT binding activity. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* (2004) 134(3):213–22. doi: 10.1159/000078768
- Robertson SA, Petroff MG, Hunt JS. Chapter 41 Immunology of Pregnancy. In: TM Plant and AJ Zeleznik, editors. *Knobil and Neill's Physiology of Reproduction, 4th ed.* San Diego: Academic Press (2015). p. 1835–74.
- Erlebacher A. Immunology of the maternal-fetal interface. Annu Rev Immunol (2013) 31:387-411. doi: 10.1146/annurev-immunol-032712-100003
- Robertson SA, Moldenhauer LM. Immunological determinants of implantation success. Int J Dev Biol (2014) 58(2-4):205–17. doi: 10.1387/ ijdb.140096sr
- Robertson SA, Care AS, Moldenhauer LM. Regulatory T cells in embryo implantation and the immune response to pregnancy. J Clin Invest (2018) 128(10):4224–35. doi: 10.1172/JCI122182
- Fowden AL, Forhead AJ, Coan PM, Burton GJ. The placenta and intrauterine programming. J Neuroendocrinol (2008) 20(4):439–50. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2826.2008.01663.x
- 37. Romero R, Kusanovic JP, Chaiworapongsa T, Hassan SS. Placental bed disorders in preterm labor, preterm PROM, spontaneous abortion and

abruptio placentae. Best Pract Res Clin Obstetrics Gynaecol (2011) 25(3):313–27. doi: 10.1016/j.bpobgyn.2011.02.006

- Yilmaz B, Terekeci H, Sandal S, Kelestimur F. Endocrine disrupting chemicals: exposure, effects on human health, mechanism of action, models for testing and strategies for prevention. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* (2020) 21(1):127–47. doi: 10.1007/s11154-019-09521-z
- Rehman S, Usman Z, Rehman S, AlDraihem M, Rehman N, Rehman I, et al. Endocrine disrupting chemicals and impact on male reproductive health. *Transl Androl Urol* (2018) 7(3):490–503. doi: 10.21037/tau.2018.05.17
- Brehm E, Flaws JA. Transgenerational Effects of Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals on Male and Female Reproduction. *Endocrinology* (2019) 160 (6):1421–35. doi: 10.1210/en.2019-00034
- Cabry R, Merviel P, Madkour A, Lefranc E, Scheffler F, Desailloud R, et al. The impact of endocrine disruptor chemicals on oocyte/embryo and clinical outcomes in IVF. *Endocr Connect* (2020) 9(6):R134–R42. doi: 10.1530/EC-20-0135
- 42. Patel DM, Jones RR, Booth BJ, Olsson AC, Kromhout H, Straif K, et al. Parental occupational exposure to pesticides, animals and organic dust and risk of childhood leukemia and central nervous system tumors: Findings from the International Childhood Cancer Cohort Consortium (I4C). Int J Cancer (2020) 146(4):943–52. doi: 10.1002/ijc.32388
- Ponsonby AL, Symeonides C, Saffery R, Mueller JF, O'Hely M, Sly PD, et al. Prenatal phthalate exposure, oxidative stress-related genetic vulnerability and early life neurodevelopment: A birth cohort study. *Neurotoxicology* (2020) 80:20–8. doi: 10.1016/j.neuro.2020.05.006
- 44. James-Todd TM, Chiu YH, Zota AR. Racial/ethnic disparities in environmental endocrine disrupting chemicals and women's reproductive health outcomes: epidemiological examples across the life course. *Curr Epidemiol Rep* (2016) 3(2):161–80. doi: 10.1007/s40471-016-0073-9
- Hipwell AE, Kahn LG, Factor-Litvak P, Porucznik CA, Siegel EL, Fichorova RN, et al. Exposure to non-persistent chemicals in consumer products and fecundability: a systematic review. *Hum Reprod Update* (2019) 25(1):51–71. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmy032
- Rattan S, Zhou C, Chiang C, Mahalingam S, Brehm E, Flaws JA. Exposure to endocrine disruptors during adulthood: consequences for female fertility. *J Endocrinol* (2017) 233(3):R109–R29. doi: 10.1530/JOE-17-0023
- Borgeest C, Greenfeld C, Tomic D, Flaws JA. The effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals on the ovary. *Front Biosci* (2002) 7:d1941–8. doi: 10.2741/A890
- Tiemann U. In vivo and in vitro effects of the organochlorine pesticides DDT, TCPM, methoxychlor, and lindane on the female reproductive tract of mammals: a review. *Reprod Toxicol* (2008) 25(3):316–26. doi: 10.1016/ j.reprotox.2008.03.002
- Fowler PA, Bellingham M, Sinclair KD, Evans NP, Pocar P, Fischer B, et al. Impact of endocrine-disrupting compounds (EDCs) on female reproductive health. *Mol Cell Endocrinol* (2012) 355(2):231–9. doi: 10.1016/j.mce.2011.10.021
- Cook LE, Finger BJ, Green MP, Pask AJ. Exposure to atrazine during puberty reduces sperm viability, increases weight gain and alters the expression of key metabolic genes in the liver of male mice. *Reproduction Fertil Dev* (2019) 31(5):920–31. doi: 10.1071/RD18505
- Komsky-Elbaz A, Roth Z. Effect of the herbicide atrazine and its metabolite DACT on bovine sperm quality. *Reprod Toxicol* (2017) 67:15–25. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2016.11.001
- Balise VD, Meng CX, Cornelius-Green JN, Kassotis CD, Kennedy R, Nagel SC. Systematic review of the association between oil and natural gas extraction processes and human reproduction. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106 (4):795–819. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.07.1099
- 53. Wu H, Estill MS, Shershebnev A, Suvorov A, Krawetz SA, Whitcomb BW, et al. Preconception urinary phthalate concentrations and sperm DNA methylation profiles among men undergoing IVF treatment: a crosssectional study. *Hum Reprod* (2017) 32(11):2159–69. doi: 10.1093/ humrep/dex283
- 54. Younglai E, Foster W, Hughes E, Trim K, Jarrell J. Levels of environmental contaminants in human follicular fluid, serum, and seminal plasma of couples undergoing in vitro fertilization. *Arch Environ Contamination Toxicol* (2002) 43:121–6. doi: 10.1007/s00244-001-0048-8
- 55. Li Y, Hamilton KJ, Wang T, Coons LA, Jefferson WN, Li R, et al. DNA methylation and transcriptome aberrations mediated by ERalpha in mouse

seminal vesicles following developmental DES exposure. Proc Natl Acad Sci USA (2018) 115(18):E4189–E98. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1719010115

- 56. Varshavsky J, Smith A, Wang A, Hom E, Izano M, Huang H, et al. Heightened susceptibility: A review of how pregnancy and chemical exposures influence maternal health. *Reprod Toxicol* (2020) 92:14–56. doi: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2019.04.004
- Fowden AL, Forhead AJ, Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Burton GJ, Vaughan OR. Review: Endocrine regulation of placental phenotype. *Placenta* (2015) 36 Suppl 1:S50–9. doi: 10.1016/j.placenta.2014.11.018
- Gingrich J, Ticiani E, Veiga-Lopez A. Placenta Disrupted: Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals and Pregnancy. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2020) 31 (7):508–24. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2020.03.003
- Krog MC, Nielsen HS, Christiansen OB, Kolte AM. Reproductive Endocrinology in Recurrent Pregnancy Loss. *Clin Obstet Gynecol* (2016) 59(3):474–86. doi: 10.1097/GRF.00000000000225
- Cantonwine DE, McElrath TF, Trabert B, Xu X, Sampson J, Roberts JM, et al. Estrogen metabolism pathways in preeclampsia and normal pregnancy. *Steroids* (2019) 144:8–14. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2019.01.005
- Ferguson KK, McElrath TF, Meeker JD. Environmental phthalate exposure and preterm birth. *JAMA Pediatr* (2014) 168(1):61–7. doi: 10.1001/ jamapediatrics.2013.3699
- 62. Zhang Y, Wang H, Pan X, Teng W, Shan Z. Patients with subclinical hypothyroidism before 20 weeks of pregnancy have a higher risk of miscarriage: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *PloS One* (2017) 12 (4):e0175708. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0175708
- Boyles AL, Beverly BE, Fenton SE, Jackson CL, Jukic AMZ, Sutherland VL, et al. Environmental factors involved in maternal morbidity and mortality. *J Womens Health (Larchmt)* (2021) 30(2):245–52. doi: 10.1089/ jwh.2020.8855
- Krieg SA, Shahine LK, Lathi RB. Environmental exposure to endocrinedisrupting chemicals and miscarriage. *Fertil Steril* (2016) 106(4):941–7. doi: 10.1016/j.fertnstert.2016.06.043
- Rosen EM, Munoz MI, McElrath T, Cantonwine DE, Ferguson KK. Environmental contaminants and preeclampsia: a systematic literature review. J Toxicol Environ Health B Crit Rev (2018) 21(5):291–319. doi: 10.1080/10937404.2018.1554515
- 66. Lehmler HJ, Liu B, Gadogbe M, Bao W. Exposure to Bisphenol A, Bisphenol F, and Bisphenol S in U.S. Adults and Children: The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey 2013-2014. ACS Omega (2018) 3(6):6523–32. doi: 10.1021/acsomega.8b00824
- Li LX, Chen L, Meng XZ, Chen BH, Chen SQ, Zhao Y, et al. Exposure levels of environmental endocrine disruptors in mother-newborn pairs in China and their placental transfer characteristics. *PloS One* (2013) 8(5):e62526. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0062526
- Covaci A, Jorens P, Jacquemyn Y, Schepens P. Distribution of PCBs and organochlorine pesticides in umbilical cord and maternal serum. *Sci Total Environ* (2002) 298(1-3):45–53. doi: 10.1016/S0048-9697(02)00167-5
- 69. Buck Louis GM, Yeung E, Kannan K, Maisog J, Zhang C, Grantz KL, et al. Patterns and Variability of Endocrine-disrupting Chemicals During Pregnancy: Implications for Understanding the Exposome of Normal Pregnancy. *Epidemiology* (2019) 30(Suppl 2):S65–75. doi: 10.1097/ EDE.000000000001082
- Kelley AS, Banker M, Goodrich JM, Dolinoy DC, Burant C, Domino SE, et al. Early pregnancy exposure to endocrine disrupting chemical mixtures are associated with inflammatory changes in maternal and neonatal circulation. *Sci Rep* (2019) 9(1):5422. doi: 10.1038/s41598-019-41134-z
- Ferguson KK, Meeker JD, Cantonwine DE, Chen YH, Mukherjee B, McElrath TF. Urinary phthalate metabolite and bisphenol A associations with ultrasound and delivery indices of fetal growth. *Environ Int* (2016) 94:531–7. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2016.06.013
- 72. Ferguson KK, van den Dries MA, Gaillard R, Pronk A, Spaan S, Tiemeier H, et al. Organophosphate Pesticide Exposure in Pregnancy in Association with Ultrasound and Delivery Measures of Fetal Growth. *Environ Health Perspect* (2019) 127(8):87005. doi: 10.1289/EHP4858
- 73. Cantonwine DE, Meeker JD, Ferguson KK, Mukherjee B, Hauser R, McElrath TF. Urinary Concentrations of Bisphenol A and Phthalate Metabolites Measured during Pregnancy and Risk of Preeclampsia. *Environ Health Perspect* (2016) 124(10):1651–5. doi: 10.1289/EHP188

- 74. Feng Y, Zhang P, Zhang Z, Shi J, Jiao Z, Shao B. Endocrine Disrupting Effects of Triclosan on the Placenta in Pregnant Rats. *PloS One* (2016) 11(5): e0154758. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0154758
- Yang C, Song G, Lim W. A mechanism for the effect of endocrine disrupting chemicals on placentation. *Chemosphere* (2019) 231:326–36. doi: 10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2019.05.133
- Baud O, Berkane N. Hormonal Changes Associated With Intra-Uterine Growth Restriction: Impact on the Developing Brain and Future Neurodevelopment. Front Endocrinol (Lausanne) (2019) 10:179. doi: 10.3389/fendo.2019.00179
- Rattan S, Flaws JA. The epigenetic impacts of endocrine disruptors on female reproduction across generations. *Biol Reprod* (2019) 101(3):635–44. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ioz081
- Li J, Sheng N, Cui R, Feng Y, Shao B, Guo X, et al. Gestational and lactational exposure to bisphenol AF in maternal rats increases testosterone levels in 23day-old male offspring. *Chemosphere* (2016) 163:552–61. doi: 10.1016/ j.chemosphere.2016.08.059
- Skinner MK, Manikkam M, Guerrero-Bosagna C. Epigenetic transgenerational actions of environmental factors in disease etiology. *Trends Endocrinol Metab* (2010) 21(4):214–22. doi: 10.1016/j.tem.2009.12.007
- Lane M, Robker RL, Robertson SA. Parenting from before conception. Science (2014) 345(6198):756–60. doi: 10.1126/science.1254400
- Bromfield JJ, Schjenken JE, Chin PY, Care AS, Jasper MJ, Robertson SA. Maternal tract factors contribute to paternal seminal fluid impact on metabolic phenotype in offspring. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2014) 111 (6):2200–5. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1305609111
- Watkins AJ, Dias I, Tsuro H, Allen D, Emes RD, Moreton J, et al. Paternal diet programs offspring health through sperm- and seminal plasma-specific pathways in mice. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2018) 115(40):10064–9. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1806333115
- Luo G, Wei R, Wang S, Wang J. Paternal bisphenol a diet changes prefrontal cortex proteome and provokes behavioral dysfunction in male offspring. *Chemosphere* (2017) 184:720–9. doi: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.06.050
- Ben Maamar M, Sadler-Riggleman I, Beck D, Skinner MK. Epigenetic Transgenerational Inheritance of Altered Sperm Histone Retention Sites. *Sci Rep* (2018) 8(1):5308. doi: 10.1038/s41598-018-23612-y
- Valcarce DG, Vuelta E, Robles V, Herraez MP. Paternal exposure to environmental 17-alpha-ethinylestradiol concentrations modifies testicular transcription, affecting the sperm transcript content and the offspring performance in zebrafish. *Aquat Toxicol* (2017) 193:18–29. doi: 10.1016/ j.aquatox.2017.09.025
- Erlebacher A. Mechanisms of T cell tolerance towards the allogeneic fetus. Nat Rev Immunol (2013) 13(1):23–33. doi: 10.1038/nri3361
- Trowsdale J, Betz AG. Mother's little helpers: mechanisms of maternal-fetal tolerance. *Nat Immunol* (2006) 7(3):241–6. doi: 10.1038/ni1317
- Robertson SA. Immune regulation of conception and embryo implantationall about quality control? *J Reprod Immunol* (2010) 85(1):51–7. doi: 10.1016/ j.jri.2010.01.008
- Fleming TP, Watkins AJ, Velazquez MA, Mathers JC, Prentice AM, Stephenson J, et al. Origins of lifetime health around the time of conception: causes and consequences. *Lancet* (2018) 391(10132):1842–52. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)30312-X
- Schjenken JE, Robertson SA. The Female Response to Seminal Fluid. *Physiol Rev* (2020) 100(3):1077–117. doi: 10.1152/physrev.00013.2018
- Schjenken JE, Glynn DJ, Sharkey DJ, Robertson SA. TLR4 Signaling Is a Major Mediator of the Female Tract Response to Seminal Fluid in Mice. *Biol Reprod* (2015) 93(3):68. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.114.125740
- Robertson SA, Mau VJ, Tremellen KP, Seamark RF. Role of high molecular weight seminal vesicle proteins in eliciting the uterine inflammatory response to semen in mice. J Reprod Fertil (1996) 107(2):265–77. doi: 10.1530/jrf.0.1070265
- McMaster MT, Newton RC, Dey SK, Andrews GK. Activation and distribution of inflammatory cells in the mouse uterus during the preimplantation period. *J Immunol* (1992) 148(6):1699–705.
- Sharkey DJ, Tremellen KP, Jasper MJ, Gemzell-Danielsson K, Robertson SA. Seminal fluid induces leukocyte recruitment and cytokine and chemokine mRNA expression in the human cervix after coitus. *J Immunol* (2012) 188 (5):2445–54. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1102736

- Guerin LR, Moldenhauer LM, Prins JR, Bromfield JJ, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Seminal fluid regulates accumulation of FOXP3+ regulatory T cells in the preimplantation mouse uterus through expanding the FOXP3+ cell pool and CCL19-mediated recruitment. *Biol Reprod* (2011) 85(2):397–408. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.110.088591
- 96. Moldenhauer LM, Diener KR, Thring DM, Brown MP, Hayball JD, Robertson SA. Cross-presentation of male seminal fluid antigens elicits T cell activation to initiate the female immune response to pregnancy. *J Immunol* (2009) 182(12):8080–93. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.0804018
- Moldenhauer LM, Schjenken JE, Hope CM, Green ES, Zhang B, Eldi P, et al. Thymus-Derived Regulatory T Cells Exhibit Foxp3 Epigenetic Modification and Phenotype Attenuation after Mating in Mice. *J Immunol* (2019) 203 (3):647–57. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1900084
- Robertson SA, Guerin LR, Bromfield JJ, Branson KM, Ahlstrom AC, Care AS. Seminal fluid drives expansion of the CD4+CD25+ T regulatory cell pool and induces tolerance to paternal alloantigens in mice. *Biol Reprod* (2009) 80 (5):1036–45. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod.108.074658
- Guimond MJ, Luross JA, Wang B, Terhorst C, Danial S, Croy BA. Absence of natural killer cells during murine pregnancy is associated with reproductive compromise in TgE26 mice. *Biol Reprod* (1997) 56(1):169– 79. doi: 10.1095/biolreprod56.1.169
- Ratsep MT, Felker AM, Kay VR, Tolusso L, Hofmann AP, Croy BA. Uterine natural killer cells: supervisors of vasculature construction in early decidua basalis. *Reproduction* (2015) 149(2):R91–102. doi: 10.1530/REP-14-0271
- 101. Meyer N, Zenclussen AC. Immune Cells in the Uterine Remodeling: Are They the Target of Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals? *Front Immunol* (2020) 11:246. doi: 10.3389/fimmu.2020.00246
- 102. Chin HB, Jukic AM, Wilcox AJ, Weinberg CR, Ferguson KK, Calafat AM, et al. Association of urinary concentrations of phthalate metabolites and bisphenol A with early pregnancy endpoints. *Environ Res* (2019) 168:254–60. doi: 10.1016/j.envres.2018.09.037
- 103. Zota AR, Geller RJ, Romano LE, Coleman-Phox K, Adler NE, Parry E, et al. Association between persistent endocrine-disrupting chemicals (PBDEs, OH-PBDEs, PCBs, and PFASs) and biomarkers of inflammation and cellular aging during pregnancy and postpartum. *Environ Int* (2018) 115:9–20. doi: 10.1016/j.envint.2018.02.044
- 104. Ye Y, Tang Y, Xiong Y, Feng L, Li X. Bisphenol A exposure alters placentation and causes preeclampsia-like features in pregnant mice involved in reprogramming of DNA methylation of WNT2. FASEB J (2019) 33(2):2732–42. doi: 10.1096/fj.201800934RRR
- 105. Backlin BM, Persson E, Jones CJ, Dantzer V. Polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB) exposure produces placental vascular and trophoblastic lesions in the mink (Mustela vison): a light and electron microscopic study. *APMIS* (1998) 106 (8):785–99. doi: 10.1111/j.1699-0463.1998.tb00225.x
- 106. Meyer N, Santamaria CG, Muller JE, Schumacher A, Rodriguez HA, Zenclussen AC. Exposure to 17alpha-ethinyl estradiol during early pregnancy affects fetal growth and survival in mice. *Environ Pollut* (2019) 251:493–501. doi: 10.1016/j.envpol.2019.04.144
- 107. Papaconstantinou AD, Fisher BR, Umbreit TH, Goering PL, Lappas NT, Brown KM. Effects of beta-estradiol and bisphenol A on heat shock protein levels and localization in the mouse uterus are antagonized by the antiestrogen ICI 182,780. *Toxicol Sci* (2001) 63(2):173–80. doi: 10.1093/ toxsci/63.2.173
- 108. Scsukova S, Rollerova E, Bujnakova Mlynarcikova A. Impact of endocrine disrupting chemicals on onset and development of female reproductive disorders and hormone-related cancer. *Reprod Biol* (2016) 16(4):243–54. doi: 10.1016/j.repbio.2016.09.001
- 109. Fischer C, Mamillapalli R, Goetz LG, Jorgenson E, Ilagan Y, Taylor HS. Bisphenol A (BPA) Exposure In Utero Leads to Immunoregulatory Cytokine Dysregulation in the Mouse Mammary Gland: A Potential Mechanism Programming Breast Cancer Risk. *Horm Cancer* (2016) 7(4):241–51. doi: 10.1007/s12672-016-0254-5
- Nowak K, Jablonska E, Ratajczak-Wrona W. Immunomodulatory effects of synthetic endocrine disrupting chemicals on the development and functions of human immune cells. *Environ Int* (2019) 125:350–64. doi: 10.1016/ j.envint.2019.01.078
- 111. Edwards M, Dai R, Ahmed SA. Our Environment Shapes Us: The Importance of Environment and Sex Differences in Regulation of

Autoantibody Production. Front Immunol (2018) 9:478. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2018.00478

- Casas M, Gascon M. Prenatal Exposure to Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals and Asthma and Allergic Diseases. *J Investig Allergol Clin Immunol* (2020) 30 (4):215–28. doi: 10.18176/jiaci.0580
- Stelzer IA, Arck PC. Immunity and the Endocrine System. In: MJH Ratcliffe, editor. *Encyclopedia of Immunobiology*. Oxford: Academic Press (2016). p. 73–85.
- Wilkenfeld SR, Lin C, Frigo DE. Communication between genomic and nongenomic signaling events coordinate steroid hormone actions. *Steroids* (2018) 133:2–7. doi: 10.1016/j.steroids.2017.11.005
- 115. Dimitriadis E, White CA, Jones RL, Salamonsen LA. Cytokines, chemokines and growth factors in endometrium related to implantation. *Hum Reprod Update* (2005) 11(6):613–30. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmi023
- Robinson DP, Klein SL. Pregnancy and pregnancy-associated hormones alter immune responses and disease pathogenesis. *Horm Behav* (2012) 62(3):263– 71. doi: 10.1016/j.yhbeh.2012.02.023
- Schumacher A, Costa SD, Zenclussen AC. Endocrine factors modulating immune responses in pregnancy. *Front Immunol* (2014) 5:196. doi: 10.3389/ fimmu.2014.00196
- Polanczyk MJ, Hopke C, Huan J, Vandenbark AA, Offner H. Enhanced FoxP3 expression and Treg cell function in pregnant and estrogen-treated mice. J Neuroimmunol (2005) 170(1–2):85–92. doi: 10.1016/j.jneuroim. 2005.08.023
- 119. Mao G, Wang J, Kang Y, Tai P, Wen J, Zou Q, et al. Progesterone increases systemic and local uterine proportions of CD4+CD25+ Treg cells during midterm pregnancy in mice. *Endocrinology* (2010) 151(11):5477–88. doi: 10.1210/en.2010-0426
- 120. Lee JH, Lydon JP, Kim CH. Progesterone suppresses the mTOR pathway and promotes generation of induced regulatory T cells with increased stability. *Eur J Immunol* (2012) 42(10):2683–96. doi: 10.1002/eji.201142317
- 121. Care AS, Diener KR, Jasper MJ, Brown HM, Ingman WV, Robertson SA. Macrophages regulate corpus luteum development during embryo implantation in mice. J Clin Invest (2013) 123(8):3472–87. doi: 10.1172/ JCI60561
- 122. Yellon SM, Greaves E, Heuerman AC, Dobyns AE, Norman JE. Effects of macrophage depletion on characteristics of cervix remodeling and pregnancy in CD11b-dtr mice. *Biol Reprod* (2019) 100(5):1386–94. doi: 10.1093/biolre/ ioz002
- 123. Lash GE, Pitman H, Morgan HL, Innes BA, Agwu CN, Bulmer JN. Decidual macrophages: key regulators of vascular remodeling in human pregnancy. *J Leukoc Biol* (2016) 100(2):315–25. doi: 10.1189/jlb.1A0815-351R
- 124. Young OM, Tang Z, Niven-Fairchild T, Tadesse S, Krikun G, Norwitz ER, et al. Toll-like receptor-mediated responses by placental Hofbauer cells (HBCs): a potential pro-inflammatory role for fetal M2 macrophages. *Am J Reprod Immunol* (2015) 73(1):22–35. doi: 10.1111/aji.12336
- 125. Tetz LM, Aronoff DM, Loch-Caruso R. Mono-ethylhexyl phthalate stimulates prostaglandin secretion in human placental macrophages and THP-1 cells. *Reprod Biol Endocrinol* (2015) 13:56. doi: 10.1186/s12958-015-0046-8
- 126. Byun JA, Heo Y, Kim YO, Pyo MY. Bisphenol A-induced downregulation of murine macrophage activities in vitro and ex vivo. *Environ Toxicol Pharmacol* (2005) 19(1):19–24. doi: 10.1016/j.etap.2004.02.006
- 127. Kim HG, Yeon SM, Kim KH, Kim H, Park JI, Kang HJ, et al. Estrogenic endocrine-disrupting chemicals modulate the production of inflammatory mediators and cell viability of lipopolysaccharide-stimulated macrophages. *Inflammation* (2015) 38(2):595–605. doi: 10.1007/s10753-014-9966-2
- 128. Kim JY, Jeong HG. Down-regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase and tumor necrosis factor-alpha expression by bisphenol A via nuclear factorkappaB inactivation in macrophages. *Cancer Lett* (2003) 196(1):69–76. doi: 10.1016/S0304-3835(03)00219-2
- 129. Yoshitake J, Kato K, Yoshioka D, Sueishi Y, Sawa T, Akaike T, et al. Suppression of NO production and 8-nitroguanosine formation by phenolcontaining endocrine-disrupting chemicals in LPS-stimulated macrophages: involvement of estrogen receptor-dependent or -independent pathways. *Nitric Oxide* (2008) 18(3):223–8. doi: 10.1016/j.niox.2008.01.003
- 130. Makene VW, Pool EJ. The effects of endocrine disrupting chemicals on biomarkers of inflammation produced by lipopolysaccharide stimulated

RAW264.7 macrophages. Int J Environ Res Public Health (2019) 16(16):2914 (1-10). doi: 10.3390/ijerph16162914

- 131. Kim KH, Yeon SM, Kim HG, Choi HS, Kang H, Park HD, et al. Diverse influences of androgen-disrupting chemicals on immune responses mounted by macrophages. *Inflammation* (2014) 37(3):649–56. doi: 10.1007/s10753-013-9781-1
- 132. Liu Y, Mei C, Liu H, Wang H, Zeng G, Lin J, et al. Modulation of cytokine expression in human macrophages by endocrine-disrupting chemical Bisphenol-A. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* (2014) 451(4):592–8. doi: 10.1016/j.bbrc.2014.08.031
- 133. Kanaya N, Chang G, Wu X, Saeki K, Bernal L, Shim HJ, et al. Single-cell RNA-sequencing analysis of estrogen- and endocrine-disrupting chemicalinduced reorganization of mouse mammary gland. *Commun Biol* (2019) 2:406. doi: 10.1038/s42003-019-0618-9
- 134. Kim H, Kim HS, Piao YJ, Moon WK. Bisphenol A Promotes the Invasive and Metastatic Potential of Ductal Carcinoma In Situ and Protumorigenic Polarization of Macrophages. *Toxicol Sci* (2019) 170(2):283–95. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfz119
- Lee JW, Park S, Han HK, Um SH, Moon EY. Polarized macrophages treated with nonylphenol differently regulate lipopolysaccharide-induced sepsis. *Environ Toxicol* (2016) 31(12):2081–9. doi: 10.1002/tox.22340
- 136. Amsalem H, Kwan M, Hazan A, Zhang J, Jones RL, Whittle W, et al. Identification of a novel neutrophil population: proangiogenic granulocytes in second-trimester human decidua. *J Immunol* (2014) 193(6):3070–9. doi: 10.4049/jimmunol.1303117
- 137. Nadkarni S, Smith J, Sferruzzi-Perri AN, Ledwozyw A, Kishore M, Haas R, et al. Neutrophils induce proangiogenic T cells with a regulatory phenotype in pregnancy. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* (2016) 113(52):E8415–E24. doi: 10.1073/pnas.1611944114
- Fridlender ZG, Albelda SM. Tumor-associated neutrophils: friend or foe? Carcinogenesis (2012) 33(5):949–55. doi: 10.1093/carcin/bgs123
- Balistrieri A, Hobohm L, Srivastava T, Meier A, Corriden R. Alterations in human neutrophil function caused by bisphenol A. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* (2018) 315(5):C636–C42. doi: 10.1152/ajpcell.00242.2017
- 140. Lavastre V, Girard D. Tributyltin induces human neutrophil apoptosis and selective degradation of cytoskeletal proteins by caspases. J Toxicol Environ Health A (2002) 65(14):1013–24. doi: 10.1080/00984100290071270
- 141. Sugita-Konishi Y, Shimura S, Nishikawa T, Sunaga F, Naito H, Suzuki Y. Effect of Bisphenol A on non-specific immunodefenses against nonpathogenic Escherichia coli. *Toxicol Lett* (2003) 136(3):217–27. doi: 10.1016/S0378-4274(02)00388-0
- 142. Nowak K, Jablonska E, Radziwon P, Ratajczak-Wrona W. Identification of a novel target for the action of endocrine disrupting chemicals: inhibitory effect of methylparaben on human neutrophil functions. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int* (2020) 27(6):6540–8. doi: 10.1007/s11356-019-07388-w
- 143. Hermanowicz A, Nawarska Z, Borys D, Maslankiewicz A. The neutrophil function and infectious diseases in workers occupationally exposed to organochloride insecticides. *Int Arch Occup Environ Health* (1982) 50 (4):329–40. doi: 10.1007/BF00377829
- 144. Pinchuk LM, Lee SR, Filipov NM. In vitro atrazine exposure affects the phenotypic and functional maturation of dendritic cells. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2007) 223(3):206–17. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2007.06.004
- 145. Hung CH, Yang SN, Wang YF, Liao WT, Kuo PL, Tsai EM, et al. Environmental alkylphenols modulate cytokine expression in plasmacytoid dendritic cells. *PloS One* (2013) 8(9):e73534. doi: 10.1371/journal. pone.0073534
- 146. Suen JL, Hsu SH, Hung CH, Chao YS, Lee CL, Lin CY, et al. A common environmental pollutant, 4-nonylphenol, promotes allergic lung inflammation in a murine model of asthma. *Allergy* (2013) 68(6):780–7. doi: 10.1111/all.12156
- 147. Pisapia L, Del Pozzo G, Barba P, Caputo L, Mita L, Viggiano E, et al. Effects of some endocrine disruptors on cell cycle progression and murine dendritic cell differentiation. *Gen Comp Endocrinol* (2012) 178(1):54–63. doi: 10.1016/ j.ygcen.2012.04.005
- 148. Guo H, Liu T, Uemura Y, Jiao S, Wang D, Lin Z, et al. Bisphenol A in combination with TNF- α selectively induces Th2 cell-promoting dendritic cells in vitro with an estrogen-like activity. *Cell Mol Immunol* (2010) 7 (3):227–34. doi: 10.1038/cmi.2010.14

- 149. Kuo CH, Hsieh CC, Kuo HF, Huang MY, Yang SN, Chen LC, et al. Phthalates suppress type I interferon in human plasmacytoid dendritic cells via epigenetic regulation. *Allergy* (2013) 68(7):870–9. doi: 10.1111/all.12162
- 150. Camarca A, Gianfrani C, Ariemma F, Cimmino I, Bruzzese D, Scerbo R, et al. Human Peripheral Blood Mononuclear Cell Function and Dendritic Cell Differentiation Are Affected by Bisphenol-A Exposure. *PloS One* (2016) 11 (8):e0161122. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0161122
- 151. Guerin LR, Prins JR, Robertson SA. Regulatory T-cells and immune tolerance in pregnancy: a new target for infertility treatment? *Hum Reprod Update* (2009) 15(5):517–35. doi: 10.1093/humupd/dmp004
- 152. Thomas LD, Shah H, Green SA, Bankhurst AD, Whalen MM. Tributyltin exposure causes decreased granzyme B and perforin levels in human natural killer cells. *Toxicology* (2004) 200(2-3):221–33. doi: 10.1016/ j.tox.2004.04.002
- 153. Hurd-Brown T, Udoji F, Martin T, Whalen MM. Effects of DDT and triclosan on tumor-cell binding capacity and cell-surface protein expression of human natural killer cells. J Appl Toxicol (2013) 33(6):495– 502. doi: 10.1002/jat.2767
- Aluoch A, Whalen M. Tributyltin-induced effects on MAP kinases p38 and p44/42 in human natural killer cells. *Toxicology* (2005) 209(3):263–77. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2004.12.034
- Aluoch AO, Odman-Ghazi SO, Whalen MM. Alteration of an essential NK cell signaling pathway by low doses of tributyltin in human natural killer cells. *Toxicology* (2006) 224(3):229–37. doi: 10.1016/j.tox.2006.05.002
- 156. Abraha AB, Rana K, Whalen MM. Role of protein kinase C in TBT-induced inhibition of lytic function and MAPK activation in human natural killer cells. Arch Environ Contam Toxicol (2010) 59(4):661–9. doi: 10.1007/s00244-010-9520-7
- 157. Rowe AM, Brundage KM, Barnett JB. In vitro atrazine-exposure inhibits human natural killer cell lytic granule release. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol* (2007) 221(2):179–88. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2007.01.012
- Hurt K, Hurd-Brown T, Whalen M. Tributyltin and dibutyltin alter secretion of tumor necrosis factor alpha from human natural killer cells and a mixture of T cells and natural killer cells. *J Appl Toxicol* (2013) 33(6):503–10. doi: 10.1002/jat.2822
- Brown S, Whalen M. Tributyltin alters secretion of interleukin 1 beta from human immune cells. J Appl Toxicol (2015) 35(8):895–908. doi: 10.1002/ jat.3087
- 160. Brown S, Boules M, Hamza N, Wang X, Whalen M. Synthesis of interleukin 1 beta and interleukin 6 in human lymphocytes is stimulated by tributyltin. *Arch Toxicol* (2018) 92(8):2573–86. doi: 10.1007/s00204-018-2248-2
- 161. Croy BA, He H, Esadeg S, Wei Q, McCartney D, Zhang J, et al. Uterine natural killer cells: insights into their cellular and molecular biology from mouse modelling. *Reproduction* (2003) 126(2):149–60. doi: 10.1530/reprod/ 126.2.149
- 162. Hunt PA, Sathyanarayana S, Fowler PA, Trasande L. Female Reproductive Disorders, Diseases, and Costs of Exposure to Endocrine Disrupting Chemicals in the European Union. J Clin Endocrinol Metab (2016) 101 (4):1562–70. doi: 10.1210/jc.2015-2873
- 163. Quaranta MG, Porpora MG, Mattioli B, Giordani L, Libri I, Ingelido AM, et al. Impaired NK-cell-mediated cytotoxic activity and cytokine production in patients with endometriosis: a possible role for PCBs and DDE. *Life Sci* (2006) 79(5):491–8. doi: 10.1016/j.lfs.2006.01.026
- 164. Lee MH, Kim E, Kim TS. Exposure to 4-tert-octylphenol, an environmentally persistent alkylphenol, enhances interleukin-4 production in T cells via NF-

AT activation. Toxicol Appl Pharmacol (2004) 197(1):19-28. doi: 10.1016/j.taap.2004.02.003

- 165. Yan H, Takamoto M, Sugane K. Exposure to Bisphenol A prenatally or in adulthood promotes T(H)2 cytokine production associated with reduction of CD4CD25 regulatory T cells. *Environ Health Perspect* (2008) 116(4):514–9. doi: 10.1289/ehp.10829
- 166. Iwata M, Eshima Y, Kagechika H, Miyaura H. The endocrine disruptors nonylphenol and octylphenol exert direct effects on T cells to suppress Th1 development and enhance Th2 development. *Immunol Lett* (2004) 94(1-2):135–9. doi: 10.1016/j.imlet.2004.04.013
- 167. Yoshino S, Yamaki K, Li X, Sai T, Yanagisawa R, Takano H, et al. Prenatal exposure to bisphenol A up-regulates immune responses, including T helper 1 and T helper 2 responses, in mice. *Immunology* (2004) 112(3):489–95. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2567.2004.01900.x
- 168. Yoshino S, Yamaki K, Yanagisawa R, Takano H, Hayashi H, Mori Y. Effects of bisphenol A on antigen-specific antibody production, proliferative responses of lymphoid cells, and TH1 and TH2 immune responses in mice. *Br J Pharmacol* (2003) 138(7):1271–6. doi: 10.1038/sj.bjp.0705166
- 169. Alizadeh M, Ota F, Hosoi K, Kato M, Sakai T, Satter MA. Altered allergic cytokine and antibody response in mice treated with Bisphenol A. J Med Invest (2006) 53(1-2):70–80. doi: 10.2152/jmi.53.70
- 170. Ohshima Y, Yamada A, Tokuriki S, Yasutomi M, Omata N, Mayumi M. Transmaternal exposure to bisphenol a modulates the development of oral tolerance. *Pediatr Res* (2007) 62(1):60–4. doi: 10.1203/PDR. 0b013e3180674dae
- 171. Wang YX, Gu ZW, Hao LY. The environmental hormone nonylphenol interferes with the therapeutic effects of G protein-coupled estrogen receptor specific agonist G-1 on murine allergic rhinitis. *Int Immunopharmacol* (2020) 78:106058. doi: 10.1016/j.intimp.2019.106058
- 172. Thueson LE, Emmons TR, Browning DL, Kreitinger JM, Shepherd DM, Wetzel SA. In vitro exposure to the herbicide atrazine inhibits T cell activation, proliferation, and cytokine production and significantly increases the frequency of Foxp3+ regulatory T cells. *Toxicol Sci* (2015) 143(2):418–29. doi: 10.1093/toxsci/kfu242
- Quintana FJ, Sherr DH. Aryl hydrocarbon receptor control of adaptive immunity. *Pharmacol Rev* (2013) 65(4):1148–61. doi: 10.1124/pr.113.007823
- 174. Gandhi R, Kumar D, Burns EJ, Nadeau M, Dake B, Laroni A, et al. Activation of the aryl hydrocarbon receptor induces human type 1 regulatory T cell-like and Foxp3(+) regulatory T cells. *Nat Immunol* (2010) 11(9):846–53. doi: 10.1038/ni.1915
- 175. Merrheim J, Villegas J, Van Wassenhove J, Khansa R, Berrih-Aknin S, le Panse R, et al. Estrogen, estrogen-like molecules and autoimmune diseases. *Autoimmun Rev* (2020) 19(3):102468. doi: 10.1016/j.autrev.2020.102468

Conflict of Interest: The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

Copyright © 2021 Schjenken, Green, Overduin, Mah, Russell and Robertson. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

